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' Proceedings

December 6, 1999
Rapid City, South Dakota

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. This meeting of the .

South Dakota Advisory Committee to the U.S.
Civil Rights Committee shall come to order.

Opening Statements

For the benefit of those who are in our audi-
ence, I shall introduce myself. 'm Marc Fein-
stein from Sioux Falls, South Dakota, Chairman
of the State Advisory Committee of the Civil
Rights Commission, and I will introduce the
members of my committee. Immediately on my
right is Dorothy Butler from Brookings, Alys
Ratigan from Rapid City, Bill Walsh, William
Walsh from Deadwood, Jim Popovich from Rapid
City. Who's next? Oh, BJ Kim also from Brook-
ings, Amy Arndt from Sioux Falls, Rae Burnette
from Sioux Falls.

We are also honored and privileged to have
with us today members of the U.S. Commission
on Civil Rights. They will be introduced follow-
ing my statement.

We are here to conduct a public forum on Na-
tive Americans and the administration of justice
in South Dakota. The Committee has invited
federal, state, local, and tribal leaders and advo-
cates for civil rights, law enforcement officials
and prosecutors as well as community leadership
to share their perspectives on the administration
of justice in South Dakota for Native Americans.

At the outset, I want to remind everybody
present of the ground rules. This is a public
meeting open to the media and the general pub-
lic. We have a very full schedule of participants

* Under the defame and degrade guidelines of the Commis-
sion, which afford an opportunity to identifiable persons to
respond to specific types of statements, the Commission of-
fered several individuals and organizations an opportunity
to review and respond to testimony. A sample of the Com-
mission’s letter requesting a response and a list of recipients
are attached as appendix A.

that have to fit within the limited time available.
The time allotted must be strictly adhered to.

To accommodate persons who have not been
invited to make a presentation, but wish to ad-
dress our Advisory Committee, we have sched-
uled an open session this evening from 7:00 to
10:00 p.m. Anyone wishing to make a statement
during that time period shall contact one of the
staff members for instructions and scheduling.
Or if you want to produce a written statement,
they can be submitted to the Commission staff
here today or any time prior to December 20.
And the staff will have an address; I can give
you the address. It's the U.S. Commission on
Civil Rights, 1700 Broadway, Suite 710, Denver,
Colorado, 80290. The record of this meeting, as I
said, will close on December 20, 1999. So if you
have a written statement, it should be produced
by then.

Though some information provided here may
be controversial, we want to ensure that all the
invited guests do not unfairly or illegally defame
or degrade any person or organization. In order
to ensure that all aspects of the issues are repre-
sented, knowledgeable persons with a wide vari-
ety of experience and viewpoints have been in-
vited to share the information with us. Any per-
son or organization that feels defamed or de-
graded by statements made in these proceedings
should contact our staff during the meeting so
that we can provide them a chance for public re-
sponse. Alternatively, such persons or organiza-
tions can file written statements for inclusion in
the proceedings. I urge all persons participating
to be judicious and factual in what you say.

The Advisory Committee appreciates the co-
operation of those who have agreed to partici-
pate and share the information with us. I will
now invite Dr. Mary Frances Berry, Chairperson
of the Commission, to share comments with us.



COMMISSIONER BERRY. Thank you very much,
Mr. Feinstein. I want to first say how much we
appreciate the South Dakota Advisory Commit-
tee and the work that you and your Committee
do as volunteers in the cause of civil rights and
to say how pleased we are that you agreed that
you would have this forum today on these impor-
tant issues.

Before I make a very brief, brief, brief state-
ment, I want to introduce my colleagues who
have come with me here to participate at your
invitation. My colleagues are, on my left, the
Vice Chair of the U.S. Commission on Civil
Rights, Cruz Reynoso of California. He's a law
professor at the University of California at Los
Angeles and a former member of the Supreme
Court of the State of California. Next to Cruz
Reynoso is Elsie Meeks who is a member of the
Sioux Nation and who, in fact, is the first Native
American, the first Indian, the first indigenous
person to be appointed to the U.S. Civil Rights
Commission. And next to Commissioner Meeks
is Yvonne Lee who is a rather distinguished
member who has been active in the cause of hu-
man rights for a long time in northern California
in the Bay Area. And next to Commissioner Lee
is the newest Commissioner, Christopher Edley
of Massachusetts, who is a lawyer, and he has
his own distinguished, albeit short, record in the
cause of civil rights.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Let me just say—he’s
a friend of mine so I can do that. Anyway, let me
just say that I also want to thank John Dulles,
who’s down at the other end, who is the director
of the Rocky Mountain Region Office of the
Commission, for the work that they do. And I
want to point out that in the back is Melvin Jen-
kins who is our regional director for the region
that includes Nebraska, so he has White Clay
under his jurisdiction, who is here, and there are
other staff members of the Commission who
have made this possible.

We are here to listen and to pay attention.
Yesterday we went out for site visits. We went to
White Clay. We went to the council meeting of-
fice and we went to Pine Ridge. We looked at the
creek out here where some people died in that
creek. We've heard from a wide variety of people
already and have some feel for what's going on
here. We certainly do not believe that one day or
two days, as it were, is enough time to learn
everything or most of the things about the issues

that have concerned the Native American Indian
community here for so long and about racial ten-
sions that exist in this community, but we do
hope that we will, with this first bite of the ap-
ple, hear enough and know enough that we may
reach some conclusions based on what the Advi-
sory Committee has to say to us.

There’s been some question about what this
Commission can do, can this Commission do
anything about anything? So let me say that,
very briefly, and I may say it again tonight be-
fore we have the open forum for the people who
are there, the Civil Rights Commission, yes, does
not enforce anything. We don’t put people in jail
or prosecute people or anything like that, but we
do have powers. We have the power to subpoena
any witness or any person, including the Presi-
dent of the United States to the lowliest person
who lives in this country, on any matter that we
please at a hearing. When it’s a matter of civil
rights, we can do that. We have the power to
make recommendations to all of the government
agencies, and we are watchdogs over the en-
forcement of civil rights by all of the other agen-
cies, including the FBI, the Justice Department
and its U.S. attorneys, and everyone else. And
we can, in fact, monitor what they do, report on
what they do, and we can call them before us
time and time again and make recommendations
to the Attorney General and other officials to do
such things as establishing task forces, to have
investigations if they don’t seem to be occurring
fast enough. We can make recommendations not
only to the Justice Department, but all the other
departments of the government, and we can
have our recommendations acted upon, and the
history of having them acted upon is very, very
good indeed. So we may walk softly and the stick
we carry may not be the biggest in the world, but
it’s big enough.

With that, Mr. Chairman, let me thank you
again for the work that you do and turn this
back over to—first, I guess, John Dulles has
some words to say about the proceedings, and
then I'll hand the microphone back to you.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

MR. DULLES. I think Mr. Feinstein has cov-
ered the procedural information, and why don’t
we go ahead and get started.
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Overview and Background
Charles Abourezk, Attorney, Rapid City

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. QOkay. Our first
presenter today is Mr. Charles Abourezk, attor-
ney at law, from Rapid City. Welcome. Just for
matter of those that are going to be presenting,
as I said earlier, we're going to be under a re-
striction of time so everybody can have a chance
and opportunity to speak who has been sched-
uled, we will be indicating to you when you have
two minutes remaining of your open time, and
we're going to be leaving time for questions, so it
doesn’t mean that you're totally done.

MR. ABOUREZK. Thank you. I'd like to begin
by thanking the members of the Commission
who have come from so far to listen, particularly
to Commissioner Berry whom I've spoken with
on the phone years ago. Nice to see you out here
and also—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Nice to see you.

MR. ABOUREZK.—Ms. Meeks. I'd also like to
thank the members of the Advisory Committee
for inviting me to speak and to the Regional Di-
rector John Dulles for his tireless work in our
area on behalf of trying to bring about greater
civil rights.

I wanted to begin by disclosing that I repre-
sent the family of Wilson Black Elk, Jr., one of
the deceased at White Clay. With respect to Mr.
Black Elk, I think it's important to say that we
dont know one way or the other whether his
death and that of Mr. Hard Heart was racially
motivated. This case could result in one of sev-
eral outcomes. We're thankful that the federal
authorities have informed us in a general way
about the progress of the investigation, and
we've cooperated with them and tried to assist
them in every way we could, and we have a be-
lief that that case may be near the point where it
will be solved. I believe members of the family
have submitted statements to the Advisory
Committee which I hope will be made part of the
record here today, and I feel a little bit limited in
what I can say publicly about that particular
case.

I also want to say that I represent the fam-
ily—or the foster mother—of Robert Many
Horses, the individual who was found dead in a
trash can up in Mobridge, and I think it's fair to
say that his foster mother, who I just talked with
this morning again, has not yet been able to go
into Robert’s bedroom since his death, and she’s
extremely embittered by how that case was han-

dled by local authorities. She has not yet heard
anything from the federal authorities who are
reportedly investigating the case, but it is clear
that the local authorities have not provided her
or Robert with justice in this case, and she asked
me to say that to the panel here today because
she is not able to be here. And she also asked me
to remind the panel that on December 30, it will
be approximately six months since Robert’s
death, and no one has been brought to justice yet
in that case.

I want to begin my larger remarks by saying
that it’s heart-warming to see so many people
here trying to find a way to make the justice sys-
tem inclusive of all of our citizens, to expand
civil rights to include those whom our society
has historically left out here in our area, Ameri-
can Indians. Unfortunately, all too often in
South Dakota and the nation, we see economic
and social polarization and the resulting disequi-
librium. In our state, as well as the rest of Amer-
ica, large segments of our minority populations,
including American Indians, are often forced
into the basement of society by both historical
and present-day mechanisms that create and
perpetuate social and economic injustice.

The status of minorities has now been further

“reduced by the self-fulfilling prophecy of these
institutions who point to minorities and now
condemn them for exhibiting basement behavior.
All over America, we see the signs of urgent rest-
lessness, and South Dakota is no different.
We've seen a number of marches and so on in
our area. Rather than trying to find ways to
bring minorities back to a place where they can
benefit from our society, we have seen since 1981
an America that all too often tells its elites that
it’s okay to have a racially and economically po-
larized society. The few devices that we have
formulated in our society to help bring the iso-
lated back into the group—affirmative action,
welfare—are in the process of being eliminated
while nothing is being done to address the
causes of social and economic isolation experi-
enced by minorities.

As we saw in the unrest in Los Angeles and
other flash points, we are clearly in a society in a
warm up to civil unrest. If we eliminate the so-
cial, economic, and moral glue that holds our na-
tion and our state together, it is almost scientifi-
cally certain that, with any catalyst at all, we
will come apart in an ugly way, and this nation
will have to go through another painful period
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until we recover our senses and realize that we
cannot imprison significant portions of our citi-
zenry as a solution to their cries for social and
economic justice, in whatever form those cries
come.

Unfortunately, South Dakota’s largest minor-
ity, American Indians, have suffered from the
same inequities and neglect as the rest of the na-
tion, and the results are often more drastic for
American Indians. Qur contradictions here in
our state are as stark, if not more stark, than the
rest of the nation. Racial polarization, while im-
proving in certain sectors of our state, has long
been a reality for us. Acts of racial violence are
as much a part of our state history as they are of
the history of the South. Racial violence has al-
ways had one primary target, which is to send a
message that any minority could be the next
random victim and therefore, they need to stay
in their place. And I think it's important to be
cognizant of this history because although non-
minorities may not carry this history in their
consciousness, minorities do.

We've had our own strange fruit here in
South Dakota which has fallen far from the tree
of society. Because of this history, any new act of
violence with an American Indian victim,
whether that act of violence was racially moti-
vated or not, sends ripples of fear through In-
dian communities. This fear is not irrational. In
fact, it would be irrational for American Indians
to not be afraid when members of their group
turn up along roadsides, face down in creeks,
upside down in trash cans, or dragged to death
as occurred several years ago in the Candace

-Rough Surface case which was up near the
Standing Rock Reservation. Our James Byrds
often appear with little notice here in our region,
and their killers often get probation rather than
the death penalty or do not get charged at all.

Racial violence operates with latent malice
set in motion like a self-adjusting perpetual ma-
chine, and when minorities react to new deaths
among their members, it is minorities who ap-
pear excitable and prone to exaggeration while
the rest of society looks on with calm reason-
ableness as if they are disconnected from it all.

There’s been a lot of talk over the last two

. decades regarding people needing to take more
responsibility. If we’re going to be a cohesive so-
ciety, then everyone, including those who have
taken the most from our social and economic sys-
tem, need to recognize their responsibility for

the condition of all parts of our society. Taking
responsibility means not pretending that racism
was not involved when a young Native American
man who is impaired as a result of fetal alcohol
syndrome is given too much to drink, slapped
around, thrown in a ditch, and then placed in a
trash can by non-Indians where he was found
dead.

Taking responsibility means checking in with
how our justice system would have reacted if
Robert Many Horses had been non-Indian and
the people he had been drinking with were Na-
tive Americans and had treated him in the man-
ner that Robert was treated. Taking responsibil-
ity means that when the sword of justice is
wielded, it is wielded equally. Taking responsi-
bility means recognizing the connection between
the social and economic advantage of nonminori-
ties and the disadvantaged condition of minori-
ties. Taking responsibility means looking closer
at our institutions to see whether they are medi-
ating the wealth and benefits of society between
all of our members, or whether they are part of
the enforcement mechanism that maintains so-
cial advantage for one part of society while en-
suring that the other part of society stays in the
basement.

In conclusion—and I really wish there was a
conclusion, but there’s not, only a challenge, the
justice system cannot by itself cure the racial
and economic inequities that exist in South Da-
kota and the rest of the nation, but equal appli-
cation of the law is a good beginning. While the
justice system cannot cure the larger inequities
of society, it can address and resolve its part in
those inequities. Real civil and human rights,
equally applied, always brings societies together
and create the basis for dialogue and interaction.
Failure to do so creates unspeakable pain such
as that felt by the families of all of the recent
Native American deaths in South Dakota and
eventually leads to a downward spiral of racial
division, mutual and irreparable infliction of so-
cial wounds, and eventually a scarred society.

I'd like to thank the members of the Commis-
sion and the Advisory Committee for helping
South Dakota pull back from the brink of that
kind of polarization and to get us talking again
with each other in an appropriate manner.
Thank you very much.
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Discussion

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. I'll ask for ques-
tions from the Advisory Committee for Mr.
Abourezk.

MR. WALSH. Mr. Abourezk, in the last 10
years there’s been a tremendous economic boom
in America. From your perspective, have Indian
people benefited at all from this economic boom?

MR. ABOUREZK. I don’t believe so, Mr. Walsh.
First of all, when Ronald Reagan came into of-
fice, Pine Ridge Reservation had 35 percent un-
employment. When George Bush left office, that
unemployment had inflated to 85 percent. I
think that the situation is critical economically,
and I also have a belief that because of discrimi-
nation in the job place that there’s sort of like an
invisible barrier thrown up around reservations
where people cannot even go off the reservation
and get jobs, and on the reservation when you
don’t have investment or you don’t have fairness
in lending, essentially you either end up with an
illicit economy or no economy at all.

And so I think there’s sort of like a cordon
around Indian reservations, and I think even in
Rapid City where there’s a significant minority
of Native Americans here, it’s almost impossible
for young Indian males to get work in this area
because of job discrimination. And I think we
need to recognize that and do something to alle-
viate that because that'’s the source of so much—
that feeds into so many other problems that we
are always talking about, but never seem to be
able to find the solution for.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Anybody else on
the Advisory Committee?

Ms. KiM. Mr. Edwards, if you were one of the
local authority members for these victims, what
would you have done differently?

MR. ABOUREZK. Are you speaking about the
Mr. Many Horses case?

Ms. KIM. Yes.

MR. ABOUREZK. I think that that'’s a little dif-
ficult because I represent the family to really
speak as openly as I'd like to on that issue, but I
wanted to go so far today as what I had author-
ity from my client to talk about. But I think in a
general sort of way, you know, first of all, recog-
nizing the humanity of the victim is a big step.
The foster mother of Mr. Many Horses was un-
able to get any cooperation from local authori-
ties. She didn’t receive the autopsy report for
about three weeks after his death. They've been
totally unresponsive to her. She feels that they

were not aggressive in the way that they prose-
cuted the case, and I think that's about the ex-
tent of what I can say with regard to that. I do
know from discussions with her that I'm free to
say that much.

Ms. KIM. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Anybody else on
the Advisory Committee? Jim?

MR. POPOVICH. Mr. Abourezk, Native Ameri-
cans have a perception that they’re not well rep-
resented in the jury system and also in the jus-
tice system within South Dakota. Can you speak
to that?

MR. ABOUREZK. I think that that's probably
improving. When they changed the system not
from voters, but rather from driver’s license
holders, I think that’s going to be a great benefit.
We are seeing more and more Native Americans
on juries, but still, I think oftentimes the per-
ceived inequities that Native Americans feel
when they go through the judicial system have a
lot to do with being judged by people who are not
part of their milieu or part of their way of life
and therefore, have difficulty interpreting be-
haviors that weigh very much in their decision
with regard to the system itself.

I think that the federal system has done a

’» much better job here in South Dakota of includ-

ing Native Americans on the juries because they
draw from such a wide panel. I think we still
have a ways to go in the state judicial system in
being more inclusive and helping Native Ameri-
cans to feel that theyre being treated fairly
when they go through the judicial system.
Whether there’s actuslly an inequity or not, I
can’t say statistically speaking, but the percep-
tion is very important, and oftentimes there are
many things that can be done to improve the
perception.

1 think Justice Miller of the South Dakota
Supreme Court has done a great job of reaching
out to tribal court systems and trying to find out,
or reach out and have an interaction with these
court systems to make the state judicial system
look inclusive. When Justice Konenkamp was
invited to be sworn in, he invited the tribal
judges from all around South Dakota to attend
and view part of his swearing-in ceremony.
Those are things that are maybe superficial on
one level, but on another level, they do go quite a
ways toward creating trust in the system and
feeling that Indian people are participants in
that system.
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MR. POPOVICH. Thank you.

MR. WALSH. What else needs to be done be-
tween the state and tribal government to con-
tinue this dialogue and search for social justice?

MR. ABOUREZK. Well, I think that the state
could do quite a bit, and I don't want to necessar-
ily name names and point fingers today, but
when Governor Mickelson was the Governor of
South Dakota, he did begin a process where we
started to talk, and so often the front line in fric-
tion between Indians and non-Indians in South
Dakota is in the area of tribal-state relations,
and I think a lot more can be done in that area,
and I'm sure other people will speak to that to-
day. But I mean really, we don’t have any dia-
logue and that’s essential in the state right now.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Are there any more
questions? Now I'll ask Dr. Berry.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. Thank you. Any
Commissioner have any questions for Mr.
Abourezk? You do, Vice Chairman? Well, let’s let
our junior member go first. Go ahead, Commis-
sioner Edley.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. You're so kind, Madam
Chair. Mr. Abourezk, in lots of parts of the coun-
try, there are civilian or citizen review boards,
complaint review boards that monitor and serve
as a watchdog for law enforcement authority,
and some of them have subpoena powers, some
of them have independent investigatory author-
ity and resources, others of them are less formal.
Are there such mechanisms in place in any
communities in South Dakota, and if so, what do
you think about their effectiveness?

MR. ABOUREZK. I'm not aware that there are
any such committees here in Rapid City, which
would be one place, or anywhere else in the state
of South Dakota. I think that they can be won-
derfully effective, not only in providing an ear
for the Indian community when they do have
complaints or when things bubble up that ap-
pear to be unfair or that there’s unfair treatment
by law enforcement or whatever. So I think I
would welcome that, and there may be some-
thing around that I'm not aware of, but I think
here in Rapid City, particularly, whether that
perception has really been a fact or not, there is
a perception that oftentimes officers are not
trained to be sensitive to Native Americans.

I remember years ago when I worked for
South Dakota Public Television; I did a program
on discrimination, and I thought Chief Hennies
made some incredibly sensitive comments about

race relations and I was real impressed. This
was back in the ‘80s. But over time, Chief Hen-
nies is not out on the street most of the time, and
people have encounters with law enforcement
and they come away from those encounters not
having very much faith in law enforcement. And
T'd like to see some sort of mechanism, and I'm
sure Chief Hennies and the sheriff's department
would welcome such a mechanism, to sort of help
mediate between law enforcement and the com-
munity.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. On a very different
area, of course, the problem of adequate, capable
legal representation for the poor is chronic and
pervasive around the country. In South Dakota
are you aware of any studies, or if not, can you
just give us your impressions of whether or not
access to legal representation by the poor, both
civil and criminal, is comparable for the Native
American and non-Indian populations? Are they
all in the same boat sharing the same plight, or
is the situation worse for one or another group?

MR. ABOUREZK. My sense of that is that al-
though the public defender’s system, which is
not in every county in South Dakota, but in the
larger counties, does a valiant job of trying to
provide that representation, but they’re swamped
and understaffed. Out in the rural areas people
who cannot afford counsel have local attorneys
appointed for them. I can’t always say that those
attorneys—I mean, I have no way of saying one
‘way or the other whether those attorneys are
adequate or not. You take what you get in the
local system.

Same thing is true in the federal system here,
although that’s changing because they’re intro-
ducing a federal public defender system, but 'm
even concerned about that because they only
funded two positions in Rapid City, two in Pi-
erre, and one in Sioux Falls, and 80 percent of
the criminal—as I understand it, 80 percent of
the criminal defendants in the federal court sys-
tem in Rapid City, anyway, are Native Ameri-
cans, so I'm real concerned about how that’s go-
ing to spin out.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. Vice Chairman?

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. I'd like to follow up
on that previous question with respect to repre-
sentation for the poor in civil matters. What is
the situation in this state in terms of Legal Ser-
vices programs representing both Indian Native
Americans and non-Native Americans?
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MR. ABOUREZK, Well, I think that there’s
even more of a deficiency because the Legal Ser-
vices corporation is so restricted now by Con-
gress in what it can and cannot do in terms of
the types of cases it takes, and theyre also in-
credibly understaffed and underfunded. I was on
the—

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. Excuse me, is there
any state or local funding for Legal Services for
the poor on the civil side?

MR. ABOUREZK. None that I know of, unless
South Dakota contributes to the Legal Services
program.

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. And one quite dif-
ferent question. Of course, the administration of
justice system begins with its enforcement in
terms of police officers and investigation, and at
least yesterday as we went around, we found a
great deal of suspicion of the quality of represen-
tation and investigation by the FBI. Despite its
generally stellar reputation, many of the local
folk, particularly Native Americans, were con-
cerned about the quality and the expeditiousness
of investigation and, frankly, there is a large
aura of suspicion based in part on the historic
disagreements between the FBI and some of the
Native American people of this state. One, what
are your impressions? Two, what can be done to
help in that regard?

MR. ABOUREZK. That's a little more difficult
for me to comment on. I know that back in the
*70s and early ‘80s that there was a lot of tension
between the FBI and people that were involved
in Indian rights on the reservation, but in recent
years my real experience—I do largely civil work
80 my real experience has only been in these
cases involving Mr. Black Elk and Mr. Many
Horses. And I would say that with regard to Mr.
Black Elk’s case, Mr. Vukelich, who's the special
agent in charge here in Rapid City, has been
pretty good about communicating with us. I've
talked to family members. He’s gone down there
and kept them updated on the investigation. So
it’s hard for me to be critical with regard to that
case.

With regard to Mr. Many Horses, I really
don’t know because they have not contacted ei-
ther me or the family regarding their investiga-
tion, which they have assumed an investigation
after the state apparently—or the local authori-
ties ended their investigation.

So I do honestly believe that in the Black Elk
case, they really are making a sincere effort to

resolve that, and I don’t have any reason not to
expect that to continue.

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. Thank you.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Any other Commis-
sioners have any questions? [No response.]

COMMISSIONER BERRY. All right. I just have
one. The one question I have is, is there any evi-
dence—well, I have a question and a half. Is
there any evidence that when Native Americans
or Indians are in the police force or in the juries
or in the judiciary, to the extent that that hap-
pens, that they seem to be any fairer in consider-
ing the situation of Indians than other people? I
ask that because in the African American com-
munity, we have experiences which indicate that
you can’t count on the fact that you get some-
body appointed—I call it the Clarence Thomas
syndrome—that you will then have somebody
who will look favorably on your interests, and we
know of cases of police officers who try to treat
African Americans worse just to prove to every-
body else they can be just as brutal. So I was just
wondering if you knew whether having more
people on juries and so on seems to be having
any kind of impact? .

MR. ABOUREZK. Well, my experience with Na-
tive Americans on juries has been a positive one,
‘whenever they vote for my client, I expect, but—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. How about judges?
Have you got any—

MR. ABOUREZK. Well, we're safe in that re-
gard in the sense—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. There aren’t any?

MR. ABOUREZK.—there are no Native Ameri-
can judges, that I'm aware of anyway, in South
Dakota. Tribal judges, I think, really do make an
effort and most now are law trained, some are
not, but they really do a great job of administer-
ing justice under very severe financial con-
straints.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I thought one of the
judges in one of the cases, Many Horses or one of
them, was one-eighth Indian or something.

MR. ABOUREZK, I'm sorry?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Did I read that wrong,
that Judge Portence or P-o-r—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Portra.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Judge Portra? It says
in the press at least he was one-eighth Indian.

MR. ABOUREZK. I was unaware of that, I
guess.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I wondered if it made
any difference.



MR. ABOUREZK. Apparently not in that case,
but—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. All right. I just
wanted to get the answer to that. Thank you,
Mr. Abourezk.

MR. ABOUREZK. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Thank
you, Charles.

Community Panel
CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We’ll move on

about one minute ahead of schedule, which is
positive. Just to remind everybody that this
process is an informal system, but we do have to
keep in line with time, and in that interest, we’ll
move on to the next group. We've got a panel
with Darlene Renville Pipe Boy of Peever, South
Dakota, and Ted Means of Porcupine, South Da-
kota. And as on the schedule, Darlene Renville
will go first. And, Jim, you have the timecard?
Jim will flash the timecard when you have two
minutes left and that will give everybody time to
respond and for questions.

Darlene Renville Pipe Boy, Peever

MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. Excuse me. I think
Native Americans have always been noted for
their humor. I came today wearing my halo.
Perhaps that might help the situation.

I want to mention some facts I think that
those of the Commission should be aware. I come
from a significant family. My name is Renville;
it's French. In the 1700s, the Renville raiders
went to help the British fight the Americans. We
lost the war, perhaps not the battle. In 1862
President Lincoln, while signing the Emancipa-
tion Proclamation, also signed a proclamation
killing 38 Dakota men in Minnesota. I'm one of
the descendants. This killing of Indians has al-
ways been acceptable to America. This is nothing
new; it's always been accepted. Were the
younger generation that stands up and says, we
are more educated, perhaps.

Genocide, oppression, invisibility. There are
numerous incidents, not only the ones that have
been publicized, numerous incidents of Sioux
people, Native American Indians dying on the
reservations. It just so happens that these more
current incidents have been in the media. There
is a lack of media coverage in the state of South
Dakota. I went to a Civil Rights Commission
hearing last May in Fargo. The question I had
for the Commission was, is South Dakota in the

United States of America? Why hasn’t there
been Civil Rights Commission hearings in the
state of South Dakota on each reservation? And I
want that to be a recommendation.

The U.S. policy in the world concerning hu-
man rights, civil rights obligations has to stem
from what is happening in the United States. If
the United States deems it right, shall we say,
that you can take the life of a human being, I'm
sure that same policy is extended into the world
as a whole. When you talk to China about hu-
man rights, I think the United States better look
at its own policy concerning Native Americans.

In South Dakota—and I'm glad I have Mr.
Means sitting by me, Sioux people—Dakota, La-
kota, Nakota people reside in the state of South
Dakota. We are one tribal grouping, and we have
always been fighters, both women and men
alike. That is how we have survived, without any
help from the system. I think the backlash began
when we defeated Custer. It is the only time in
United States history that the United States
military has ever been defeated, and it took the
Sioux people, the Cheyenne people, and other
tribal groupings.

South Dakota itself—I'm 59 years old, I'm not
ashamed of my age. I grew up in the ‘50s and the
‘60s. Perhaps I was a flower child, but I grew up
with prejudice and oppression and racism, all of
these words we do not like to hear. I was edu-
cated in the public school. Boarding schools are
another issue that the Commission should un-
dertake. I went to a public school. Because of
prejudice it seemed like every day, even though I
was a young lady, I was always fighting for my
rights.

This fear, you know, that is really pervasive
in the system that I can sit in a restaurant, go
into the judicial system perhaps, walk the
streets, and have people move away from you.
Why? Why? Is there equal protection of the law?
We fall under three judicial systems that say
tribal, state, federal. Do we have equal protec-
tion of the law? Is there equal enforcement of the
law? I think that's the great concern that we
have today.

T've often said Sioux people do not have hu-
man rights, civil rights that at some point in
time cannot be taken away. United States policy
shows that. I'm a history teacher. Civil rights
violations: All facets of the society, whether we
look at law enforcement, health, education, so-
cial issues, what have you, there’s all kinds of
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violations. Racial profiling: Like the black peo-
ple, Native American men, Native American
women, we look at a highway patrol the wrong
way perhaps, he’s going to follow me and stop
me without having a reason why. All of these
minor incidents that occur in each community
within the state of South Dakota or traveling
across perhaps, you know, that’s the beginning
of these greater incidents that occur. And we
don’t have a handle on racial profiling perhaps,
and I've been a victim of it and I didn’t like the
experience.

Border town experiences: White Clay. We
have border town experiences in Watertown,
South Dakota. I brought along a signed state-
ment by my nephew that he’s currently—he
doesn’t know if they're going to charge him, but
they want to charge him with stealing money
from McDonald’s. And why? Because he’s an In-
dian. He’s the only Indian working there. White
people don’t steal, but Indians do, evidently. But
I think I better stop and allow Mr. Means to ad-
dress the Commission. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Darlene, we're go-
ing to open up the panel for questions to you
first, but I would like to ask you to state your
name for the record for us, please.

MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. Darlene Renville -

Pipe Boy, P-i-p-e, B-o-y.

MR. DULLES. Mr. Chair, procedurally I think
we will go ahead and proceed with Mr. Means’
statement and then open for questions.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. And, Mr.
Means, could you state your name for the record,
please.

MR. MEANS. My name is Ted Means, Porcu-
pine, South Dakota.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

Ted Means, Porcupine

MR. MEANS. Good morning. I first of all would
like to greet each of you with a hearty hand-
shake, and that I think that it’s a positive step in
the right direction that you’re here. This room is
full of Indian people that have come here be-
cause they are concerned. They also come here
with a hope that something is going to change.

Back in the ‘70s I was involved with the
American Indian Movement. I went to prison for
actions that we took attempting to expose the
dual standard of justice in the state of South
Dakota. My appeal was denied by the State Su-
preme Court in South Dakota, but fortunately

when I got into the federal system, my convic-
tion was overturned and I was ordered to be ei-
ther released or retried. The state chose to ap-
peal that decision to the Eighth Circuit Court of
Appeals, which upheld the lower court decision
which overturned my conviction.

But back then in the “70s, I remember that at
that time there were only 400 and some men in
the South Dakota State Penitentiary, and of that
population, 140-some were Indian. I would ven-
ture a guess that the percentage is similar today,
and I'm not going to go into specific statistics
and that kind of thing, but I think that racism is
something that has changed over the years from
the frontier mentality of the only good Indian is
a dead Indian to now where it has become more
subtle and harder to identify and put your finger
on. But believe me, racism exists, and every In-
dian in this state will tell you that they have ex-
perienced this racism, be it in the stores and res-
taurants, be it in the judicial system, or having
to deal with the police forces of this state.

Mr. Abourezk mentioned the effort initiated
by Governor Mickelson, but I think that unfor-
tunately that policy, if you will, was not em-
braced by the state of South Dakota and cer-%
tainly not by the people of the state of South Da-:é‘-
kota. =

Every so often, we come to a forum like this
with the idea again that things are going to‘®
change, but they never seem to change. But I
think that in terms of a recommendation that I
would have is that I would like to see a continu-
ous dialogue bringing in people from the judicial
systems and police forces, people from the Chris-
tian community, people from the education
community because I think that this racism is
something that goes very deep into our society,
and it can only change if our young people are
taught about racism and how does racism come
about and how is it experienced by people.

Racism is something that you have to experi-
ence in order to understand, but I think that the
educational systems in this state and in this
country are key if we ever hope to change the
situation that we are in today. There are numer-
ous examples of those Indians found along Rapid
Creek here in Rapid City, up in Mobridge, or you
name any community where there are Indian
people and you will find incidents of racism. We
had one in Martin that was identified as a hate
crime, but how many Indians in the state have
been killed by white people and how often have



those been identified as hate crimes, even
though these Indians were killed because they
were Indian and only because they were Indian?

So again, I'm encouraged that you are here,
but I hope that it doesn’t end here, you know, at
the end of the agenda. That we could come up
with strategies together to address the racism
because it’s not a question of whether or not it
exists, because it certainly exists or this room
wouldn’t be full.

But I appreciate you taking the time to come
here in this type of a forum to hear from Indian
people, but you have to hear not only with your
minds, but with your hearts because the major-
ity of Indian people have a relative in prison or
in jail. And why is that? We shouldn’t have to
come up with the answer.

So with that, again, I want to thank you.
[Speaking in language other than English.]

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you, Mr.
Means. Questions from the Advisory Committee?
Dorothy?

Discussion

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Hello, Ted
Means. I havent seen you since the ‘70s when
the hair flowed.

MR. MEANS. And you see it now.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Very happy to
see you. I have two questions. One is about a
very minor thing, maybe, in some respects, and
then I'd like to ask more about the hate crime
committee on which I think you serve. The first
one is that I was told recently by an enrolled
member of the Rosebud Tribe that he had been
prevented from boarding an aircraft for a flight
out of South Dakota because he couldn’t produce
a driver’s license, but did have his tribal mem-
bership card which everybody found unaccept-
able and so he simply wasn’t allowed to board.
He did say that it was a picture ID, that all of
the same information was there, but that since
he doesn’t drive, he didn’t have a driver’s license,
doesn’t own a car. Have you heard of that before,
because I would think that we could address
that in very simple terms and do something
quickly.

MR. MEANS. I've experienced that right in my
own family. One of my daughters had the very
same situation. Went to try to cash a check and
did not drive, did not have a driver’s license. All
she had was a tribal ID, and she couldn’ cash
that check anywhere.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Have any steps
been taken to see if someone could address that,
not maybe at the airline level, but I believe that
this person said that he had written to Senator
Daschle who said he’d look into at least making
this an option for people who don’t have to have
driver’s licenses.

MR. MEANS. I believe that that's something
that needs to happen.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. The other thing
is that I know that your new federal judge,
Karen Schreier, has set up a hate crimes com-
mission. Are you a member of that commission?

MR. MEANS. No. I was asked, but I haven't
participated.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. I see. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any other members
of the Advisory Committee? Alys?

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. I'd like to ask each of
you, I know both of you mentioned the border
towns and the discrimination that exists there.
In each of your perceptions, do you feel that dis-
crimination is any different in border towns than
in other locations throughout the state?

MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. Perhaps one of the
ways I can explain, I'm from the Lake Traverse
Reservation, Sisseton and Wahpeton Dakota
people. Our town is called Sisseton. A comment
is always made when other Native Americans
come to Sisseton to visit us perhaps, and the
comment they make is that there’s something
here not quite right. When you come into Sisse-
ton and there are both Indian and non-Indian
people on the street, they have this sense of ten-
sion in the air, and it's always been that way,
tension in the air. And we don’t notice it because
we’re used to it. When you go to the larger towns
perhaps, I think people are civil to you, but I
think they follow you in the stores and they're
very vocal perhaps in their comments.

So this border town mentality, where does it
come from? Can we call it racism? Can we call it
prejudice, bias, what have you? But we all know
it exists because we’ve all lived clpse to a border
town. Behavior, vocal comments perhaps. We're
going into the year 2000 and it's not too far

.away. Is this part of the education system? Do
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we educate our children to become racists and
become biased?

Perhaps it's only a comment, but within the
education system, are we taught about Native
Americans? We as Native Americans, we're very
proud of who we are. I'm very proud I'm a Da-
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kota woman. It elevates me above all of these
kinds of situations that we have to be a part of,
and I think that’s equally true of all the people
who are here. We're very proud of who we are
and it elevates us, but there is a border town
mentality.

I think one of the gquestions was, is there any
kinds of commissions, reconciliation going on? I
would like to think so, but when Governor Mick-
elson was alive, he was the one individual that
said, “Let’s begin this era of reconciliation.” And
of course, when he passed away, it seemed to
have also died.

So I think sincerity, sincerity by both Indian
and non-Indian people is what's going to solve
problems in border towns. But they also take our
money.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Bill?

MR. WALSH. As a followup to that, both of you
are from areas where there are Indian casinos,
and in the past so often, racism is the result of
isolation and fear and noncontact. Has that
helped to break down some of the racial stereo-
types, because I know a lot of white people go to
the various casinos and interact with Indian
people. From your perspective is that helping to
break down some of these racial barriers that
we've had in the state?

MR. MEANS. I don’t frequent these casinos
that often, but I have been to them, both Rose-
bud and Pine Ridge in this area, and I don’t see
that much interaction. I mean, they’re there to
gamble and they do their gambling and then
they're out, they leave, so I don’t believe that
there’s a whole lot of interaction taking place.

But I wanted to get back to respond to the
other gquestion in terms of these border towns,
that I think it is more pervasive, racism is more
pervasive in these border towns because they are
confronted more with it on a regular basis, on a
daily basis, but it still exists, and throughout the
state, because you can feel it. It's something that
you can feel as soon as you walk into one of those
communities.

I want to give you an example of how racism
works here in South Dakota. In 1981 my daugh-
ter Kimberly was participating in a spiritual run
from Porcupine to the state penitentiary in
Sioux Falls. She was run over and killed by a
drunk driver at Colome, South Dakota, and the
gentleman that ran over and killed my daughter
was only charged with drunk driving. He was
legally drunk. He was only charged with drunk

driving and given a 80-day sentence and he only
did 15 days. And I can tell you today that had
the situation been reversed and I ran over and
killed his daughter, I'd still be in prison today.

But a small example of this racism or the
thinking here in the state, in South Dakota,
wherever there has been a fatality on one of the
highways, the state puts up these signs that say,
“Think.” One was put up where my daughter
was killed right in the town of Colome, and the
city saw fit to remove that sign. Now I don’t
know why, but it was taken down and it was
never put back up. So I mean, these small
towns—Colome is between the east end of the
Rosebud Reservation and the reservation itself—
I mean, the reservation boundaries, but that ra-
cism exists everywhere.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any other questions
from the Advisory Committee? BJ?

Ms. KIM. Mr. Means, you talked about the in-
stance in Martin as a hate crime, you know, how
it was publicized. Can you think of any hate
crimes committed by white to Indian people?

MR. MEANS. I can’t give you specific examples
off the top of my head, but I know that there are
situations where Indians have been killed for no=
other reason than being Indian, and that’s some- *

~thing that’s gone on throughout our history, and *
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as Darlene mentioned, it's something that we've
grown up with and have experienced all our *
lives.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN., Any other ques-
tions from the Committee? Mutch?

MR. USERA. Either one can answer this ques-
tion. I was just wondering, you had mentioned,
Ted, about learning this at a young age as far as
racism and I agree. I have four teenage children,
and I've read their books and talked to them as
they grew up and what they've learned in the
schools, and I guess my question to you is, do
you feel that the schools are doing an adequate
job in at least educating our kids about racism?

MR. MEANS. You know, I attended a forum at
Todd County High School this past Friday, and a
number of issues were being addressed in work-
shops. I believe that where you have Indian stu-
dents, you find a lot of dialogue about issues like
this. I was asked to speak there previously last
spring about the American Indian Movement
and its history and everything. So I think that in
these schools where there are Indian children,
you find dialogue, you see dialogue taking place,
but not throughout the state where you have



very few Indians in those schools or even here in
Rapid City. We have a substantial Indian popu-
lation. Those kinds of things are not talked
about a whole lot. And if you look at any of the
history books and go to- a current history book
and see what it says about Indian people, you
know. Youll find that they'd be lucky to have a
page in there about Indian people and our his-
tory.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any other ques-
tions of the Committee? Dorothy?

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. For Mrs. Ren-
ville, I'll have to say “Ronvee” [phonetic] just be-
cause I like the French background. I wanted to
ask two questions. One had to do with your men-
tioning the racial profiling which is so common,
and what we need—I think there might be some-
thing small in this respect. As a person of color
who has seen all of these things happening, even
I'm surprised to see the number of men of color
who—well, people of color, especially if their cars
are late model cars and so on, who are being
stopped. And on the Internet there’s a site main-
tained by the American Civil Liberties Union
and they call it “driving while black.” We need to
have them expand this term so that it includes
all people of color.

And you mentioned teaching children about
racism. ] am proposing that just as we teach our
children in terms of sex education, that we do
need to teach boys particularly and maybe girls
as well, but boys love cars so much and they look
forward to driving, but to say that you’ll need to
learn that wherever you are, if you are stopped
by an officer, what you do is pull over immedi-
ately even though you haven't violated any law.
That you keep your hands at the 2:00 and 10:00
positions on the steering wheel so that theyll
have no reason to say you've reached for some-
thing. That if you must produce your driver’s -
cense, then you say you're reaching for it before
you reach for it. And some of them really don’t
understand why this is necessary, but a lot more
families do.

So I need to ask, when you were stopped and
pulled over and knew it was—how did you fit the
profile with halo and all?

MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. Maybe elderly peo-
ple carry guns, too. I don’t know. I think it’s in-
teresting because when you look at factors as to
why people do things, you know, the highway
patrolmen—I live in a little housing area, it's
called Peever Flats, and we always take the
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same road. Racial profiling occurs on that road
probably once a month, and the only people that
they will stop and catch, take into court will be
Dakota people because everybody else has in-
surance and a driver’s license.

But this one highway patrolman was parked
on the south side of the road and we were going
past. I have two sons. If you look at my son—
John, stand up, please. He’s got long hair, you
know, and he’s proud of his hair. He’s had that
since he was a child. Thank you. So my other
son, he has long hair also, and the color of your
skin.

So I'm driving, and my older son, he was in
the passenger side. We went by the patrolman,
driving very slow because we went across a rail-
road crossing. So my older son looked at the
highway patrolman, and as soon as he did that,
you know, right now, the highway patrolman
came by, and my son said, “It’s because I looked
at him. I was threatening to him. I have long
hair, 'm dark.” But he stopped us, and for what
other reason? There wasn’t a stop sign violation,
nothing, nothing. So we say he stopped us be-
cause of my son or myself being Native Amerj-
cans. For what other reason?

So when you look at that stereotype, you
know, that's kind of a unique word, that all of
the articles that have been written about Native
Americans, and we all appreciate the media at-
tention we have been given, but aleohol? You
know, are we all alcoholics? Is the stereotype
that we're all alcoholics? We all use, or perhaps
we use drugs. Is that the stereotype that is per-
vasive here? I believe that it is. I have
non-Indian friends and when I talk to them, the
comment that always comes up is, “Alcohol was
part of that crime, wasn’t it, alcohol?” Or “They
were alcoholics, weren't they?”

So this stereotype, I think, creates many
problems. I think we have to realize that many
elderly people sitting in this room have never
touched a drop of alcohol and yet they're caught
up in that scenario also. So I think the idea in
the back of our mind perhaps is, does the stereo-
type fit and should we use the stereotype or con-
tinue to use the stereotype?

My son, who's 20 years old, said, “I think on
the reservation, the only time we receive help
from the United States government is because
you're an alcoholic. They don’t provide positive
reinforcement, but if you’re an alcoholic, you get
help.” So the stereotype crosses many lines. It
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crosses many lines. But this image of us being
alcoholics, we do have people who use, yes, but
we’re not all alcoholics.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any other ques-
tions?

MR. USERA. I have one.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Mutch?

MR. USERA. Again, either one can answer this
question. You are obviously perceived as com-
munity leaders in your area, and my question to
you is, do you see communities around you, at
least community leaders, coming to your com-
munities trying to better understand? And if
they are, do you believe they’re actually doing
something about it?

MR. MEANS. I'm from Porcupine which, of
course, is on the Pine Ridge, and there’s a num-
ber of communities, small communities, Martin,
Gordon, Nebraska, of course, White Clay, and
Kadoka. I see absolutely nothing in terms of any
kind of real dialogue taking place in any of these
communities or in any of our communities.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Is that it from the
Advisory Committee? [No response.]

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Now I'll go to Dr.
Berry.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Do any Commission-
ers have any questions for the panel? Ms.
Meeks?

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. Yes, I do. To what ex-
tent do you think the media could play a role in
alleviating or educating the public at large, or do
you think they’ve been effective or in what way,
negatively or positively?

MR. MEANS. I think that they've been effec-
tive in maintaining this racist mentality here in
the state. I mean the only time there’s any
front-page coverage is when you have a situation
like the one in Martin or there’s a demonstration
or a march or that kind of thing. I believe the
Rapid City Journal has an advisory committee
on Native American issues, but you don’t see any
real change in that newspaper, for one. I think
that the media is key to educating people about
racism.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Anybody else down
there for the Commission have any questions?

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. I had a general
question. We've had a project in the U.S. Com-
mission of Civil Rights on racial tension; actually
it went on for several years. And it’s always dif-
ficult to deal with those tensions, and both of you
have mentioned that you think racism is preva-
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lent in South Dakota. Now all the surveys indi-
cate that invariably a large percentage of mi-
norities feel there’s racism and a large percent-
age of nonminorities feel there’s nonracism. My
question to both of you is, how can the two com-
munities come together in a mutual understand-
ing of racism and the extent of racism or where
does it exist?

MR. MEANS. Racism really is born out of igno-
rance, and the more we can do to educate people,
the more we can address the issue of racism.
Maybe she—

MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. I think I've often
thought that people have to accept truth. We all
have to accept truth, whether that’s in our past
or whether or not we have skeletons in our closet
perhaps. We have to accept truth in the past. I
believe the burden of the United States of Amer-
ica is that it has not accepted the truth of its
past, and we’re very much a part of that past. If
we—and I look at myself. If I deny that I'm
growing older and try to look younger, I'm deny-
ing who I am as an individual, and I think that
same definition applies to conciliatory groups,
perhaps, within the United States. Are we deny-

ing that a holocaust occurred with the Native -

American population? Are we denying this?

+Even with the Jewish population in the United

States, did they not say Germany looked at the
United States and its concentration camps of
Native Americans. Did they not say this, you
know?

So I think before we take steps, giant steps
perhaps, we take baby steps. And are we in de-
nial? I think we always talk about positives and
negatives in our lives. We know what the posi-
tives and negatives are. We have to be able to
talk equally about positive things that have
happened, but you also have to talk about the
negativity that exists because it harms our chil-
dren. Our children are the future. That's what
we say as Sioux people, Native Americans, we
say [speaking in language other than English],
the future belongs to the children. My son tells
me, “When I get older, Mom, do I have to deal
with the same problems that you are dealing
with today?” And I tell him, “I hope not, Son. I
hope that I will make an impact as a parent, as a
woman, as a mother on the system that you will
not have to deal with issues of racism or bias.”

We as Native Americans cannot be racist;
only the greater population can be. We are not
the majority population. We will never be racist.
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We can be prejudiced, and at times I am, I will
admit that. I can be biased, but I can’t be a rac-
ist. That belongs to the majority population.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I had a couple of ques-
tions, but first let me ask the Chairman if the
staff could enter without any objection in the re-
cord from the textbooks that are most commonly
used by students in the public schools—I'm talk-
ing about non-Indians in South Dakota—the
pages in their history, if they take history or civ-
ics or whatever it is they take that’s relevant,
about Indians so we can see what it is indeed
that they are learning about American Indians
since there’s some dispute.! Would your panel
have any objection to doing that for us?

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. No objection.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. I think it looks like
a good suggestion.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. All right. Without ob-
jection, so ordered.

I have a couple of points to ask about. First of
all, Ms. Renville Pipe Boy, while it is indeed true
that it would be stereotypical to say that Native
Americans are all drinking and are all alcoholics,
that, of course, would be a stereotype, we under-
stand from what we learned here that at Pine
Ridge at least, even if you have an alcohol abuse
problem, the federal government doesn’t do any-
thing to help you, so they don’t even help you if
you have that problem, so maybe your son ought
to know that.

And wouldn't you consider—and we’ve also
been told by various officials different figures on
this, but that 70, 80, 90 percent, some number of
persons who have either been abused in the
criminal justice system, where there are allega-
tions of being abused, or caught up in the crimi-
nal justice system, that alcohol was somehow
implicated in those incidents. So if that is the
case, do you think it is appropriate as we con-
cern ourselves with what has happened to some
of these people that we could be concerned about
any role that alcohol abuse might have played in
making them be in a predicament that some-
thing like that could happen to them? Do you
think it's appropriate for us to have that con-
cern?

! See appendix I. Letter to John F. Dulles, director, Rocky
Mountain Regional Office, U.S. Commission on Civil Rights,
from Ray Christensen, Secretary, South Dakota Department
of Education and Cultural Affairs, Feb. 2, 2000.
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MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. I believe, you know,
because with Mrs. Redday, who is here, the fac-
tor of alcohol use perhaps shouldn’t be a factor. I
think that when you litigate a case and if there
was equal protection of the law, a life was taken,
we should not be able to have to deal with—she
should not have to deal with the fact that the
first question that came up was, “Your son was
drinking, wasn’t he?” No, youre changing the
issue when you do this. A life was taken; some-
one ran over him. So alcohol being a factor, you
know, shouldn’t be a factor. I think youre look-
ing at and dealing with issues of justice here and
are we treated equally. That's what you're look-
ing at. It's not the issue of alcoholism, even
though there were X amount of cases, perhaps,
where individuals had been shown to use alco-
hol.

I don’t like to use negative examples. There
have been numerous times in our community
when non-Indian officials, high officials have
been caught using alcohol, but they conveniently
called up the family and escorted them home
rather than to charge them with alcohol use.
We've seen this. We're not here to bring skele-
tons out of the closet, no, but I think when you
use the factor of alcoholism, you have already
prejudiced a jury, a prosecutor, a public de-
fender, perhaps.

When Mr. Abourezk was talking about the
public defenders, well, we have public defenders
in Sisseton. I don't know how much they get
paid, but it'’s probably not enough for them to
represent all of the cases that come before them.
And when that public defender stands up and
says, “I'm defending Mr. Means here,” is he de-
fending him from the heart and will do the very
best to get him out of the situation that he’s be-
come a part of or is he just pushing them
through the system? We say yes. We say yes.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. I only have one
other question and it’s about how much dialogue
across racial lines takes place in South Dakota.
All last year the President had a One America
Initiative which was supposed to stimulate dia-
logues all across the country about race issues,
and I would have assumed that here in South
Dakota, as a result of that, there would have
been every week or every day Indians sitting
down with non-Indians talking about racial ten-
sions and problems and education and interac-
tion for the whole year. Did that happen in
South Dakota?
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MR. MEANS. Not that I'm aware of.

MS. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. No.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. And has South
Dakota had a reconciliation commission of some
sort?

MR. MEANS. I'm not sure exactly where that
is since, you know, Governor Mickelson was
killed.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And the Governor—
who’s the Governor?

MR. MEANS. Janklow.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Janklow.

MR. MEANS. And I doubt very seriously that
Governor Janklow has initiated any kind of dia-
logue.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. So maybe Governor
Janklow might be persuaded to—I don’t know
Governor Janklow.

MR. MEANS. He'd be a hard sell, believe me.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Well, thank you very
much, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you, Mr.
Means, and thank you, Darlene. We appreciate
it.

Ms. RENVILLE PIPE BOY. I might want to
comment. I think I've been very rude here in not
saying it's an honor to have all of you here, and
we appreciate you coming to listen to our com-
plaints, and we hope that again the recommen-
dation, come to all reservations and listen to the
people talk. I'm only one person, there are many
others, and I will say, please come to the reser-
vations. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. We ap-
preciate your comments as well.

Federal Enforcement Panel

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Now we’ll have the
federal law enforcement panel. First up, we have
Mr. Ted McBride, the U.S. attorney for the state
of South Dakota. Would you state your name for
the record, please.

Ted McBride, U.S. Attorney, South Dakota

MR. MCBRIDE. Thank you. Ted McBride. I'm
the United States Attorney for the District of
South Dakota. First let me welcome—or thank
you, not welcome, thank all of you from the
Commission for coming, for providing this
mechanism for exploring these serious issues.
And I'd also like to thank those of the Committee
who are here. Many of you I recognize, some of
you I don’t. This is a marvelous opportunity. And
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while I know many of you, Justice Cruz Reynoso,
your writings were very. formative for me. This is
quite an honor to appear in front of you. I'm also
a little saddened but also glad that Professor
Frank Pommersheim isn't here because any-
thing I could say about Indian country jurisdic-
tion, he can say it twice as well and far clearer.
The United States attorneys are the trial
lawyers, in effect, for the federal government.
Both criminally and civilly, the large majority of
the trial work done by the federal government is
done by the United States attorney’s office. The
United States attorney is said to be the chief
federal law enforcement officer for his or her dis-
trict, although that does not mean that there’s a
hierarchal supervision. Each agency has its
own—or bureau has its own hierarchy, and con-
sequently, they are not ordinarily subject to the
direct supervision by the United States attorney.
When we're in the criminal area, the respon-
sibility for criminal statutes is divided up in the
Justice Department. There’s a Criminal Divi-
sion, a Civil Rights Division, Tax Division, Envi-
ronment and Natural Resources. Each have a
piece of various types of criminal jurisdiction,

and they provide varying degrees of oversight. %%
For instance, the Civil Rights Division—we have £

a representative here today, Ms. Fernandes,
from Civil Rights who will explain this in a little
greater detail—maintains a great deal, perhaps
not control, but the consultation level is ex-
tremely high, to put it mildly. At one time it was
virtually controlled. That has somewhat less-
ened in recent years, but all civil rights cases
there is—we don’t bring a civil rights case with-
out the Civil Rights Division, just to put it suc-
cinctly, and we don’t decline them without over-
sight from the Civil Rights Division, and we're
talking criminally. This is not true of our general
criminal jurisdiction.

Now generally the federal government is not
involved in street or violent crime. If something
happened outside here on Mt. Rushmore Road,
there was a fight or a gun fight, normally that
wouldn’t be a federal case, that would be a state
case, a case for the local district attorney. In
what is termed Indian country, however, the
United States attorney, in effect, acts as the
state’s attorney whenever an Indian person is
either the victim or the perpetrator of enumer-
ated serious crimes.

Now I want to start out by pointing out one
thing. When I speak of the terms “Indian coun-
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try” and “Indian,” this is a legal term of art, and
being an Indian legally is not—well, let me say,
being ethnically a Native American may mean
that you are legally an Indian for Indian country
jurisdiction, but it may not. For instance, Cana-
dian Indians are not Indians for federal Indian
country jurisdiction. If a Canadian Indian went
to Pine Ridge and was involved in a violent
crime against another Canadian Indian or
against a non-Indian person, there would be
state court jurisdiction.

The status of the defendant as an Indian is a
material element, and the reason for this is that
the Supreme Court has held that the classifica-
tion Indian is not an impermissible racial classi-
fication, but is rooted in the unique status of In-
dians as a separate people with their own politi-
cal institutions and their own special long-term
relationship with the federal government. There
are certain obligations placed on these people,
but also certain rights; for instance, the ability to
possess migratory bird treaty parte that
non-Indians don’t have. And the Supreme Court
and other courts have held that those distinc-
tions are justified on this historical political rela-
tionship.

To try to put it in the simplest fashion, Indian
country is defined by statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1152,
and involves either a nondisestablished reserva-
tion, a reservation that still has exterior bounda-
ries such as Pine Ridge. It also involves land
where the federal government owns the property
in trust for either a fribe or an individual Indian
person, even though a reservation may have
been disestablished such as Sisseton. Sisseton is
one where we don’t have the boundaries.

The distinction there is important because on
Pine Ridge, Pine Ridge even where there is
deeded land and a non-Indian owns that land,
it's within the exterior boundaries. Conse-
quently, there is federal jurisdiction whenever
an Indian person is either the victim or the per-
petrator of a serious crime, regardless of the
ownership. If you go up to Sisseton, you have a
checkerboard jurisdiction situation which com-
plicates the ability of the state, tribal, and fed-
eral law enforcement officers in providing law
enforcement services.

We also have, as I said, we have jurisdiction
when a non-Indian commits a erime against an
Indian person. Now the Indian country jurisdic-
tion, when you are dealing with an Indian de-
fendant, only goes to felonies, and a Indian per-
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son who commits a misdemeanor offense against
either an Indian or a non-Indian is only subject
to tribal court jurisdiction. And tribal court ju-
risdiction is limited by the Indian Civil Rights
Act to punishment up to one year; in effect, a
misdemeanor jurisdiction.

Tribal courts do not have criminal jurisdic-
tion over non-Indians, so if a non-Indian com-
mits a misdemeanor offense against an Indian
person, tribal court does not have jurisdiction.
Since 1990, I believe, or ‘91 in the State v. Lar-
son case when the South Dakota Supreme Court
said the state did not have jurisdiction over
non-Indians committing offenses over Indian
persons, the United States has had sole jurisdic-
tion of those misdemeanor non-Indian defendant
cases. It has been the practice of all U.S. attor-
neys, and I've only been the interim U.S. attor-
ney since August, but all U.S. attorneys, at least
since that time, take those cases where a
non-Indian commits a misdemeanor assault, for
instance, on an Indian person; those are investi-
gated and handled federally.

I mentioned that the United States attorney
does not have line authority or hierarchical au-
thority. The law enforcement jurisdiction in In-
dian country primarily rests with the FBI and
the BIA. Now the BIA has the ability—and in
many places in South Dakota through what’s
known as a 638 contract, that's named after a
public law, the BIA has contracted with tribal
governments to provide basic law enforcement
services and investigative law enforcement ser-
vices. As a matter of fact, I was a little concerned
and had asked Mr. Dulles when he mentioned
this panel, I said, “Is there going to be a tribal
person here?” because the tribal investigators
are an integral part of the federal enforcement
system in Indian country in South Dakota, and a
case almost always starts with the tribal input.

We have developed guidelines pursuant to an
agreement with the Secretary of Interior and the
Attorney General setting out when a case will
ordinarily be primarily a-tribal investigator who
will then come present directly to the United
States attorney’s office. These tribal investiga-
tors act as full federal officers and have the pro-
tections of federal officers under statute in terms
of if they’re assaulted by someone. And there’s a
certain category of cases where they do the en-
tire investigation, bring it, present it our office,
work with our office, the tribal investigator pre-
sents it at grand jury, and conducts the entire




case. There are other cases that a joint investi-
gative jurisdiction has been arrived at. All cases
are considered appropriate for joint work and
many-—perhaps not all, but many of the cases—
and I know some of the cases that have been
talked about here today involve joint investiga-
tion between the FBI and either BIA or tribal
officers.

I had a lot more to say and it seems I'm out of
time, but I want to go to one area that I know
has been of some concern and that’s in the area
of telling the community about what’s going on
in an investigation. This presents from a federal
prosecutor’s standpoint a very difficult balanc-
ing. The Department of Justice recognizes that
the public does have a right to know, but there
are severe constraints provided by rule 6-E of
the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. We
cannot reveal what occurs in front of a grand
jury. We also have to balance an individual’s
right to a fair trial, the defendant. And some-
times if you give information and then you can’t
make a case, you never are able to indict, you
may have unfairly tarred somebody with a brush
and they never have an opportunity to have a
public cleansing; they never have a real oppor-
tunity to get their story out.

Because of that, the Department of Justice
has very strict rules about not revealing much of
anything in precharge or nonpublic documents.
And I know this causes problems and it’s a bal-
ancing and it'’s a difficult issue. It's one reason
why we met with the families of the two indi-
viduals with the White Clay murders, met with
their families, as Mr. Abourezk has indicated.

I'm sorry I took a little more than my time. I
usually give the court time back, Justice. I'm
sorry about that.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. QOkay. Mr. Chip
Burrus?

MR. BURRUS. Yes.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Would you state
your name and position for the record, please.

James “Chip” Burrus, Jr., Assistant Special
Agent in Charge, Federal Bureau of Investigation,
Minneapolis Division

MR. BURRUS. Yes, sir. My name is Chip Bur-
rus. It's James H. Burrus, Jr., and I'm the assis-
tant special agent in charge for the FBI of the
Minneapolis Division, and I, too, want to wel-
come the Commission to South Dakota. We're
very happy to have the native South Dakotans
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as members of the Commission here to explore
these issues.

I have a statement that I'd like to read, and
I'd like first to introduce two agents that I've
brought with me today: Supervisory Special
Agent Mark Vukelich who is in our Rapid City
office. He also handles investigations out of Pi-
erre, South Dakota, and David Heller, who is in
our Sioux Falls office who also handles investi-
gations out of our Aberdeen office.

On behalf of the Director, Louie Freeh, and
Special Agent in Charge Doug Domin, I'm
pleased to represent the FBI before this Com-
mission. Both Mark and Dave are here to answer
questions should you have questions about spe-
cific areas.

As we sit here today, most of our agents in
South Dakota are working on one of the nine
reservations collecting evidence, talking with
citizens, and solving crimes. If they’re not on the
reservations, it’s likely that they’re doing paper-
work associated with work that they've done
while they were on the reservations. Indian
country investigations are synonymous with the
FBI in South Dakota. We're proud of our agents
and their accomplishments on the reservations
in South Dakota.

The FBI is a creation of Congress and our au-
thority is limited by Congress. Federal laws
passed by Congress give the FBI responsibility
to investigate major crimes that occur within the
boundaries of all nine Indian reservations in
South Dakota. On these reservations within
those boundaries, as Mr. McBride had men-
tioned earlier, we have authority over major
crimes like rape, murder, and serious assault.
We work these cases in cooperation with our
tribal and our BIA partners. Many times maps
must be used, as Mr. McBride indicated, to de-
termine who has investigative responsibility.
This isn’t to duck an investigation, but to deter-
mine which laws apply and which courts must
hear the case. Bringing the case to the wrong
court results in delayed justice for everyone. For
that reason, location of crime scenes in South

Dakota is an integral part of everybody’s first -

review.

The FBI in South Dakota is part of the Min-
neapolis Division, which covers North Dakota,
South Dakota, and Minnesota. In South Dakota
we have offices in Rapid City, in Pierre, Sioux
Falls, and in Aberdeen. We have supervisors in
both Rapid City and Sioux Falls that oversee the
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work and are responsible for the daily oversight.
They report issues and concerns to Minneapolis.
Minneapolis in turn reports issues and concerns
to our FBI headquarters in Washington, D.C.

Since January 1995, the FBI has opened
more than 1,100 cases originating on reserva-
tions in North Dakota, South Dakota, or Minne-
sota. Of those investigations, about half of them
involved death, serious bodily injury, or assault.
Another third are sexual abuse cases. An equal
number of allegations were investigated but not
found sufficient to justify opening a case. These
include tips, rumors, things that you might hear
on the street.

The bulk of these investigations were con-
ducted on the nine reservations in South Da-
kota. Murders, rapes, child molestations, and
other serious crimes are a sad, but all too famil-
iar occurrence in America today. The reserva-
tions in South Dakota unfortunately are not ex-
empt.

Currently, the FBI has more than 300 Indian
country investigations underway in South Da-
kota. Of these investigations, about 9 percent
are death investigations, 8 percent embezzle-
ments, 6 percent burglaries, 4 percent controlled
substances, 34 percent child sex abuse, 5 percent
assaulting a federal officer, and 34 percent are
assault cases.

This past year Congress gave the FBI more
agents and support employees to work Indian
country crimes. Minneapolis got eight of those
agent positions and five of the support positions,
the most of any office in the United States. As a
result, we were able to increase the size of each
of our offices in South Dakota. For these assign-
ments we selected experienced agents who
wanted to work in Indian country.

We have dedicated an employee in Rapid City

to help with victim witnesses on the reservation,

specifically Pine Ridge. We will also hire a victim
witness specialist to work the reservations out of
Pierre, South Dakota, and one for Bismarck,
North Dakota. We split the state of South Da-
kota into two squads and promoted Mr. Vuke-
Lich, an experienced Indian country investigator,
to the supervisory position. Lastly, we've dedi-
cated an assistant special agent in charge, me, to
head Indian country initiatives on a full-time
basis.

One of the myths about FBI agents working
on Indian reservations is that they are “dumped”
because of performance problems. This is just
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plain wrong. Poor performance gets an agents
removed from, not assigned to, an Indian coun-
try office; the work is just too important. Rapid
City is the most desirable RA, resident agency,
in the Minneapolis Division and has a list of ex-
perienced agents from across the country that
know about the work and want to come. One of
our recent additions, Charlie Cresalia, an agent
with more than 10 years of experience, came to
us from Orlando, Florida, where he worked vio-
lent crimes cases. Charlie was an award-winning
agent in Orlando who had a choice of offices and
chose Rapid City. Agents working on the South
Dakota reservations are some of the finest I
have ever seen.

Partnership: One of the most important parts
of our job, Madam Commissioner, is our work
with tribal, Bureau of Indian Affairs, local, state,
and other law enforcement officers. We work
with them in a variety of ways. On reservations
Iike Rosebud, Pine Ridge, and Cheyenne River,
we work with and need tribal police partners.
We work side by side with our tribal partners on
most of our investigations. They’re fine officers
who know the reservation and its people. We de-
pend on them. On Yankton, Standing Rock, Sis-
seton, Lower Brule, Crow Creek, we work with
our BIA partners. On Flandreau we work with
the local sheriff who provides law enforcement
through a contract. On all of these reservations,
the FBI interacts with our partners on a daily
basis, locating and interviewing witnesses,
collecting evidence, drawing conclusions from
the evidence, and working with Mr. McBride and
his office for prosecution.

Work with our tribal law enforcement part-
ners goes beyond investigations. Tribal depart-
ments who request training are provided with
FBI agent instructors who teach topics such as
crime scene preservation, child molestation in-
vestigations, basic homicide schools, and re-
port-writing skills, We have attempted to recruit
tribal officers for our national academy, our
10-week advanced school for upcoming law en-
forcement executives. Native American officers
have attended our weeklong school in Minneapo-
lis on advanced police management. Our agents
and tribal officers interact on a personal level
playing sports and engaging in weekend activi-
ties with our respective families.

One of the most noteworthy accomplishments
over the past years—and this is important from
our standpoint and from the jurisdiction stand-
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point Mr. McBride mentioned—is the formation
of our Northern Plains Safe Trails Task Force.
For the first time, tribal, local, state and federal
law enforcement officers are working together on
a drug problem that plagues communities both
on the reservation and off the reservation. Drug
dealers don’t recognize jurisdiction boundaries
and neither does this task force. Officers from
Rosebud, Pine Ridge, Cheyenne River, the Pierre
Police Department, Todd County Sheriff's Office,
Mellette County Sheriff's Office, the Division of
Criminal Investigation for the state of South
Dakota, the Bureau of Indian Affairs, and the
FBI work together identifying reservation drug
kingpins, targeting them for investigation, col-
lecting evidence, and presenting these cases for
prosecution. The FBI pays travel, overtime, and
in the near future will provide office space, vehi-
cles and other tools necessary for this task force
to operate. This is important. This is the first
time in the state of South Dakota that tribal, lo-
cal, state, and law enforcement officers have
teamed up to work within each other’s territory
and lock up dealers in a task force setting.

Civil rights investigations are some of the
most important investigations that we under-
take. The FBI has a long history of successful
civil rights investigations dating back to the in-
ception of the law. All allegations are reviewed
by our agents and opened consistent with federal
laws. There’s strict reporting deadlines which
must be met on these investigations. Notice of
the allegation must be filed with our headquar-
ters and with the Department of Justice within
five days and reports must be completed within
21 or an interim report must- be completed
within 21 days and every 21 days following that.
Completed investigations are forwarded to both
the United States Department of Justice and the
United States attorney. Charging decisions are
the province of both of these entities.

One high-profile example of a civil rights in-
vestigation was our work on the Boo Many
Horses case in Mobridge. This case did not occur
on the reservation so the FBI did not have pri-
mary jurisdiction. When the state of South Da-
kota announced its intentions, the FBI took the
initiative in determining whether there were
any violations of federal civil rights laws. The
investigation was completed and now rests with
the Department of Justice.

I want to make some comments about a spe-
cific investigation, and that's the White Clay
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murders. Horrific murders and acts of violence
are an unfortunate part of life in America includ-
ing Indian reservations. Most murders on the
reservations, like the murders in large cities,
have suspects that are quickly identified because
of witnesses, relationships, or even the murder
weapon. Most of you probably already know that
most of the murders in America occur in some
type of a domestic setting, and as a result, sus-
pects are fairly easy to locate. The murders of

Mr. Black Elk and Mr. Hard Heart were abso-

lutely senseless. Outside the family, no one
wants to solve these murders more than the FBI
and the Oglala Lakota Nation Department of
Public Safety.

On the day of the murders, the FBI had four
agents on the crime scene. We've assigned two of
our most experienced investigators to this case.
With our tribal partners, we've conducted more
than 300 interviews. We have expedited the test-
ing of forensic evidence and obtained other fo-
rensic crime scene and profiling assistance.
We've deployed search dogs and evidence re-
sponse teams, conducted aerial surveys, offered
$20,000 in reward money for anybody that would

provide us with information that will help us=

solve the crime. The Director and the Attorney %

s General have both been briefed on this case and *

remain diligent concerning the outcome. Both

have offered suggestions on investigative ave- ¥

nues. We will continue to work this case collect-
ing evidence and following its trail wherever it
leads.

As FBI agents, our evidence and testimony
must convince a jury of an accused’s guilt beyond
a reasonable doubt. We’re not free to discuss de-
tails of the investigation, nor are we free, as Mr.
McBride mentioned, to alter reputations by nam-
ing suspects. The FBI and the Oglala Lakota Na-
tion Department of Public Safety will not take
investigative shortcuts. We destroy the justice
Mr. Black Elk and Mr. Hard Heart deserve if we
don’t follow the rule of law. Outside the family,
no one wants to solve this matter more than the
investigators.

I just want to mention quickly that we at-
tempt to recruit Native Americans in our work
force, and I will address that if there’s some spe-
cific questions. I only have a couple of minutes
remaining and I want to move to my conclusion.

You've asked for our views on whether there
are disparities or discrimination in justice and
law enforcement systems within the state. These



judgments on the overall picture are best left to
others. The success or failure of the FBI in South
Dakota hinges on cooperative reservation resi-
dents. We need their help to solve crimes and
put away dangerous people. Disparities or dis-
crimination in justice or law enforcement sys-
tems in which the FBI operates would under-
mine the trust placed in us by the residents. I'm
going to remain here today to hear the evidence
that you hear and be sure that the system that
the FBI is involved in is free of disparities and
discrimination.

The FBI's been a fixture on the reservation
for more than 60 years. Qur strength comes from
" the integrity of our agents and their ability to
follow the evidence no matter where it leads
without regard to race, color, creed, position, or
other factors. I believe reservation residents
want the FBI involved in Indian country law en-
forcement, but we must continue to earn their
trust by working every day for justice. Thank
you very much.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Let’s move on to
Mr. Vukelich.

MR. BURRUS. Well— [inaudible.]

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. Well, then
Julie Fernandes. That's why we ran over time.
Will you state your name for the record, please.

Julie Fernandes, Special Assistant, Civil Rights
Division, Department of Justice

Ms. FERNANDES. Yes, my name is Julie Fer-
nandes. I'm a civil rights attorney, and I'm cur-
rently the special assistant to Bill Lann lee
who's the Acting Assistant Attorney General for
Civil Rights in the Justice Department. This
morning I'd like to just talk a little bit about the
Civil Rights Division and what we do in criminal
and civil matters that involve law enforcement
agencies.

The Civil Rights Division under the direction
of Bill Lee is responsible for enforcing the na-
tion’s civil rights laws, including statutes that
prohibit discrimination on the basis of race,
color, national origin, sex, disability, citizenship
status, and religion. I have with me this morning
and I have a stack outside of a brochure that we
produced last year that talks about all the vari-
ous civil rights statutes that we enforce. It in-
cludes phone numbers, 800 numbers. I encour-
age everyone to pick up one and call if you can’t
get one. It includes an 888 number, a toll-free
number for any allegations of police misconduct,
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excessive use of force. I'll talk more about that in
a second, but I want to make sure everyone sees
it.

The Criminal Section of the Civil Rights Divi-
sion investigates and prosecutes alleged viola-
tions of the federal criminal civil rights statutes.
These are statutes designed to preserve personal
liberties and safety. These statutes include,
among others, 18 U.S.C. 242, which prohibits
any person from acting under color of law, such
as a federal or state police officer, from depriving
anyone of any federally protected right.

And 18 U.S.C. 245, which is the federal hate
crime statute, prohibits any person from using
force or threats of force to injure or intimidate
another person because of that person’s race or
ethnicity and his or her exercise of certain feder-
ally protected rights. These are rights such as
the right to apply for or have a job, the right to
go to public school, or to use public accommoda-
tions.

We also enforce 18 U.S.C. 241, which prohib-
its conspiring to deprive any person of his or her
federally protected rights, and 42 U.S.C. 3631,
which prohibits any person from using force or
threats of force to injure or intimidate any other
person because of that person’s race or ethnicity
and his or her exercise of a federally protected
housing right. These statutes operate to protect
the rights of Native Americans both inside and
outside of Indian country as well as other citi-
zens of the U.S.

Over the course of this Administration, the
Criminal Section of our Civil Rights Division,
working together with local U.S. attorney’s of-
fices and the FBI, has investigated and prose-
cuted many allegations that involve Native
Americans, including allegations that BIA and
other law enforcement officials have violated
242, the excessive force statute, and allegations
of 241 and 245 violations. We have also investi-
gated and prosecuted allegations that Native
American persons inside or outside of Indian
country have been threatened or assaulted be-
cause of their race, the federal hate crimes stat-
ute.

More recently, we have successfully prose-
cuted defendants for burning a cross in front of
the home of a Native American woman and her
children in order to threaten and intimidate
them because of their race and in connection
with their housing rights. In another recent
case, we successfully prosecuted a defendant for

O o OO Qo O O c4@des g e g .«.a & .3

]}




assaulting and threatening with a firearm a Na-
tive American woman and her African American
boyfriend, also because of their race and their
exercise of federally protected housing rights.

We receive complaints of criminal civil rights
violations in many different ways. Criminal Sec-
tion investigations may result from a complaint
from a victim, a third-party complaint, or indi-
rect notice such as a news article. We investigate
all allegations of abuses by public officials and
all allegations that appear to fall within the fed-
eral hate crimes statute.

The Civil Rights Division seeks to maintain a
very close, cooperative working relationship with
the 93 U.S. attorneys across the country with
whom we have, as Ted McBride explained, over-
lapping jurisdiction in criminal civil rights mat-
ters. Both the U.S. attorney’s office and the Civil
Rights Division may investigate or possibly in-
dict these matters either together or separately.

While we often work with local investigators
to do investigations of these allegations of crimi-
nal civil rights violations, our decisions about
whether to bring a federal prosecution are inde-
pendent of any state decisions. And also as Ted

nation on the basis of race, color, sex, national
origin for people who receive federal funds. The
division investigates discrimination complaints
that are filed against recipients who are recipi-
ents of Department of Justice funds which are
funds from either OJP, the Office of Justice Pro-
gram, or the COPS Program. They give money to
local law enforcement. That gives us an ability to
investigate them for title VI violations.

The second statute and one that’s been very
important with us has been 42 U.S.C. 14141,
which is part of the 1994 Crime Act. This statute
gives the Department of Justice, the Civil Rights
Division, authority to investigate allegations
that state or local law enforcement departments
are engaged in a pattern or a practice of conduct
that deprives persons of their rights protected by
the Constitution. Now the types of conduct cov-
ered by this law include, among others, excessive
force, discriminatory harassment, false arrest,
coercive sexual misconduct, unlawful stops,
searches, and arrests. This statute does not ap-
ply to tribal police officers or federal BIA police
officers, but it does apply to state and locals, and
it's been an effective tool that we've used in

McBride mentioned, there are two circumstances
in which the role of the Civil Rights Division is
more pronounced. Those are, first, in criminal ;
civil rights cases and excessive force cases that
are of national interest, and that’s a term of art

many jurisdictions around the country for the:
past few years. &

_ Our work enforcing civil rights statutes with#
regard to law enforcement entities is and con-

tinues to be a priority of the Civil Rights Divi- =

that is defined really on a case-by-case basis
where we think it's important that this case is
important for our national civil rights enforce-
ment. In those cases, the U.S. attorney’s office
must obtain approval of the Civil Rights Division
before either seeking an indictment or declining
to seek an indictment.

The other circumstances are hate crimes
prosecutions. Hate crimes prosecutions brought
under 18 U.S.C. 245 require prior written ap-
proval of the Associate Attorney General, so the
Associate Attorney General who is the third
highest ranking official in the Department of
Justice is involved in and signs off on 245 hate
crimes prosecution decisions.

I do want to mention our work on the civil
side because we've been ‘doing more of itin the
last few years, and I think it's an important
piece of our law enforcement and civil rights
work. The Civil Rights Division really has two—
Tl have to speak more quickly—really has two
primary statutes. The first is title VI. Title VI,
the Civil Rights Act of 1964, prohibits discrimi-
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sion. I already mentioned the brochures that we
have with us, and I'd be happy to answer any
questions. .

I do want to take my last minute, I think, to
mention two other components of the Justice
Department that are instrumental in our work
with regard to the civil rights of Native Ameri-
cans. The first is the Office of Tribal Justice.
Mark VanNorman sends his regrets for not be-
ing able to be here this morning. They serve to
help coordinate Indian policy matters and pro-
mote government-to-government relationships
between us and the tribes. OTd really servesas a
tribal advocacy entity within the Department of
Justice and also consults with other agencies in
their work with Native Americans.

‘The second group I want to mention briefly is
the Community Relations Service. Here today is
Philip Arreola. He’s the regional director for the
Rocky Mountain Region of CRS. Here he is right
here [indicating]. Also with us is Silke Hansen
who is the senior conciliation specialist. CRS is
an arm of the Department that specializes in
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conciliation efforts, bringing communities to-
gether. There were questions earlier about dia-
logues in communities, and you all are probably
very familiar with CRS.

So I want to just thank you for the opportu-
nity to be here and would be happy to answer
any questions about the Civil Rights Division
and how we can help.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. Questions of
the Committee? Dorothy?

Discussion

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Mr. McBride,
first I hope youll forgive me because I need to
set background for a particularly painful thing
that happened in South Dakota in 1976, and it’s
painful for us, for the tribes, for the FBI, for eve-
ryone. But I need to ask you to please state your
definitions and the features of whatever laws
with regard to what you call American Indians
and Canadian Indians.

So what I do know from 1976, that after the
body of Anna Mae Aquash was found, and it was
a long time before the body had been identified,
it had been buried in an unmarked grave, but at
the time before the first burial, the hands had
been severed at the wrists, put into Mason jars
and, we’re told, sent to the FBI lab for identifica-
tion. And what came out of that, though, was the
fact that the Canadian government did require
the presence of the person who was then the re-
gional director of the Denver office and had to go
before both houses of parliament 'to explain why
it was that the body of a Canadian citizen had
been so mutilated.

The other thing we were told is that under
the terms of Jay’s Treaty, that Canadian and
American indigenous people can cross borders at
will. So could you just tell me now how that
works and what are the differences as you stated
them earlier?

MR. MCBRIDE. Well, I can’t answer all those
questions, to be honest. I've not been around
since 1976, and I must be quite honest with you,
the case youre talking about, as I'm sure you
know, is still an open case.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Still open?

MR. MCBRIDE. And some of this rule 6-E
about grand jury, I know there was an individ-
ual who stood on a courthouse step and said he’'d
been to the grand jury. I cant tell you whether
he was or not. People who appear in front of
grand jury don’t have the same obligations of se-
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crecy that those of us who practice in front of the
grand jury.

The point I was trying to make when I men-
tioned the Canadian Indian is that as many of
you may know, there is a great deal of kinship in
some Northern Plains tribes with tribes in Can-
ada, and Sitting Bull, T believe, sought refuge
there after Little Big Horn, and there’s a great
deal of back and forth, so you may have people
who are actually related who may be a Canadian
Native American who would not be considered
an Indian for Indian country jurisdiction because
they are not a member of a federally recognized
tribe. The touchstone being whether first you
have a federally recognized tribe.

Once you have the federally recognized tribe,
then if there’s enrollment, that pretty much sets
it up. Even if there’s not enrollment, one may
look at some blood quantum, so there’s an ele-
ment of ethnicity there with the blood quantum,
but more importantly whether that person has
held themselves out to be an Indian or whether
they are treated as an Indian by the Indian
community to which they may seek to be affili-
ated with, or in the case of a criminal prosecu-
tion, they may seek to not be affiliated with. And
so that’s where the distinction really comes in is
in identifying who is subject to this special rela-
tionship with the tribal peoples which then
translates into the special relationship and obli-
gations and responsibility that the federal gov-
ernment has to those tribal peoples that are part
of a federally recognized tribe.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Other members?
Bill?

MR. WALSH. Mr. Burrus, it’s stated in here
that you currently have Native Americans in the
FBI both as agents and support personnel. How
many—what is the quota and do we have any
here in South Dakota? And you also state that
the number is low and you're trying to employ
more. What are some of the challenges in that
area? .

MR. BURRUS. Let me get to the first question.
In South Dakota we don’t have any Native
Americans here. In the FBI, I'm going to take a
guess here at about 47 this past year. I know we
hired four. The difficulties a lot of times when it
comes to the Native American population, as it is
with a number of different diverse ethnic—those
with diverse ethnic backgrounds—is getting
them through our process. The age for an FBI
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agent is 23 to 37. You have to be able to get a se-
curity clearance. You have to have a college de-
gree and usually some type of work experience.

Just speaking for Minneapolis, we were able
over the last several years to get five of our Na-
tive Americans through the panel—or to the
panel. Two of them didn’t make it through the
initial interview panel, and the others, I believe,
declined employment with the FBI for a lot of
reasons, including salary. It wasn’t what they
wanted it to be.

We are targeting anything and everything. If
anybody here knows of any Native American or
anybody else that wants to join the FBI, I'd be
happy to hear from them. We recruit at job fairs,
we go to colleges, we go to the reservation, our
agents are on the reservation every day. We're
always looking for qualified Native Americans to
join our ranks.

And one of the things that I didn’t mention
was during the searches that we had last week,
Chief Bernard White Face was able to tell us
some cultural sensitivities, and it’s in my state-
ment, but this is so important for the FBI to
have that. And so as a result, hopefully, in an-
swer to your question, we look for qualified peo-
ple all the time.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. I'd like to have a
quick followup on that. From our site visit yes-
terday, some individuals said that they were
maybe interested in going into the FBI, but then
they wanted to end up back on the reservation,
but they get sent to the cities to do drug work
etc., etc. How does that reconcile?

MR. BURRUS. Well, I'll tell you what we try to
do. The placement of personnel in the FBI is as
close to rocket science as you could get. As open-
ings come up, everybody goes to different loca-
tions. Generally you don’t go back to the reserva-
tion from which you came or to the city from
which you came. 'm from North Carolina and
they certainly didn’t send me back there, and the
reason for that a lot of times is to get the agent,
the new agent experience in a variety of things.

One of the things that we found, particularly
with our Hispanic agents, was that they tended
to go on what was called at the time “the taco
circuit,” and that’s where you tend to put Span-
ish-speaking agents on Spanish wires. They
don’t get perspective and they don’t see the other
things, foreign counterintelligence, the different
things that we do in the FBI. They didn't get the
diversity.
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So to answer your question, it would be
probably unlikely that somebody would come
immediately back to the reservation, but just as
soon as they began to get that perspective, if
they still had the desire to go back to the reser-
vation, there’s not an ASAC in the FBI that
would act on it quicker than I would. So does
that answer—

CHATRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Yes. Thank you.
Jim?

MR. POPOVICH. Yes. I think this would be di-
rected to Mr. Burrus, but maybe some of the
others could answer it. In a recent Justice De-
partment study, it stated that American Native
Americans were twice at the rate of the Ameri-
can public as far as violent crimes. It also stated
in that report that the BIA chief law enforce-
ment officer has asked for more staffing for un-
derstaffed people on the reservations, and this is
to help out on patrolling and detention centers
throughout the reservations.

Has the FBI, has the Justice Department re-
sponded to that study? I notice you mentioned
something about training that’s ongoing within
the FBI and the tribal governments. Are there
other things that are happening that we can“:’f
point out here that will help people understand f

= that that study is being addressed?

MR. MCBRIDE. I'll let Chip maybe fill in a ht—
tle more, but one, the Justice Department does *
not have the line authority over those BIA offi-
cers; that's the Department of Interior. And the
allocation of funds, of course, rests with Con-
gress. I will tell you that I know that the COPS
Program, the actual policing program, which has
provided officers throughout the country to
communities, that the Justice Department re-
evaluated its original position and determined
that COPS monies, while they can’t go to the
BIA, to another federal agency, could go to tribal
entities. And I know, I was just talking to Wil-
liam Brewer, I've known him for years as
“Shorty” and I've got to remember to call him
William now that he’s the director. You'll be see-
ing him this afternoon with the Oglala Sioux
Tribal Police. A large part of their police force
will now be employed under COPS grants. There
will sort of be a core under what we call a 638
contract, that's money from the Interior De-
partment, but most of the Pine Ridge police
force, for instance, will be funded by COPS
grants, money granted to the tribe through a
Department of Justice program. ’



There's also a project that the Attorney Gen-
eral started called the Circle Project which is—
there’s three tribes that are in this pilot pro-
gram, the Oglala Sioux, the Zuni, and the
Northern Cheyenne of Montana, to provide a
one-stop shopping to help bolster their ability to
tap into various Department programs.

So the concern has been registered to the ex-
tent—maybe not to the greatest extent, but
there’s been a start, certainly, by the Depart-
ment of Justice under the very direct leadership
of this Attorney General; I can tell you, very di-
rect and hands on. This Attorney General has
been looking at that issue. Chip?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. I'd like
to ask a question; I'll let the rest of the Commit-
tee do it in a second. This has a couple of parts to
it and gets back to the White Clay incident in
particular, and in your talk you mentioned ex-
pediting tests of the forensic evidence obtained
from the crime scene. Yesterday I had the oppor-
tunity to see Camp dJustice and the culvert
where the bodies were found. It's been stated to
me that that was not where they were mur-
dered. And the followup question or the other
part of the question is, what was the cause of
death? What did the autopsy report say?

MR. BURRUS. We have shared the results of
the autopsy with the families, and we have not
made the rest of the details public in terms of
the cause of death. Both of those questions, I'm
not sure that we can even answer those as a re-
sult of the ongoing investigation. You had an op-
portunity to visit Camp Justice and see the cul-
vert and see the location—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Yes.

MR. BURRUS.—where the bodies were found?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Yes.

MR. BURRUS. Okay. What was the other part
of the question, I guess?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Well— [inaudible ]
Well, I guess we’ll save that for later, but I sort
of understand where youre coming from, but
we’ll wait on—

MR. BURRUS. Let me tell you this: We have
explored absolutely every investigative theory
that anybody has offered us; I think that is very
safe to say. We have two experienced investiga-
tors that are on this. If there are theories that
have come out as a result of contacts with the
families or contact with the community, we have
done our very best to explore those. We have to
follow the evidence. We just have to follow the
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evidence. We can’t deviate from where the evi-
dence is taking us, and there are a number of in-
vestigative avenues that we're looking at. So 1
hope that helps. It's about as far as I could go.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. I think BdJ
was next?

Ms. KIM. Yes. Mr. Burrus, you earlier men-
tioned that there are about 300 Indian-related
cases in South Dakota, and among those 300,
how many cases have a history of a year or
older?

MR. BURRUS. I don’t have those figures off the
top of my head. I can certainly get that to the
Committee, and I would be more than happy to
do that. I don’t know.

Ms. KM, How many agents are involved to
investigate these cases?

MR. BURRUS. We have 23 agents in South
Dakota, 25 with you two, Mark?

MR. VUKELICH. I have eight agents here in
Rapid City and seven agents actively working in
Pierre covering the western part of South Da-
kota. Dave has—

MR. HELLER, I have six in Sioux Falls and
two up in Aberdeen.

MER. BURRUS. Does that add up to 23?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. My calculator is
broken. Okay. Mutch?

MR. USERA. It sounds to me like that per-
formance-wise you're very proud of what you're
doing, but how are you communicating all this? I
mean, youre telling us that your people are do-
ing a great job. How are you communicating? Do
you have a communicative process? Especially
when these cases are lasting a year or more, are
you somehow trying to communicate to the gen-
eral public or to the communities that are obvi-
ously concerned? Do you have some kind of proc-
ess to inform these people so they’re not waiting
a year, two years? Obviously, that is a frustra-
tion with everybody.

MR. BURRUS. Clearly. Specifically with the
victims and the witnesses, we have one victim
witness coordinator in Minneapolis, we have one
in Rapid City, and we soon will have one in Pi-
erre and in Bismarck, North Dakota. Those are
primarily the vehicles that, under the guidance
of our Attorney General and through the bene-
fits that Congress has bestowed, we've been able
to hire those people. Previously investigators
generally would conduct the investigations, the
U.S. attorneys would prosecute, and then relay-
ing the information back generally would come
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through the tribal officers or if the FBI agent
was down on the reservation. I think to answer
your question, there was no formalized process
to advertise what we have done on the reserva-
tion.

MR. USERA. Do you think that would have
helped, I mean, if there was some kind of process
to communicate that to the public?

MR. BURRUS. To answer your question, yes,
phrased correctly, it probably would, but a lot of
times what the FBI can say and what it can’t say
in terms of what we looked at and what we
didn’t look at is very restrictive because as Mr.
McBride says, we don’t want to tar somebody
with a reputation. But believe me the FBI is
more than willing to blow its own horn when we
do a good job, and we try to do that, giving credit
to the other people, the tribal officers or BIA in a
teamwork type of a setting. And we do press re-
leases a lot on the results of arrests and things
like that. There are times when that perhaps
isn’t newsworthy and we don’t get the informa-
tion to the press and—but I will certainly take
your point and I certainly see where you're going
with that.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay.

MR. BURRUS. I'm sorry, Dave mentioned one
more thing. Dave?

MR. HELLER. Yes, also we have a monthly
meeting with tribal people on each of the reser-
vations on the eastern part of the river and, I'm
sure, on the west where we sit down with the
tribal attorney, prosecutor, also individuals that
represent health and welfare services of the
tribe and agents and U.S. attorney’s office each
month and sit down and talk about cases, new
cases coming on board, the status of the cases
that we're currently investigating, and this is a
monthly thing that we all attend. So we do have
a form of that, and their families then are con-
tinually contacted and in contact with the repre-
sentatives from the tribes that we're meeting
with. We even have tribal members, victims
come into these meetings and talk to us.

MR. DULLES. I'm sorry, I need to interrupt.
The tape has expired for the court reporter and
until they get that set up, why, we'll just hold on.
Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Rae, did you have a
question?

MR. MCBRIDE. Could I just real briefly follow
up on Mutch’s question because we also now
have six people involved full time in victim wit-
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ness issues throughout the state. Every prior
U.S. attorney for several years now has done
what they call the Indian Country Report, and
T'll be doing that after the first of the year where
we'll go in front of each tribal council with a re-
port showing the breakdown of cases, the types
of cases that were worked on all the reserva-
tions, but broken down by reservations. Since I
became U.S. attorney I've been—I haven't been
to Standing Rock, but I've been to every reserva-
tion to meet with a wide variety of both the law
enforcement tribal people and the treatment
communities. So it's something that needs to be
done. We try to do it. We can always do a better
job, and you'’re right, we need to do more of it,
always remembering the constraints we have—

MR. USERA. Sure.

MR. MCBRIDE.—both ethically and legally.
Thank you.

MR. USERA. Thank you.

MR. FEINSTEIN. Any more questions? Rae?

MS. BURNETTE. I have two different questions
for two different individuals. Mr. Burrus, I have
never heard an agent speak so eloguently. It’s as
if the FBI has adopted all the tribal police forces
in Indian country, and perhaps with your re-
sources, we should look at sharing some of them
with Indian country because we’re aware of the
fiscal and human resource crisis that they have
in their law enforcement divisions.

But I would like to know, did I misunder-
stand you, but you cannot tell us out of your
60-year history of FBI presence on the reserva-
tions and in doing investigations, that you can-
not tell us today how many unsolved crimes
there are remaining, are out there on the books?

MR. BURRUS. Are you talking about—

MS. BURNETTE. You cannot tell us the num-
bers of unsolved crimes on reservations today?

MR. BURRUS. Unsolved crimes—assaults, bat-
teries, child molestations?

MS. BURNETTE. Yes, that have been commit-
ted on the reservations, you cannot tell me that
number?

MR. BURRUS. No, ma’am, not off the top of my
head.

MS. BURNETTE. Could you tell me what the
FBI's protocol is in working with unsolved
crimes and current cases and what your admin-
istrative protocol is to respond to a tribal call for
assistance when a crime’s been committed and
your reliance upon—what specifically is the
FBI's reliance upon tribal law enforcement in
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terms of your criteria and your priority of assis-
tance from them?

MR. BURRUS. Sure. You actually have asked
three questions. The first one has to do with—I'1l
take the last one first, and that has to do with
how we interact with tribal law enforcement,
and really on six of the reservations, it's BIA. We
get referrals from BIA and from tribal officials
all the time. A lot of times, our agents go down—
I mean, clearly geographically from the reserva-
tions’ locations, the tribal and the BIA officers
are going to be the first ones there, I mean just
from a distance standpoint; it was reported to
them, they reported there first. OQur agents come
after the fact. Usually the crime scenes have
been preserved and we work with those guys.
That's why we give courses in crime scene train-
ing. That's why we try to train as many people
as we can in evidence collection and things like
that. That was one of the questions.

How do we track, how do we follow up on
cases that remain unsolved in Indian country?
Those cases are assigned to agents. Even the one
that was spoken of earlier by Ms. Butler, the
Anna Mae Aquash case, it's still assigned; it’s an
active case. We've still got it assigned to an
agent here in Rapid City. Those cases are as-
signed and remain with the agents.

If you're talking about specifically death in-
vestigations, in response to some community
concern that there were hundreds of unsolved
murders in Indian country, we did go back and
specifically canvass our files for the exact num-
bers, and I can tell you that as far as murders
go, there are less than 10 that are unsolved from
the FBI's standpoint. If anyone has a list of 60 or
100, I would certainly like to see them because
clearly we don’t have that type of information.
Did I hit the questions that you asked?

Ms. BURNETTE. But just to clarify, so the
FBI's reliance upon tribal or BIA law enforce-
ment on reservations in response to a criminal
act is preservation of the crime scene until the
FBI gets there and then you take over the inves-
tigation?

MR. BURRUS. Oh, no. Oh, I hope I didn’t give
that impression. We work hand in hand with
our—just initially—if we respond to the crime
scene, we work hand in hand with the reserva-
tions, with the tribal officers and the BIA officers
on all of our—on most all of our investigations. I
could think of a couple that maybe we didn’t for
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corruption concerns or things like that, but
that’s over the 60-year history of the FBI.

Mark, is there anything that I'm missing
there?

MR. MCBRIDE. Well, let me quickly say, be-
cause I've got more history here than these folks;
I've been here 20 years. What you describe, Rae,
was the case 20 years ago, but there was a shift
and it was a slow shift. I can’t point to which
U.S. attorney, but certainly by the time Karen
Schreier, my predecessor, came in, it was clear
that that was not the way it was going to work.
There—and the FBI had a corporate—a shift of
corporate personality; it no longer had to be the
lead agency. If you'll remember, there used to be
something called lead agency. That doesn’t
really exist anymore. It is a cooperative effort
now, but what you describe very much did exist.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. We'll move to
the—

MS. BURNETTE. I have one more quick ques-
tion for Ted.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. Go ahead.

MS. BURNETTE. Ted, the perception out there,
and I'm sure you've heard as the U.S. attorney in
South Dakota and in particular in Indian coun-
try, when crimes are committed, your office is an
aggressive pursuer of those prosecutions, and
your success rate has been quite successful in
prosecuting tribal people, particularly for crimes
committed. But for tribal people, there’s this ad-
age out there that if you do the crime, you do
twice the time if it's committed on the reserva-
tion as opposed to committing those same crimes
or similar crimes off reservations. Do you want
to speak to the federal sentencing guidelines,
and is there any perspective you have on that
type of information that comes forth that we
hear all the time?

MR. MCBRIDE. The sentencing guidelines, as’

many of you may know, were promulgated as a
result of an act of Congress and a desire to have
more of a uniformity in sentencing. The founda-
tion for them was the review of 10,000 sentences
to determine what factors were significant, and
then there were policy decisions made, and what
they ended up with is sort of a grid, and Con-
gress has said that this is the law. The Depart-
ment of Justice has been committed to doing
what it can to enforce that law. And our basic
premise is whatever we do, we have to be honest
with the court and then let the court decide
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where to go on the guidelines and whether to
depart from the guidelines.

I have heard anecdotally it said that they are
tougher than state sentences, and there are
some—you know, I can—I mean we talked about
non-Indian, Indian sort of crime. On Pine Ridge,
the Martin incident, this is the first In-
dian/mon-Indian violent crime I can remember in
the last few years. There actually have been
three non-Indian on Indian, and I know those
three people all received—those non-Indians re-
ceived significant jail sentences as a result of
their activities. Now would they have received
the same thing in the state, either the Indian or
the non-Indian person? I cant tell you. I've
heard people say this. I do not know of any study
that has directly correlated South Dakota real
sentences. You can’t—a 15-year South Dakota
sentence and a 38-month federal sentence don’t
correlate because with a 38-month sentence, you
do your time except for a little bit of good time.
The state sentence of 10 or 15 years is really
subject to interpretation and to the largess, if
you will, of the parole commission which we
don’t have in the federal system. So I think it
would take a very specific number-driven, em-
pirical study before any of us could really say
you get hit harder if you do the crime in Pine
Ridge than if you do it in Rapid City.

Ms. BURNETTE. Is that a recommendation?

MR. MCBRIDE. I am not in a position to rec-
ommend, merely to expound.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Dr. Berry?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Yes. Let me first ask
Commissioner Meeks if you have a question,
some questions?

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. Yes, I do. Thanks. Got
a couple of questions. Ted, I've seen your South
Dakota Indian Couniry Report, and while the
crime in the United States has been dropping for
the last seven years, crimes in Indian country
have just really been skyrocketing. And Judge
Kornmann asked me to come to a meeting where
he could brief me about some of the issues in fed-
eral courts, and he felt like the federal courts are
just clogged with Indian country crimes that
really should be in tribal court. And do you know
of any efforts to strengthen the tribal court sys-
tems, public safety systems?

MR. MCBRIDE. There are clearly efforts ongo-
ing. There’s a program that BJ Jones has been
involved in. He'’s the tribal judge at Sisseton and
also affiliated with the University of North Da-
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kota providing training for tribal courts. Part of
the Circle Project I was talking about, the Attor-
ney General's sort of brainchild has a component
for getting tribal courts in Pine Ridge a proba-
tion officer and process server, which they've
never had, and also providing increased train-
ing. There are efforts that have been made. More
efforts need to be made. One of the things, as
long as you only have a one-year jurisdictional
meax, there are clearly some crimes that are not
going to be appropriate for that type of prosecu-
tion.

Having said that, there are times when one
looks at a case and, you know, something needs
to be done. You look at it, you say, “Something
needs to be done.” And if there is a credible
tribal court alternative, then that is a good
ground and actually in the U.S. attorney’s man-
ual is a stated reason for us to withhold prosecu-
tion.

And there’s some people here from Sisseton.
This is something that I spoke to the tribal coun-
cil at Sisseton about as well as at Lower Brule,
the need for that credible tribal response be-
cause there are some people that don’t need to go
to federal court, but if it comes down to going
nowhere or taking them to federal court and
there’s an abused woman out there who needs
some protection, my job’s going to be to take it to
federal court. It's that simple.

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. One other question,
and I don’t know who can address this, but Mr.
Burrus talked about the Safe Trails Task Force
which is related to drug enforcement and which
is important work. However, when I look at the
crimes that are committed and that you work on
in Indian country, controlled substances is only 4
percent of those crimes, whereas assault and
sexual abuse and death investigations are in the
top three. Why isn’t there some kind of program
like this that works on those issues that are
clearly the most problematic in Indian country?

MR. BURRUS. The drug task forces that we've
had success with in the past where you had to
worry about jurisdiction have traditionally been
the drug type cases. The 4 percent is low. We
think it should be much higher because we know
that drugs is increasingly becoming a problem
on the reservation—methamphetamine, mari-
juana, each reservation’s a little different.

What we're trying to do with the Safe Trails
Task Force is that you can’t—we don’t think that
methamphetamine is being made on the reserva-



tion or that marijuana in substantial amounts or

cocaine is being processed on the reservation; it
generally comes from outside. That's where
state, local, federal officers, and tribal can all
work together. We all have pieces of the puzzle.
It seemed to fit in that particular environment
first.

The other thing is that, especially for some of
the assaults and murders and things like that
that take place, we'll form case-specific task
forces if it's necessary. If there’s a link to Rapid
City, if there’s a link to Pierre, clearly those po-
lice departments would have an interest in
working with us on those particular cases, 80 it's
not exclusive. What we find is that the agents
and the police officers tend to form task forces
within themselves. They'll call somebody that
they know, “Hey, do you have anything on X, Y,
Z?” But they work together very well, and that’s
more of a liaison function than a formalized task
force, Ms. Meeks, which specifically we needed to
codify so that our agents and state officers and
local officers can work on the reservations and
the tribal officers can work off the reservations.

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. I'm sorry. At the risk
of hogging the microphone here, I just want to
talk more specifically about the White Clay is-

sues. How closely did the FBI work with the

Sheridan County Sheriffs Department in inves-
tigating those murders?

MR. BURRUS. Mark?

MR. VUKELICH. In investigating the White
Clay case?

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. Right, right.

MR. VUKELICH. Not very closely. We worked
primarily, at least on the initial stages, jointly
with the Oglala Sioux Tribal Public Safety
Commission. The Sheridan County sheriffs and
deputies have been and continue to be extremely
cooperative and assist in any way, shape or
form, whatever we’ve asked to include the Ne-
braska Highway Patrol, which has also taken an
active role in the investigation. But to say, did
we go to them at the early stages and formally
work jointly with them? No, we didn’t, but they
were there to assist us whenever on whatever we
needed.

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. Well, when we met
with them yesterday, I mean, it seemed like they
had a lot of knowledge of these two particular
individuals, and so I just wondered how that—

And the other thing, in these cases where it
seems like a lot of suspicion is directed towards
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the FBI and the different people involved, the
pathologists and—I mean, across the country,
how common is it for you to switch people during
a procedure, switch pathologists?

MR. BURRUS. Switch pathologists?

COMMISSIONER MEEKS, Yes, or other people,
other agents involved in investigations.

MR. BURRUS. We've had the same two agents
on this particular case since the very beginning.
It's not a—they’re generally—in the FBI there
are—in this particular case, we have two
full-time investigators on this case. It's not to
say that’s the only two people working on this
case. If we have somebody that needs to be ques-
tioned in New York or—

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. But in general, you
know, in, say, the Aquash murder and those just
generally, does it happen that pathologists are
switched if there’s a lot of suspicion that—

MR. BURRUS. Okay. Referring to—

COMMISSIONER MEEKS.—reports are being—
we just hear this and this is just a question that
I want to ask, is it that the pathologist gave a
report that wasn't accurate or an autopsy that
wasn’t accurate? Does it ever happen then that
there are two autopsies done or—

MR. BURRUS. I really can’t answer your ques-
tion. I don’t know that I've ever heard of a case
like that. Obviously, our credibility and the
credibility of our expert witnesses in court, if
there are inaccuracies or it was done sloppily, we
probably would hesitate to use that type of ex-
pert witness just because it destroys our credibil-
ity before a jury. So is it common to reassign?
Probably not for reasons of—more for if there’s a
reason for it, I mean, clearly we'd explore that,
but I just don’t think—it's not a common rotating
type thing, “Well, it's your twrn to have this case
this week.” You need the institutional knowledge.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Commissioner Lee?

COMMISSIONER LEE. I have a question for Ms.
Fernandes. We heard yesterday and earlier to-
day that many individuals did not think that—
even though they knew that hate crimes against
Indians had occurred, they were not aware any
investigation had taken place, and you men-
tioned there were two cases. And you also men-
tioned that in order for a federal hate crime in-
vestigation or charge, you have to meet dual
standards, you have to meet two criteria. How
difficult is it to meet both criteria? And secondly,
how many cases have you looked into where the
crime had met one standard, but not the other?
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And finally a question, you mentioned earlier
that in order for you to file those charges, you
will need, was it the Associate Attorney General
or Assistant?

MS. FERNANDES. Yes, Associate.

COMMISSIONER LEE. Why is it that you need
that approval before you proceed?

MsS. FERNANDES. Okay. First, I can tell you
that I don’t know—I can’t tell how many cases in
general fit one criteria and not the other of the
two that need to be met in order to trigger a fed-
eral hate crime, for it to be a federal violation of
18 U.S.C. 245, but I can tell you that we sup-
ported legislation last year that didn’t succeed
that would have eliminated the federally pro-
tected activity requirement in the hate crime
statute and allowed us then to have a greater
ability to bring federal hate crimes prosecutions
than we currently have. Certainly, we have a
very effective enforcement program currently,
but we supported this change that would have
given us a greater ability.

On your question about the Associate, the
reason 1 think that we have the Associate in-
volved is because these cases are very important,
and we want to make sure that we have
high-level people in the Department in place
who are involved in making these decisions.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Commissioner Edley?

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Well, just to stick with
that last point a moment, it does seem rather
bureaucratic to have the third-ranking official in
the Justice Department involved in every rou-
tine law enforcement decision that's made in this
particular arena. You don’t have the Associate
Attorney General involved in every civil case in-
volving Defense Department contracts, so why
isn’t it sufficient to have it be done at the AG
level or even below, at the level of the person
who runs the Criminal Section?

MsS. FERNANDES. Well, all I can say is that I
don’t think I can answer that question, but I can
say that I think the mechanism works well for
us. I don’t think that we find it to be unnecessar-
ily bureaucratic. We work very well with the As-
sociate’s office, meeting with them two or three
times a week on various issues beyond just our
general communication. They're not that far
away from us.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Any other questions?

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Yes. And I want to say
that I think all the Associate Attorney Generals
have been swell people, so that’s not my objec-
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tion. With the 21-day reporting cycle that you
described, Mr. Burrus, is there an analogous
time constraint, or what happens in the DOJ
when the investigations are completed and re-
ferred to DOJ, or are there situations in which,
after the investigatory report is filed, cases are
left to languish while you get on the Associate
Attorney General's calendar?

Ms. FERNANDES. Well, I certainly wouldnt
say that we have languishing cases. We have in-
ternal deadlines that we try to keep to, barring
unusual circumstances, but yes, we have cases
that we've gotten reports on from the FBI that
are continuing investigations over time. If you
would like, I could provide any kind of data that
you would want about how many cases, how long
they’ve been open.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Please provide us with
a record. So ordered.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Thank you. On the is-
sue of jurisdiction and the description that you
gave us of the decision by the State Supreme
Court to not exercise jurisdiction over, was it
non-Indian defendants when there’s an Indian
victim?

MR. MCBRIDE. Yes.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. It sounds a little bit—
please correct my misimpression, it sounds a lit-
tle bit sort of like dumping of cases into the fed-
eral system.

MR. MCBRIDE. Well, they're always willing
to—you know, no.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. I'm not trying to get
you in trouble here.

MR. MCBRIDE. I'm not going to let me—the
United States attorney’s manual for years rec-
ognized concurrent jurisdiction between the
state and the federal government in Indian
country throughout wherever there is Indian
country.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Yes, but it's hard to
have concurrent jurisdiction if they’re dumping,
though.

MR. MCBRIDE. No, the concurrent jurisdiction
of a non-Indian committing an offense against
an Indian person. Now that position shifted. The
Solicitor General took the opposite position
about eight years ago, I think. And at that time
the U.S. attorney’s manual changed and it was
about the same time that the state of South Da-
kota came out with State v. Larson, and I think
there was another—Montana had always been
that way, and I think it was sort of a growing
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thing amongst the states. And it's now—let me
say the Solicitor General has taken that position
in a case in front of the U.S. Supreme Court,
that is, if an Indian person is involved in Indian
country, then it's either tribal or federal; there is
no state jurisdiction. So it’s kind of—it’s consis-
tent.

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Okay. One last ques-
tion or, I guess, area of concern—I've got to tell
you I am not overwhelmed with a sense of you
all having depths of self-awareness about the
credibility problem that’s pretty apparent to us
as visitors in terms of just the magnitude, the
number of comments, the vehemence of the
comments, the pain that comes across in the
comments with people not trusting that the FBI
is investigating aggressively and -effectively.
Even most recently this 20-plus folks who went
down to do some more investigating, I gather a
couple of days ago, comments that we've heard
suggest, “Well, why now? Why in December?
Why not in June, July, August, September, Oc-
tober, November? Why so long to have this sub-
stantial .show of investigatory resources?” It
smells like politics rather than aggressive law
enforcement.

So it's really a twofold question, I guess. In
particular, what response could you have to
those who look at this and say, “Is this politics or
is this overly delayed effective aggressive en-
forcement? What's going on in this story?” But
then the broader question of, are you absolutely
sure that youre striking the balance the right
way between what you understand to be your
ethical constraints in effectively communicating
the progress of your investigations on the
other—with the—you've got to be concerned
with your effectiveness, your legitimacy in the
eyes of the community that you're serving.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Christopher, before
they answer that, in the interest of time, I'm go-
ing to rephrase the question so that you can just
answer once, okay?

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. She’s the Chair,
she can do that.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Let me just say that I
am deeply disappointed with this entire panel. I
am disappointed with you. I am distressed by
your testimony. I have never heard a federal
panel give such testimony which reflects a sort
of obtuseness about the real conditions that exist
with the people. We were only here yesterday
and last night, and the pain and the suffering
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and the lack of confidence and the people we
talked to and listened to, what we heard. And
I've been doing this a long time, much longer
than Christopher who's a junior member of the
Commission, and I can say emphatically, which
is why I'm saying it before you answer, based on
my experience, I have had FBI before me before
and officials from the Justice Department, U.S.
attorneys. When we did the church fires in the
South, we went state by state and had them, and
I've had them in every kind of crisis, and I have
never heard such unawareness of how people
distrust you, people you’re supposed to be serv-
ing in the Indian country and how they feel
about you.

What it seems from your remarks would be as
if everything was fine and dandy and there just
happened to be these unexplained killings which
we’re here to talk about, but otherwise, every-
thing is fine and dandy. Well, everything isn’t
fine and dandy, folks. And it seems to me that
your remarks ought to reflect greater sensitivity,
and I apply that not just to the FBI, but to the
U.S. attorney and to you, Ms..Fernandes. I'm
very fond of you, but what you have told us is
something you could have just put in a press re-
lease and sent out here, what does the office do.
In fact, we want know, is there a time line on
your getting a response on what happened to
Many Horses in that case? You've gotten a re-
port from the FBI. You may not be able to tell us
exactly what you're going to do, I know that, but
you can tell us whether there is a timing issue
here. Is it a priority? Where is it? I have listened
to the AG talk time and time again, and I know
how she can say, “No comment” and “I'm not go-
ing to comment on that,” but you have been
more obtuse than the AG when she deals with
people because she does indeed give information
that she can give so that people can feel confi-
dent about what’s going on.

So what are you doing on the Many Horses
case? Are you going to have a response at some
point, do you know, and is it going to be soon?
Are you and the FBI here aware that it's been
months and months and months in the minds of
the people? Are you aware that people say that
the tribal police aren’t sufficiently experienced in
doing criminal investigations? That is the view
of many people in the Indian community. If they
are, tell us about it. If they aren’t, what are you
doing about it?
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Are you aware also that the entire history of
law enforcement at the federal level, FBI and so
on in the communities, is that because you coop-
erate with state officials because you have to, we
understand that, you're not large enough to be a
national police force and nobody’s saying that,
I'm aware of all of this, but that there is a lack of
confidence because you have to rely on officials?
We also know the history of when police are im-

plicated or may be implicated in incidents, what .

problems the Justice Department has in trying
to prosecute. I know what the numbers are on
that. I know problems the FBI has on that.

So what you've given us is sort of a pie in the
sky sort of, “Here’s where we are and we're great
guys. We're doing a great job and we’re working
on this.” Why is it taking you so long? Do you
need a task force? Should we recommend to the
AG there be a task force set up somehow, people
from outside here, to help you? Do you have a
time line on when you're going to finish? Are you
aware of how people feel about you? And why
don’t you be more forthcoming and talk to them
more and make them feel better?

Now can you answer any of this and display
some kind of sensitivity to the predicament in
which you find yourselves? Whether you know
you're in one or not, you're in one. So what is the
answer to all these questions? Ms. Fernandes, do
you have an answer?

MS. FERNANDES. I don’t think I have an an-
swer, but I think one thing that I would like to
say, certainly, on behalf of Bill Lee and the Civil
Rights Division is that we have an Indian Law
Enforcement Task Force within the Civil Rights
Division in which we bring together all the folks
who litigate in Indian country to try and raise
the profile and sensitize our attorneys on the is-
sues that are longstanding in the communities
here. We work regularly with the Office of Tribal
Justice who has longstanding relationships in
the community to be able to better understand
how we can appreciate the concern, the long-
standing concerns and the real concerns about
fairness of treatment, about equal protection as
was mentioned, and about marginalization both
on and off the reservation.

So though I don’t have a specific response, I
would like to represent for the Division and for
the Department that we are committed to trying
to move forward. It’s a slow movement, I agree,
but we are working to become more sensitive,
more responsive, and more in the community. I
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know we've done a lot of work, for example, in
the voting rights area where we have gone in
slowly over the past 10 or 12 years to build rela-
tionships and trust. When we first sent federal
observers to Indian country to say, “We're going
to observe election processes,” you can imagine
the reaction that we got from the Native Ameri-
can community.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. But, Ms. Fernandes,
can we count on you to find out—

MsS. FERNANDES. Yes.

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—whether there’s any
time line—

MsS. FERNANDES. Yes.

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—on a response to the
Many Horses—

MsS. FERNANDES. Yes.

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—report and to provide
it to us? When can you find that out and give us
what you can at least find?

MS. FERNANDES., I can find that out for you
tomorrow.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. Well, would you
let us know that tomorrow?

Ms. FERNANDES, Absolutely.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And could you, Mr.
Burrus, could you provide us with the informa-
;tion on your track record? That is, how success-
ful—I don’t mean you personally—

MR. BURRUS. I understand.

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—has the FBI been in
solving cases, death cases in Indian country here
and what’s your record and how many cases—
the kind of question that Ms. Burnette, I think it
was, asked: What'’s your record, how many open
cases, how long have they been open, what are
the prospects, if any? And if the U.S. attorney
knows about that, fine. I know the U.S. attorney
has to wait until he gets the evidence before he
can begin prosecution, so that’s the predicament
he’s in, okay, but if you could let us know that.
How soon can you let us know, how soon can you
give us this information on your cases?

MR. BURRUS. By the end of the week. Are you
talking—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. We want to see how
successful you are.

MR. BURRUS. Is there a timeframe that you're
looking for? Are you talking about as far back as
1990, the success rate or—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. As far back—we want
to know as far back as the case that Ms. Butler
asked you about.



MR. BURRUS. ‘76.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And you said that case
was still open. That was in 19767

MR. BURRUS. ‘76.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Wow, you guys. And
tell us, to the extent you can, is it a resource

problem? Is it an expertise problem? What kind -

of a problem have you guys got with these cases
being open all this time? And then, I guess be-
yond that, have you done any work, Mr. Mark—I
can’t see your last name. I'll call you by your
first name, Vukelich. Have you done any work—
you're in Rapid City, right?

MR. VUKELICH. Yes, ma’am.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Have you done any
work on these people falling in the river
strangely, the creek out here strangely? And
have you done any work about all these people
dying, mysteriously falling in the water?

MR. VUKELICH. Yes.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And has that come to
your atitention at all or is that a local—they’re
still dealing with it?

MR. VUKELICH. Well, it's a local issue. We
were asked to assist and have done exactly what
we’ve been asked to do. Our people from the Be-
havioral Science Unit have come out, worked
with the local—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Could you speak up,
please, in a big, strong voice?

MR. VUKELICH. Yes, ma’am. We were asked
to review the case. We did so locally, and the FBI
has brought its foremost experts from the Be-
havioral Science Unit out to work with the local
law enforcement in that investigation.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. Do you pre-
sumptively find it at least a matter of curiosity
that this many people would keep falling in the
river or creek and die? .

MR. VUKELICH. ‘Obviously, it’'s a concern not
only to the local law enforcement, which are ac-
tively pursuing this case, but as well as the fed-
eral government. Because it’s a local case, when
we’re asked to participate, we will and have.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. And the ques-
tion about why on Thursday, in the press at least
it was reported that the FBI stepped up its in-
vestigation. That’s all we know, what we heard
from the press and from people on the reserva-
tion walking around talking to us on Thursday,
and the big question was why then. And why
then? Did you find out something new or—and I
would like it to be that we were coming because
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that would be great, you know, to have it be
that, “You guys were coming. We knew you were
coming,” but I really have no idea. You maybe
had this as—

MR. BURRUS. No.

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—part of your investi-
gative schedule or how ever you were doing it.

MR. BURRUS. Yes, ma’am.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Do you want to re-
spond to that specifically?

MR. BURRUS. Yes, ma’am, I would be happy
to. It had nothing to do with the Commission’s
hearing. There are investigative procedures and
steps that you take in each case, and you are
well aware, you just have to follow the evidence.
I would love to turn all seven volumes of my
White Clay murder case over and let everybody
go through it. Maybe there’s an avenue we
hadn’t thought of, but believe me, we have con-
sulted with outside crime scene experts. We
have consulted with so many people, it's not out
of the ordinary. I mean, this is what we would do
in cases like this.

But the searches last Thursday, we did a
press release on that particular thing because
there was a substantial amount of interest in it.
But let me assure you and the rest of the Com-
mission that it had nothing to do with your hear-
ings today; it was simply investigative avenues
that we were naturally following up on.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Would you like us to
ask the AG to set up a task force to help you in
here to try to resolve these things? Would you
like us to do that right now?

MR. BURRUS. On the White Clay—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Do you believe that’s a
need right this minute?

MR. BURRUS. On the White Clay case?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Yes, because I'm will-
ing to do that if that’s what you want us to do.

MR. BURRUS. And I certainly appreciate the
support that you’ve shown on this. I don’t think
it’s necessary at this point for a task force. I
don’t know that--we have gotten every single
resource that we've ever asked for from the Di-
rector of the FBI and from the Attorney General.
I would tell you if I thought that a task force
needed to be set up. It's not. It’s just not neces-
sary at this point.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. All right. Mr.
Chairman—

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Well, you mentioned—
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COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. You mean she
didn’t ask your question right?

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. Well, she didn’t—well,
she tried, but she failed to really get an answer
and that’s the problem. Let me just put it point-
edly. I think that when you have a community
that just doesn’t have confidence in its law en-
forcers, explaining to them the intricacies of rule
6-E and the need for grand jury confidentiality
is not going to enhance the legitimacy of the
agency, and it's not likely to produce more coop-
eration in investigations. So what I'm looking for
is some sense either that you have or that you
think you might need to develop a more effective
strategy for persuading the community that they
are indeed being served effectively.

MS. FERNANDES. Can I mention just a second,
not to say that I'm going to answer your ques-
tion, but I want to just mention that—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Well, if youre not,
then we want an answer to the question first.

MS. FERNANDES. It's relevant.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. But first, Ms. Fernan-
des—

MS. FERNANDES. It’s relevant.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. But first we need an
answer to the guestion. I'm going to come back
to you.

MsS. FERNANDES. Okay.

MR. BURRUS. dJust speaking simply from the
FBI's standpoint, there are always things that
we can do. We have our agents down there. We
try to work fairly. We briefed the family mem-
bers in the White Clay case. We've talked with
Ms. Meeks individually. We've met with the
chief of police down there. We’ve met with abso-
lutely everybody, including this Commission,
everybody and anybody that we possibly can to
try to improve. We can always improve and
that’s where we're headed. We've got victim wit-
ness coordinators. I'm willing to listen to any
suggestions, but are we aware of it? Absolutely.
Would we like to improve it? There’s no doubt. 1
mean, there’s no doubt about it. We'd like to
work with the Native American community. We
have to have the cooperation of the citizens of
Pine Ridge, I mean, we just have to, and all the
reservations or we can’t do our jobs. So anything
that we can—steps that we can take, I'm more
than willing to listen to from anybody.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. Ms. Fernandes,
yes?

~

Ms. FERNANDES. I just wanted to say some-
thing briefly about the Community Relations
Service. We rely very much and work very
closely with CRS and CRS works with us, they
work with FBI, they work with local enforce-
ment, they work with the U.S. attorney. They
are a strength of the Department well supported
by the Attorney General. Rose Ochi is very
committed to CRS’ work in South Dakota, in In-
dian country, and in general. So I want to say
again, Phil Arreola is here. He is the regional di-
rector, and I think that’s a good place for us to—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Ms. Fernandes, you
shouldn’t have said that—

MsS. FERNANDES. Oh, no.

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—because I know and
have talked to people at the Justice Department
about the fact that CRS doesn’t have enough re-
sources to put somebody here, and there needs to
be somebody here. We've talked about that al-
ready.

Ms. FERNANDES. I agree.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And CRS’ budget was
not increased at all and that’s a problem. I want
the answers to the two questions that I asked

and an answer to Mr. Edley’s question. Were you <
aware that there were issues raised about the %

Jack of training of the tribal police to engage in
criminal investigations? Are you aware of that at
the FBI? Had you ever heard of that? Did you
know about that? Are you aware of that?

MR. BURRUS. We agree with you.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And are you going to
do anything about it? Do you agree that it's a
problem? What’s your view on that?

MR. BURRUS. Yes, ma’am, we have heard
that, and we offer training to tribal law enforce-
ment all the time.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Do you believe it's a
problem, sir?

MR. BURRUS. In particular areas. There are
always areas that you can improve in. Do I think
the tribal police department is a good police force
and we work with them—

COMMISSIONER BERRY. 1 dldn't ask you that.

MR. BURRUS. Okay.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I asked you, sir, with
all due respect, do you believe there may be a
problem with experience and the knowledge of
how to conduct criminal investigations, at least
limited, among some tribal police?

MR. BURRUS. Among some tribal police?
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COMMISSIONER BERRY. That's what I asked
you.

MR. BURRUS. Yes, ma’am.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. All T asked is that you
answer that. The next question I want to ask
you, as I asked you before, whether you are
aware of how the community felt about you,
many people in the community in the Indian—
on the reservation and in the community? Were
you aware of the lack of confidence and any real
trust and difficulty, not at you personally.

MR. BURRUS. I understand.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. You just got here, but
at the FBI based on its history and their rela-
tionships and that this was a barrier that you
had to overcome. Are you aware of that?

MR. BURRUS. Absolutely; and we work to try
to improve that every single day.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. All right. Then I'll
turn it back over to the Chair. Thank you for in-
dulging us.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MR. BURRUS. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. This is just a little
brief note to the panel. We went a few minutes
over time, by about 45 minutes. We're going to
just continue, and everybody can take a break on
your own. We have to have three members of the
Advisory Committee here to maintain our quo-
rum for any point in time.

[Discussion off the record. A recess was taken
from 1:31 to 2:05.]

State Prosecutors Panel
CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN, If we could have

the next two, Dan Todd and Kerry Cameron.

MS. BURNETTE. You have 20 minutes until
2:00, according to the timeframe. You've got 45
minutes between the two of you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We have with us
now Dan Todd, the state’s attorney from what
county, McPherson County?

MR. TODD. No, I'm from Walworth County.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. And Kerry Cam-
eron from Roberts?

MR. CAMERON. Roberts.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Roberts County.
And Mr. Todd will go first. State your name and
position for the record.

Daniel Todd, State’s Attorney, Mobridge
MR. TODD. Thank you, Your Honor. My name
is Dan Todd. And if it's pleasing to this Commit-
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tee, I'll read a few open remarks and then be
available for some questions afterwards.

I'm state’s attorney in Walworth County,
South Dakota. Walworth County is a rural
county in north-central South Dakota, popula-
tion of about 7,000 people. The county consists of
the cities of Mobridge, Selby, Java, Glenham,
and Akaska, with the largest population being
located mostly in the west side of the county in
and around the city of Mobridge. Mobridge has
traditionally been somewhat of a trade center for
a large radius around the city. This includes be-
ing a trade center for residents in Corson and
Dewey Counties, which are located on the west
side of the Missouri River and totally within the
Standing Rock and Cheyenne Indian Reserva-
tions.

This Committee has invited me to be part of
this forum with the general question of whether
there is disparity or discrimination in the treat-
ment by law enforcement of Native Americans or
in the prosecution of Native Americans. I do not
have any personal knowledge or information as
that question relates to the state of South Da-
kota, but I can respond without hesitation that
there is no disparity or discrimination of treat-
ment by law enforcement of Native Americans or
in the prosecution of Native Americans in Wal-
worth County.

The facts and circumstances are different in
every case. No matter what color, sex, age, or re-
ligion of the parties involved, the enforcement of
laws are restricted to the facts and circum-
stances of the respective cases. Some of the fac-
tors that vary include what criminal charges are
involved, the classification of charges, the num-
ber of charges, are they crimes of violence, was a
firearm used, if there’s a victim what are the in-
juries, are there witnesses and how clearly can
they testify, is there physical evidence, is the de-
fendant a local resident and employed, were
drugs and alcohol involved, were the defen-
dants—or does the defendant have alcohol or
drug problems, prior criminal history is impor-
tant, social factors such as family support come
into play, and the probability of successful prose-
cution. Nonetheless, it seems there is an irre-
sistible urge by many to make an assessment of
possible disparities or discrimination in cases
based solely on only a selected number of the
factors. Such an assessment based on only a lim-
ited number of factors is not a credible assess-
ment.
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The only way a credible assessment can be
made is to look at all the cases or possibly a ran-
dom selection of the cases and compare all-the
facts and circumstances of the case. The review
must find cases and factors and circumstances
that are identical, or at least very similar, before
you can see if race became a factor that con-
trolled or influenced the outcome of the case.
Anything less is nothing more than an opinion
poll.

Walworth County has more than its share of
capital cases and/or criminal cases that have
been highly publicized. It seems that it is human
nature to be interested in the negative effects of
life, and this is fueled by what seems like an in-
satiable appetite of news companies. I have had
more than one reporter tell me that they have
information that they felt was without merit, but
they felt, because the case was such a big case,
that they needed to report it and they, in turn,
wanted my response. If the information is with-
out merit, then it would seem the news company
should have enough integrity not to report it.

It's interesting and ironic that justice is sup-
posed to be blind. If I'm doing my job the way it’s
supposed to be done, I'm supposed to supervise
investigations and conduct the prosecution in
such a way that race, sex, age, and religion can-
not be seen. Yet the inquiry and discussion of is-
sues before this Commission ultimately asks the
participants to be the absolute opposite of blind.
In order to respond to any claims of discrimina-
tion, we ultimately are asked to seriously review
each of those factors that give cause to discrimi-
nation and then make decisions as if we didn’t
look at those factors. Amidst this frustration,
T've found over the years that the perception of
truth often overshadows the value of the actual
truth. Thus, even though this process may be
uncomfortable, I suppose it’s important to be in-
volved in to bring the perception of truth as close
to the actual truth as possible.

1 stated earlier that there is no disparity or
discrimination in treatment by law enforcement
or in the prosecution of individuals in Walworth
County. If the appropriate entities want to seri-
ously consider whether or not there is disparity
or discrimination, an indepth review, including
review of files, must be made. The pleadings and
the office of the clerk of courts are public record,
unless specifically sealed by the court. The files
in my office are not public records, but I will
make those available to a designated and
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agreed-upon person or entity for review. Any
other type of assessment is bound to be just a
summary of that opinion poll.

I thank you for the opportunity to allow me to
address this Commission. If you have questions
or comments, I'll be glad to respond, either at
this setting or in writing subsequent to this date
and time. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Mr.
Cameron, state your name for the record and
your position.

Kerry Cameron, State’s Attorney, Sisseton

MR. CAMERON. My name is Kerry Cameron.
I'm Roberts County state’s attorney. Roberts
County is a county located in the extreme north-
east corner of South Dakota. It's been my home
all my life. I've served as Roberts County state’s
attorney there for 25 years. The only controversy
in Roberts County that could lead to me being
invited here today is the Justin Redday matter.

This matter is not an unsolved or unex-
plained death. Justin was run over while laying
on the road on May 23, 1999, only a.half mile
from his parents’ home. I first met Justin Red-
day in 1997 when he was arrested for a second*%
DWI. I've known his mom, Peggy, since she was":"«,3

,a small child. Her uncle lived across the street®

from my parents’ home.

In my dealings with Justin Redday, he was ~
an articulate, soft spoken, very nice young man.
And my memory is that Justin’s mother con-
vinced him to go to alcohol treatment when he
had that second DWI. The next time I met
Justin was when he came to court in March of
1998, on charges of third degree burglary and
grand theft. At that time he was looking at 20
years in the penitentiary. That was the maxi-
mum sentence that was staring him in the face.
And Justin, his mother, and I sat down with his
defense attorney, and I told him if he didn’t quit
drinking, he was going to die somehow; he was
going to be in a car accident. He had taken a
pickup truck from a man’s garage and in his own
words told us that he didn’t know what he was
doing when he was driving the truck. So I made
a deal with him. I told him if he’d go to alcohol
treatment at the Human Services Center in
Yankton, South Dakota, that I would request
that the court give him a suspended imposition
of sentence on those charges. And he took the
deal. He went to treatment. And he was placed
on probation. Now, possibly had I sent him to



the pen at that time, he’d be alive now. But what
he had to do to avoid the penitentiary was suc-
cessfully complete three years’ probation. He
was to do no drinking and he was to be on good
behavior, basically.

I guess I kind of question after the rally that
was held for Justin on October 16, 1999, in Sis-
seton, Peggy Redday,? Justin’s mom, had her
picture on the front page of the Watertown paper
holding and sign that said, “State’s attorney
grooms our Indian youths for prison. Protect our
youth.” Well, had I had any inclination to send
dJustin to the penitentiary, I think I could have
done it on those two charges. We had very good
prosecutable cases. I thought there was a lot of
ability being wasted in Justin’s case and that he
deserved a suspended imp., so that's what I
asked for him. I guess I don’t understand that
sign and I still wonder if it was directed at me or
if it was a sign that was left over from some
other rally and she just ended up holding it or
what, I don’t know.

The loss of a child is definitely the most
traumatic thing that could happen to any of us.
And I can't hold anything Peggy said in the
press or otherwise against her. And she and
John have my complete sympathy for the loss of
their son. When I got the phone call at 3 o’clock
in the morning on May 23, 1999, the first thing I
thought about was that it could be in regard to
one of my kids. I had three kids out on the street
that night. I didn’t know if they were home or
not.

I was told to go to the IHS hospital because
someone had been run over on the road. And I
only live about a block away from the hospital,
80 I got up there in about 10 minutes. By the
time I arrived up there, State Trooper Jerry
Skubic, Sheriff Neil Long, the city police, and the
tribal police had already started the investiga-
tion of the matter. And within a half-hour of our
arrival at the hospital, Sheriff Long and Trooper
Skubic and I were out on the highway investi-
gating the matter. We found parts of an exhaust
gystem, a watch, and some shreds of clothing out
there. The area was secured at that time.
Trooper Skubic and the city police officers
worked well into the morning marking the loca-
tion of the evidence and making measurements

2 The Commission afforded Peggy Redday an opportunity to
respond to statements by Kerry Cameron. No response was
received. See appendix A.
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out there. And city policeman, Pat Hammerud,
interviewed the people that were in the vehicle
that struck Justin while we were out at the
scene.

After Sheriff Long and I returned from the
scene, we again interviewed these people after
having reviewed the statements they had al-
ready made. Justin was airlifted to Fargo where
he died at about 7 o’clock in the morning. We or-
dered a full autopsy and gathered as much in-
formation about the matter as possible. One
thing we were very interested in was whether he
was standing or not when he was hit, and the
autopsy report indicates he was laying down on
his face when he was hit.

Understandably enough, Peggy Redday,
Justin’s mother, became increasingly dissatisfied
with our investigation. We weren’t finding that
anyone had intentionally killed her son. And due
to her increasing dissatisfaction, I requested
that the DCI become involved in the investiga-
tion, and an agent was immediately assigned.
Agent Bob Schugard helped us with the investi-
gation from there on. And at the time of this oc-
currence and investigation, I had a grand jury
impaneled for other matters. So I presented the
case to them, thinking that civilians might have
a different point of view than law enforcement
people in this investigation. Justin’s mother
didn’t think that her son was just laying on the
road and he was hit by a pickup truck, so we
wanted to do everything we could. And present-
ing this to the grand jury was a factfinding mis-
sion on my part. The last day of the grand jury,
Peggy had asked to testify, and I told her that
she was welcome to do so. She had also asked if
she could have some people with her for support,
which I said was fine.

On the 12th day of August and when I ar-
rived at the courthouse, the courthouse was full
of people. The grand jury was intimidated and
they were mad at me for having them there with
a courthouse full of people. During Peggy’s tes-
timony she stated that if the grand jury didn’t
give her justice, she would allow activists to
come to town and do what they wanted. Now,
from the very beginning of this case, I told Peggy
that we didn’t have—I didn’t believe that we had
a manslaughter case because her son had been
laying in the middle of the road when he was hit.
I believe Agent Schugard told her the same
thing when he started to investigate the case.
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The grand jury ended up indicting the driver
of the vehicle that struck Justin Redday for mo-
tor vehicle homicide. He was 17 at the time of
the accident, so we moved the court to bind him
over and treat him as an adult. The circuit court
refused to bind the juvenile over to be treated as
an adult, so the matter was left in juvenile court.
Prosecutive merit of the case is one of the main
factors in consideration of whether the case
should be bound over by the court.

Now, it's against the law in the state of South
Dakota for me or for anyone to discuss juvenile
proceedings. They’re to be secret, closed proceed-
ings. So I've not divulged what happened at the
juvenile proceeding. Saturday morning the de-
fense attorney for the driver of the vehicle that
hit Justin, Mark Appel, called me on the phone
and he told me that Mark Appel’s family wanted
the Commission to know what happened to their
son. And he gave me full authority to talk to you
folks about what happened to her son.

Now, Mark Appel pled guilty to DWI on Sep-
tember 14, 1999. That's what made the paper. In
South Dakota traffic offenses are adult offenses.
That’s public record. So that’s what the newspa-
pers could find out about what happened to
Mark Appel. And they reported that I had dis-
missed the manslaughter charge and he plead
guilty to DWI. But what also happened at that
time and what the newspapers couldn’t find out,
what they couldn’t report was that the plea bar-
gain to dismiss the charge of motor vehicle
homicide against Mark Appel included the fact
that he be sentenced to the Department of Cor-
rections until he was 21 years old on a probation
violation. Mr. Appel was also on probation at the
time of this accident. He had no business being
out at the hour he was out, and he had no busi-
ness drinking alcohol at that time. And the
newspapers can’t be faulted for the way they re-
ported this because we were unable to divulge
the complete plea bargain on this matter. The
manslaughter indictment was dismissed. They
reported that correctly.

The sentence that Mark Appel received was
the same as it would have been had he been con-
victed of the manslaughter charge. He got the
absolute maximum that he could get as a juve-
nile in the state of South Dakota. And that was
part of the plea bargain. The judge had agreed to
that. The defense attorney had agreed to that
before the matter was finished. Mark Appel is
incarcerated at this time. He was sentenced to
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the Department of Corrections until he’s 21. It's
the most severe sentence the court could have
given him as a juvenile, and he is incarcerated at
this time.

Now, as I indicated before, I liked Justin
Redday, and I'm sorry that he’s dead. But the
investigation revealed the following: Justin left
his home sometime after 2:00 a.m., and he ar-
rived at the IHS hospital sometime before 3:00
a.m., being brought in by the people who had hit
him on the road. At the time he was hit on the
road, he was wearing a black jacket and blue
jeans. It was a very, very dark night. There was
a very cold wind that night. And when I got out
to the scene, I did make a point of checking the
pavement to see if it was warmer than the air
temperature, and it was quite warm still. And
the autopsy report, all the evidence shows that
Justin was laying down when he was struck,
that he was not standing up. The blood spots and
other evidence would indicate that Justin was
near the center of the eastbound lane when he
was struck.

Mark Appel's blood alcohol level was 0.123 at
the time he struck Justin Redday. Justin Red-
day’s blood alcohol level was 0.22. Both Mark
Appel and Justin Redday were on probation at
the time Justin was hit, and neither of those
people was to be drinking or to be out at that
hour. Maybe Justin could be out at that hour.
Justin had been drinking with his brothers and
friends in his parents’ yard at home. And his
brothers last saw him just prior to 2:00 a.m. The
boys arrived at the hospital with Justin just be-
fore 3 a.m. And he was about a half mile from
home when he was hit.

Now, we did a lot more investigation on this
case than we normally do. When a person is hit
lying in the road, it's fairly cut and dried nor-
mally. We don’t normally have a DCI agent in.
We don’t normally present the matter to the
grand jury. We normally would do an autopsy.
The investigation went on for about 4 months,
and we followed up on every single lead that we
had.

T've been criticized by various people in the
press for not doing a complete investigation of
this matter. I don’t know what else we could
have done. I don’t think that people that have
criticized my investigation have any basis for
that criticism because none of them have ever
come and asked me what I've done or asked to
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look at the file. They've just made these state-
ments in the press.

My conclusion here is that alcohol is respon-
sible for the death of Justin Redday. And I sus-
pect that alcohol or drugs are responsible for
most of the deaths that we’re discussing here to-
day. I think that we should stop bickering among
ourselves and work together to do everything we
can to eliminate the drug and aleohol problems
in our communities, use our energy to put posi-
tive programs and positive people in leadership
roles in our communities so that this can add
something.

And I sincerely hope that the publicity that
I've received from this doesn’t discourage Native
American people from coming to my office for
help. A lot of a prosecutor’s job in a small com-
munity like ours is social work. And if you can
help somebody save their job or save their mar-
riage, if you can get them into alcohol treatment
or drug treatment, if they need it, or gambling
treatment, whatever, if you can help them get
their driver’s license back so they can keep their
job, my door is always open to those people. And
I'm afraid that the publicity from this matter is
going to indicate to them that I don’t care about
them and that I'm not available to help them. I
guess if you don’t care about the people that you
work for in a small community like the one I live
in, you don’t want to do a little bit of social work,
you shouldn't be state’s attorney. And that's ba-
sically my prepared statement.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Ques-
tions from the Advisory Committee?

Discussion

Ms. BURNETTE. I have one, Mr. Cameron.
What is the distinguishment between the Red-
day case, if you will, and the Seaboy case that
was prosecuted in your county where the—can
you give us the details?

MR. CAMERON. Yes, I can. One big difference
would be that Melanie Seaboy was unlucky
enough to have reached the her 18th birthday
just prior to the accident that she had, and Mark
Appel was lucky enough to be 17 years old at the
time of the accident he was in. And that’s a big
difference in South Dakota. Melanie Seaboy was
partying all night long. At about 8 o’clock in the
morning, she ran a stop sign just west of town.
She hit a man that was on his way to work in the
driver’s door of a Jeep Cherokee, and he was
killed instantly. He was a full-time person at our
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National Guard Armory in Sisseton. And I guess
there’s been a lot of question about why that
case didn’t take very long, why was she in the
penitentiary immediately and this Justin Red-
day matter dragged on for 4 or 5 months.

Well, Melanie Seaboy was in the hospital for
a period of time. She was injured quite seriously
in the accident. And her mother called me nearly
every day from the date of the accident until she
got out of the hospital to tell me that she wasn’t
out yet; that she didn’t know when she was go-
ing to get out. She called me the day she got out
of the hospital. She called me the day they got
home and told me they were home so I could set
a court date for her. So when Melanie’s family
requested a personal recognizance bond on her
case, I recommended it. Unfortunately, Melanie
violated that personal recognizance bond within
a couple of weeks, being caught drinking in an
automobile. And the judge chewed me out for
recommending a PR bond for her, and it was ob-
vious from that point in time that any input
from me was going to be ignored on that case.

Melanie came in and she took her medicine
like an adult. She just came in and pled guilty to
the charge, and that’s why the matter didnt
drag on. She chose to come in and enter a guilty
plea. She was sentenced to 14 out of a maximum
of 15 years on the charge of motor vehicle homi-
cide. i

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any other gques-
tions? Jim? i

MR. POPOVICH. Yes. Mr. Cameron, I appreci-
ate you coming forward and giving that testi-
mony. I think you talked from your heart about
what happened there, and I think that's com-
mendable. For you, Mr. Todd, though, we did not
hear anything from you as far as about Robert
“Boo” Many Horses and the problems that you
went through at Mobridge. And I'd like to hear
you come forward and tell us something, as Mr.
Cameron did, about what that case involved and
how you rectified the situation with the four
youths that got off in that case.

MR. TODD. I can do that. And in preparation
for this, I specifically asked, “Are there specific
things that will come up,” and was told there
would probably be questions about the Many
Horse case, and I'll be glad to answer those, at
least to the extent that I can. As somewhat of a
background, the case—the testimony that’s on
file will—TI'll try to summarize that very briefly.




The situation occurred when Mr. Many
Horses was picked up by four juveniles. They
picked him up probably at 2 o’clock or so in the
morning. It appears all of them had been drink-
ing, including Mr. Many Horses. They drank
some more together. They went outside of town
some distance and drank. I would assume that
was because it was more private outside of the
community areas of Mobridge. Mr. Many Horses
ultimately became unconscious and was brought
back to town, left headfirst in a garbage can.

When law enforcement became aware of the
situation by a report from a citizen at about'7 in
the morning, we responded, found Mr. Many
Horses—immediately found him to have been
dead at the scene of that alley, that garbage can,
and investigations started from there. We made
arrests on those four juveniles. I think every-
body was in jail by 6 or 7 or 8 o’clock that night.
So we had parties in custody within 12 to 15
hours. Mr. Many Horses’ body was sent for an
autopsy, and the results of that autopsy basically
were that he died of aleohol poisoning.

The case was presented to the court at a pre-
liminary hearing and the results of the prelimi-
nary hearing, as probably most of you have been
aware, the court held that the criminal charges
that we filed against all fours of those individu-
als were unfounded and dismissed all of those
charges. The charges, to give you a little back-
ground, if you may not recall, were manslaugh-
ter. And we charged alternatively manslaughter
in the second degree. So, of course, what that
means is they could have been convicted of one
or the other, but not both. We charged them with
aggravated assault, or in the alternative, abuse
of a disabled adult. Again, it’s in the alternative,
so they could be convicted only of one. And then
there were—I believe those were the main
charges. Some of them were charged with aiding
and abetting those charges as compared with the
actual charge themselves.

As indicated, the court ruled after the pre-
liminary hearing and after a set of briefs were
submitted by both the state and all defense
counsels that the actual elements of the offenses
had not been met, and so the charges were dis-
missed. I believe one of the comments that the
court made, and probably very appropriately,
was there was no dispute as to the facts. There
was a dispute as to whether the elements of the
offense were there, and he ruled on those in the
negative.
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CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Other questions?
Dorothy?

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. For Mr. Todd
and also for Mr. Cameron, I believe you when
you say youre convinced that there are no dis-
parities in Walworth County. I believe you're
convinced of that. Do you really think that that's
true all over the state? Do you think that you
have the problem solved in Walworth County,
but the problems exist in other places? Tell me
what you see as the racial climate in your county
currently.

MR. TODD. Yl try to answer that question,
and it may be somewhat twofold. As I indicated,
I'm convinced that there is not any discrimina-
tion in the prosecution. That isn’t a response
that everybody else believes the same. And I've
seen that in our community. I've seen the
marches. I've seen the comments. I've had some
of the phone calls. And it's very apparent that
there’s people in the community that aren’t con-
vinced of that at all. And that’s why I have sug-
gested that if we really want to get to the root of
that, then we really need to look deeper than my
opinion, the next person’s opinion. I mean, let's
look at some of the specific factors. &

So maybe in somewhat of an evasive answer, *.
the prosecution from one person to the next, be¥
they Native American or not, I believe is the
same. But the perception at times is still that it’s
not. And so we probably have a race problem.
Because if the community believes that we have
a race problem, then we probably have a race
problem, whether there’s equal treatment or not.

So we probably don’t have the answer in
Walworth County. I wish we did. And maybe it's
in public relations. I'm not a public relations
person. 1 probably should be. Maybe that's what
we as prosecuting attorneys in the state of South
Dakota need some training on. But there’s obvi-
ously some things we can't report to the press
and will not report to the press. How can we pre-
sent enough information so people feel more con-
fidence? If you've got some suggestions, I'd love
to hear them.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. There is hope.
We made reference earlier today that there is an
arm of the Department of Justice that has com-
munity relations services. Training is available,
but I'm not sure how one might go about getting
people into your community. But you mentioned
public relations. Sometimes interpersonal com-
munications, sometimes comparing perspectives



in terms of cultures and how we might bridge
gaps, because there really are chasms. So I
would like to visit with you later indicating
where you might find people who do such train-
ing. There might be even grants available for
training of your personnel if you—

MR. ToDD. I would be very interested in
speaking with you. Obviously, the smaller the
department, the more strained the resources are.
And resources in time also as far as being able to
cover that. So, yes, I'd be interested in visiting
with you.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. I'll give you my
card and some information.

Ms. BURNETTE. I have a short question for
each of you. Out of your total caseloads of prose-
cutions, just in general, then, not specific—
perhaps at a later date you could introduce that
to the record, we have until December 20—out of
your total prosecutions, how many are Native
American prosecutions? And out of those Native
American prosecutions of your total caseloads,
how many of those prosecutions are a result of
border checks where law enforcement goes and
sets up a stop, a safety check stop or just off the
reservation boundary? How many charges come
through your office that you attempt to prose-
cute for border checks and how many are Native
American? Do you have a ball park figure on
that? And what types of charges do you bring,
criminal, DUI, no driver’s license, anything?

MR. TODD. As far as Walworth County, I have
not done a recent statistical check, but histori-
cally it would appear that the prosecution of Na-
tive Americans is about 65 percent of my total.
Now, I say that it appears because I go by either
what I know individuals or Native Americans by
their name or appears to be Native American,
and I can tell you that that’s not always the case.
But historically it's been about 65 percent. How
many of them come from border checks, I would
say zero. We, at least to my knowledge, have not
set up, In a sense, border checks to say those
coming across the river into Mobridge, let's
check to see for DWIs, etc. The prosecutions that
we do have in Walworth County are significantly
alcohol related, and a huge number of those are
DWIs. The number that are actually alcohol re-
lated, whether they be alcohol or DWIs or not, I
would estimate to be probably 90 percent or
plus.

MR. CAMERON. I'd say for Roberts County,
that percentage would be similar. It would be 90
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percent or more. I don’t think a great percentage
of our arrests are the result of a border check.
We have—nearly every time the Watertown
squad or the highway patrol has a saturation
DWI enforcement program, they run it in Rob-
erts County; I don’t know why they do that, but
we just had one again the other night. I haven’t
seen the results of that because I've been gone.
They ran a drug checkpoint on the interstate the
night of the Bruce Springstein concert in Fargo,
North Dakota. The signs read, “Drug Checkpoint
Ahead” and “Drug Dogs in Use,” or something
like that. And I had people throwing stuff out of
cars. And they stopped the cars. It wasn’t really
a border check. But they do that stuff occasion-
ally in Roberts County. As far as the percentage
of total prosecutions of Indians and non-Indians,
I don’t think we have those figures.

Ms. BURNETTE. They're not accessible, or you
can't get them?

MER. CAMERON. Well, it would be kind of hard
because you know how hard it is to tell who's an
Indian and who isn’t. We could make a guess,
but they would not be exact.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Dr. Berry?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Is there any Commis-
sioner who wants to ask a question?

COMMISSIONER EDLEY. I'll let you ask one and
T'll straighten everything out for you.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay. In the interests
of time, I'll just ask a couple because we’re run-
ning behind. Let me just say that, Mr. Cameron,
do you believe that there are no disparities or
that there’s no discrimination in law enforce-
ment or prosecution in your county?

MR. CAMERON. No, I can’t say that. I think
there’s probably disparities and discrimination
everywhere you go.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Okay.

MR. CAMERON. I hope I'm not responsible for
those disparities.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Also, in the case of
Seaboy, Ms. Seaboy, that you described, is there
some reason why she got 15 years in jail? That'’s
one thing. But let me ask a more general ques-
tion. I had said I'd be fast because of time. Let
me put it this way: You as prosecutors have dis-
cretion to determine what charges you bring;
let’s use a grand jury and there’s an indictment
and so on. Your testimony, both of you, gave no
sense of that to people who did not know better.
It sounded as if there was just this black letter
sort of law kind of thing and there are rules and
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we have to follow them and we go along and the
outcome comes out this way and were really
sorry if it happens this way or that way, but,
gosh, it’s just the law and we’re just moving
along. But prosecutors have discretion. You de-
cide what charges to bring. You're also very in-
fluential when there’s a grand jury. There’s his-
tory on this. It's well documented. I'm not mak-
ing this up. So that prosecutors are not just peo-
ple who are sort of puppets for the law or rules.
So decisions that you make, you are responsible
for. You are responsible in your case, Mr. Cam-
eron, for deciding not to abide by the grand jury
indictment, and you said that. That was a choice
you made for good reasons.

In your case, Mr. Todd, you gave this opening
statement that described you just following your
little procedures and whatever. But you had dis-
cretion and you didn’t talk about your discretion
and how you exercised it. The other thing is I'm
curious, Mr. Todd, have you done a study of law
enforcement or law or prosecutforial outcomes or
decisions in your county and documented the
ones involving Indians and the ones involving
non-Indians over any period of time, a year, two
years? I dont know how long you've been a
prosecutor. Do you have a document or have you
done research or do you have statistics which
would show, compare your statistics on these
matters?

MR. ToDD. I'll try to answer your last ques-
tion first. Several years ago I was asked to pre-
sent some comments to the Rotary Club, and
that was one of their specific requests of how
much of my work involved prosecutions against
Native Americans. So several years ago I went
through, as best I could, my list of criminal
cases. And as indicated, I tried fo make an esti-
mate of who was Native American and who was
not and made that assessment and that was the
basis for my comments that historically it’s been
about 65 percent.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I was not asking you
that.

MR. TODD. Okay.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Let me try to make
the question more precise. Do you have research
that shows the prosecuting of Native Americans
as compared to non-Native Americans for spe-
cific offenses in your county and the outcomes,
that is, guilty, not guilty, what the penalties
were and the like from which data one could
draw inferences about the treatment of Indians
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versus non-Indians? Do you have such data in
your possession or someplace where we can get
it?

MR. ToDD. I don’t want to sound evasive, but
yes and no. I have a running list of every case
that I handled since I started in Walworth
County. And that running list will basically give
the defendant’s name, it will give the charges
that were pursued and a very short synopsis or
summary of the sentence given by the court.
From that list, I can make an estimate of who
were Native Americans and who were not. So I
may be able to come up with some information
that you're requesting, but it is not a very em-
pirical or documented stash to be able to re-
spond.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. In a case of prosecu-
tions for assault, what percentages, what were
the penalties on the average for Native Ameri-
cans who were convicted as compared to the
penalties of non-Native Americans over any pe-
riod of time you care to pick?

MR. TODD. I can’t give you an answer to that
without trying to go back and do more research
as it pertains to an aggravated assault. As it per-
tains to simple assault, the court has— ‘

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Do all of them, any of i}
them. Just give me comparisons and statistics.

MR. TODD. Okay. In simple assaults, I can tell
you the court has a standard sentence, and it "
will almost inevitably follow that sentence to the
T for every defendant.

MR. CAMERON. With a little bit of deviation
for aggravation, I might add. We have some of
the same judges. We're in the same circuit.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Deviation for aggra-
vated. How about cases of murder? Sentencing
for Native Americans compared o non-Native
Americans.

MR. TODD. I probably can’t give you any defi-
nite response on that. I ecan try to look, but we
don’t have a lot of murders in Walworth County,
thank the Lord.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. How about burglary,
comparing the sentencing.

MR. ToDD. A few more burglaries. Without
going through and doing a case-by-case assess-
ment, my opinion is that they're consistent.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. How do you know this
if you can’t give me any data? That's precisely
my point. On what basis do you conclude and tell
this panel that you know for a fact that there is
no disparate treatment and there is no discrimi-






abuse to a dead body also sounds like a slap in
the face. We will, I guess, still look at those, but
you have to make some decisions at one point or
another whether the interests of justice in a case
like that warrant a Class 2 misdemeanor prose-
cution.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. What does it say to
the folks, the young people who were involved in
the incident who left the guy in the garbage can
when they get off with nothing? I mean, not
what it says to the Indian people, to the law or
whatever conclusion they want to draw or the
family or whatever, but what does it say to per-
petrators when you can put somebody in a gar-
bage can, whether they’re drunk or not drunk or
whatever it is, and you just walk away and even-
tually nothing happens to you? I guess that’s not
your job because you're a prosecutor. You ha-
ven’t been to PR school, so you don’t have to an-
swer that question. But it bothers me. If you
want to, you can, but I'm not pressing you or
anything.

MR. TODD. I don’t know what it says to de-
fendants. I had hoped for a lot different result. If
the judge says that’s what happens, I'm kind of
bound by the judge’s results. I would hope that
somebody doesn’t draw a conclusion that, hey,
those four got away with it, let’s try.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Absolutely. Then
really last, Mr. Cameron, you were the one who
decided to prosecute Ms. Seaboy, right?

MR. CAMERON. That’s correct. I made that de-
cision. It was charged by a complaint.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. In your prosecutorial

"discretion, it was not possible for you to find a

lesser offense?

MR. CAMERON. I could have charged her with
a simple assault or something on that, but it was
not called for under the circumstances.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. So you lament her go-
ing to jail for 15 years?

MR. CAMERON. Pardon?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I heard you lament
earlier the sadness of the situation. You said it
was because she was not a juvenile and that’s
why she got that—

MR. CAMERON. I think that had quite a bit to
do with it. In fact, her demeanor at her arraign-
ment had quite a bit to do with her sentence, I
believe.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Did you know that she
was going to be beyond the juvenile age when
she would be convicted and sentenced?
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MR. CAMERON. She was 18 when the accident
occurred.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. So you knew this?

MR. CAMERON. Yes, ma’'am.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. But you had an oppor-
tunity to charge her with a lesser offense and
you did not?

MR. CAMERON. I don’t think I had an oppor-
tunity in that case. I don’t think there was any
room there for a different charge.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. You, as prosecutor,
cannot decide to charge people with lesser of-
fenses?

MR. CAMERON. I certainly can, but in that
case Ms. Seaboy and the car ahead of her were
playing what would be commonly known as
bumper tag. Both cars ran the stop sign. She had
a high blood alcohol.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I'm not challenging
your decision. I'm only pointing out that you, in
your discretion, have the opportunity to make a
decision.

MR. CAMERON. Yes, ma’am, I did.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And you did not.

MR. CAMERON. I made the decision that man-
slaughter was the proper charge.

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. Just a quick ques-
tion for Mr. Todd. You had sort of a gut—I would
describe it as a professional gut reaction, that
maybe the expert in this case, in terms of the de-
cision of what had caused death, might or might
not be correct. Experts might make mistakes, as
we all know. Did you have the resources or au-
thority to maybe bring in another expert to take
a look at the cause of death?

MR. TODD. I don’t know if I had those re-
sources. I guess I can’t say that I asked to have
resources allocated for that. That is a cost, of
course, to the county and we will have to pay for
those and did pay for what was done. I can tell
you that when visiting with the autopsy special-
ist, that he assured me he would run the—in a
sense, the factors by other—a pathologist before
he gave his final report and indicated he did that
before it was submitted to me. So I don’t know
who those gpecific people were, but at least I
trusted he did that. I don’t want to imply and
dump it on the feds, because I'm not at all, but
when they come in after our decision and indi-
cated they were going investigate some of the
civil rights potentials, there was some indication
that there might be some autopsy review from
their department and had indicated that they
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I feel that it is important for the Commission
not only to focus on administration of criminal
justice, but also look into equal housing prac-
tices, equal lending practices, and equal medical
treatment across the state. I feel that the cur-
rent moratorium by the state legislature and the
Governor of South Dakota and the licensing and
construction of new nursing homes in the state is
violating equal access to health care for many
elderly Indian people. As a result of this policy,
many elderly Indian people are forced to be
placed on waiting lists to get into nursing homes
and are often left to live in substandard housing,
receiving no or inadequate supervised health
care. When an elderly person is able to.get into a
nursing home, it is often hundreds of miles
away, creating a financial hardship for families
wishing to visit them. Often these nursing
homes are not culturally appropriate.

I'd like to address the issue of White Clay, a
border town in the state of Nebraska, which is
located two miles south of the Pine Ridge Indian

Reservation. This town has several beer estab- -

lishments. They sell over four million cans of
beer every year. The majority of the purchases
are made by Indian people who live on the Pine
Ridge Indian Reservation. The state of Nebraska
provides little or no law enforcement in the town
of White Clay, which leads to assaults and other
crimes being committed against Indian people.
Just recently the murder of two Indian males oc-
curred with no arrest at the present time. The
establishments in the state of Nebraska receive
the profits and benefit from the sales of beer,
while the Indian people in the communities on
the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation continue to
suffer the pain through the loss of life due to ve-
hicle accidents, suicide, health-related problems
as a result of long-term drinking. Lack of inter-
est on the part of the state of Nebraska and the
community of White Clay in providing law en-
forcement protection is a direct violation of civil
rights of Indian people who are faced with the
sorrow and poverty which exist on the Pine
Ridge Indian Reservation. The Commission
should exercise any influence on the state of Ne-
braska to stop the sale of beer in White Clay,
Nebraska. Thank you.

Discussion
VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Thank you. I'm
serving temporarily in Mark’s absence, so I'll
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start with the panel and ask if you have any
questions?

MR. POPOVICH. I have a question. Thank you
for coming today. The Bureau of Indian Affairs’
chief has said that youre grossly underfunded
throughout the whole department. I want to ask
you, first of all, if you feel that you are there,
and what other assistance can you use out on the
reservation? And my second question is we
heard at one time from Harold Salway, your
tribal president, that he would support civil
rights offices on the reservation. Would you also
support civil rights offices on the reservation,
and would that help relieve tensions and be a
place where the Indian people can provide an
outlet to relieve their grievances?

MR. ECOFFEY. Your first question, yes, the
Bureau of Indian Affairs is totally underfunded.
There has been several reports to Congress, the
Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs has been
working hard to try to get the budget increased
with Congress. Any influence that the Commis-
sion of Civil Rights through any statistical data,
any reports that you might write in terms of im-
proving the lives of Indian people, not only on

the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation, but other &

tribes across this country, would be greatly ap-
preciated and would be beneficial.
MR. POPOVICH. What would you do with that

money if you had it to improve the lives of the

people?

MR. ECOFFEY. The money could be used basi-
cally to improve in all areas where we are very
short in terms of health care, in terms of law en-
forcement protection, in terms of other services
that are provided to Indian communities.

The other issue in terms of establishment of
civil rights offices, particularly on the Pine Ridge
Indian Reservation, I feel that you can see from
past testimony that there appears to be a com-
munication problem in terms of either law en-
forcement agencies, prosecution agencies, and
the general Indian community. Anything that
you could do as a commission in.terms of maybe
establishing a civil rights office, to launch or to
look over or to act as a monitor so that communi-
ties would have someplace to go to, to at least
get their questions answered in terms of dealing
with law enforcement and prosecuting decisions.

The other area, I feel, that is grossly under-
funded that you talked about earlier is the
Community Relations Service. 1 believe they
have one or two people in the Denver area that
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VICE CHAIRPERSON
Other questions?

MR. POPOVICH. I have another one. Are you
satisfied with the ongoing investigation of the
deaths of Wilson Black Elk, Jr., and Ronald
Hard Heart? And specifically, I guess, I'm sure
that you've been in on the investigation all
along, but this happened just a quarter of a mile
from the border. And it seems to me that it’s
very suspicious that these deaths always seem to
happen right on or near the border versus hap-
pening near their home or happening some-
where else throughout the reservation. And
there’s continuous rumors by the people that are
saying that law enforcement has a tendency to
pick these people up, carry them for a short dis-
tance, and drop them at the border, leaving
them at their own demise at that point, if they're
drunk or whatever, and then these deaths al-
ways seem to occur very close to the borders. So
I guess I'm asking two questions: Are you satis-
fied, and are you concerned about other deaths
in your area?

MR. ECOFFEY. Well, in response to your ques-
tion, am I satisfied, no, I am never satisfied
when we have the deaths of Indian people on or
near the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation. And
number two, you know, I think, like in my testi-
mony, I feel that it is incumbent upon us to work
together to see if the beer sales are going to be
allowed within White Clay, Nebraska, that
someone be forced to increase the law enforce-
ment protection there for Indian people. If that
is not going to occur, then that itself should be a
reason why these establishments should be
closed. Some cases—again, I heard earlier testi-
mony by the FBI and other agencies.

Some cases as a result of lack of cooperation
or lack of witnesses are very difficult to solve in
Indian country. In this case, if people that might
have information would step forward and coop-
erate with the federal authorities, then I think
that this case can be solved. I feel that it will
eventually be solved, but these cases are very
difficult when you have people that are left basi-
cally out in the middle of no place with very little
witnesses. It's not a simple case as you walk into
a bank in the middle of a robbery and somebody
gets shot and you have it all on videotape. You're
talking isolated areas here. But I feel that in
time this case is solvable and will be solved.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Other questions?
I would just like to make an observation that

BUTLER. Thank you.
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several people today have suggested that if only
we could get the drugs and alcohol—and inci-
dentally, alcohol is a drug; it’s just a legal drug,
but we could lump them all together as drugs—
but that if we could get rid of those, then we
probably wouldn’t have any other problems. And
I can tell you, I've seen now how many years
there have been wars on drugs in this country,
drug czars appointed and so on. Could you sug-
gest other means of addressing problems that
are real? They're not going away. We're probably
not going to get rid of all of the drugs. There will
still be the legal alcohol. What other means
would you say we might find to offer real help to
people in need of help? Treatment centers might
be one. But tell me what other means would you
have, other than law enforcement?

MR. ECOFFEY. It goes back to the earlier
question of funding. Just simply, in this country
a 75 to 95 percent unemployment rate in any
area is totally unacceptable. And until we have
opportunities for our Indian people to work in
meaningful jobs so that they can adequately
support their family, so they can buy the simple
things that are needed in life, then often we're
going to have our Indian people turn in a sense
of hopelessness and despair to alcohol and drugs.
So the crux of the problem is helping create a
better economy in Indian country across this na-
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tion. And that’s really the crux of the problem. If °

we had our families working, if we had a very
low unemployment rate, people would not have
the need to turn to alcohol or drugs to cover up
their feelings of hopelessness and despair. And
the fact that you have five, six, and 10 families
living in one house is simply unacceptable.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. It's been far
more complicated than that, because I can tell
you in cities in South Dakota where people do
have employment, one of the problems will be
that their new employees, of course, get the least
desirable shifts. Those happen to be night shifts,
whether they’re at the poultry plant and such as
that. And what we find is that since they do not
have public transportation in these little cities
and since the people who are working don’t have
their own transportation, we have people who
walk sometimes miles to and from their place of
employment. And if you're seen walking in the
middle of the night in some of the little towns,
you can be certain that youre going to be
stopped by the police and asked where you're go-
ing. And sometimes they don’t always accept the






going to be made available for the Department of
Public Safety.

But, again, I think that it comes to percep-
tion, it comes to communication and response
from the local department as to how they ad-
dress problems when a community comes to
them and says, “Your officer beat up my grand-
son last night. They used excessive force. What
are you going to do about it?” The local police
department has to be in a position, number one,
of looking out to see if there was a civil rights
violation, and if it was a civil rights violation,
they are restricted by law in terms of investigat-
ing themselves. But on the other hand, they
need to see that their policies and procedures are
handled and that something less than a civil
rights charge, if that officer was not acting
within the policies or procedures, that some dis-
ciplinary action is handled, and that that report
goes back to that grandmother, to that mother or
that father saying this is what we’re going to do
and this is how we’re going to respond. And it

comes down to really, I think, a communication .

issue and a response issue of dealing with com-
munity complaints.

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. I just have one more,
and this may be more a statement or it could be
a question. But I get lots of calls about civil
rights issues, which it’'s not my job, I mean, to
handle individual cases. And I know that sounds
terrible, but anyway, it's just what I see is that
people have such a lack of legal representation.
They have no place to turn and no money to hire
good attorneys. Do you know what South Dakota
Legal Services is doing in Pine Ridge or do you
know of any resources or some way that people
could have access to legal representation?

MR. ECOFFEY. Well, I think that maybe one of
the suggestions that the panel had made earlier
of setting up some types of oversight or civil
rights office or somebody there that can act as
maybe an advocate when there is specific com-
plaints, that at least those questions are an-
swered. And, you know, that’'s something, I
think, that the tribe and perhaps the Bureau,
within the department itself, could set up in
terms of their public relations of setting some-
body aside, maybe setting money aside to hire
one person and assigning them to such an office
of dealing with the community and taking those
complaints and responding to those issues.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Just so it's clear, be-
cause the question was raised, that what we
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could do as a commission and what Commis-
sioner Meeks can do is when people have indi-
vidual complaints, she can tell the Commission
staff about them. And if there are complaints
about some federal agency not doing something
or it should go to a federal agency like the EEOC
or any number of federal agencies, it can be for-
warded to them. But the Commission itself
doesn’t hear or defend people on individual com-
plaints.

I have just one question, I guess. Did I hear
you right, you said earlier, if I heard you, that
there was a proposal to use some of the money
for the Circle Project for perhaps some kind of
detox center? Did I hear that right?

MR. ECOFFEY. Yes, you did.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. What is the idea? 1
hadn’t heard this. There is no detox treatment
facility at Pine Ridge, right?

MR. ECOFFEY. No, there isn’t. Like I said, un-
der the Circle Project, the Pine Ridge Indian
Reservation received $1.2 million to renovate
two of the jails there. And there is some effort
now being talked with the current administra-
tion and communities that this money could
probably—and not only probably, but would be

better used to construct a local detox treatment *
center on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation. So ™

I believe that the Department of Justice is in
support of that. And we're going to be meeting
here at the end of this week and hope to have
meetings over the next couple months to see that
this becomes a reality.

One other issue, I think, that when you
talked about younger people and what you could
do with them, there is also an effort, since the
President’s visit, to create a wellness fitness cen-
ter on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation. Al-
ready $3 million has been raised from the De-
partment of -HUD, the Department of Agricul-
ture, and Bureau of Indian Affairs. And there
will be $5 million raised for the construction of
this center to work with the youth across the
reservation. And they’re looking at a $3 million
endowment that would fund the operations of
the center in its existence.

- COMMISSIONER BERRY. What would you think
of the idea of a temporary detox, short-term di-
version facility in White Clay if some way could
be found to get Nebraska officials to set up such
a thing to take care of folks who can’t make it
across or would be put in jail otherwise, what
would you think of that as an idea?
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other situation and he said there was a dispar-
ity, but what do we do?

So there is institutional racism in the judicial
system. And it exists at all different levels. As
T've said before, racism is still in denial. T've
heard the administrators of law enforcement sit
many times saying there is no racism, but there
is in many different places. I've witnessed a bru-
tality. I reported it. I'm the last person to be
quiet about it or not do anything about it. That
went that way for three years. I witnessed it. I
saw it. And just like with the Many Horses case,
this man was on pass for mental health, was not
a threat to society, he was provoked, and he was
beat up. I saw it, and nothing happened. So, you
know, it's an example. Even for those of us who
are not willing to stand still for it, what do we
do? They go unresolved. The incident report for
that brutality was lost for three years. When it
was finally found, the police chief says, “We can’t
do anything. The man is gone now.”

So I think the problem is much bigger. And I
think one of the things that I would really, really
stress is that at one time the police department
had cultural sensitivity training. And it did not
go well. There was a lot of friction there. But I
think before you can even deal with another cul-
ture, that people have to deal with their own at-
titude. Before you can even sit down at the table
with Native people, there is an attitude, a seri-
ous attitude problem.

Racism is not just prejudice, but the power to
exercise it. You have to have that power over
other people to exercise that prejudice. Reverse
racism, I can’t do that because I don't have any
power to exercise over anybody else. And so
those are serious problems that must be dealt
with. The gentlemen sitting up here saying there
is no discrimination, they hold power. Law en-
forcement, most of all, holds lot of power. The
judicial system holds a lot of power over Native
people. And so those attitudes have to be exam-
ined. Those attitudes have to be dealt with. And
it’s a huge job and it’s a huge challenge, I be-
lieve, to this Commission.

I had many recommendations. First of all,
that self-analysis may -be ‘a base line study of
sentencing. There’s a lot of areas where there is
power. The arresting officer has power. The
prosecution has power. I have seen discrimina-
tion even by defense attorneys. The judicial sys-
tem, the jurors, and the judges have a lot of

power, and this is where racism happens. Thank
you.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Thank you, Ms.
Little Thunder. Are there people on the panel
here who have questions?

MR. POPOVICH. 1 thought you were going to
go through them all.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Then Ms. Iron
Cloud.

Eileen Iron Cloud, Porcupine

MsS. IRON CLOUD. First, I would like to say
thank you for the invitation to provide testimony
today. I'd like to say welcome to the beautiful
Black Hills, home of the Great Sioux Nation. I
would also like to welcome the participants sit-
ting here and to those who are listening from
KILI.

I want to begin my testimony here by saying
that I'm going to be sharing stories from the
community with you. And the first one is written
by my sister, and this is a testimony of Alberta
Iron Cloud Miller. On November 15, 1999, my
niece was sentenced to two years in the South
Dakota prison for women as a result of entering
pleas of guilty to two counts of felony forgery in ¥
Pennington County. Though she had no prior ar- §
rests for any type of criminal records, she re- ~
ceived the sentence to be served concurrently.
This young lady is a mother of four children,

" ages 8, 6, 3, and 17 months. She also has a
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health condition which could possibly be breast
cancer. My mniece cooperated fully with the
criminal justice system by attending every hear-
ing and complying with every request made
upon her, though she was homeless, without
transportation, and in poor health.

She did miss an appointment with the court
services officer, though she did call him to advise
him that she would not be able to attend this
meeting due to her health condition. At the time,
she was 80 miles away from Rapid City. Upon
hearing from her, the court services officer ad-
vised her that she had better make the appoint-
ment, as he had the power to make or break her
life. His exact words. My niece did not speak up
for herself and felt very intimidated by this ag-
gressive response. We attempted to contact this
individual on numerous occasions to reschedule
the appointment, but he never returned our
calls. Consequently, she appeared for sentencing
without the opportunity to have the presentence
investigation completed.
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The representatives gave each girl a rubber bas-
ketball after talking with the parents and the
girls regarding the strip search. The Eighth U.S.
Circuit Court of Appeals said that the U.S. Dis-
trict Judge Battey’s dismissal of the lawsuit was
appropriate. This portion of the testimony is on
behalf of Pansy Weasel Bear and Connie Weasel
Bear who are members of the Oglala Sioux Tribe
and residents of the White Clay district, Oglala,
South Dakota, and are also parents of two of the
girls.

The two cases I have mentioned here are in-
dicative of the racism and discrimination we Na-
tive Americans are subjected to on a regular ba-
sis. In fact, this is promulgated by South Da-
kota’s highest official, Governor Bill Janklow.4
Consider the following examples: January 1997,
at the Governor’s summit on tourism, Governor
Bill Janklow made a statement that tourists
were not safe on Indian reservations. July 1997,
at a high level meeting in Senator Tom Daschle’s
office in the Capitol Building with the Depart-
ment of Health and Human Services Secretary,
Donna Shalala, several South Dakota tribal
chairmen, South Dakota congressional delega-
tion, and government officials, Governor Jank-
low stated, “I have to spend my infrastructure
money to send down cops to pick up drunks from
Indian reservations.” This statement was made
during the discussion on how the tribes in South
Dakota could access state monies needed to de-
velop their own tribal TANF, Temporary Assis-
tance to Needy Families Program. Your letter of
invitation states, “The purpose of the forum is to
obtain information and perspective on the ad-
ministration of justice on Native Americans in
South Dakota.” There is no justice for Native
Americans in South Dakota when Governor Bill
Janklow, Senator Tom Daschle, and the other
members of South Dakota congressional delega-
tion—

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Excuse me, Ms.
Iron Cloud, could perhaps we save this for a time
when you’d have questions? We want to make
certain that—we’re not accusing you that you
can't defend yourself, but right now, because
your time is up, I'd like to get to the other two
panelists. And I'm certain that you have—

4 In response to Eileen Iron Cloud’s statements, Governor
William Janklow submitted to the Commission a videotaped
excerpt from a Jan. 23, 1997, Governor's Tourism Summit.
Commission files.
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Ms. IRON CLOUD. I would like to continue. I'm
almost through here. And besides that, I think
this is indicative of what she spoke about earlier,
and that’s the denial, and that is why I'd like to
share this.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Yes, I under-
stand. Could you share it with us after the other
two panelists have presented, please, because
then it could come out in questions.

MSs. IRON CLOUD. I would like to say that this
would stop the flow.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. All right. How
much more do you have?

Ms. IRON CLOUD. It's just about a minute.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. About a minute.
Certainly.

Ms. IRON CLOUD. Thank you. There is no jus-
tice for Native Americans in South Dakota when
Governor Bill Janklow, Senator Tom Daschle,
and other members of South Dakota’s congres-
sional delegation® proposed legislation to Con-
gress which negatively impacts the Great Sioux
Nation. I speak specifically of the enactment of
the Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe, the Lower
Brule Sioux Tribe, and the state of South Dakota
Terrestrial Wildlife Habitat Restoration Act or
otherwise known as the Mitigation Act. This act
gives South Dakota approximately 96,000 acres

)

of treaty land along the Missouri River. We and

our supporfers have requested hearings, as out-
lined in the democratic process. There remains a
silence to our request. The Great Sioux Nation
and the U.S. government, on a nation-to-nation,
basis signed the 1868 Fort Laramie Treaty. In
fact, the U.S. Constitution states the treaties are
the supreme law of the land. I bring forth the
treaty and the specific violations today because
they are justice issues. I respectfully recommend
to the South Dakota Advisory Committee, the
United States Commission on Civil Rights, one,
that an indepth written report of today’s pro-
ceedings be submitted to the Commission with
firm recommendations for change, including
consequences and penalties; and, two, that the
Commission designate a minimum of two full
days of hearings, one in eastern and one in west-
ern South Dakota, since today is referred to as a
public forum. And thank you for the time. Again,

5 The Commission afforded Sen. Tom Daschle, Sen. Tim
Johnson, and Rep. John Thune an opportunity to respond to
statements by Eileen Iron Cloud. No responses were re-
ceived. See appendix A.
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lady to pass this across to the Commissioners. I
would really like to thank you for your time to-
day and again implore you to investigate the
sentencing, the investigation, and the prosecu-
tion procedures in the state of South Dakota.
Thank you.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Thank you. Scott
German, Agency, South Dakota. And our Chair
is back, so he’ll probably take over his job.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Could you state your
name for the record, please.

MR. GERMAN. Scott German.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. Youre from
Agency?

Scott German, Agency Village

MR. GERMAN. Yes, sir. Let me begin by intro-
ducing myself. My name is Scott German. I'm
from the Big Cowlee District of the Lake Trav-
erse Reservation of the Sisseton-Wahpeton Sioux
Tribe. Secondly, let me say how appreciative of
the honor of being invited to address such an
impressive group of people convened, to search
for the truth, I am. Thank you. Except for the
time that I was in the service, I've lived my en-
tire life on the reservation. It has been that per-
spective that I hope to bring to this meeting to-
day.

The search for truth is a pretty high calling,
and I think probably if anybody realizes how im-
pressive and how weighty an issue that is, you
do. And I think that’s what we're trying to do
here today. It can be said that the journey and
the search for truth is a lonely one. And you've
changed that today for a lot of the Indians in
South Dakota. With your assistance and leader-
ship, the process of getting questions answered
will be made easier for those who have chosen to
go on record today to begin the journey of
searching for truth and answers to questions
that have haunted Indians for some time. That
question 1s and has been, is the system of justice
in South Dakota equal for all of its citizens?
From my perspective and 31 years in this state,
I'd have to say that it is not. But it simply won’t
do for you to take my word on this or the word of
the other panelists that have been before me. I
expect you, as representatives of the federal gov-
ernment, and you, on the Commission on Civil
Rights Committee for the state-of South Dakota
advisory board, to get your hands dirty and be-
gin asking these types of questions of the justice
system in the state of South Dakota.
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In trying to put together a presentation for
you, I consulted a number of associates and
tribal members at home. And some of them ad-
vised me to put together a very detailed factual
presentation for you. Still a small voice, on the
other hand, told me to simply come out and ad-
dress a few questions to you in the hope that it
will prompt the Commission on Civil Rights to
begin asking the types of questions in the state
of South Dakota that Indians ask when they're
among other Indians. When I shared this with a
few other tribal members, they felt that the still
small voice route was the course to go. In the
end, I chose to strike a balance and do a little of
both.

I will begin by making a comparison for you
on the apparent disparity in regard to the qual-
ity—or equality of justice served in South Da-
kota. And then I will pose a few questions and
challenges to the Commissioners present today. I
brought with me a sentencing comparison that I
know that you will hear and some of you are fa-
miliar with. It was addressed already earlier to
Mr. Kerry Cameron. That's the Melanie Seaboy
14-year sentence and the—I think I've got a list

of seven in the information I have, and the sen- %

tences ranged from two years to three years, sus-
pended sentences, those types of things.

And I've also got another case—two cases,
rather, one involving a non-Indian young man
who broke into his employer with the assistance
of a juvenile, the Supervalu Store in Sisseton,
and they were caught in the process of breaking
in by one of the assistant managers. Now, those
two young white men were sentenced to 30 days
and given three years suspended sentences. And
there was an Indian young man just over the age
of 18, as well, by the name of Tilmer Salvage
that broke in with two counterparts and stole
roughly $624 worth of Slim Jims and beer from a
liquor store or from a drinking establishment.
Well, his portion of that blame was $208 and
some odd cents, and that young man is sitting in
the South Dakota State Penitentiary for two
years. And when you look at the sentence that
the two young white men, the one adult man
was given, since he was in college he was given
the Juxury of serving that sentence around his
class schedule and around the school schedule.
Now, I'm willing to sit here today and guarantee
you that if Tilmer Salvage was given the oppor-
tunity to work his two years around something,
I'm sure he would have worked it around some-
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But do you think the discrimination of law en-
forcement is more towards—is it the non-Indian
peace officer that you're more concerned about or
is it law enforcement in general?

Ms. LITTLE THUNDER. My comments were on
non-Indian law enforcement officers or people in
the justice system.

MR. USERA. Any of you others, do you have
an answer to that? Are you basically concerned
about non-Indian peace officers, or are you con-
cerned about law enforcement in general?

Ms. TAKEN ALIVE. Non-Indian police officers.
In Mobridge, South Dakota, some of our people
hang things from their mirrors. Some hang
medicine bundles from their mirrors, some hang
decorative objects, such as medicine wheels,
dream catchers. They have a spiritual or cultural
significance to the owner of the vehicle. As a
form of harassment in Walworth County, Indian
people are pulled over for having things hanging
from their mirrors. Ultimately they are checked
for insurance. Our Indian nations don't require
us to have vehicle insurance. But in order to not
be harassed, not be thrown in jail, many of us
who travel away from the reservation are forced
to buy insurance. But this is, I guess—it’s not so
subtle. It's out there. They harass us because
there are things hanging from the mirror. And I
fear white law enforcement in South Dakota and
even more so0 because now they have my picture.

MR. GERMAN. I guess one of the things I have
in my written testimony is a comparison, and it's
simply a comparison that I've made, not at all
scientific, nothing empirical about it. It’s just an
observation I've made within my community.
And those people from Sisseton that are here
could probably say the same thing, probably
have made the same observation. When you
have a non-Indian function at the local American
Legion Hall and it's a big to-do, people are
parked on the lawns, they’re parked on the
sidewalk, they’re parked all pell-mell in the lot.
And you know that it's a non-Indian function be-
cause all these things are posted in the courier.
There’s an advertisement that goes out the week
before. You would be hard pressed to find law
enforcement in that town that night.-Maybe one
car, but you'd have to find it.

Now, you turn that situation around and you
put an Indian function at that American Legion
Hall and, shoot, you can’t shake an ugly stick
without hitting a cop. You've got both city cars
out patrolling, you've got probably two, maybe

57

three cars of the county sheriff; his department
is there patrolling. You've got the highway pa-
trol, maybe one or two of their cars patrolling.
And on top of that, you've got the tribal police
thrown in for good measure. So you can't tell me
that it’s simply our tribal police.

To answer your question, no, I don’t feel that
I have to worry about our tribal police. In fact,
it's a comfort to me as a citizen to know that
should I be pulled over for some infraction, that
the tribal police will probably be notified because
there’s somebody there to ensure my safety in
that situation. So to answer your question, no, I
dont feel as though it'’s law enforcement as a
whole. I feel it's the non-Indian law enforcement
that's present within our reservation towns.

MS. LITTLE THUNDER. I have one more com-
ment on that. One of our biggest concerns, if you
look at the disparity of arrests, in sentencing,
you know, we're talking about institutional ra-
cism, too, here—who holds the power and how
that power is exercised. So you'll find the dispar-
ity more, you know, institutionally, collectively.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. I'd just
remind the members of our Committee and
Commissgion, please speak into your microphone
because people are having difficulties hearing in

the back. Questions from the Advisory Commit- -

tee?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Do the Commissioners
have any questions for this panel?

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. I have a question
for Ms. Thunder. You had mentioned that you
thought it would be of help to have sensitivity
training for law enforcement personnel. But you
also mentioned there had been some sensitivity
training, and that it “Did not go well,” if I re-
member your testimony. What happened? Why
do you think it did not go well? And in light of
that, why are you still hopeful it can go well?

Ms. LITTLE THUNDER. I think that the cul-
tural sensitivity training that was provided be-
fore brought together maybe people who had a
lot of frustration and a lot of animosity, together
with law enforcement who had, I believe, their
own racism to deal with. And so bringing them
together in the'same room was not pleasant. But
I think what I was suggesting was that some
way to deal with that very issue, people’s ra-
cism—you know, deal with it, not with us. That’s
not good. We're angry, and we're very frustrated.
But I think that people, the dominant society
needs to examine its own attitudes and start to
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that. And, you know, this story I tell a lot, and I
hope I'm not taken wrong at this, but when you
have one or two Indian people on your depart-
ment, you will hear your officers say that there
are only two good Indians in Rapid City and they
both work for the Rapid City Police Department.
And then when you get three or four, they'll go
on to say that these people are a little bit differ-
ent than the other Indians that we deal with.
You get six or eight or 10, and pretty soon they
start realizing, after they've spent eight hours in
the car, that they talk about religion and politics
and food and family and their history and their
culture, and pretty soon through osmosis, your
white officers begin to understand Indian offi-
cers or minority people. And they have a greater
sensitivity through that learning of culture
that's not forced on them.

Because I have never seen sensitivity train-
ing where you order a person to go to sensitivity
training and order them to become more sensi-
tive while they’re there. It just simply doesn’t
work. So I think we in law enforcement need to
spend our time trying to recruit people so we
adequately reflect the makeup of the entire
population in our community. We reflect all of
those views and then we try to deal with those
issues.

Now I certainly—I've been a policeman here
for 35 years. T've been chief of police for 16 years.
And I am certainly not without my detractors, 1
want to tell you. But we have made great strides
in those 35 years. When I became a policeman
here, if you found a drunk Indian downtown,
you'd put him in a garbage can. And when he got
out, he was sober enough to leave, and that's just
the way things were. I can tell you that that
doesn’t happen anymore. I can tell you that if
those things do occur, and I'm not so naive as to
say never, but if they do occur, they will be dealt
with because we are trying to make a difference.

About three years ago a group in Rapid City
brought several complaints to the Rapid City Po-
lice Department. Actually they didn’t bring the
complaints to us, they demonstrated about the
complaints and had never bothered to give us
the information. We took that information and
gave it to the FBI to investigate so we could be
very clear that someone else was looking at this
information. They investigated all four cases and
then came back and said, “We find no fault with
the police department on this investigation or in
its conclusion.” But that was not satisfactory.
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And about a year, year and a half ago, the same
complaints and others were brought to the
mayor, who established a committee under the
chairmanship of Judge Patrick Lee of the Pine
Ridge Reservation. And again they came back
and said, “We find no fault with the police de-
partment or how they are doing their work.” But
that didn’t say that we were never wrong, that
we never behaved in a prejudiced manner orin a
discriminatory fashion.

So I would just like to end this by saying that
I appreciate the opportunity to come. I appreci-
ate the opportunity to tell my own version of
how we become more sensitive, and I'm more
than willing to answer any questions. But I abso-
lutely cannot answer for every little incident
that occurred over the last 20 years of which I
may or may not be aware. Thank you very much.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Mr.
Don Holloway, sheriff of Pennington County.
State your name and position for the record,
please.

Don Holloway, Sheriff, Pennington County
MR. HOLLOWAY. Don Holloway, sheriff of

Pennington County. I started my career in law 3

enforcement here in Pennington County as a
deputy sheriff in 1968. I was elected sheriff in
1983 and have served in that capacity since

zr'(
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then. In addition to having a law enforcement -

function, I'm also responsible for the operation of
the county jail and the Juvenile Services Center,
which is a regional facility that houses for Pen-
nington County and six other counties. I'm also
the manager or the budgetary authority man-
ager over at the City-County Drug and Alcohol
Program, which includes a detox facility and
treatment facility.

One of the things that was indicated in the
letter that I received and obviously some discus-
sions that I had prior to this meeting was a con-
cern about the creek deaths that have gained
some publicity in our community. I would say
that there’s eight deaths that I'm sure that
you've probably been furnished information on
and may have already received some testimony.
The first one of these was May 21, 1998, and the
last one that we had was July 8 of 1999. They all
have some similarities to them. Six of these are
Native American people, and two are white.
Seven out of the eight had a very high blood al-
cohol content. All of the locations where the
death took place or at least where the body was
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tions about BIA law enforcement or what we’re
doing as far as how we handle allegations.

Discussion

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We would like to
hear what you're doing at the tribal level, just
because the discussion so far has been on the
other end. We have you here. Tell us what you
know.

MR. STARR. All right. Well, law enforcement,
Indian police officers, tribal, BIA, are pretty
much understaffed nationwide and especially in
the Dakotas, North Dakota, South Dakota. A Iot
of stress is placed on these young officers, and
sometimes they react to the stress. I know one
agency here, one reservation, Rosebud, we can
match our statistics with them on activities and
arrests. It’'s just as high as the community of
Rapid City. But we have maybe 10, 11 officers
who are working at that time. So a large amount
of dctivity that was going on—a lot of it doesn’t
get addressed.

A lot of people’s calls for help never get an-
swered. And a lot of the officers after a period of
time experience burn out and sometimes give
into the stress and hurt some of the tribal people
out there. Some of the tribal members become
victims of the police, and there’s a lot of allega-
tions about that. The Bureau of Indian Affairs
has an internal affairs organization, a new or-
ganization within the BIA, and they'’re responsi-
ble for doing these investigations, along with the
FBI. And we don’t investigate ourselves. Each
agency—there’s tribal or BIA. When an allega-
tion comes across, we don’t do our own investiga-
tions. We make a report to the FBI and to the
BIA and then hopefully one or the other will
work it out with the FBI and then they’ll come to
the agency and address it.

A lot of the allegations where individuals
have been hurt don’t get prosecuted, but still—
the ones where I was involved, there’s still ad-
ministrative responsibility, excessive force or
misconduct on the part of the individual officer,
and the situation will be dealt with in that man-
ner. The problem with that is that a lot of the
victims only know about the federal allegations
being declined for prosecution, but when you
take an administrative action between an em-
ployee and employer, those are the only two
people that are going to know about that and
you can’t really divuige that information to the
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victim or the victim’s family. That’s about all I
have.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Mr.
Brewer, do you have any experience about that
that you'd like to explain to us, or do you just
want to wait for questions?

MR. BREWER. Experience?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any experiences in
your the tribal law enforcement and what your
experience is that may be relative to Mr. Starr,
or would you just prefer to wait for questions?

MR. BREWER. Right now I'd rather wait for
questions.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN.
Committee? Mutch?

MR. USERA. Since this is a factfinding hear-
ing, I just want each of you to answer this for -
me. Could you tell me how many law enforce-
ment employees each of you have in your
agency; how many of them are white; how many
of them are minorities, including women as be-
ing a minority; and how many are Indian. And if
you don’t know that, could we get that informa-
tion just for the record? And I can repeat the
question, if you want me to. Ill have each of you
answer that. Thank you. :

Okay. Advisory

MR. HENNIES. Did you want to call on us or &5

just—

MR. USERA. No, Tom, you can start.

MR. HENNIES. I have 130 employees, 101 -
sworn officers. Now, is it the officers you're look-
ing at?

MR. USERA. Yes, just the officers.

MR. HENNIES. I cant tell you exactly how
many minorities I have. Very frankly, you know,
you get tired of trying to count those. I think it’s
counterproductive. But somewhere around 15 or
20, if you include women and other minorities,
South Pacific Islanders and Hispanic and so on. I
think I probably have 10 or 12 Indian officers,
but I can’t tell you for sure. To add to that, let
me add that we have Indians in higher ranks in
the department also who have been there for a
number of years, worked their way up. I have a
detective lieutenant, Louie Lang, who is an In-
dian man, and our head of the juvenile investi-
gations is Tim Amos, he’s a sergeant who's also
an Indian man. But, again, I want to say, you
know, I think just hiring or promoting or moving
people because of a skin color or culture is
wrong. They should be qualified. And I'll tell you
this: every employee I have is qualified. Thank
you.
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officer and he’s no longer in a supervisory posi-
tion on my department.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Oh, and con-
gratulations on winning the—I noticed your
name among the new legislators last year.

MR. HENNIES. Thank you.

VICE CHAIRPERSON BUTLER. Have you
reached some of them with sensitivity?

MR. HENNIES. I'm still working on that.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. I'd like to follow up
a little. I'll give you that article and well get you
a copy of that article and could you provide—I
guess both the sheriff and the police chief—a
written response to us, at least to answer what
might be in the newspaper article and what your
solution is and update the article and maybe
make it correct so we could understand what the
truths are from your department?

MR. HENNIES. Mr. Feinstein, we don’t operate
independent of one another in these kind of cir-
cumstances. We have one joint investigation go-
ing and someone in the team will respond to
that, right, Don?

MR. HOLLOWAY. That’s correct. .

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Do you want us to
get you an article?

MR. HOLLOWAY. Yes, or—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN, We'll get you one.

MR. HOLLOWAY. We can get a copy of the Ar-
gus Leader article and also we’ll provide you a
copy of the interview we've already done with
Mr. Pay-Pay.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Other
questions from the Advisory Committee? Jim?

MR. POPOVICH. Welcome, gentlemen. Sheriff
Holloway, you mentioned that you believe or
state that these deaths along Rapid Creek were
actually drownings. Is it known now for sure
that they are drownings, is there any other evi-
dence towards homicide? Do you have any inves-
tigation going on that would give any other
leads? And I guess the reason I ask is because
we keep hearing from the Native American
community that people aren’t getting the an-
swers that they want. They're not hearing from
the community. They’re not hearing from law
enforcement on how these issues are going and
whether these cases are being solved. And I, too,
have been reading the paper and I haven't seen
too much as well. So I guess the question bodes
is, is there more to it than just drownings, and
what is the investigation to this date?
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MR. HOLLOWAY. Well, obviously they're being
homicides with them being drownings.

MR. POPOVICH. Forced homicide, I mean, lit-
erally somebody put them in the water?

MR. HOLLOWAY. Absolutely. If someone
throws an individual in the water and as a result
of that action they drown, that could be a homi-
cide. The autopsy reports did not give us any
other indications of cause of death as it would
relate to gunshot wounds or stabbings or things
like that. But that hasn’t changed our view in
trying to make a determination as to what, you
know, who is responsible, what the course of ac-
tion took place up to and at the time these peo-
ple wound up in the creek. And as I said, we’re
continuing that investigation. And whether all of
these turn out to be a homicide case or whether
they're all connected, or just some of them, I
guess will remain to be seen. At this point in
time, we’re keeping them all together in the case
as active cases just because there’s so much simi-
larities or coincidences with the cases.

MR. POPOVICH. A followup question, what
kinds of communication do all of you have?
Rapid City, being considered a border town, I
would guess, what kind of communication do you
have with the reservation to talk about certain
crimes or elements of crimes that might be re-
lated to the Indian people? Do you share infor-
mation, do you share statistics?

MR. HENNIES. From my part, unfortunately,
no, we don’t share a lot. I share resources with
the officers on the reservation in our particular
specialties such as gangs and those kind of
things, but we don’t share, we don’t talk to each
other a lot for a multitude of reasons, but it’s not
right. Let me just end it that way.

MR. POPOVICH. You would like that to hap-
pen?

MR. HENNIES, Oh, yes, I would like to see it
improve, and we can. And I think the officers
from the reservation would also. It's pretty diffi-
cult to facilitate that, and I think that a lot of
times the people who are in charge of the—not
these people, but the people who are in charge of
them kind of hold up that communication. It
would mean we’d have to get together in Rapid
City or on the reservation. We would have to get
the right people down and have a meaningful
discussion over certain items and those kinds of
things. And it’s just hard to get everybody to-
gether and do those kinds of things, frankly.
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forts of the community getting involved in trying
to prevent these deaths.

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. I have a question
for the chief also. You mentioned the efforts of
sensitivity training and that sometimes they go
well and sometimes not. Have you had occasion
to investigate a variety of plans? For example,
there was a consent decree after the Denny's
restaurant litigation where I've heard the moni-
tor in that consent decree indicates that they've
had a very successful training. In fact, she feels
they have actually turned around Denny’s in a
matter of two or three years from an organiza-
tion that was viewed as racist to one thats
viewed as quite favorable by the African Ameri-
can and other minority communities. So I guess
my question is, to what extent has the depart-
ment searched out these opportunities? Because
some apparently have worked, as you indicated,
and some don’t, but some have been particularly
effective apparently.

MR. HENNIES. Those sessions that did not
work, just as Rosalie said, they’re a little acri-
monious to begin with. But we put on cultural
training annually in our department and we
search out people who give a different perspec-
tive every year so it isn’t the same thing over
and over. They come from different areas of the
community and so on, from the minority com-
munity. Two years ago we hired a professor from
Black Hills State University who happens to be
a white man from Germany who came over and
knows the Indian culture and history better than
most of the Indian people who can present these
things to us. And he was very good. And in fact,
some of my officers didnt like him very much
because he was that good. But you have to deal
with those circumstances, and I'm willing to do
that. I don’t know if that answers your question,
but we look every year for a new perspective still
in dealing with culture rather than saying this is
politically correct and this is not.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. The only question I
have is for Mr. Brewer, Mr. Brewer the silent
one. Mr. Brewer, have there been complaints of
misconduct or other problems by people who are
In your community against the police or any po-
lice officers to your knowledge?

MR. BREWER. Yes, there is.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. And what is your pro-
cedure for responding to them, and how do you
go about dealing with those?
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MR. BREWER. We have a committee, internal
review committee that will look at this. It's made
up of nine representatives from each one of our
nine districts on the reservation, plus two offi-
cers. And if it'’s a civil rights violation, we for-
ward it to the FBI office. And then if it’s a policy
violation or something, then our board, our
committee will deal with that.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. The other question I
wanted to ask you and Mr. Starr, do you believe
that some tribal police are not adequately
trained in how to conduct a criminal investiga-
tion in such manners as the killings that have
taken place, other kinds of death cases and as-
saults? Do you believe that could be the case,
both of you?

MR. BREWER. Yes, I believe that, and it's
something we’re working on. I've got 12 officers
that are leaving for the academy as of January.
I'm presently trying to get two of my criminal
investigators into the criminal investigations
class out of Quantico. For our reservation—it's a
large reservation. I have 88 officers, but these
are divided up into nine districts and each of
those districts has several different smaller
communities. We cover a vast area. We are in-
adequately funded so that I don’t have the dol-
lars to send everybody at once. And that’s one
area now that I'm dealing with, that we are go-
ing to address, and hopefully I will have most
my officers trained by this time next year.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. What is your answer
to the same question, Mr. Starr?

MR. STARR. Yes, it’s true that some of the In-
dian police officers don’t have all the training
they need. It's really kind of on an individual ba-
gis scattered out about the country. At my
agency, there’s two investigators, myself and an-
other investigator. We can initiate an investiga-
tion from the very beginning all the way through
mailing our stuff to the crime lab and FBI lab,
write our own letters, do the grand jury, write
all our own affidavits to present to the judges.
And we have some investigators that don’t have
those abilities. And they all work directly with
the FBI. In fact, some of us help the FBI when
they come out to the reservations, show them a
lot of the places, show them evidence, because
they haven’t seen a felony crime like that, you
know, for their first time. So it varies back and
forth.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. The other question is,
Mr. Holloway and Chief Hennies, do you believe
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ervation. There is racism there; there is nepo-
tism there. And if you are a full blood, you run
into nepotism and racism on Pine Ridge Indian
Reservation. . . . [Words deleted as potentially
defamatory, degrading, or incriminating.]

CHATRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Excuse me, we have
to refrain from—

MR. HAND. Yes.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN.—degrading or de-
famatory remarks.

MR. HAND. This is not degrading, sir.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Well, it is. You have
to refrain—

MR. HAND. I believe in freedom of speech.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. But not in a de-
grading or defamatory sense. Please—

MR. HAND. There’s no degrading.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. You can talk in
generalities.

MR. HAND. This is what is happening. I'm
generalizing it. I'm generalizing the abuse.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. What I'm saying is
don’t use names, please.

MR. HAND. Most of us reservation people are
sitting in here today in South Dakota, and I be-
lieve the state of South Dakota needs to be edu-
cated right -from kindergarten on up. Lets
change the school curriculum, and let’s talk to
our parents. Let’s talk to the parents because it
is the parents that need to set the attitude and
example of these young people. Therefore, there
will be no racism, and this is what I believe. Be-
cause you’re going to say equality, we need to
start teaching at a early age, and I believe today
that this is why I'm here, because I believe in a
direct, honest statement and hope you can take
it home with you and think about it. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Elaine,
state your name and where youre from for the
record, please.

Elaine Holy Eagle, Rapid City

Ms. HOLY EAGLE. Okay. My name is Elaine
Holy Eagle. I live here in Rapid City. I'm a full
blood Lakota person. I'm half Oglala and Hoho-
shugan. I'm an enrolled member of the Chey-
enne River Sioux Tribe. I was born and raised in
South Dakota. I have been a resident of Rapid
City, South Dakota, for over 40 years. In those
40 years, we have never had this many drown-
ings in Rapid Creek. There have been some peo-
ple who drowned accidentally, but I can’t under-
stand how eight men drowned in Rapid Creek,
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and in December of 1998 four men drowned in
four days.

Also, I wanted to talk on behalf of Ronald
Hard Heart who was one of my relatives, and
you will find a picture of him right here [indicat-
ing]. I wanted to say that Ronald was my rela-
tive and he was a brother. He had hopes and
dreams just like you and 1. He loved his family
and he loved his Lakota ways. I have known Ron
to be kind and gentle, even when he was in pain
and he could still laugh about himself getting
hurt.

As a Native American person, we awaited for
justice in the white man’s justice system. I have
been a silent observer for too long. The injustice
that has been going on is totally unacceptable. It
is time to make changes to meet the needs of all
the people.

I remember a few years ago in New England
there was attention to an incident where a
woman was raped in a bar and people in the bar
just watched it happen. The people who watched
are an accessory to the crime, and the people of
New England were outraged. Why wasn’t there
outrage when there was Native American men
or the people who drowned in the creeks? And
why is there a dual system of justice? Is it be-
cause people are conditioned to believe it’s okay
if an Indian person is killed?

There are many examples of racism and dis-
crimination. A few years ago there was a Native
American woman who was attacked by two
white women and she had long black hair and
her hair was cut and they shaved her head, and
was there justice for her? A Native American
woman was hit and killed by a pickup truck. The
driver was never cited for anything because he
said he thought he had hit a deer. On November
1, 1999, just last week, Ms. Red Paint, a Native
American woman was walking across the street
on Mt. Rushmore Road when a car struck her.
The driver was not cited because Ms. Red Paint
was walking outside of the crosswalk line.

The Native American people have tried to
address the racism and discrimination towards
Native American people by reporting it to the
police department, the mayor’s office, and vari-
ous organizations, only to be unheard. Some of
the Native American people are not aware of the
proper procedure of reporting incidents of racism
and discrimination against them while other Na-
tive American people fear for their lives and of
retaliation.
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But this is a statement, but I'm going to sub-
mit it to the panel. I don’t want to read it right
now. I will submit a copy to the panel so you can
go over it. But myself, I'm here in respect and
honor of Wally Black Elk and Ron Hard Heart
and all our other tribal members who were
found dead on the streets of Gordon and in the
jails of Sheridan County and the streets and al-
ley of White Clay.

Our people have been murdered, our tipis
have been burnt, our ponies have been killed for
over 500 years now. And this panel, I hope that
you are not here to see if these are racial prob-
lems. The racial problems started to exist 500
years ago, and when Custer discovered gold in
our sacred Black Hills, our people have been
murdered over their land and their way of life.
Our rights have been violated. Wally and Ron’s
right to live were violated. Our people have been
mistreated far too long in Sheridan County and
western South Dakota. We have run into a dual
standard of justice far too long where if an In-
dian person and a non-Indian person were
charged with the same crime, the non-Indian’s
bond would be a lot lower. And when a
non-Indian and an Indian are sentenced, an In-
dian is always the one to get more time than a
non-Indian.

Personally, I feel the investigation of my little
brother Wally, my cousin Ron, I dont feel the
FBI,” our local Public Safety are doing a thor-
ough and adequate investigation. If those were
two white people that were found, the FBI would
have been there in full force the day they found
my little brother and Ron. Last week, the FBI
did come to Camp Justice and did a sweep and
they brought a dog, six months later.

What I don’t understand about this investiga-
tion is they really focused around Camp Justice
where the bodies were found, and as a people of
the Oglala Lakota Nation, we know the bodies
were moved. I feel that this investigation should
also have included Sheridan County because of
the racial problem that’s been existing there for
many years; I could go way back to Raymond
Yeliow Thunder of 1972. But Sheridan County,
its officials, its sheriff's department® needs to be

7 Mark Vukelich, supervisory senior resident agent, FBI,
Rapid City, SD, notified the Commission by telephone on
Mar. 30, 2000, that he would not have a response to state-
ments by Tom Poor Bear.

8 Sheridan County sheriff Terry Robbins’ response to state-
ments by Tom Poor Bear is attached as appendix C.
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investigated because Camp Justice and the
American Indian Movement will not allow an-
other family to go through the tragedy that the
Hard Heart and Black Elk family has already
been through. It needs to stop.

Also, I want to mention a of couple young
relatives of ours from Allen, South Dakota,
where a white man brought alcohol illegally on
our lands, and these were young brothers that
were underage, too young to drink, and he
brought alcohol onto our lands and got our
young people drunk and tried to molest one, and
he was beaten. That was considered a hate crime
by the sheriff of Bennett County, Waterbury,
which hit national news. The next day, Water-
bury took back his words and said it was a hate-
ful crime, but still, it didn’t matter.

I look at Boo Many Horses who was stuffed
face down in a trash can in Mobridge by four
white kids, and all charges were dismissed
against them. They blamed it on aleohol, but Boo
was an FAS baby. He was born with alcohol in
him, but still, some type of charges should have
been filed because Boo might have still been
alive before they stuffed him in the trash can. If
that was four Indian kids that stuffed an FAS
baby in the trash can, they would have found
some charge with them. But the two brothers in
Allen are facing prison time for the action of this
non-Indian who brought alcohol illegally on our
lands.

I look at the creeks of Rapid City and our
people who were found dead in the creeks. I feel
that Pennington County Sheriff's Department
and the community of Pennington County
should support the people that are trying to es-
tablish Camp Stronghold and work together in
unity. That is what Camp Justice strives for is
unity, to unite the authorities to do a thorough
and adequate investigation. Six months is too
long for Wally and Ron’s justice. Camp Justice
will continue to stay until justice is found.

But I really want this panel to really take a
look at the racial problems that exist and the
dual standard of justice of our people. Our hu-
man rights have been violated, our civil rights
have been violated, and people are suffering
from that. I don’t look at it as an alcohol problem
on the Oglala Lakota Nation; I look at it as pain.
Every time we walk to White Clay, I see pain in
our people that have to stay up there and pan-
handle what change they can. The pain of their
dignity being stripped away, the pain of seeing
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MR. HAND. Because of our extended family
concept. We're all related on that reservation, so
it's best that we have people from the other res-
ervations or other—with degrees and education
in the way to process grievances and keep re-
cords as to all the grievances. I think this will
really help our people.

MR. POPOVICH. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Other members of
the Committee?

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. I do.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Alys?

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. I don’t know if this mi-
crophone is working or not. Say that these
crimes are solved and the people responsible are
brought to justice and they receive what is, in
your eyes, a fair sentence. How would the heal-
ing begin after that? What would have to happen
between, for instance, you and law enforcement
personnel for there to be a more trusting rela-
tionship built? What in your assessment has to
happen? And I'd like any or all of you to respond.

MR. HAND. Okay. In the sentencing guide-
lines, like we heard all afternoon, that is not
quite followed for Native people, and this is the
fear that we have when they do find the people
who have done it eventually—it took so long.
Look how long it took for the FBI to go to the
camp there, six months, and theyll say that they
have taken too long and probably give them a
lighter sentence or give them probation because
again, a lot of our information leads to Sheridan
County.

And I personally asked Federal Bureau of In-
vestigation man Moreno, which he was assigned
to, and I asked him why is it that those tele-
phone numbers and evidence that was handed
from Sheridan County to our police department
and FBI never surfaced? And the story is that
that was misplaced and never found, so that’s
where we're at today.

Ms. HOLY EAGLE. 1 wanted to make a com-
ment that I think that if the Native American
people could see that the police department or
the sheriffs department or the FBI or whoever
was making an attempt to solve these problems,
then we as Native American people would real-
ize it and understand that they were trying to
help, but at this time it's just like there’s no
communication. We don’t know what’s going on,
what the police are doing; they haven't given us
any update. But I think when and if that ever
happens, then there would be some kind of heal-
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ing that will be going on in the Native American
community because so far we as a Native Ameri-
can people feel that we’re not being heard. And if
the case was that they are listening, then it
wouldn’t come to this point. So that’s all.

MR. POOR BEAR. The matter of trust, you
have to be trustworthy. I don’t mean to sound
disrespectful when I say this, but because of the
lack of communication between the FBI, our lo-
cal law enforcement, and the families of Wally
and Ron and the lack of manpower under the
FBI and our own tribal police, to me a murder of
this caliber, they should have every person they
can find to help with this investigation.

A while back I had the opportunity to meet
with some delegates from Johaness’ office, Gov-
ernor Johaness out of Nebraska. I confronted the
state patrol on that, on why they didn’t get in-
volved in this investigation, and they informed
me at the request of the FBI; they didn’t want
their help in this investigation. When I hear
stuff like that, then I lose trust in people. But I
don’t feel I can answer that question until these
murders are solved, and then I'd be able to bring
out my trust in people because we are a trusting
people. We have been for 500 years but look
where we’re at today.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Mutch?

MR. USERA. You all mentioned communica-
tion, and I do believe again, I think communica-
tion seems to be lacking extremely on every-
body’s part. There’s two types of mediums.
There’s the, what I call the rumor mill communi-
cation and then there’s the factual communica-
tion side or hearing it from the horse’s mouth, so
to speak. How do you recommend or do you have
any ideas of how people should communicate to
one another? I mean, are they going to read the
newspaper to find out this information? Some
say they wouldn’t dare read the Argus Leader or
the Rapid City Journal, that it’s not factual. Do
you have town meetings? Is there a membership
publication? Do you have any recommendations
on how law enforcement, government agencies,
whatever, can communicate to the appropriate
people? Obviously, it’s got to be a one-on-one to
the victims, relatives, family, I understand that,
but it goes beyond that because youre talking
about a community, especially small communi-
ties. When something happens to a victim, it’s
not just the relative. Obviously, it impacts the
whole community, so how do you reach that
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large concentrations of population, and many of
them—not all, but several of them, quite a few
have had casinos, and the casinos have brought
a lot of money to them, and they in turn have
contributed a lot of money to political cam-
paigns, and they have money now to send their
children to college. And somehow in those
rancherias, you don’t see any used cars, you see
mostly new cars, and not only that, you don’t see
used cars not being used. You see the Indian
leaders now meeting regularly with the Gover-
nor of the state of California and with the legis-
lators, and they're now on the same page as
those politicians, and all of a sudden, all these
magical things have happened, and the Indians
are still the same people. A few years ago, they
were completely ignored and now they seem to
have a great deal of power. What was the differ-
ence? Money. Power that came with that money.

So I guess my question—and I must say that
in listening to the stories that the community
has brought to us, I can't help but think of the
hearings we had in Mississippi where mostly
black folk there brought stories to wus that
sounded very much like the stories that the In-
dians, Native Americans, indigenous people are
bringing to us today and the absences of eco-
nomic development and power.

So I just wonder what observations you might
have in terms of the possibilities in South Da-
kota for the Native peoples to develop that eco-
nomic power that in turn will give them political
and educational and other power, because even-
tually it seems to me that will be more the solu-
tion. In some ways, I dont care if somebody is
prejudiced as long as they don’t act out on that
prejudice, and if I'm the boss and I own the fac-
tory, I own the store and I have a person work-
ing for me who's Anglo, chances are they won't
act out their prejudice against me because I
might fire them. So power means a lot, and that
in turn, I think, is dependent so much on eco-
nomic power. So I just wonder what observations
you all have on the possibilities of bringing that
sort of economic power to—

MR. HAND. Education.

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO.—the Indians of this
state.

MR. HAND. Education. I for one have tested it
out. I left here 23 years ago, and I found out that
I had to work to make a living. So after 23 years
I also developed a company in New York City,
and now I'm able to try and encourage my neph-
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ews and family to get education. And by doing
so0, I know as far as casino goes, we're too over-
populated, about 45,000 of us in 3.8 million
acres, so the best we could do is HEW, health,
education and welfare for our casinos. But again,
we have to encourage our young people. Educa-
tion, again I go back to that curriculum. If we do
that, I think we can hold hands throughout the
nation.

COMMISSIONER REYNOSO. Thank you.

MR. POOR BEAR. Well, I agree with my
[speaking in language other than English]. 1
don’t know if this is kind of away from your
question, but what Camp Justice focuses on is
White Clay and the murders, and to me, to gain
power we need to shut White Clay down because
of the mistreatment of our people and the racial
attitudes, the prostitution that goes on there.
White Clay makes $4.2 million a year. Ninety-
nine percent of that money is Lakota money. ...
[Words deleted as potentially defamatory, de-
grading, or incriminating.] to shut that place, a
lot of our money would stay on our lands and
within our communities.

Ms. HOLY EAGLE. I wanted to say that I guess
my feeling on that is that I think we as Indian
people have rights to respect and dignity just be-
cause we're people. It's just a human right that
we have. It's a wonderful thing and it can hap-
pen and it has happened to a lot of our people,
they do have casinos, but once we do that, then
we become like the haves and the have-nots.
And the point here I see is that we as Indian
people still deserve human—we have human
rights to dignity and respect regardless of
whether we have two cents or no money at all.
So thank you.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Thank you. I dont
have anything.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. Thank you
very much. The next community panel includes
Peggy Redday, David Seaboy, and Mark White
Bull. This is the 5:15 panel, and we're going to
try to conclude this in 45 minutes which is the
time you had allotted initially, so we might be
able to get a little 15-minute break ourselves.

Okay. First we have Peggy, do you pronounce
it Redday?

MS. REDDAY. Redday.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Redday. Do you
want to state your name and your location for
the record, please.
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MR. POPOVICH. Thank you.

MS. REDDAY. I would just like to say I'd like
Cameron investigated, and I really do hope that
this Committee comes to our reservation. There
are so many other deaths there that are un-
solved. They’re just pushed under the carpet and
forgotten. I don’t want this to happen to any
more of our young people. I know it will never
bring my son back, but it might prevent some-
thing else. Thank you.

MR. POPOVICH. Thank you.

David Seaboy, Sisseton )

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. David Seaboy,
you're next. Can you state your name and where
you're from for the record, please.

MR. SEABOY. Yes. My name is David Seaboy
and I'm from Sisseton also, and I'm also here in
behalf of one of my children, Melanie, and I un-
derstand I've got eight minutes to make a pres-
entation. And what I would like to say is on No-
vember 5, we had a petition for a hearing for re-
duction in sentence. The lawyer of the family of
the victim had to be in court. He had a court case
so he couldn’t make it, so they postponed to the
15th of this month, that’s next week, and I'm
hoping that my appearing here today and with
what I have to say will not bring repercussions
on the 15th for her. That's my only fear.

I'd like to start my presentation now, if I'm
being timed. My grandfather who died in 1967
told me of two incidents involving alcohol with
our people that stuck in my mind, and in turn, I
have told my seven children the dangers and the
effect of alcohol on our people, on any people.
And out of the seven of my children, none of
them have ever used alcohol until Melanie. She
is the next to my youngest. I am hoping to draw
questions on that. I am also hoping to draw
questions on what my grandfather told me be-
fore he died about the use of alcohol.

My daughter Melanie got in a car accident
July 29 of ‘98. On August 29—or October 29 of
‘08, she pled guilty. She accepted her responsi-
bility and pled guilty to the charge of vehicular
homicide, and I hope to draw questions on that.
So she pled guilty and put herself at the mercy
of the court. The mercy of the court was that out
of a maximum of 15 years, she would serve 14
years in the South Dakota State Penitentiary for
Women, and so we petitioned for reduction in
hearing. I'm hoping to draw questions on that
petition, too, that we filed.
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What I'd like to do for the next so many min-
utes before my eight is up, I'd like to cite 10
cases very similar to my daughter’s, but the
large disparity in the sentencings. I won't men-
tion names, but I got these cases from a legal
person from our county, and I'm hoping to draw
questions on that. And these 10 cases, I will not
mention names. I'll just say state of South Da-
kota versus blank. I don’t know if you have any
copies, but if somebody is willing to make copies
of this, the cases and hand them out to the panel
for your future use and future decisions in this
hearing today, I'll be glad to hand it over to
them.

The first case is the state of South Dakota
versus this fellow, Fifth Judicial Circuit, 1991.
The court sentenced the defendant to five years
in the state penitentiary after the defendant
pled guilty to the charge of vehicular homicide
for driving a motor vehicle in a negligent man-
ner and thereby caused the death of Lora—okay,
no names here, a lady. The defendant did not en-
ter his guilty plea until after his request for a
jury trial.

The second case, in the state of South Dakota
versus this fellow, Fifth Judicial Circuit, 1976,
the court sentenced the defendant to one year in
a county jail with nine months suspended after
the defendant pled guilty to manslaughter in the
second degree for driving in a negligent manner
while under the influence of an intoxicating lig-
uor without design to effect the death and there-
fore caused this fellow to be killed.

In the state of South Dakota versus this fel-
low, Fifth Judicial Circuit Court, 1995, sus-
pended the imposition of the sentence after the
defendant pled guilty of manslaughter in the
second degree. Here the circuit court exercised
its judicial clemency under South Dakota PL
2380-27-13, and the defendant was placed on
probation for two years.

MR. POPOVICH. Mr. Seaboy, you do have two
minutes, please.

MR. SEABOY. I have two minutes?

MR. POPOVICH. Yes.

MR. SEABOY. Okay. Now all these cases, the
severest one was five years. Now I would like to
also state then in my final two minutes here out
of 10 cases that I have here, there is one woman.
In the state of South Dakota versus this lady,
fifth judicial district, 1998, the court suspended
the sentence of five years to-the state peniten-
tiary after the defendant pled guilty to vehicular
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Robert's movement to be able to determine how
much alcohol Robert actually consumed. They
just took one statement from his foster sistet,
who . . . [Words deleted as potentially defama-
tory, degrading, or incriminating.]

MR. POPOVICH. Two minutes, Mr. White Bull.

MR. WHITE BULL. Qkay. Well, I guess I'm go-
ing to submit all these things right here, all this
material. So I guess I have to just sum it up in
stating that there is a fear of retaliation also
from the Mobridge Police Department and also
the FBI on my part that they are building a file
on me and they’re not going to quit. But these
are the kind of risks that Faith and other activ-
ists have taken in order for there to be justice
attained in South Dakota and for also civiliza-
tion to come to Mobridge and also the reserva-
tions.

I know that there has to be a followup to
these meetings. It’s really nice that you've come
here, but I also demand that there be a followup
investigation to these hearings, and I think
other people in the audience would agree that
there needs to be a followup and not just a
one-time thing. There needs to be more.

And I also allege that Dan Todd sugarcoated
a lot of his statements, but it is apparent to me
that he pleaded ignorance when it come to being
prejudiced. And if they're prejudiced, they dont
really—he doesnt really know he’s prejudiced
because he’s practiced it so long, it's become
natural for him in that environment. And the po-
lice department, state’s attorney, and everybody
else, they cover for each other, so there’s no jus-
tice. So I implore this panel to continue with
their investigations of these and other crimes
committed against the American Indians. Thank
you.

MR. POPOVICH. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any questions from
the Advisory Committee? BJ?

Discussion

Ms. KIM. When I'm listening to your stories,
my heart goes out how you can hold your
strength. Is there any community counseling
service or support network you get?

Ms. REDDAY. Me?

Ms. KIM. Yes, any of you.

Ms. REDDAY. Well, my strength and my sup-
port comes from my family and my friends.

MR. WHITE BULL. I guess for me it would be
my AA meetings; I usually go to those. And also
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when we have these marches and we invite
other groups to come and participate, and that's
when we get the support of other people within
these communities. And they express a lot of the
same fears, a lot of doubt that there’s going to
ever be any justice, so I guess that's our only
support that we do have.

MR. SEABOY. I'd like to have the lady repeat
her question now. Any questions asked of me I
might have to ask you to repeat for the simple
reason that while I was in Korea in the war, we
had a rocket attack by some Russian planes;
killed four guys around me and knocked my
hearing out pretty good. They brought some of it
back, but most of this after, I couldn’t hear or see
what'’s going on. So I might have to ask you to
repeat your questions. Would you repeat your
question, ma’am, please?

Ms. KiM. Throughout this kind of experience,
do you get any counseling service from your
community?

MR. SEABOY. I'll have to say the same thing
that I believe I understood Peggy to say. Nor-
mally in anything like this, and there have been
cases in the system where counseling could have
taken place for people who were harmed in any
way by the non-Indian community. But like Mr.
White Bull—did I state it right?

MR. WHITE BULL. {[Nodding head up and
down.]

MR. SEABOY.—has stated, we live in fear. We
don’t want to say nothing out of fear. And also
mostly, we still have the feeling of respect for the
people. We don’t want to disturb how they feel or
any bad reaction from them.

Ms. KiM. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any other questions
of the Advisory Committee? Alys?

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. I have a question for
Mr. Seaboy. The resentencing hearing that you
mentioned that will occur on the 15th?

MR. SEABOY. Pardon?

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. The resentencing hear-
ing for Melanie?

MR. SEABOY. Yes, ma’am.

MSs. LAFLER-RATIGAN. That’s on the 15th?

MR. SEABOY. Yes, ma’am.

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. In what courtroom will
that be held?

MR. SEABOY. That will be in the Roberts
County courtroom.

MS. LAFLER-RATIGAN. Will that be in front of
the same judge who originally sentenced her?
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homicide, my daughter, because she was drink-
ing, but she got five years’ probation, no jail
time. So that’s all we’re asking for is to match
that.

Now if the judge in this one-year time since
he sentenced her to 14 years, if he says, “I will
honor your request. I think this young lady, this
18-year-old lady,” she just turned 18 two months
prior to this accident. If he would say, “This
young lady needs a chance, and I will reduce the
sentence as you've requested to match the
harshest that was sentenced of anybody in this
circuit court,” then I will know that it was an
emotional sentencing, too. Plus the fact that at
that time, he took that action because it was
election time. So I hope I answered your ques-
tion.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Oh, you sure did,
thank you. Commission?

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Commissioner Meeks?

COMMISSIONER MEEKS. Mark, do you feel en-
couraged at all that Mr. Abourezk is represent-
ing Robert’s mother in this? Do you feel like
there will be some justice that will come from
that?

MR. WHITE BULL. After talking with the fos-
ter mother, Lila Martell, we felt that it was the
only alternative we had left was to hit him in the
pocketbook, so to speak, because, like Faith
stated, there was no grand jury investigation. It
was just a very biased investigation, so we're
hoping that if there is an investigation by Mr.
Abourezk, it would be more thorough. And if
they’re made to pay, and this family is very
wealthy, the chief suspect, and that’s one of the
reasons why these guys are out, that's the way
that we feel. And also if the Mobridge Police De-
partment and the state’s attorney were made to
be part of that settlement, then I think Mobridge
is going to start thinking about what they did
and also exercising more equal justice for Ameri-
can Indians.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Mr. Seaboy, you're
represented in the rehearing by the public de-
fender; is that who's representing you?

MR. SEABOY. Well, no, ma’am. We have got-
ten a . . . [Words deleted as potentially defama-
tory, degrading, or incriminating.]

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Is a lawyer represent-
ing you at this next time you go to court? Do you
have a lawyer?

MR. SEABOY. Yes, ma’am.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. It’s a different lawyer?
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MR. SEABOY. Yes, ma'am. I'd like to tell you
about that.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Uh-huh.

MR. SEABOY. I've been scouring the commu-
nity, Indian and non-Indian community, because
the non-Indian community knows me. And I
dont like to brag myself up or anything or put
myself in a position like somebody, but the
non-Indian community in Sisseton, they know
who I am and they know that I don’t drink. They
know that I worked all my life, and they know
that I take care of my family.

And so I was scouring both communities for
letters from anybody that will write to the judge,
but they would have to write their letter, send it
to my daughter at the penitentiary, and she in
turn would have to send those letters to the law-
yer—or to the judge. And I got about three let-
ters written. Then I approached our tribal
chairman, if he would write a letter for me be-
cause I knew him, good friend of mine, and I also
know that her daughter was—or his sister was
killed on the road near where he lives in a little
community called Waubay, and that was never
investigated. She was killed on the road at night
while she was walking home from the commu-
nity, the Waubay community. So I asked him if
he could write a letter of support, and he said,
“Sure, I will.”

He wrote the letter to me, and then he went
one better. He told our newly hired tribal law-
yer, who is also a tribal member. He came back
from someplace out East after we advertised for
a lawyer. We had just gotten rid of one lawyer,
and we advertised hoping that we will get some-
body of Indian descent, Native American de-
scent, especially a member of the tribe, and we
lucked out and this fellow came and he’s been
one of our lawyers since summer, this past
summer. And so our tribal chairman talked to
this lawyer and said, “T'd like to have you repre-
sent Mr. Seaboy because I know he doesn’t have
that much money.”

So he did, and he was the one that drew up
this petition, and he faxed it to Judge Lovrien
with about two minutes left to the deadline of
the one-year limitation of appeals. But I've got to
admit, that could have been denied, that appeal,
that petition could have been denied, but the
judge was kind enough to go ahead and set up
appeal, court hearing for the 5th, now the 15th.
So I am hoping with that decision that he made
to go ahead and allow this hearing that he has
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grandfather told me and we were standing there
by the car and he was pointing to the area. He
drew a big long line and he said, “All of those
people who want the reservation to be opened up
for settlement will get on this side of the line.
Those who don't want to will stay on this side.
When the sun goes down tomorrow, we will
count the people on both sides and then we will
settle it then.”

The following day at sundown, there was still
as many people on the side that didn't want to
open up the reservation than there was on those
people that were bribed. So the government ne-
gotiator said again, “Well, this is only one day.
We'll extend it again tomorrow.” And so they
went on, and don’t you know, they brought them
alcohol that time. They fed some of the people
that didn’t want to alcohol, and then the officer
bribed them with material things.

And so that took five days. He said they ex-
tended it each day to the next sundown, and fi-
nally he said that they had agreed and the gov-
ernment negotiators shut down the negotiations.
At sundown there was three more people on the
side that would agree to opening up the reserva-
tion for settlement and as soon as they counted
those three on that side, they shut down the ne-
gotiations. That’s how we lost our reservation.

But anyway—and so my daughter, I will
never understand why she was charged with ve-
hicular homicide because she told me, “Dad™—
after she came out of the hospital, she had a
broken leg and hip. She said, “Dad, I didn’t know
what was going on.” She said, “I woke up be-
cause my leg was hurt,” and she said, “when I
was laying outside the car.” So she did not de-
sign—she didn’t even know this fellow that got
killed. She did not design his death. It was an
accident due to alcohol, and she was the only one
of my children who used alcohol up to that point.

And Mr. Cameron also stated that when she
was out on personal recognizance bond, PR bond,
that she was hosting a party at her mother’s
house. I and her mother separated when she was
12 years old. And so after three months of taking
care of her and my two boys, I knew I had to
turn my daughter back over to her mother be-
cause she wanted to be with her. She missed her
mother, so I let her go. . . . [Words deleted as po-
tentially defamatory, degrading, or incriminat-
ing.]

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you very
much. We need to take a break.
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MR. SEABOY. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We'll be back at
7:00, about seven minutes.

MR. SEABOY. Thank you, Commissioners, and
I hope that something will come out of this.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Thank you.

[A recess was taken from 6:53 p.m. to 7:10

p-m.]

Public Session

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We'll reconvene.
This is our public forum, and our first speaker is
going to be President Harold Salway of the
Oglala Sioux Tribe, and if he would like to come
up here. As he’s coming up here, I could just ex-
plain a couple of ground rules. Everybody will be
given three minutes. After the first couple of
groups—people are going to be coming up in
groups of five with and each person in the group
will have three minutes; that will help us expe-
dite the process. If you wish to speak and are not
on the list, the list is going to remain open until
7:30 this evening, which is about 20 minutes
from now. So if you want to speak and you're not
on the list already, please get your name signed
in. Also recall, this is an informal type hearing,
but we cannot degrade, defame, or denounce
anybody because that is not in the spirit—not
proper for what we’re doing tonight. We will also
notify you, and James will get some method of
doing that, when you have one minute remain-
ing.

MR. POPOVICH. You want one minute remain-
ing?

CHATIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We're going to have
to do one minute remaining because we are go-
ing to start with three. So is Harold here?

MR. POPOVICH. We'll just call this one minute
remaining. I'll change it.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Is Harold not here,
Harold Salway? Well, we'll call Mr. Salway when
he comes. We'll have to move on. So the next
group, we're going to have Vernon Bellecourt,
Clyde Bellecourt, and Dennis Banks as national
representatives of the American Indian Move-
ment Grand Governing Body. If you guys would
come up and sit down. And since you're in a
group, if you want to do it, one person speak for
nine minutes or each of you for three, however
you want to do that, that's—

MR. HANEY. We drove all day—it’s going to
take all night—to be here. I don’t know if we can
do it in three minutes.
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Clearwater, and Buddy Lamont who came back
from Vietnam where he was highly decorated to
be killed by an FBI sniper at Wounded Knee.

Moreover, the Committee on the dJudiciary
must include in its investigation the shootout on
June 26, 1975, at the Jumping Bull residence on
the Pine Ridge Reservation which claimed the
lives of Joseph Stuntz and FBI agents Ronald
Williams and Jack Coler in what appears to
have been a botched FBI operation due to the
actions of their extremist agent informants.

Additionally, the Committee must review the
Justice Department’s prosecution of the Leonard
Peltier case who is still in prison after 23 years,
a principal victim of not only the violation of his
civil rights, but his constitutional rights as well.
And a very important issue here, and we would
hope that the Commission could expand their
vision, could expand their scope of concern and
to join with us in asking Senator Hatch,3
Chairman of the Senate Judiciary Committee,
who has played a historic role, incidentally, in
this campaign against us to now right a wrong.
We cannot go into the millennium, we cannot
leave the 20th century and have these families
on Pine Ridge and across this country who are
distraught and are saddened today; they dont
know what happened to their children. So I want
to thank you very much, whatever you can do to
further that effort.

Dennis Banks

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Clyde,
you're next. Youre Clyde?

MR. BANKS. I'm Dennis Banks.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Oh, Dennis, okay.
Welcome.

MR. BANKS. I'm better looking than Clyde
Bellecourt. I'm a lot older, but I look better. I
want to say that for the record.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. It's on the record,
duly noted.

MR. BANKS. That makes it true. I want to say
to the Commission I appreciate the convening of
such a bold move by this body to come here to
South Dakota and to hear complaints. And it
must be frustrating that you might be restricted
in some of the things that you can do with all

13 Kent Cook of the Senate Judiciary Committee notified the
Commission by telephone on Apr. 11, 2000, that Senator
Hatch feels the statements made by Vernon Bellecourt were
not defamatory and therefore the Senator would not have a
response.
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this information. I appreciate the fact that you're
here. And it must be frustrating to some law en-
forcement people to come under such heavy at-
tack because we know that there are law en-
forcement officials who are trying to uncover
what has been the wrongs that have been com-
mitted against our people that they are trying to
expose.

We also believe, however, that there is a
greater amount of people that are not doing any-
thing in law enforcement to uncover the wrongs.
Otherwise the stacking of unsolved mysteries,
the unsolved crimes, the murders, hundreds,
we’re not talking about 10 or 20 that have oc-
curred, and many members of the American In-
dian Movement have fell to the sniper’s bullet
during the last 30 years. Otherwise a lot of those
murders would have been investigated long ago
if there was the same initiative that was shown
after Waco, after Ruby Ridge, now after even the
last week along the borders between Mexico and
the United States where they fear over 100 peo-
ple have been killed over the past 20, 30 years.
And there is two international governments, the
United States and Mexico, involved using heli-
copters and people are down there, swarming
down there. If they would show that much initia-
tive to come here, and when we say that there is
not 10 or 20 or 30 or 40, but there has been hun-
dreds of deaths of our people out here and com-
pounded with racial discrimination, bigotry, and
outright racism, then we would view the code of
justice with a much different eye, but we can’t do
that. The American Indian Movement cannot.
We cannot rest until there is some form, some
sense of justice coming.

So we appreciate that this body has come
here, a very courageous move, very bold move.
The only other agency that has come here in
force has been law enforcement, but they have
not come to investigate; they have come to pun-
ish. And I saw them in 1973 surrounded by over
300 FBI* agents, and we called the government
to end the corruption at Pine Ridge and they
sent us agents, 300 FBI agents, but not to inves-
tigate. They came to hurt, they came to kill peo-

14 See appendix E. FBI Director Louis J. Freeh letter to
Mary Frances Berry, Chairperson, U.S. Commission on Civil
Rights, May 23, 2000. In his letter, the Director responds to
the South Dakota Advisory Committee’s March 2000 report,
Native Americans in South Dakota: An Erosion of Confi-
dence in the Justice System, which was based on statements
made in this transcript.
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begged for somebody from the tribal council to
come forward and deplore this terrible crime,
and not one single person came forward. And I
told them it would just be a matter of weeks be-
cause that's who they select the grand juries
from. It will just be a matter of weeks when they
will be able to return a no-bill. That it was per-
fectly legal yet in America to kill an Indian and
you get away with it.

This afternoon I heard an FBI agent tell Ms.
Berry when she asked him if he needed her to go
back to the Attorney General and ask that a spe-
cial task force be established fo assist them in
their investigation. He said they needed none.
We need a special federal inquiry and that’s
what we're requesting here today. We are asking
this Commission to back us and support us in
that effort to bring forth a Judiciary Committee
with subpoena power to subpoena and do a
full-scale investigation as they do in Mexico and
other places when American citizens are kid-
napped and murdered. We want something done
to put a stop to the killing fields here in South
Dakota. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Any
questions? We'll take the next group.

MR. CLYDE BELLECOURT. Mike?

MR. BANKS. We have one more.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. I'm sorry? Oh,
okay. Well, there are only three on that list. Are
you on the list?

MR. HANEY. Yes, I am. My name is Michael
Haney and maybe we should give him an up-
dated list. Mr. Feinstein?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN, Sure, go ahead.

Michael Haney

MR. HANEY. My name is Michael Haney and I
serve as one of the board members of the Ameri-
can Indian Movement, but I am also the execu-
tive director of the National Coalition on Racism
in Sports and Media. We're the organization that
has been working with the universities and col-
leges and high schools and, to some degree, Ma-
jor League sports in getting rid of negative im-
agery of Native people. I am from Oklahoma. I'm
half Seminole and half Sioux and I got a little bit
of white blood in me, too, but I can’t prove it.

It’s been our experience that a lot of the im-
agery of Native people is coming in a negative
way. I've noticed that the recent Justice De-
partment survey said this: that in black-on-black
crime, 80 percent of the crimes being committed
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against black people were committed by other
black people, right? I remember that statistic
from earlier this year, and it was the same with
Latino or Hispanic crime. The one departure was
the crime on Native people, over 83 percent of
the crimes committed against Native people
were by people from other cultures, primarily
the white culture. I think there’s a real alarming
factor there that I would like your body to look
into: why Americans think it's open season on
Native people.

I think that our images, the way that they
use our logos, our sacred objects like eagle feath-
ers and fans and ceremonial headdresses for en-
tertainment, they name basketball and football
teams after our people. Maybe at one time it had
not been inappropriate, but today it is. Today it
is causing us a lot of problems, and I still feel
that our images should be protected. I think us-
ing Native mascots and symbols, logos is a viola-
tion of the church and state separation. You
wouldn’t think of putting a crucifix on your wall,
you wouldn’t think about putting a Star of David
on the walls of your schools, high schools and
elementary schools, but you will put a Native
eagle feather and a Native headdress, and to us
there’s no difference. They should be protected
by law. They are protected by executive order,
eagle feathers, but yet schools in South Dakota
all the time have brave contests, squaws, prin-
cesses, and when they reduce us to mascots or
dehumanize us, it is easy to commit crimes
against us. And if it’s easy to make fun of Native
people by painting yourselves up in stadiums
and basketball field houses for fun and sports
sanctioned by educational institutions, then cer-
tainly it'’s ockay to go ahead and taunt a Native
person in a playing field or in a school. Cer-
tainly, that translates into the world and the
economy. And I think there is a dangerous rela-
tionship, and I would like to see the use of Na-
tive images, logos, nicknames, mascots, and
symbols eliminated throughout the United
States. B

I would like to issue a challenge for your
Commission to seriously look into the negative
impact these practices have on Native people
and on the way that people view us. The media
has a very important role there. They create the
limits by which a lot of people see us and judge
us by. A lot can be accomplished, I think, by just
reducing the use of Native mascots, logos, and
names within the public schools. And, you know,
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verified what the Lakota people have been say-
ing for more than a century, that the 1868
Treaty was violated, many non-Indian people of
this state became afraid of losing their homes,
businesses, and livelihoods. Are they remember-
ing the fashion in which many of their ancestors
forced the loss of the homes and livelihoods of
Lakota people and think the same will happen to
them, or are they afraid that the federal gov-
ernment will turn on them also as it has turned
on Lakota people? Either way, guilt and fear al-
ways lead to anger and finally to hatred. That
hatred is displayed in actions against the weak-
est or the different, in this case, the Lakota peo-
ple. The fact that Rapid City has the most con-
cealed weapons permits in the nation is a symp-
tom of that fear. I have—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN, Is it possible to sum
up? We want to hear everybody.

MsS. WHITE FACE. I have skipped some and I
want to read the last paragraph. A permanent
civil rights office is desperately needed in South
Dakota at least for a minimum of five years.
Such an office would have the ability to docu-
ment the thousands of complaints that it would
receive in many different areas such as housing,
employment, financial accessibility, and also in
areas both on and off the reservations. It could
also help to educate the public to dispel the fears
caused by racism and assist in the development
of legislation regarding hate crimes. Such an of-
fice could assist greatly in disintegrating the ra-
cism that is growing in South Dakota.

Conducting a hearing for one or two days
does not even touch the surface of the problem. I
realize that there are many places throughout
the United States that need the attention of the
Civil Rights Commission, and I thank you for
conducting these hearings. However, I think it is
deplorable that there had to be so many deaths
before these hearings were held. The problems
involving injustice in this state are myriad. I
keep wondering if some of these problems had
been worked on prior, would there have been so
many deaths. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Next
we have Edward Seaboy.

Edward Seaboy

MR. SEABOY. Good evening. My name is Ed-
ward Seaboy from the Sisseton-Wahpeton Sioux
Tribe. What I was going to say, I have heard it
all afternoon, in support of my nephew and my
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niece from Sisseton, Justin Redday and Melanie
Seaboy. Coming from the reservation in Sisseton
where they supposedly have taken our bounda-
ries away, we are faced with this dilemma all the
time of asserted jurisdiction. Whereas we are
supposed to be a treaty tribe, have a court sys-
tem, but we all end up in the state court and we
always end up with a state-appointed attorney,
and I that that state-appointed attorney drinks
out of the same water trough as the prosecutor.
So I heard a lady here, I think it was Mrs. Butler
here—

MsS. DOROTHY BUTLER. Dorothy.

MR. SEABOY.—would have asked about—and
Mary Berry over there, when they were talking
about attorneys, well, when you got a Lakota-
appointed attorney as a Native American, espe-
cially in the state of South Dakota, you can flip a
coin and almost believe how you're going to come
out.

Now we live in a dual standard; you've been
hearing this all afternoon. This dual standard
someplace along the line should apply to some of
these crime acts, like the Simulated Crimes Act,
General Crimes Act, and Major Crimes Act. That

should apply to some of us people, but yet when -

it comes to assertive jurisdiction by the state, we
fall under their courts. And as Indian people, we
are low income. We can’t afford attorneys. I
worked for South Dakota Legal Services at one
time— \
CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Edward, one min-
ute.
MR. SEABOY., Okay. But I couldn’t still repre-
sent my people because I hadn’t legally passed
the bar. But I'm going to ask right here to back
up what's been said, we need this team here, this
panel to be on the reservation to go to the root of
the problem and you will find out more than

- what has been said here. I want to thank you for

your time.
CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Gordon
Spotted Horse?

Gordon Spotted Horse

MR. SPOTTED HORSE. My name is Gordon
Spotted Horse, and I am from the Standing Rock
Indian Reservation, but I do own property in the
town of Mobridge and I guess I will make my
statement very short. As far as racism goes, law
enforcement and juries are whites only, the full-
blooded Indian is the one who is targeted most,
and it is kind of like a form of ethnic cleansing.
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brutality, discrimination policies, and institu-
tional racism that we face on a daily basis.
[Speaking in a language other than English.]
MR. POPOVICH. Write that down.
MR. YELLOW HAIR. If you can translate that,
then you have a good direction in solving the
problem of this part.

Discussion

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Any questions?

MR. PoPoVICH. I don’t have a question, but as
I was out in the audience here tonight and I no-
ticed there’s a lot of people here tonight that
weren’t here earlier today. I guess I would like to
hear from Mary Frances Berry or our constitu-
ent here in Denver as to when some information
might come back from these hearings because I
was getting a lot of questions from those people
with that sort of request.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. It's not a matter of
opinion, the report. We have promised that there
will be a report within 90 days of this hearing. Is
that the question?

MR. POPOVICH. Very good. That’s the ques-
tion. I just wanted that on record for the—

COMMISSIONER BERRY.—and that resources
will be committed to make sure that they are
available to have that done.

MR. YELLOW HAIR. Thank you very much.

MR. POPOVICH. Very good.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Do you have a
question?

Ms. WHITE FACE. No, I just had a—Kay Alli-
son here asked me if this also—she would like to
have this newspaper report also. She would like
to have this—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Oh, yes. Is that
that second article?

MS. WHITE FACE.—on the record.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Yes, that’s fine. If
you want it on the record, give it to her. Okay.
The next group, Marvin Kammerer—

MS. WHITE FACE. The other thing I wanted to
say was I testified in front of this Civil Rights
Commission here in July of 1976 on this identi-
cal same issue. I brought forth a bunch of cases.
Nothing happened. Here I am 20-some years
later, 20 years older, 30 pounds heavier. Thank
you.

Ms. BUTLER. Charmaine White Face, I did
hear your wonderful testimony. I wanted to talk
to you about it. That’s a long subject, so perhaps
we could have time to visit.
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CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Marvin Kammerer,
Myrna German, Robin Bair and Frances
Zephier, Valerie Eagle Tail Davis, Stacey Scares
Hawk. We may need one more chair. Okay.
Marvin Kammerer, would you state your name
for the record, please, and where you're from.

Marvin Kammerer

MR. KAMMERER. My name is Marvin Kam-
merer and I am a squatter on treaty land about
10 miles from here. My grandfather came out
here about 1880 and he squatted, and if the
treaty means anything and if the Constitution
means anything, we are still squatting. We are
talking today about history, but when two of my
daughters are teachers of history, and I do not
see the truth in these history books, we aren’t
telling our kids the truth.

Lakota people have paid their dues and they
have got plenty coming back. Civil rights are
hooked up with human rights. Human rights is
the right to own your land, walk on your own
land at your own discretion, and have your own
say on your land without interference from the
state. I feel complimented by the Lakota people

being able to participate here, and thank you:

gentlemen and women for coming here.

If the Constitution of the United States
means anything, you have a tough job to do. The
Constitution, by the way, is not talked about in
the history books as being a document that de-
rived its source from the Native American na-
tions, Iroquois. How many kids—how many of
you people have graduated knowing that? You
weren’t told the fruth and that's what's seriously
lacking, is the truth. The Lakota people in this
state have participated in every war of this cen-
tury, given of their blood, given of their lives far
in proportion to any other segment of population
in this state and gotten damn little when they
come back.

Human rights means that we must have
funding for schools, we must have funding for
colleges, we must have funding for homes, home
health for old people, and for health care. That is
a human right and it also is tied on to a civil
right. This nation, if it can come up with 300

‘million bucks to repair an airplane that should

never have been, that is the B-1, for repairs, can
damn well afford a Civil Rights Commission in
this state and can damn well afford to go ahead
and let these people have what I have just men-
tioned.
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particular situation. I would be happy to offer
my services to do that.

MS. GERMAN. Okay. Thank you. And just one
more thing, I would just ask that you investigate
the prisons because I have been involved with
the prisons, like, for 20 years, and there is a lot
of disparity in the sentencing that they have re-
ceived, and I know that for a fact. I mean, I have
talked with many prisoners and they get ex-
treme sentences in comparison. Okay.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MS. GERMAN. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. I have two
people down, Robin Bair and Frances Zephier
together.

MR. BAIR. Yes.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN,
speaking as one?

MR. BAIR. Separate. No, I am going to speak
and she is going to speak.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay.

Okay. Are you

Robin Bair

MR. BAIR. My name is Robin Bair. I am from
the Ponca Tribe of Nebraska. This is my wife,
Frances Zephier. She is from the Yankton Sioux
Tribe of South Dakota. We reside in Charles Mix
County; that's where we live. We have a
14-year-old daughter, and our daughter was
sexually assaulted by a non-Indian on the reser-
vation. She was lured down to an apartment
with cigarettes and jewelry. The non-Indian
locked the door and forced himself on her and
tried to take her clothes off and go down in her
pants and things.

We teach our children what to do in these
certain situations, and so she did what she was
taught to do and that was to holler and run and
get away. My cousin came to me and he told me,
“I seen this man luring your daughter. I seen
him offer her cigarettes.”

MR. DULLES. Excuse me. May I caution you,
please don’t provide information which might—

MR. BAIR. Okay.

MR. DULLES.—in fact identify or even lead to
an identification of a specific person.

MR. BAIR. Okay. We began to ask, you know,
about this non-Indian. There was a lot of suspi-
cion, a lot of talk that he was a narc, he was a
part of the DEA. That was the rumor going
around, and we went to the proper authorities.

MR. DULLES. Please, do everything you can to
refrain from identifying—
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MR. BAIR. We went through the proper chain
of command and nothing happened. . . . [Words
deleted as potentially defamatory, degrading, or
incriminating.]

MR. DULLES. I'm sorry, but that’s out of order
and that will have to be deleted from the record.
Just a point of information, if there is individual
specific situations where you feel the need to
provide that information to our Commission or
the staff that might, in fact, violate our very,
very careful procedures against defame and de-
grade, I give you my word that I will be available
to meet with those individuals and to discuss the
particular case.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Excuse me, point of
privilege, Mr. Chairman. That was not defame
and degrade because he did not give any factors
that would specifically identify a person. There
must be at least more than 10 FBI agents, narcs,
DEA people, and as long as you don’t character-
ize it in such a way that would lead to the spe-
cific identification of a person-—

MR. BAIR, Okay.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. You can tell stories.
You just don’t want to identify anybody specifi-
cally, don't mention anybody’s name and don’t
say things that point directly at just one person,
okay? Thank you.

MR. POPOVICH. Now you have one minute to
wrap up.

MR. BAIR. Okay. We have been looking for
help for a long time now; it's been over a year,
and we have been fighting. We have been in
front of civil rights before over our school sys-
tems and things like that. Same thing happens.
We can’t talk. We can't say what we need to say,
but we need justice today. Not tomorrow, today.
They hurt my baby, and you got to do something
about this. We are living in an institute of ra-
cism, and nobody wants to stand up and fight for
our people. But I am here today. If we have to
file a class action suit against someone, then we
need to as Indian people, as an Indian nation.
We need to come together and we need to fight
because if you can't do it for us, we have to find a
way. We have to. Thank you very much.

Frances Zephier

Ms. ZEPHIER. I am Frances Zephier. I am
from the Yankton Sioux Reservation. As you all
know, our reservation is being diminished by 90
percent and that’s for lack of maintenance—the
tribal administration failing to maintain our ju-
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ing you here and welcoming you here on our ju-
risdiction.

The problems I've been hearing here is very
wide and great. We are all in despair for the rea-
sons of great treaty violations, and I am talking
about jurisdiction. We are under three presiden-
tial executive orders here which is martial law,
military occupation, and military jurisdiction
which you probably are not aware of.

The first one started in 1869. They put us on
reservations; they called it the Indian Removal
Act. The second one is the 1875. They came in
here and found our gold here and they protected
their cooperates and their citizenry with the
military government. It is a military govern-
ment, both of them, the U.S. and Canada. And
the third one is the Allotment Act. They divide
the concentration camps up into individualized
ownership which they knew was genocide.

And so that is one of the greater reasons why
we went international. So now we have interna-
tional recognition, and with that, we brought
back international resolutions here to our Inter-
national War Crimes Tribunal here. So maybe
now you as a panel can be invited to our next In-
ternational War Crimes Tribunal that will be
coming about. We are not going to let this down
no more. Too many of our people have been hurt
with it. And so this is our stance as a traditional
government, and we are working as a traditional
government here domestically and internation-
ally to resolve these very inconsistent patterns of
discrimination, racially biased constitution that’s
taking place here. And what’s really taking place
is the constitutional bureaucratic corporate
genocide on our people here.

Although we are educated to use charters, we
cannot charter because we are prisoners of war
here in the United States and Canada. And I
want this panel to understand directly that we
are prisoners of war and we did exhaust all
remedies with the system; that means the law-
yers and judges are out now.

With this, I want to thank you very much,
and I will leave this here, and if you want any
more information, I have it. We are working
with the President of the United States, we are
working with the State Department, and we do
have a 53-member nation called Unrepresented
Nations People’s Organization that promulgated
this tribunal to take place here, plus the United
Nations, so we will not stop here. Thank you.
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CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Alice
Bear Shield, state your name and where youre
from for the record, please.

Alice Bear Shield

Ms. BEAR SHIELD. My name is Alice Bear
Shield and I reside in O’Kruk, South Dakota. It's
part of the Rosebud Indian Reservation. And I
am here to ask for an investigation on two inci-
dents that I am concerned about on the dispa-
rate treatment that goes on in Tripp County
courts. .

COMMISSIONER BERRY. You need to speak
more directly into the microphone. We are hav-
ing trouble hearing you.

MS. BEAR SHIELD. Okay, sorry. Can you hear
now? »

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Yes, I can.

MS. BEAR SHIELD. All right. One case regards
a Native teenage girl that got in a scuffle with
another teenage girl which was non-Indian, In-
dian and non-Indian. The non-Indian girl was
drinking, the Indian girl pulled the can away
from her so the other girl in the car ran for the
girl's father from a bar. So these two men,
non-Indians, left the bar. In the meantime, the
other argument had settled. The 15-year-old girl
got. in her brother’s car and was going to leave,
and these men drug her out of the car from the
back seat, beat up her 16-year-old brother. They
threw the girl in the pickup and took off with
her, first off. The brothers followed the truck
around till the driver got scared or sobered up a
little bit and went to the police department
where there was 13 witnesses for this young In-
dian girl of what happened. And so what they
decided to do was drug and alcohol test all the
teenagers without any parents’ permission and
release the two men and the daughter. And
when it was taken to court, the district attorney
refused to hear the case because he was friends
with one of the drivers of the truck. So they
asked a Bennett County attorney to take the
case, and he told us there’s no way she could
stand a chance in court because it would be an
all-white jury. The parents insisted it go on to
court, and all the evidence got lost, the pictures,
some of the statements. They still had the hospi-
tal report from the girl's neck and things that
had happened to her.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute.

MS. BEAR SHIELD. Okay. The other case re-
gards a boy that was holding up a convenience
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ing a microphone to a guy mangled up in a car
getting a statement from him because one of the
guys he was riding with died in the car accident.
There are so many things in South Dakota, and
discrimination is something that is just here and
it needs to be changed. Something needs to hap-
pen. Something very drastic needs to happen.
And like the guy who was sitting here before,
when he said that he’s willing to fight for it. And
Martin Luther King, when he gave a speech in
Detroit, one of the things he said was, “There is
a militancy amongst our nations, and that mili-
tancy is showing America that we are tired of it.”
And that’s what's going on here with us. We are
going through the same thing, we are tired of it.
And we should look through history. If you want
to find out what is happening to Native Ameri-
cans in South Dakota, you look at what hap-
pened to the African Americans back in the ‘60s
and you will find it here today, tomorrow, the
next day, and you watch everybody go free.

I was talking with somebody back there. If
they found the guy who—let’s say they did find
somebody who drowned the people in the creek
or murdered them or whatever, they would
probably let him go if he was non-Indian. That's
the feeling around here, and this needs to
change. I look around—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Can you sum up,
please.

MR. KING.—and I see a lot of Native Ameri-
cans here. I don't see anybody from Rapid City
or Sioux Falls or any non-Indian communities
here, and they should be here also. And with
that, I would like to say, in the immortal words
of Martin Luther King, “Injustice anywhere is a
threat to justice everywhere.” Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Rick
Grey Buffalo Quinn, can you state your name
and where you're from for the record, please.

Rick Grey Buffalo Quinn

MR. GREY BUFFALO QUINN. My name is Rick
Grey Buffalo Quinn. I am from the Sisse-
ton-Wahpeton Dakota Nation. I grew up only
knowing my name was Hotuntana [phonetic],
which was given to me by my grandmother. As I
grew up, I felt only love, and in the town that I
grew up in, there was nothing but peace at that
time. And when I came here to Rapid City, I
have never felt so hated, so degraded, and so
mistreated and so stepped on in my entire life.
So I started an organization here, I'm founder
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and director of the Seventh Circle here in Rapid
City, South Dakota, and I started an organiza-
tion.to help the homeless. And the reason that I
started this organization was because of an eld-
erly lady who I met when I was in the siege of
the occupation of Wounded Knee in 1973. She
was one of the last survivors of the first
Wounded Knee; her name was Sally Hat. And
she had three daughters here. Two of her daugh-
ters were turned away from the mission here be-
cause they smelled of alcohol. It was in the bitter
wintertime. It was cold, and they were turned
away from this mission, and in front of this mis-
sion there’s a small sign says, “Because we care.”

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, sir, please.

MR. GREY BUFFALO QUINN. 'm sorry about
that, I mentioned that, but it had fo come out.

MR. POPOVICH. No, I was just reminding you
of one minute left. :

MR. GREY BUFFALO QUINN. Okay. But what I
would like to see, I've been investigating these
incidents around the creeks here. I started a se-
curity long before anybody in this town has ever
cared and have been on—the Seventh Circle has
been running on now going on nine years, and

yet there is still no person that ever been found-+

who killed these people.

You know, you can say that an Indian is an
alcoholic. Even though he does not drink, he is
called an alcoholic because he’s Indian, but
those—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN, Can you summa-
rize, please.

MR. GREY BUFFALO QUINN.—those who do
drink and are thrown in the water here is be-
cause there’s somebody out there killing these
people, and I'm out there to investigate these,
and if the cops don’t help me, who do I turn to?
There are even cops out there that I know of that
break the law. They even hit the people before
they even put them inside the cop cars, and
that’s a violation of our rights. And if the cops
break the law, there ain’t no law, just a matter of
survival. And that’s all I got to say.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MR. GRASS. I would like to say one thing
more. We don’t have any representation starting
from the reservation, the county or the state or
even at the federal level except you people now
that’s shown up here, and I want to thank you
for this.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Okay.
The next group, Lionel Bordeaux, Paul Valan-
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Valandra, Fremont Fallis, Tom Katus, Jessie
Taken Alive, and Roberta F. Crazy Thunder.
Okay. Lionel Bordeaux, could you state your
name and your title and position and where
you're from for the record, please.

Lionel Bordeaux

MR. LIONEL BORDEAUX. My name is Lionel
Bordeaux. I am president of Sinte Gleska Uni-
versity, a tribal-controlled institution of higher
learning, and also serve on the Sicangu Oyate
and the Rosebud Sioux Tribal Council.

Sitting here listening this afternoon I heard
words such as, “search for truth,” “forum,” “hope”
and also unfortunately “retaliation,” and I'm try-
ing to think of what to say myself. I guess I'm
reminded of a story that I used to use. In fact, I
even used it for testimony in Washington on oc-
casion, and it has some lessons and it’s a short
passage and it tells about a nonconforming spar-
row who refused to fly South for the winter. It
became quite cold and it reluctantly started its
southward journey all too late. Ice began to form
on its wings and it came crashing down in a
barnyard almost frozen. The sparrow thought it
was the end. A cow come along and crapped on
the little sparrow. The sparrow definitely
thought it was the end. Lo and behold, the ma-
nure warmed it, brought it back to life. Warm
and happy, it began to chirp and sing. A nearby
cat heard the chirping sounds, investigated,
found the chirping bird and promptly ate it.

The three lessons: Number one, not everyone
who craps on you is your enemy. -Number two,
not everyone who gets you out of crap is your
friend. And number three, if you are warm and
happy in a pile of crap, it would do well to keep
your damn mouth shut. I guess sitting here
thinking that—

MR. POPOVICH. Who's that for us?

MR. LIONEL BORDEAUX. You have your choice,
gir. Thinking, “Grandpa, were you there when
this tremendous monumental event took place
when the U.S. Civil Rights Commission come
and come to our sacred Black Hills? Did you
stand up and say anything?” And I want to say,
“Yes, Lacotia, I was there.” And everything
probably has been said today, but I guess in tak-
ing a look at justice in terms of education, cul-
ture, economics, and tribal government. Judi-
cially, I'm also here on a personal note. My son
here is going to testify later, Shawn Bordeaux,
on my daughter-in-law being shot to death and
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the inability to get the FBI involved in the inves-
tigation. .

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, sir.

MR. LIONEL BORDEAUX. But I guess educa-
tion, which is really my area of—true we lack a
lot of cultural things in our curriculum and I
would like to see this body push and recommend
that tribal nations have our own accreditation so
that we can plug in all the cultural information
that we need for our little ones.

Culture: We need customary laws incorpo-
rated into the judicial system as well as into all
of our laws. We are Lakotas. We need our own
customary values from generations ago.

Economics: We have got to have jobs; we need
employment. A lot of unrest calls for a lot of—a
mind that wanders and too often we get in trou-
ble, but we’ve got to have employment.

Tribal government: Our treaties must be up-
held. Our treaty must be an everyday working
document within our everyday existence. And
with that, thank you for coming here, and I hope
again down the line someplace, you will be back
to sit down and come up with some results for
these. [Speaking in language other than Eng-
lish.] Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Paul
Valandra. Is Paul here? State your name and
your title and where you’re from, please.

Paul Valandra

MR. VALANDRA. Yes, my name is Paul
Valandra and I'm from the Rosebud Reservation,
and I have had the good fortune to be the state
senator down in that area for the last 10 years,
and I want to thank this panel for coming here
to South Dakota. We have had a lot of unrest
with the deaths in Rapid City and White Clay
and Mobridge. And I want to just say I think the
system is going to work for us because we have
got Elsie here on the panel now, and I know we
have got Pat Duffy as a full-time staffer with the
Commission, and I know that we are going to
continue to correspond with these people.

And T guess the main thing I wanted to get
up here today and talk about is the federal sen-
tencing guidelines that we're subject to on the
reservations and how they are ripping our fami-
lies apart and we are developing a lot of the
same demographics. I couldn’t believe it years
ago when I went to a civil rights conference back
in the late ‘60s when I was in high school and
they were talking about how one out of every




four black men was either in prison or on parole
or on probation, and I think that we are getting
close to that benchmark now with the things
that are happening here.

And all day long this panel has asked, “Is
there injustice and is there disparity?” And I
would just like to put a few things into perspec-
tive for you. South Dakota has a population of
about 700,000 people. We are about the same as
North Dakota, but we have got a few more peo-
ple. We have got about the same amount of Indi-
ans as North Dakota, percentage of the popula-
tion. That’s about 9 percent of the population,
and I would say less than half live in the urban
areas, over half live on the reservations, so you
are only talking about 4 percent of the Indian
population living in South Dakota. Now 35 per-
cent of the male inmates in our penitentiary are
Indian men.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, sir.

MR. VALANDRA. Over 50 percent of the fe-
males are Indian women, and we have got twice
as many people in South Dakota as North Da-
kota does. So you would think that we would be
safe if we didn’t leave the reservations and we
stayed home, but we are not because at home we
are subject to the federal sentencing guidelines.

I know that you can’t do a lot about these
things that have been talked about here today,
but I know that you are an arm of the Justice
Department, and I know if this Committee
would commit itself, then it could do something
about getting these sentencing guidelines
changed. We have a federal judge here out of
Aberdeen, Judge Charles Kornmann, he has
wrote many times about how his hands are tied
and how young Indian males can’t get probation
or a break. They have got to go to prison for a
year or two on the first simple offense.

They talked about the demographics here to-
day. I would like to commend Mary Frances
Berry there, Dr. Mary Frances Berry for giving
them guys heck today because I don’t think they
are doing such a great job either. But five per-
cent of their caseload, they said today, was as-
sault on federal officers which on the reservation
we call resisting arrest. But anyway, we see
these young kids that go down the road for sev-
eral years, have their voting rights taken away,
the right to bear arms, and like I say, that’s a
huge problem. I am going to make it a personal
point to fire up tribal governments here in the
next year or so o correspond with the Commis-
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sion and see if we can get these judges some
flexibility to be able to have a little discretion.
And with that, I would like to once again thank
you for coming to South Dakota.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Fre-
mont Fallis, did I pronounce that right? State
your name. Is Fremont here? No? Okay. Tom
Katus and Jesse “Jay” Taken Alive?

Tom Katus

MR. KATUS. I am Tom Katus. I am director of
the Rural Ethnic Institute, and we have just
had, about a year ago, a race relations dialogue
in western South Dakota made up of community
and state leaders across the whole spectrum,
about ‘half Native American, half non-Indian.
Senator Valandra was on that, so was Marvin

Kammerer who spoke earlier, and momentarily -

Jay Taken Alive will address some of the issues.
But I wanted to outline the process because cer-
tainly we have heard of the many, many prob-
lems that exist in the state, and we are hopeful
that maybe these dialogues could be one very
small step in the direction of addressing some of
this

The dialogues went on in 17 different ses- .

sions over the course of a year; the participants
were purposefully selected to be representative
of the entire state, consequently more Republi-
can than Democrat, but the socioeconomics were
very similar to the state as a whole.l® Bottom
line was the group deliberated on 53 different

15 Editorial note: After his presentation Mr. Katus sent the
Commission the following information to be included with
his remarks. “Originally, the group was purposefully split
50:50 Native American and non-Indian. However, because of
the addition of the journalists and spouses, in the end, there
were 14 non-Indians and 12 Native Americans. There were
16 men and 10 women. Fifteen were residents of reservation
counties and nine residents of the Rapid City area. Closely
reflecting the population as a whole, they were 47% Repub-
lican, 42% Democratic, and 11% of other parties. One-third
considered themselves politically conservative, 13% as lib-
eral, and 53% as moderate. They were older than the aver-
age South Dakotan, undoubtedly reflecting their leadership
positions. Thirty-five percent were 45-54 years old, 30%
were 55-64, and an active 15% were over 75. They were well
educated. Twenty percent had graduated from high school,
35% had attended college, 15% had bachelors degrees, and
fully 30% had graduate degrees. Refiecting their age and
leadership positions, they were wealthier than the average
South Dakotan whose median family income in 1990 was
$22,503. Seventy percent of the participants had incomes
above those levels, with 15% above $100,000 annual in-
come.” Tom Katus, fax to U.S. Commission on Civil Rights,
dan. 7, 2000.
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part of our reservation. So there are many, many
things that we can share with you and many,
many ways to solve them with you as long as you
respect us as people, as human beings and not
minorities, not icons of history, but human be-
ings. And I welcome you to come to Standing
Rock so we can talk about what goes on in the
border towns when our young people are strip
searched of their vehicles by the South Dakota
Highway Patrol. We can talk to you about the
supposedly—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Can you sum up,
please.

MR. TAKEN ALIVE.—jurors who are our peers
when our American Indian people sit in front of
juries of all non-Indian people when we are sup-
posedly economically disadvantaged and yet
they are sitting in judgment with all the stereo-
typical messages that they have received
throughout the years. So let’s continue this proc-
ess. This is the door that opens it, but I'm asking
you again respectfully, look at the March 2nd
Act of 1889 and begin with the duress process
with that. Thank you very much. [Speaking in
language other than English.]

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Roberta
F. Crazy Thunder. Could you please state your
name and where you are from for the record,
please.

Roberta Crazy Thunder

MsS. CRAZY THUNDER. My name is Roberta
Crazy Thunder. I am from the Pine Ridge Reser-
vation, but I live here in Rapid City, South Da-
kota. I would like to request that you people
come back here and help us out. There is a lot of
discrimination going on here especially done by
the police department. A lot of our people are
getting killed and they are saying there’s noth-
ing wrong.

I wanted to bring up my case, too, because I
was damaged—I'm only 37 years old—at the
time of April. of ‘97. The police came . into my
house and drug me out because of a false state-
ment being made that I had a gun in my house,
and they didn’t have no search warrant so I told
them they couldn’t come in. And one officer said,
“Well, how about if just one of us comes in.” And
I said, “Well, fine. That will be fine, one of you
can.” And when the first one went past me, he
grabbed me and the other two grabbed my legs
and drug me out of my house. I now have a spi-
nal injury, arthritis of my neck, TMJ they call it
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temporomandibular joint, a blood clot, broken
arm, broken toe, and I think we need your help.
I think we need the police department investi-
gated, the way they handled their matters here.

My head gets swollen in the back at times,
and I'm concerned because some of the people
that died along the creek, their heads were swol-
len and they were badly bruised like I was, but I
am a living example of it. I survived it. So I
would really appreciate it if you guys could come
back and help us.

Also, the whole state of South Dakota, I think
our Governor here needs to be checked on, too,
the way he handles the matters here. You know,
he disregards us as a race of people, but we are
people, too. We do care about each and every one
of human beings, the way of life for everybody,
not just for ourselves. That's where our land is-
sue comes in and our water, you know, all that.
That’s for everybody. We don’t want to keep it
for ourselves.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, please.

Ms. CRAZY THUNDER. We just want to live on
for everybody. But I would like you guys to come
back and investigate the police department here.
I am only 30—at the time I was only 37, I am 39

now. Before that I was an able-bodied person. I

raised my four children on my own and I was
self-supportive until then. About six months ago,
they approved me for social security with all my
medical reports I have on the police department,
you know, because of excessive force used on me.
So I would really appreciate for you guys to come
back and help us a whole amount. We need it.
We’re human just like you guys.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Okay.
Next group, we have Josephine LaPointe, Char-
les Yellow Bird, Bradley D. Peterson, Geraldine
Jackson, Alfred T. Bone Shirt. Okay. There are
only two in that group? Okay. Josephine? Okay.
We will go with Charles Yellow Bird. State your
name for the record and where you're from,
please.

Charles Yellow Bird

MR. YELLOW BIRD. My name is Charles Yel-
low Bird. I am from Pine Ridge Reservation. I
am here tonight to talk about the racism be-
tween the Bennett County police!® and the tribal

16 The Commission afforded Sheriff Russell Waterbury,
Bennett County, an opportunity to respond to statements by
Charles Yellow Bird. No response was received. See appen-
dix A
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And finally, I wrote a letter telling about my
mother's case to the FBI agent in our area, and
nothing has ever been done about this. And
there is a Sisseton-Wahpeton tribal code, chap-
ter 48, which entitles an elder to protection, and
the law requires any person working with elders
or disabled persons and who becomes aware of
elder abuse, to report it to law enforcement or
the BIA for investigation. Failure to do so is a
criminal act.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Can you summa-
rize?

Ms. Hill. When these people—oh, we
shouldn’t be here today. My mother should be
home enjoying her life.

MR. POPOVICH. We agree.

Ms. HILL. She fell today in this place. She
should be home enjoying her life and she
shouldn’t have to be here tonight fighting for her
rights. There hasn't been any charges, there
hasn’t been anything done about what the police
did to her, and this has been going on for a year
and a half.

MR. POPOVICH. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Do we have your
name and how to get in touch with you? If you
could leave them with Mr. Dulles over there, we
will go forward from there.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. May I make a state-
ment?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Sure.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. I just wanted to tell
everybody that I am asking that we give the
transcript of the testimony that's been given
here tonight to the FBI agent in charge so that
where you have made allegations and com-
plaints about specific matters, they can follow up
on it and we can ask them to do so. That's one of
the things that we can do, okay? All right.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Bradley
Peterson, state your name and your position and
where you're from, please.

Brad Peterson

MR. PETERSON. Thank you. My name is Brad
Peterson. I am the managing attorney of the
Fort Yates office of Dakota Plains Legal Ser-
vices, and my office is responsible for represent-
ing low-income people on Standing Rock, Corson
County, South Dakota, Walworth County, South
Dakota, and Campbell County, South Dakota.
I've asked for an opportunity to talk about ob-
servations I've made representing Native Ameri-

can people in the Mobridge community in Wal-
worth County.

My first and obvious observation is there are
no Native American police officers, sheriffs, dep-
uty sheriffs, judges, court administrators, court-
house employees, or court service officers from
Walworth County. This needs to be changed.

I defend the Native Americans in Walworth
County, and these are some of the reasons they
were stopped: for having air freshener on their
rear view mirror, for having a bent front license
plate, for possessing a broken seal on a bottle of
alcohol while walking on the sidewalk in Mo-
bridge. I find it hard to believe that investigation
of these types of charges would show many
non-Indian people being arrested for these types
of charges.

Ms. Taken Alive made reference to the dog
shooting incident in Mobridge. They are actually
worse than what she made reference to because
the young gentleman who went to the state peni-
tentiary over that charge actually had a felony
charge that he went to the state penitentiary
over shooting a dog. There were also two juve-
niles who were similarly charged with felony
counts resulting from this dog shooting incident.

During Mr. Todd’s testimony today, he indi-
cated approximately 65 percent of his prosecu-
tions were Native American. I would tend to be-
lieve that that number is higher, at least from
the three and a half years that I have been work-
ing in Walworth County and doing representa-
tion for Native Americans. Yet this fall, the jury
list of potential jurors for that 65 percent, there
were only three Native Americans on that jury
list.

MER. POPOVICH. One minute, sir.

MR. PETERSON. Thank you. There is also a
curfew in Mobridge. You violate it, your option is
to be in the Selby jail. This is the one that's be-
ing, I believe, under investigation by the ACLU.
This is the same jail that houses many, many,
many more Native Americans than non-Native
Americans on any given day, and that’s one of
the main requests I bring before this Commis-
sion. And I request for the Commission to ask
Walworth County to provide the names and
lengths of stay in the Walworth County jail. I
will guarantee you the disparity of numbers will
alarm you. And one of the main reasons for this
extended time is bond. When the court sets too
high of a bond, the court has a policy not allow-
ing bondsmen to be used in Walworth County.
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partment, somewhere in the recesses of his
mind, he had to know what he was signing be-
cause he seen Jessie Jackson sign the other cor-
ner of the banner. So somewhere the President
of the United States is aware of this. And ending
Lakota ethnic cleansing as a nation of people,
that’'s what I would like to have him institute,
whether it means taking this as a document for
the Lakota Nation and asking him to have Janet
Reno come down here to investigate the law en-
forcement agencies for their inability to work
with our people, their failures and their actions,
covert actions, whatever it might be, that
harmed our people, caused deaths among our
people, they more or less acted like a—in Nazi
Germany with the—what do you call them, the
secret police?

MR. POPOVICH. Gestapo.

MR. BONE SHIRT. Yes. But anyway, that feel-
ing is why people don’t trust the law enforce-
ment agencies because of the ethnic cleansing
added to the racial superiority displayed by
them, and a lot of this has to do with Christian
international law. I come from Rosebud. . . .
[Words deleted as potentially defamatory, de-
grading, or incriminating.] we need your help to
do something about the media suppression in
the state of South Dakota and the United States
of America when it comes down to these viola-
tions of human rights.

We need countries overseas to look at this.
We need countries’ representatives sitting here
with you listening to these stories of these men
and women and the cries of these women and
men because this is ethnic cleansing. Nothing is
being done about it. It's being contained and it
has to stop. This is why we're here, and I'm glad
you came, but don’t stop here. These congres-
sional members, that's where they could proba-
bly stop it because ethnic cleansing is a hate
crime, and a lot of the treaty violations are a re-
sult of ethnic cleansing from congressional lead-
ers. That's the way we look at it. And it has to
stop because somewhere—look what they did to
Clinton, the Republicans; they almost had him.
Look what they did to Od. The media was in
charge of this and the media plays an important
role in South Dakota.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Can you summa-
rize, please.

MR. BONE SHIRT. In summarizing, it's just
that end ethnic Lakota cleansing here in South
Dakota, and I know it'’s in your direction. You

may not be able to do it yourselves, but some-
where if you can talk to the right people down
there, maybe it will be a start for our people.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. The
next group, Jaymie Elaine Fairbanks, Eldridge
Grinnell, Sr., James Big Bear, Selena Wolf
Black, and Margaret Ross. Is one of you Jaymie?
Is Jaymie not here? Okay. Eldridge Grinnell?
Are you Eldridge?

MR. GRINNELL. Yes.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Okay. State your
name and where you are from for the record,
please.

Eldridge Grinnell

MR. GRINNELL. My name Eldridge Grinnell. I
live here in Rapid City. Earlier today Mr. Burrus
gave testimony and gave a high degree of compe-
tence and performance for the FBI for this area
and it sounded impressive, and yet Native
American deaths go unsolved, not only the six
mentioned in the news accounts, but they have
been happening before that. I came here in 1990
and there was a death that was reported and it's
still unsolved.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Can you speak into

the microphone a little better or raise it up a lit-
tle bit? Thank you.

MR. GRINNELL. But I have listened to a lot of
testimony today, and these are the same con-
cerns that they looked to events that happened
in ‘93 in Wounded Knee—or in ‘63 in Wounded
Knee—or “73. And those concerns are still with
us today, and somebody has got to look into
these kinds of things so that they will be re-
solved. If not, then we’ll back here maybe next
year or maybe 10 years from now, maybe 30
years from now with the same concerns.

And today I have some documents,
seven-page documents reflecting my case that
was never looked into, and I wrote this letter in
1993 and I presented it to the judge, presiding
judge in the Seventh Judicial Circuit and it still
hasn’t been looked into. And I was denied due
process, I was denied an appeal and I was denied
a fair and impartial hearing—

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, sir, please.

MR. GRINNELL.—by the state of South Da-
kota, and I would like to submit this to whoever
is taking these down here.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MR. GRINNELL. And I have an article that
was in the paper here I think in ‘95 in October
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ing. My son has gotten beat up. My son was shot
here in Rapid City. And it is in the paper; it is
recorded by the police department, and that man
went and identified himself from the Wide World
Web of white supremacists. He identified himself
after he shot my son.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MS. WOLF BLACK. Thank you. But this will be
given to you. It’s already been submitted to you
and one of your staff members already has this.
Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Next,
Margaret Ross, can you state your name and
where you're from for the record, please.

Margaret Ross

MsS. ROSS. My name is Margaret Ross. I am
from Porcupine, South Dakota; it's on the Pine
Ridge Indian Reservation. I am employed with
the Oglala Sioux Tribe and I'm the judiciary
committee coordinator, and I deal almost on a
daily basis with complaints due to civil rights
violations. And it’s kind of funny because proba-
bly back in June or July, we were informed by
our chief judge that we really didn't have civil
rights, we didn’t on the reservation as tribal
members because our tribe had never adopted
the Indian Civil Rights Act so we didn’t have
civil rights. That’s one of the reasons why I'm
here speaking with you people. I know when our
tribal officials are swore in, they swear to uphold
the Oglala Sioux tribal constitution and the
United States Constitution, but in the United
States Constitution we have civil rights that we
dor’t have with our tribal constitution.

One example I will give you has to do with
the tribal program. ICWA is—you know, it’s not
the name of the program, but it's an Indian
Child Welfare Act case and had to do with the
consensual adoption of a baby and a tribal offi-
cial interfering with the court matters. The two
employees, they were never summoned—or they
were never court ordered. They were summoned
to go to court, and they get to court and the
judge that was presiding over the case says that
they had violated the court order, and they said
they had never received a court order. The judge
holds up a legal tablet and says, “Here’s the or-
der.” It was never put out.

So the two employees were put in jail; they
were in jail for four hours. And through this
whole process, they come to the committee and
the committee decides, “Yeah, we'll hear it,” and

then our tribal attorney comes in and says, “No,
you can’t hear it. You have to sit with the Execu-
tive Committee to hear this.” Well, the tribal of-
ficial—

MR. POPOVICH. One minute.

Ms. ROSS. The tribal official that was in-
volved. sits on the Executive Committee and ta-
bled the action, so it never went anywhere. The
reality of it was the two employees had contacted
one of their attorney friends who had told them
the process of filing a civil complaint or a civil
matter against these officials for violating their
civil rights, and the reality was they really
didn't—they were told they didnt have ecivil
rights because of the procedure that fell within
our constitution.

And that’s kind of what I wanted to address
for tribal members that live on the reservation,
where do we have our civil rights? Especially if
our tribe didn’t adopt, you know—it's a federal
act, but if we didn’t adopt it, then do we have
civil rights? So that was one of my main con-
cerns that I wanted to address or get somebody
to look into because there are a lot of complaints
that do happen. And I got files and files of com-
plaints on violations of civil rights from police
officers to judges to tribal officials to, you know, -
working. And we don’t have an agency to go to.™
EEOC, it's out of their jurisdiction. Department
of Labor, it's out of their jurisdiction. So, you
know, we really don’t have a federal agency to go
to or to come in. Department of Justice told us it
was hardball politics so they wouldn’t get in-
volved and so—

MR. POPOVICH. Can you summarize, please.

Ms. RoOSS. Oh, well, my main concern is if
youre here to address civil rights questions,
then for tribal members, is it really doing us any
good to come and sit here when it was stated by
our chief judge that we don’t have civil rights on
the reservation? Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN, Thank you. We're
going to try to address that in our report about
the Indian Civil Rights Act. Okay. Next group,
we have James Murphy, Celia Martin, Linda
Johnson, Keith Janis, and Gary Loudner. James
Murphy, you want to state your name and where
you're from for the record.

James Murphy

MR. MURPHY. Hi. My name’s James Murphy
and I have been a resident of Rapid City, South
Dakota, for 32 years now. You'll have to excuse
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this is back in ‘92. My grandson was going in the
service, Marines, and he made it. And I was
working at Red Cloud and I was coming back to
work and he was with me, and my car was—I
had a ‘72 Chevy I was driving and I let him drive
because I caught a ride in with some other peo-
ple. And so he's driving my car, and when you
hit 40, it wobbles, and so I told him to watch it.
And here, he must have hit 40 and the cops
came over and they stopped him. And he doesn’t
even have a drop of alcohol in him and they got
him for drunken driving; they put him in. They
took him back to the police station and—

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, please, ma’am.

MsS. MARTIN. He put—beforehand they put
him in, he lift his ankle and put it—his—and he
kicked the door, and then they put him in jail
And when I come back from work, why, they told
me he was in jail. So I called over there and they
said they got him for that. There isn’t a drop of
alcohol in his body and they put him in. And
then they said he was sick. All night he was sick
and complaining about his ankle, that he had
pain, but they didn’t do nothing about it.

Well, the next day they demand to turn him
loose, so he came back. And on the way—I came
back from work, he was still jumping around so
we took him up and here—he didn’t come back
for a long time. I came back at 5:30 and they
took him and they didn’t come back till 8:00. So I
called over there and said, “How is he doing over
there?’ I said and here he said, “He broke his
ankle.” So I said, “What?” They put a cast on him
because he broke his ankle.

MR. POPOVICH. Can you summarize, please.

Ms. MARTIN. And so I went after him and 1
came back, and we went by and he’s still com-
plaining. So I took him back again, and they took
that cast off. And they broke his ankle in three
places and so he didn’t make the Marines, and
these cops are still cops in Pine Ridge.}” And I
told him, these two Public Safety, and I asked
him, “Who is going to replace that bone so he can
go to service?” And they didn’t even say nothing.

So I made that statement and I faxed that to
Janet Reno, and no response up till this date,
and they made into federal and they never did
do nothing about it, and my grandson is home

17 The Commission afforded William Brewer, director, De-
partment of Public Safety, Oglala Sioux Tribe, an opportu-
nity to respond to statements by Celia Martin. No response
was received. See appendix A.

now. And they're going to go through another
operation on his ankle, and why, why they have
to do this and they get by. And the two police-
men that done that, one I think they made into
chief of police, and the other one is a sergeant
and they are still working.

So that’s the reason why I come over here.
And we used to have a civil rights office—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MS. MARTIN.—on Pine Ridge when my grand-
daughter Wallene Herman and Ron Two Bulls,
we had a civil rights office there, and we are
really doing good until this next one that come
in. There’s nothing we asked them—

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Thank
you.

MsS. MARTIN. There’s nothing. So that’s rea-
son why I come over here.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MSs. MARTIN. And I’'m not a big talker, but I
come over here. I need your help, I need your
help. All these people need help. That's why we
come to you, and I hope you people understand
what we’re talking about because I'm an elderly,
I'm 79 years old and I'm still taking care of my
grandkids. One of them is on dialysis, and I'm
still taking care of them. And I come over here,
and actually I wait up here so many hours sit-
ting here, waiting to talk to you people, and I
hope youll do something about all these people.
Some of them are crying here, and I hope you
people understand why, why they are crying.
They need help.

And also us Lakotas are slave. The black peo-
ple and us Lakota, we're slave. We are slave to
the white people. We are slave to the Public
Safety. We are slave to the federal, too. We are
slave, and look at Martin Luther King. He was
helping us Indians. I got a nice letter from him
before they killed him. And so the black people
and us Indians, we’re slave. We are still slave to
you guys, the white people. They don’t even help
us. They don’t even care to help us or what our
grandkids—today one of my grandkids, they
gave him five years in prison and the other one
is 15 years coming to him, and that happened
today. And who are we going to go to to tell our
troubles, what’s going on?

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MS. MARTIN. We don’t even have nothing.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.
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Buddy Lamont, Betty Jo Dubray, Marvin Two
Two, Julia Pretty Hips, Ben Sitting Up, Sam
Afraid of Bear, Kenneth Little, Kevin Hill, Leah
Spotted Elk, Clarence Cross, Joseph Bedell
Stuntz, Sr., Betty Means, James Briggs Yellow,
Andrew Paul Stewart, Julius Bad Heart Bull,
Sandra Wounded Foot, Randy Hunter, Dennis
LeCompte, Howard Blue Bird, Jim Little, Jack-
son Washington Cutt, Robert Reddy, Melvin
Spider, Philip Black Elk, Aloysius Long Soldier,
Phillip Little Crow, Pedro Bissonette, Olivia Bi-
nais, Janice Black Bear, Michelle Tobacco, Del-
phine Crow Dog, Elaine Wagner, Allison Fast
Horse, Carl Plenty Arrows, Sr., Frank LaPointe,
Floyd S. Binais, Yvette Loraine Lone Hill, Can-
dace Rough Surface, Wesley Bad Heart Bull,
Phillip Red Elk, Kimberly Means, Dennis Cross,
Raymond Yellow Thunder, Brian Eagle Star,
Wayne Hand, and Megan McClosky.

And there are many, many more who can’t
speak for themselves whose human and civil
rights were violated here, and they rest in a
cemetery called Wounded Knee. That's where
youll find the truth. Investigate these people
who have been murdered and the means and
how those cases were handled. Pull these cases
open and there you will find the truth of why we
are all here. And look at this man whose picture
I'm holding up. His rights were violated here in
defense of our people. His name is Leonard
Peltier. He needs to be free. Free Leonard
Peltier. [Speaking in language other than Eng-
Lish.]

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Gary Loudner,
state your name and where you're from for the
record, please.

Gary Loudner

MR. LOUDNER. I'm Gary Loudner. I'm presi-
dent of Native American news media organiza-
tion Black Hills Satellite Communications News
here in Rapid City. I'm also a candidate for State
Senate District 34 in Rapid City, South Dakota,
in the year 2000. I ran last year, as well.

The reason I am here is I realize you have
been here all day. I would like to thank you for
coming to Rapid City in southwestern South Da-
kota and the Black Hills area. I served on the
Rapid City Indian/White Relations Committee
back in 1988 to 1995. Our racial relations board
dealt with issues like what you heard all day
long, but we dealt within the incorporated
boundaries of Rapid City here, and although

there were representatives from the Rapid City
Police Department, there was no representatives
from the Pennington County Sheriffs Depart-
ment that ever showed up at the meetings.
Those members of the Rapid City Police De-
partment that showed up did field complaints
and they handled them on their own, and we
never did as a committee ever find out how they
resolved it or how or where it ever got resolved
or if it ever did get resolved.

So I thought I would let you know that the
Rapid City community and the Rapid City gov-
ernment has taken an interest in human rights
and civil rights in our community for a long time
between 1968 and 1995 when the committee was
just ended because of lack of interest.

So I appreciate you coming to our community,
and if you have any questions, I would like for
you to get a hold of me at my fax number or my
telephone number, feel free to write to me.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute.

MR. LOUDNER. Also, while I am running for
State Senate in District 34 and I've suffered a
little concern of my own, a . . . [Words deleted as
potentially defamatory, degrading, or incrimi-
nating.] of my own with the local newspaper
here not announcing my state legislative candi- ©
dacy. So that’s all I would have to say now.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Okay.
Next group, Shawn Bordeaux, Charles Fast
Horse, William Kindle, Shirlee Bettelyoun—I'm
sorry if I butchered your name—and Pear] Red-
fish.

Shawn Bordeaux

MR. SHAWN BORDEAUX. My name is Shawn
Bordeaux. I am a Sicangu Lakota from the Rose-
bud Reservation. In 1995 I was hired by a con-
sulting group to go down and open the first ca-
sino in Kansas. Mr. Jenkins, I appreciate your
being here. And we opened the first casino for
the Kickapoo Tribe, and my wife and I were just
married. I was a manager and she was a super-
visor at the casino. In 1997, two.years later, she
was murdered in a drive-by shooting. She was
pregnant with our first baby. We just found out
two weeks before it was a little girl, had her
named and were ready to start our family off.

But the reason I am before you here today is
to try to get help from the FBI on this case so we
can resolve it. For the last two years, I have been
frustrated by the process of trying to deal with
jurisdictional issues and not being able to get as-
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had bestowed on Congress a unique relationship
with Indian people. It outlined the rules for trad-
ing with Indians and provided that crimes of In-
dians against Indians on tribal lands defined as
Indian country were not within the federal ju-
risdiction.

Today from that administrative oppression
and the relationship that stigmatized our people
as fearless, warlike and barbaric, blood-thirsty
savages, community attitudes today, of Native
Americans may very well underlie many of the
problems Indians face in the criminal justice sys-
tem. So today my summary would be that we
must make a pledge not only to the people of
South Dakota, the nation, and the world that to
make a treaty with an Indian nation as well as
making a treaty with another nation such as
Europe, that that is viable and a law of the Con-
stitution. And if those treaties that are breaking
with the Indian nation, then those treaties are
worthless overseas also because to make this ef-
fort to inform the people of South Dakota, the
nation, and the world that the problems that ex-
ist here and the racial intolerance that exists
here and the poverty which exists here are ques-
tions of liberty, constitutional rights, and values
elemental to our beliefs. I stand up today and to
prove to the people that I am an original inhabi-
tant of this land and take what is directly mine
by survival in both worlds. This is what we need
to do is to stand up for our inherent rights, and
this is my statement.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. William
Kindle? Doesn’t look like he’s here. Shirlee,
could you state your name so I don’t have to try
to pronounce it for the record, please.

Shirlee Bettelyoun

MS. BETTELYOUN. Shirlee Bettelyoun from
Pine Ridge. If alcohol and drugs are existing res-
ervation problems as stated by our peers and
considering all aspects of surviving daily life,
why do our own tribal police department with
federal agencies indict and sentence a large per-
cent of Native Americans? Tribal Public Safety
brutality, excessive force, harassment, rapes,
drive-by shootings, and nepotism occurs often. I
sit and listen to testimony by authorities con-
cerning the Circle Fund; that it is the answer.
More money? Our problems still exist as long as
directors, chief of police on down the line stand
with their heads in the sand and choose not to
listen to complaints made against them by mem-

bers. There is little or no trust in our own back-
yards. We, too, fear to travel late at night, and
today there will be retaliation as we speak out
against them only because unprofessional staff
replaced professional people. Dual justice takes
its place on reservations by the good old boys
with badges.

During 1996 my Main Street business was
involved in a drive-by shooting. Tribal police of-
ficers were involved and then went on duty at
midnight. As of today nothing has been done.
Tribal and federal authorities cleared him of all
charges. This tribal officer succeeded in getting
my son indicted over an incident he said oc-
curred a year before the night of the shooting of
my business and my son’s home. An assaulting a
federal officer charge was brought against him
within a week of this incident, and he was 18
years old, two days into being 18 years old at
that time. He was taken off the reservation and
kept away from me until he was 21 years old
even though—

MR. POPOVICH. One minute.

Ms. BETTELYOUN.—he was a tribal land
owner and enrolled member. And today again,
because of the family name—and we, too, stand %
up for ourselves and fight back, and because of
our family name, we are known as, I don’t know, *
gangsters, I guess, ourselves. And so today now,
my son is facing 25 years and he just turned 21 ~
from the same police department, same officers
for the same charges again. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you, Shirlee.
Pearl Redfish, state your name and where you're
from for the record, please.

Pearl Redfish

MS. REDFISH. My name is Pearl Redfish. I am
from Rosebud, South Dakota. I am a Rosebud
Sioux. One of the incidents that happened, we
always talk about education for our kids. Our
kids from the Todd County School District went
to play basketball over in Winner, South Dakota.
I went with them. I thought this would never
happen to me. One of the things that happened,
we were in the National Guard Armory and it
was during parents night so it was getting a lit-
tle bit hot in there. We all walked out. The city
police in Winner,!® South Dakota, told us, “You
can’t come out here.” So I agsked him, “Why not?

18 Winner police chief Paul Schueth’s response to statements
by Pearl Redfish is attached as appendix G.
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have no rights. And there is nothing, there is
nowhere that we can turn, nobody that would
help us. And although I don’t live on a reserva-
tion, don’t have a high-paying job, can’t afford to
buy the services of an attorney, I would like to
say that all the small towns near reservations
need to be looked into.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, Mary, please.

MS. MORAN. Well, that's all I have to say is
that I would like to have a little justice. I'm hu-
man. I go to the jail, Brown County jail,’® to visit
my son and the doors are slammed in my face.
The jailers talk down to me like I am incompe-
tent and don’t know anything. They talk to me
like I'm a child and dont know anything. I am
human, I'm working, I pay taxes just like every-
body else. That's all I have to say.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Cathy
Yellow Hawk, state your name for the record,
please.

Catherine Yellow Hawk

Ms. YELLOW HAWK. My name is Catherine
Yellow Hawk. I am from the Cheyenne River
Reservation. I currently reside here in Rapid
City, South Dakota. I am working on my mas-
ter’'s degree in business. I just feel like the police
system here in Rapid City is very biased. My
people are treated very discriminatorily, and I
see it happening every day. I know there’s a lot
of alcoholism and that's due to the high unem-
ployment rate. And I just feel like, where do we
turn to other than violence?

The Commission here, thank you for coming
today. We have our treaty rights, 1868 treaty
rights, Fort Laramie Treaty, that has to be rec-
ognized. This land here in Rapid City is Lakota
territory. This is our land here, and all were
asking for is a place for our future, our children.
What are we going to do for our children? That’s
what we want. We want something for the fu-
ture generation. Our children are taken away
from us and put in institutions over little or no
reasons only because they’re part black or part
American Indian or some other race. And it’s
just not right. It'’s just not right that they dont
stand a chance, and it’s up to us, all of us, to try

19 The Commission afforded John VanderHoek, jail adminis-
trator, Brown County Jail, an opportunity to respond to
statements by Mary Moran. No response was received. See
appendix A.

to do something for this younger generation com-
ing up.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, please.

MS. YELLOW HAWK. So what I am saying and
what I am asking today is, we need to have some
kind of check on our police system and on our
Governor Janklow. They get into office because
they are still fighting against American Indians,
but really all it is, is it comes down to the treaty
again. This is a treaty violation, and this treaty
is gtill in our Supreme Courts today being acted
upon. Thank you once again for coming to hear
our people here.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Can 1
ask what your name is, please.

MS. PACHECO. Marletta Pacheco.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Oh, youre Mar-
letta, okay. Okay. State your name and address
for the record, please.

Marletta Pacheco

MS. PACHECO. My name is Marletta Pacheco.
I live here in Rapid City. I've lived here all my
life; I was born here, and I am enrolled on the
Rosebud Reservation. I am here because I have a
daughter that's doing 30 years in prison. She
was charged with conspiracy to distribute
methamphetamines. . . . [Words deleted as po-
tentially defamatory, degrading, or incriminat-
ing.] because throughout the whole trial, I seen
things that I couldn’t believe could happen in a
courtroom.

A young lady got up there to testify. She was
a state witness or a federal witness, and she got
up there and said she refused to testify because
they told her if she did, they wouldn’t take away
her kids, and they did anyway, she said, so they
put her in contempt of court. You know, to see
those kind of things in the courtroom, it scares
me.
In the early ‘80s—I have a niece. She lived in
Sioux Falls with the family, and she was killed
by a white man.

MR. POPOVICH. One minute, please.

MS. PACHECO. He used a gun and he killed
her, and his sentence was that he was to pay
money, probably less than what most men pay in
child support, into a trust fund for the kids. They
haven’t received a penny of that. They said they
would probably only get it if they went to college.
I have a nephew who is in prison. He has a head
injury. They put him in segregation, and they
say they can only keep him there for so long, but
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for the sacrifice of your time and energy to come
here. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you, Scott.

COMMISSIONER BERRY. Very well done.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Next up, Leo Her-
man, Lise Balk King, Jean Roach, Faith White
Dress, and Cedric Goodhouse? Okay. Leo Her-
man? Is Leo here? Lise, would you state your
name for the record and where you are from,
please.

Lise Balk King

Ms. BALK KING. My name is Lise Balk King. I
live here in Rapid City and we also have a home
in Saint Francis on the Rosebud Reservation
which is where my husband is from. There is so
much to say. It’s three minutes and so much to
say. Every story that everyone has told, I know
probably every one in the room is going, “Yeah, I
know one just like that. I know 10 just like that.”
It’s really hard to just sit up here and think, how
can I focus and add something new to what’s al-
ready been said, but I'm going to give it my best
shot.

Pirst of all I want to say I came here from the

tribal colleges, just a list of resources, the people
and organizations and different groups that are
available to help or groups that are available to
do research to find the groups that are available
to help. It just seems like it'’s an empty pit right
now when you go out there looking for answers
and looking for assistance.

The next thing I wanted to say is I have a bit
of a different perspective because I am a
non-Indian who came here believing in sort of a
liberal, multicultural community which is where
I have lived most of my life. And I have come to
understand the pressure of living under racism,
and I feel like I see it maybe where other people
don’t who are non-Indian because I have lived
without it and now when I go around, I'm
treated very differently than I was before be-
cause people see me as being part of the Indian
community, which I am very proud to be.

But I can give you instance after instance
where specific things have happened to show me
that I'm treated differently when a non-Indian
person here sees me as an Indian or part of the
Indian community and 'l just give you one
quick example which is, we lived in Winner,

East Coast and I came here with a very different
attitude than I have now. I really believed in the
system of government that we Live under. I still

South Dakota, which is where my husband grews
up, and I had lunch at a cafe there with my boss ~
and we had a meeting there and it was great and- I
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do believe in it, but I have a much less naive at-
titude than I do now. I have to say that I really
believed in if you see something wrong, you can
fix it. And we have a lot of people who come to
us, my husband and I, Frank John King III, and
ask us for help with different problems dealing
with the judicial systems on the reservation,
dealing with all different kinds of problems, and
the most frustrating thing is so many times, we
don’t really know what to do to help them. We do
the best we can, but it seems like there just
aren’t enough resources to deal with the prob-
lems.

One of the most simple things that could be
done would be to put together some kind of a list
of organizations or resources that are available
to address specific problems. Someone comes to
you and has a very specific problem and they
need a specific answer, “Where can I go for
help?” And we’ll do research on the Internet and
we will make tons of phone calls, spending lots of
money on phone calls and come up almost empty
every time. That would be a very specific thing
that could be very helpful here, and to make it
available through the Internet and through the

I really had a good time, and I was pregnant and

it was, like, “Oh, this steak is excellent,” you-

know. And a couple days later I said, “Frank,
let's go eat. Let's go have another steak. That
was a really good meal.” And he said, “I don’t
want to go there.” And I said, “Well, why not?”
He said, “You don’t want to eat at that cafe.” And
I said, “Well, come on, let'’s go.” And he said, “All
right. You are going to learn the hard way.”

And we went over there and instead of being
with a group of non-Indians, I was with my hus-
band, and they looked at me and they saw In-
dian and they looked at my husband, of course,
and saw Indian. And we stood there while eve-
ryone walked around us and couldn’t get seated
at a table. And then I, with my attitude, just
walked right around them and sat at the open
table that was sitting there and sat there and
waited and it was like, “Excuse me, can we get a
menu? Can we get something to eat here? And I
was pregnant out to here and hungry and get-
ting a little bit upset and agitated, and they
completely walked around us and ignored us.
They made it very clear with their glances and
their attitude that we were not welcome there. I
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cells for at least a month without knowing
what’s going on, running five miles a day at the
boot camp. My daughter is overweight so she has
ankle problems. They didn’t do a thing about
that until I screamed for about a month to get it,
you know, x-rayed because I don’t think anyone
can make that determination without an x-ray, if
it's broke or not.

And I think that this Department of Correc-
tions needs to be investigated. I think that there
needs to be investigation how long these Indian
kids are staying in there. Their length of stay,
the snowball effect. I mean, two years for petty
theft is too long for a child to be in prison or
within their system. All they are trying to do is
institutionalize them. I think they need to re-
spect that these are our children who need to
come back to their homes to heal into their
community. And they need to investigate the
gang laws that they have here against the youth.
Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Faith,
would you like to state your name and where
you're from for the record, please.

Faith White Dress

MsS. WHITE DRESS. My name is Faith White
Dress and I am from the Cheyenne Creek com-
munity on the Pine Ridge Reservation. And I am
here today and I want to thank you for giving me
this opportunity to talk about something that
hasnt been addressed by the tribal police, the
tribal court. It hasn’t been looked into very well,
and that’s two years ago on October 19, 1997, my
oldest daughter was taken to an off-duty police
party where confiscated liquor was drank, and
my daughter, 17 and a senior in high school, was
brutally raped. As a result of this rape, she had
reconstructive surgery, and when she was seen
in the hospital, she had lost one-third of her
blood.

And to this day, nothing has been done to the
police. They have been overlooked. The FBI ex-
onerated them before my daughter was even out
of the hospital. And we tried everything. We
waited for justice. On March 25 I asked the di-
rector of the Public Safety then to reinvestigate
his officers. His department agreed, him and his
chief of police, and they were fired the next day.

In ‘97 when this happened to my daughter,
there was a turnover going on with Public
Safety, and I had just moved back in June; I
didn’t know anything about this. When this hap-

pened to my daughter, she was home for one
month, exactly 29 days, before this happened.
She had lived with her adopted father and his
wife sent her and her sister home unexpectantly.
And when this turnover rate was going on, the
acting chief of police then of Public Safety who
exonerated the officers is on the executive board
of tribal council now as executive director. And
as executive director he fired the people that
were going to reinvestigate the police. Police in-
ternal records were destroyed or taken that
weekend.

And I don’t think that any amount of
money—I hear the police are asking for money—
Circle Project. I don’t think any amount of
money will buy a conscience. We need officers
that are good. We have good people on our reser-
vation that can make good officers. We need
more female investigators, more female officers.
And I don’t want to hear of these things ever
happening again to any of our young children,
any young woman because we're the ones that
take care of families, we make homes, and we
are responsible for the next generation. And I
want to thank you for this time.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. Cedric,
do you want to state your name and where
you're from for the record, please.

Cedric Goodhouse

MR. GOODHOUSE. My name is Cedric Good-
house and I'm from the Standing Rock Reserva-
tion. I wanted to first read a couple of state-
ments that have been made by a couple of fed-
eral judges, and my comments are going to be in
relationship to the federal sentencing guidelines.
And then I want to give you a couple specifics in
relationship to just one case and it involves my
son.

“Because many convictions for reservation
crimes carry harsher penalties than the same
crimes committed elsewhere, a disproportionate
share of Indians are in prison. Does that make
any sense that these Indians are subject to
greater penalties than the rest of us?” That’s one
of the judge’s statements.

The second judge’s, “The sentencing guide-
lines leave no discretion or precious little discre-
tion to the courts. I am adamantly against them.
I have always been against them, but they are
here, and until Congress in their infinite wisdom
changes them, they will remain in, I guess.”
That second statement was said at my son’s sen-
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So there’s never been an Indian on the Board
of Regents. There’s never been an Indian on the
Finance Board, the Board of Agriculture, or any
other board in this state. That's the way it is.
Now if that isn’t some racism involved in there,
taking an Indian off of two boards and replacing
him by non-Indians, then my name isn’t what it
is.

The second thing I want to talk about a little
bit is that a statement was made here about
American Indians serving in the military in all
the wars of this century. American Indians
gerved in the military of all wars since the Revo-
lution. Even in the Civil War. Not being prejudi-
cial people some served in the North and some
served in the South. They served in the Spanish
American War, and the thousands that served in
World War I were not even citizens of this coun-
try. I am glad that I served in World War II be-
cause I was able to get a college education
through the GI bill. I was able to get a decent
job, raise my family and so on and so forth de-
cently.

But during that time, I was dedicated and
worked real hard for the American Legion, and I
was urged by some people to run for commander
of that organization. Someone else was running,
and so we competed for the title of commander of
the American Legion of the state of South Da-
kota. I won that race. I am the only American
Indian that's ever served as commander of the
American Legion in this state.

That's when the bird fell in the stuff that Dr.
Bordeaux was talking about. I was called a god-
damn Indian. One guy made the statement that,
“Tt looks like we’ll have to put up with a drunken
Indian for a year,” and I don’t even drink. An-
other guy got up and said, “You know, I dont
Iike Indians in general and Bob Demery in par-
ticular.”

And so it came along that we decided that if
they didn’t like us, we would form our own or-
ganization. I am now the commander of the
American Indian Veteran's Association. We are
chartered by the state of South Dakota, we have
a constitution, we have bylaws and we at the
present time have over 200 American Indians
that belong to our organization, and we are go-
ing to get bigger and people are going to find out
about the American Indian veterans. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you.

MR. DEMERY. Oh, the only other thing I
would say is it's going to be interesting to find

out what the translation is going to be that
comes out of the court reporter’s notes on some
of the language that was spoken here.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. We’re looking for-
ward to that, too.

MR. DEMERY. If anything can change, every-
thing that goes on in this country among the mi-
nority people, specifically the Indian people, it's
one word and that’s education. Education will
pull us by the bootstraps out of the doldrums
that we are in. Education is going to do it, not
money. Thank you. '

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Harvey, do you
want to state your name and where you're from
for the record, please.

Harvey White Woman

MR. WHITE WOMAN. My name is Harvey
White Woman and I'm from Kyle, South Dakota.
I am an Oglala Lakota tribal member. First of
all, I would like to thank you for being here and
listening to the people all day that have come be-
fore you. I just want to say a few things, and for
me, I am not here for myself. I am here for my
little niece; she’s 18 months old. I'm here for my
nephew who is 4 years old, Dallas and Allissa. I
am here for my huncasa [phonetic], my adopted
son Casius who is 3 years old, and I am here also
for the children that you seen running around
and crying around back there. I am here for
them because I don’t want these children, my
kids, my nephews, my nieces, and my adopted
kid, my adopted son, to grow up in a place that is
very prejudicial, and that’s what's happening
here in the state of South Dakota.

I've seen and I, for one, have experienced
prejudice here in Rapid City, and I will get over
it. I’'m adult enough to say that, you know, I
have to deal with it because there are ignorant
people out there that don’t know what's right
from wrong sometimes and don’t see nothing for
what the person has on the inside and not what'’s
on the outside, on the color.

And for myself, children, in Lakota what we
call them are wakinja [phonetic], sacred ones,
and for us, that's very sacred, they are sacred.
And we do not want them to grow up in an envi-
ronment that is going to be holding them back,
holding them down because of the color of their
skin, because of their race. And I for one am go-
ing to make sure and make that stand to make
sure that never happens. But again as, in your
jobs, it’'s going to be very tough. I dont expect
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at them. You don’t know what’s going to happen,
so I don’t like to call the police for any reason.

These actions and numerous others are steps
taken toward genocide. Our people are stripped
of their civil rights, self esteem, identity, culture,
and language. Our children grow up knowing
that civil rights protection does not work for
them here. Some people say, “Let the past stay
in the past. Think forgiveness,” and I have and
my family, we have forgiven a lot and prayed,
but the past is our history. It is taught in school
every day and at least one version, just one ver-
sion of it because we have our own version of our
history. So we, too, cannot forget the past and we
can learn from it. We can teach about it, but it
cannot and should not be forgotten. And that’s
all I have to say. Thank you.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. George
Bartlett, state your name and where you're from
for the record, please.

George Bartlett

MR. BARTLETT. My name is George A. Bart-
lett of Rapid City, South Dakota, and I have four
documents, but I can’t use the names on this, so
Tl just say a social service organization at 815
Kansas City Street, the Division of Human
Rights, Veterans Service Organization, the po-
lice department, and the sheriff's department.

And I guess for many years, I never did know
what civil rights was, but I studied up on it and
it’s when a person is walking from the bar home
by the Rapid Creek, that he can walk safely
through, that they won’t find him dead the next
morning. And then they all say—they charge
somebody with a violation of civil rights and the
Bill of Rights. And I would like to turn these in
to this Commission. And there is no democracy
in this town and there is no equality. That is my
opinion, okay. [Speaking in language other than
English.] Thank you.

Discussion

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. Thank you. First,
one reminder to the people that had questions or
have some personal information, if you give it to
dohn Dulles or tell Mr. Dulles, get your address
to him, your number, and they are over there in
the corner. And that concludes the speakers that
we had. T would like Dr. Berry to sum up, please.

COMMISSIONER BERRY, Oh, I'm not going to
try to sum up everything that happened today. I
just wanted to say that it has been a long day.
It's been very useful to us. I want to thank the
State Advisory Committee members for putting
this on. Thank you especially, Marc, and thank
John Foster Dulles and Mel denkins and all the
staff that is here on behalf of the Commission-
ers. And we have heard some very stirring tes-
timony. We have heard a number of allegations
about such matters as police brutality which, if
even half of them are true, it's chilling. We have
heard some information here and yesterday
about the racial divide that exists in South Da-
kota which is chilling, but we hope and we ex-
pect that we will get some recommendations
from you that we can follow up on in addition to
assessing your 1977 recommendations. When I
say “your,” I don’t mean you around the state,
but the State Advisory Committee recommenda-
tions and in terms of how many of those were
implemented or how much change has taken
place there. And then we will be able to respond
and get back to the people here with our re-
sponse and do that in the timeframe that we
have already asserted we will meet.

And so I just want to thank everybody and
thank everybody for coming. Some of you came
from very long distances and I appreciate that,
although I've been told that to go anywhere in
South Dakota, it's a very long distance to go al-
most anywhere at all. And thank you very much
for having us here.

CHAIRPERSON FEINSTEIN. I will remind eve-
rybody, too, that the record is going to remain
open for additional statements through Decem-
ber 20, two weeks from today, and you would
have to get those statements to the regional of-
fice in Denver. Again, if you need the address,
see Mr. Dulles at the end. I've been on this State
Advisory Committee for 14 to 15 years, the last
two as Chairman, and I want to personally
thank Mr. Dulles for all his efforts he has done
in the four years he has been our regional direc-
tor and the extraordinary effort he did to help
put together this program, as well as others, but
I want to especially extend that to him. Thank
you, and I call this meeting adjourned.

[The proceedings were adjourned at 11:00 p.m.]
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Letters sent to the foliowing:

Mr. Paul Schueth, Chief
Winner Police Department
217 East Third St.

Winner, SD 57580

Mr. Mark Vukelich

Supervisory Senior Resident Agent
Federal Bureau of Investigation
909 St. Joseph St., Suite 400
Rapid City, SD 57701

Dan Todd, Esqg.
State’s Attorney

P.0. Box 9

Mobridge, SD 57601

Kemry Cameron, Esq.
State's Attorney

610 Veterans Avenue
Sisseton, SD 57262

Mr. William Brewer, Director
Department of Public Safety
Oglala Sioux Tribe

P.0. Box 300

Pine Ridge, SD 57770

Mr. Dan Holloway

Sheriff .

Pennington County Sheriff's Department
300Kansas City St. ~

Rapid City, SD 57701

Ms. Peggy Redday
Route 3, Box 138
Sisseton, SD 57262

The Honorable William Janklow
Gaovernor

State Capitol

500 East Capitol Ave.

Pierre, SD 57501-5070

Director

YMCA, Rapid City

815 Kansas City St.

Rapid City, SD 57701-2605

Honorable Lamry H. Lovrein
Judge, Fifth Judicial Circuit Court
P.O. Box 1087

Aberdeen, SD 57402-1087

The Honorable Omrin G. Hatch
United States Senate

SR 131, Russell Senate Office Bldg.
Washington, DC 20410-4402

Mr. Jeff Bloomberg, Secretary

South Dakota Department of Corrections
3200 East Highway 34, Suite 8

Pierre, SD 57501-5070

The Honorable Tom Daschle

United States Senate

SH-508, Hart Senate Office Building
Washington, DC 20510-4103

The Honorable Tirn Johnson

United States Senate

SH-234, Hart Senate Office Building
* Washington, DC 205104104

The Honorable John R: Thune

United States House of Representatives
1005 Longworth House Office Building
Washington, DC 20515-4101

Mr. John VanderHoek

Jail Administrator

Brown County Jail

22 SE Court St.

Aberdeen, SD 57401

Mr. William Johnson, Chief
Mobridge Police Department
205 East Second

Mobridge, SD 57601

Sheriff Russell Waterbury

Bennett County Sheriff's Department
Courthouse

Martin, SD 57551
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Mr. Tenry Robbins

Sheriff, Sheridan County

Box 510

Rushville, NE 68360

The Honorable Louis J. Freeh

Director, Federal Bureau of Investigation
FB! Bldg., 935 Pennsylvania Ave., NW.
Washington, DC 20535-0001

~ By, M





mailto:vbowen@bangsmccullen.com
www.bangsmccullen.com

United States Commission on Civil Rights
Ms. Carol-Lee Hurley

April 3, 2000

Page 2

The YMCA has always denied the allegations that any “strip search” was conducted
involving the Loneman girls. The YMCA’s position was upheld by an administrative agency
and two separate courts. Furthermore, the subsequent “confrontation” following the
tournament consisted of the parents of the Loneman girls demanding that the YMCA appear at
a public healing ceremony that the parents and the Loneman School had planned. The YMCA
did appear in a conciliatory posture, attempting to address the concerns of the Loneman girls.
It was the YMCA's demanded attendance at the healing ceremony that forms the basis for the
statement that the YMCA “confronted the girls and their parents causing them further great -

shame and embarrassment.” This allegation was aiso part of the federal lawsuit and was also
found to be baseless.

If you have any questions about this matter, or if you would like documentation of any
of the proceedings referenced above, please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely,

BANGS, McCULLEN, BUTLER,
FOYE & SIMMONS, L.L.P.

orgraa 2 Byt

Veronica L. Bowen

vlb:ke
cc: Client
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Carol-Lee Hurley
May 8. 2000
Page-2-

OST Public Safety and the Sheridan County Sheriff's Office have had a good, close
relationship for many years through changes of administration in both Sheridan County and the
Oglala Sioux Tribe. I believe that the officers working with Sheridan County officials will tell
your investigators that there has been whole-hearted cooperation between the two agencies for
decades.

I understand that the Hard Heart and Black Elk deaths are under investigation by the
FBI and other agencies in South Dakota. Comments by Poor Bear or anyone about what may
or may not have happened to them are pure speculation at this point. The public reaction to
inflammatory statements made by Poor Bear contributed to the contamination of the crime
scene. Rumors of all kinds have traveled through all of our border communities, allegedly
involving law enforcement in Nebraska, in South Dakota, Black Elk family members, Poor
Bear himself and others as having been involved in some way with the fate of the two victims.
‘What Poor Bear said before your advisory committee has no basis in fact. Apparently anyone
could have appeared there and made allegations about other persons without any fear of
contradiction or interrogation from your committee.

On page 243, lines 1 through 8, Poor Bear refers to snipers, dogs and tear gas at
Whiteclay. Iam sure your record must show that no shots were fired, no dogs were released,
no tear gas used in the face of gross provocation by demonstrators during the Tom Poor Bear
walks from South Dakota into Nebraska. The only violence came from Poor Bear
demonstrators who broke into and burned the grocery store and committed other criminal acts.
Two persons have been convicted for that activity.

We note that Poor Bear, page 243, line 16-18, professes personal knowledge about the
manner in which Hard Hart and Black Elk were murdered. If he has that information he
should immediately give it to the FBI and other investigating agencies.

The most harmful allegations, however, relate to Poor Bear's claims of deaths by "our
people” apparently in Nebraska. His references first to Raymond Yellow Thunder are wholly
inappropriate. See page 244, line 3-5 where it says Yellow Thunder was escorted "out of there
by a deputy sheriff of Sheridan County.” That is wholly false. That case was prosecuted by
an existing member of the Sheridan County Attorney’s Office. The record confirms no law
enforcement officer was involved in helping Yellow Thunder from the Legion Club.
Incidentally, five people were prosecuted and convicted for that crime. They were charged,
arrested and in custody before anyone in the public was aware of the incident or the facts
relating thereto.
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Carol-Lee Hurley
May 8, 2000
Page -4 -

Richard Lee Big Crow was laying on the highway north of Rushville, Nebraska when
run over by Leon W. Long Soldier who was later arrested and convicted for motor vehicle

homicide (November 1, 1999).

The death of Dennis M. Cross was investigated by the Nebraska State Highway Patrol
and the Sheridan County Sheriff's Office. He was shot by a Gordon, Nebraska Police Officer
on February 4, 1992 in the early morning hours after pointing a stolen rifle at the Officer. The
incident was investigated by the Grand Jury which returned no bill, finding the Officer's
actions to have been justified.

Please note that in the cases of the Grand Juries, Native Americans were members and
participated in the decisions. In many of the cases alcohol was certainly a contributing factor.

Our office, and law enforcement in general in Sheridan County, Nebraska has probably
had more scrutiny from State and Federal authorities than any comparable law enforcement
agency on either side of the border. We believe that our record and conduct, having surveyed
such scrutiny without one finding of negligence, ill will or bad conduct, would match the
results for any agency in South Dakota or Nebraska.

"Tom Poor Bear has little credibility in his own country. You ask us to reply to the
"allegations contained in_the transcript.” The transcript you provided us, however, contains no
specifics of any kind. On the contrary they are nothing more than calculated, defaming,
unsubstantiated demagoguery which any public or private agency should be ashamed to
publish, especially when you have no evidence or corroboration which would lend any
credence to the things said.
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Appendix E

U.S. Department of Justice

Federal Bureau of Investigation

Office of the Director Washington, D.C. 20535

May 25, 2000

Ms. Mary Frances Berry
Chairperson

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights )
624 Ninth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20425

Dear Madam Chairperson:

This letter is meant as a response to the recently
issued report of the South Dakota Advisory Committee, U.S. Civil
Rights Commission. My letter points out what I believe are flaws
in the report, but also seeks to provide you with information
concerning what the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) has
done and intends to do with regard to the conclusions and

recommendations of the report.

A significant amount of the report criticizes the FBI
on a variety of issues, but the specifics to back up the
criticisms are largely lacking. The report, for instance,-only
mentions two specific FBI cases and a third case for which: the
FBI provided profiling assistance to a local police department,
despite the length of the criticism of the FBI. The report also
appears unbalanced in that it is largely bereft of information
concerning the many improvements which the Department of Justice
and the FBI have made in Indian country law enforcement in recent
years. These factors tend to lessen the credibility of the

report.

The report also describes what it calls a lack of
confidence in the FBI. It does not mention, however, that
frequently tribal members want the FBI to be involved and have
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Ms. Mary Frances Berry

Separate from this funding, the FBI's Rapid City,
South Dakota, Resident Agency (RA) hired a VWS in April 2000 who
will primarily work on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation. The
FBI in South’Dakota now has two VWSs, one in Rapid City and one
in Pierre, both of whom will primarily provide victim-witness
services in Indian country. These services include keeping
victims and witnesses informed of trial proceedings, transporting
victims and witnesses to court, and community outreach. With
regard specifically to community outreach in Indian country in
South Dakota, the recently hired VWS in Rapid City is exploring
putting in a toll-free line so that Pine Ridge residents can
telephone the FBI without cost to themselves. The same VWS is
also drafting a request for FBI Headquarters to fund anti-
alcoholism advertigements for a year in a Pine Ridge newspaper.

On the issue of recruiting of Native Americans into the

'FBI, the FBI this year established two regional Native American

recruiting positions. BAs a result, the FBI now has two Native
American FBI agents whose only job is to recruit fellow Native
Americans into the FBI. FBI Headquarters is also stressing the
need to recruit Native Americans into the FBI to all of its
Applicant Coordinators as well as agents who have regular
contacts with Native American communities.

With regard to unsolved homicides, the FBI still has
received no information which verifies the allegations of
numerous unsolved Pine Ridge homicides, which significantly vary
in number depending on the forum and speaker. FBI Headquarters
plans to direct field offices covering the Indian reservations on
which the FBI has primary jurisdiction to contact appropriate
tribal authorities for information on all suspicious deaths
during the last five years. A review will be made of cases not
investigated by the FBI to determine if any additional
investigations should be opened. In addition, the FBI has
directed the field to conduct a fresh review with logical
investigative follow-up of i9 Indian country "cold case"
homicides throughout the United States. The FBI's Laboratory
Division will be enlisted to determine if there is any new
technology which can be applied to forensic evidence in these
older cases. Profilers in the FBI's National Center for the
Analysis of Violent Crime at Quantico, Virginia, will also be
used to assist the FBI field offices to develop investigative
strategies for these older cases.

In 1999, the FBI's Criminal Investigative and
Laboratory Divisions initiated the Indian Country Evidence.
Program in order to significantly improve FBI Indian country
crime scene processing for homicides, serious assaults and other
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Ms. Mary Frances Berry

The FBI will also continue to work to ensure that there
are adequate personnel resources in South Dakota to address
Indian country cases. Since 1997, the FBI's Minneapolis Division
has received 12 additional slots for agents to be dedicated to
Indian country. The largest percentage of these agents went to
South Dakota. During this year's upcoming annual evaluation of
the distribution of personnel resources, the FBRI will determine
if there are additional violent crime personnel resources who can
be shifted to South Dakota.

In summary, the FBI has actively sought in recent years
to improve Indian country law enforcemen: in many ways. It will
continue to strive to improve law enforcement services for Native
American communities.

incerely,

gt

. Louis J. Freeh
Director

1 - Honorable Janet Reno
The Attorney General
Washington, D.C. 20530
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U.S. Department of Justice

Rashingion, D.C. 20530

Response of the U.S. Department of Justice

to the March 2000 report of the

South Dakota Advisory Committee to the
U.S. Commission on Civil Rights

on

Native Americans in South Dakota: An Erosion of
Confidence in the Justice System

July 2000
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Improving Law Enforcement in Indian Country'

The first recommendation of the South Dakota Advisory Committee is that the
Commission on Civil Rights call for the Attomey General to immediately appoint a federal task
force to address the crisis of law enforcement affecting Native Americans, both on and off Indian
reservations. (Report at page 39.) DOJ agrees that there are truly serious problems of law
enforcement and public safety affecting Native Americans. As described in the next few pages,
DOJ has already underiaken a multi-year process to identify these problems, their causes and
likely solutions, and we have already put in place an Indian Country Law Enforcement Initiative
Working Group to carry this out. Accordingly, the creation of an additional task force would
largely duplicate efforts that are already underway.

Recognizing the Need for an Indian Country Law Enforcement Initiative

In 1997, recognizing the severe problem of violent crime among American Indians,
President Clinton directed the Secretary of the Interior and the Attorney General to work with
tribal governments to analyze law enforcement problems on Indian lands and suggest ways for
improving public safety and criminal justice in Indian country. Beyond the increasing crime -
rates in Native American communities, the President cited the lack of police officers, criminal
investigators, and detention facilities as evidence of the importance of addressing this problem.
In response, the Secretary and the Attomey General formed an Executive Committee for Indian
Country Law Enforcement Improvements with tribal leaders and representatives from the Interior
Department and DOJ. At the request of the Executive Committee, U.S. Attorneys in districts
with Indian tribes led an extensive series of tribal consultations on Indian country law
enforcement in the fall of 1997. Consultations revealed a large gap between public safety in i
Indian country and the rest of the United States. Based on the U.S. Attorneys’ consultations, the
Executive Committee concluded that to fight crime effectively in Indian country and to improve
public safety, the United States must work with Indian tribes to ensure that there is a full
spectrum of federal and tribal law enforcement resources. That could include BIA and tribal
uniformed police, criminal investigators, tribal courts, FBI agents, U_S. Attorney personnel,
support staff, victim-witness coordinators, juvenile justice programs, detention facilities, law
enforcement equipment, and training.

LA

e R

After giving serious consideration to these factors and the information gathered through
consultations with tribal leaders across the country, the Secretary of the Interior and the Attorney
General approved the' Executive Committee’s report and recommended to the President that
Justice and Interior undertake ongoing efforts to improve law enforcement in Indian country. In
response, the President sought funds for both Departments to establish the Indian Country Law
Enforcement Initiative.

! This response by DOJ includes some information previously provided to you by the
FBI in a May 25, 2000, letter from Director Louis J. Freeh.

2-
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DOJ’s $173.3 million FY 2001 request for the initiative is broken down as follows:

. FBI: $4,639,000 for 31 Indian country victim-witness coordinators, funding for Indian
country forensic exams, and funding for overtime for tribal police who are part of the
FBI’s multi-jurisdictional Safe Trails Task Forces.?

. United States Attorneys: $4,699,000 for 60 positions (33 Assistant U.S. Attorneys and
27 support staff) to increase federal prosecutorial and investigative resources to address
violent crime, including gang violence and juvenile violence, in Indian country.

. Office of Tribal Justice (OTJ): $932,000 for eight positions under the Office of the
Associate Attorney General to institutionalize OTJ as an integral, ongoing part of DOJ.
OT]J coordinates with departmental components that have responsibilities concerning
tribal issues, including improving Indian country law enforcement, assistance to tribal
law enforcement and courts, civil rights protection, environmental protection, tribal land
and resource protection, and litigation involving Indian interests.

. Criminal Division: $70,000 for 1 position for the Criminal Division to increase caf;acity
to analyze Indian country crime problems.

. COPS Tribal Resources Grant Program: $45 million to improve tribal law
enforcement, including funding for police officers, training, and equipment. ($5 million
increase from FY 2000 Appropriation.)

. COPS Indian Country Forensics Evidence Gathering: $5 million to increase the
capacity of tribal law enforcement to collect forensic evidence to address the current
serious lack of tribal capacity in this area.

. OJP Corrections Program Office: $34 million for the construction of detention

facilities to provide adequate space to incarcerate violent offenders punished under tribal
law.

. Tribal Youth Crime Prevention Program: $20 million for grants to Indian tribes to
fund comprehensive tribal delinquency prevention, control, and juvenile justice system

? $2.6 million would hire and equip 31 victim-witness specialists to assist witnesses and
crime victims in Indian country. $1.4 million would provide funding for contracts for forensic
evidence to facilitate FBI investigation of violent crimes and sexual assaults in the Albuquerque,
Minneapolis, and Salt Lake City field offices, where 75% of federal Indian country crime cases
originate. $634,000 would provide for overtime for tribal, state and local police officers on 10 to
12 Safe Trails Task Forces.

-4-

141






SEEDGBDEDEDEEEBEEEE

. Making the COPS grant programs as responsive as possible to the unmet needs of Indian
country law enforcement and the unique conditions facing tribal communities;

. Increasing the ways in which tribal law enforcement can participate and access national
information systems such as the National Crime Information Center (NCIC), the National

Criminal History Improvement Program (NCHIP), the Sex Offender Management
Resource (SOMR), and others;

. Ensuring access to training for tribal prosecutors and including them in DOJ training and
seminars when space and funding are available;

. Providing "tribal liaisons" in most U.S. Attorneys’ Offices with significant amounts of
Indian country in their districts, in order to serve the role played by a district attorney or
community prosecutor, by being familiar with and available to the community for a
variety of programmatic activities, such as sitting on Weed and Seed Steering
Committees and Child Protective Teams;

] Promoting inter-jurisdictional cooperation, mutual respect, and understanding with tribal
courts and tribal judges; and

. Increasing coordination and implementing services for Indian youth in custody.

We hope through these and related efforts, DOJ can empower tribal communities to
improve public safety and well-being for their members.

Consulting with Tribal Governments

This Administration has taken seriously its obligation to consult with tribes on a

government-to-government basis. In the Executive Order on Tribal Consultation, the President
explained that:

Since the formation of the Union, the United States has recognized Indian tribes as

domestic dependent nations under its protection. In treaties, our Nation guaranteed the
right of Indian tribes to self-government.*

These treaty pledges form part of the basis for our federal trust responsibility to promote the
welfare of the Native American peoples. In the State of the Union address this year, the
President reminded all Americans that "we should begin this new century by honoring our
historic responsibility to empower the first Americans."

4 Executive Order No. 13084 (1998).
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Protecting Native American Children

DOJ’s Office for Victims of Crime has agreed to fund a Forensic Child Interview
Specialist (FCIS) position within the Indian Country Unit at FBI Headquarters. This position
will be advertised in the very near future, both within :(he FBI and externally. Once hired, the
FCIS will provide training to FBI agents and other investigators in Indian country on
interviewing children, participate in consultations on Indian country cases involving children,
and be available to interview children in specific situations in Indian country where the FCIS’s

expertise would be helpful, usually high profile cases or cases involving severely traumatized
children.

Solving Crimes in Indian Country

In response to concemns about a large number of unsolved deaths in Indian country, the
Attorney General directed the FBI to form a "cold case task force" to conduct a fresh review with
logical investigative follow-up of approximately 19 Indian country homicides throughout the
United States. In addition, FBI Headquarters is directing field offices covering the Indian
reservations on which the FBI has primary jurisdiction to contact appropriate tribal authorities
for information on all suspicious deaths during the last 5 years. A review will be made of cases
not investigated by the FBI to determine if any additional investigations should be opened. The
FBI's Laboratory will be enlisted to determine if there is any new technology which can be
applied to forensic evidence in these older cases. Profilers in the FBI's National Center for the
Analysis of Violent Crime at Quantico, Virginia, will also be used to assist the FBI field offices
to develop investigative strategies for these older cases.

“g e §)¥

In 1999, the FBI's Criminal Investigative Division and the FBI's Laboratory initiated the
Indian Country Evidence Program in order to significantly improve FBI Indian country crime
scene processing for homicides, serious assaults and other Indian country violations involving
forensic evidence. In the past year, the Indian Country Evidence Program has provided Indian
country agents with state-of-the-art equipment and training for solving homicides. The FBI will
continue to provide additional equipment and specialized training to agents in Indian country in
order to ensure that Indian country homicides are adequately investigated.

Another part of the Indian Country Evidence Program is an effort to improve the
turn-around time for examination of forensic evidence in Indian country cases in order to solve
homicides and other cases more effectively. The FBI has asked Congress in its FY 2001 budget
request for approximately$1.4 million to contract accredited state and local laboratories to
process Indian country forensic evidence from South Dakota and the other primary Indian
country states. The FBI Laboratory also recently established a Laboratory task force of
examiners who would give first priority to FBI Indian country cases.
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Indian Section in the Civil Rights Division. The Division is made up of nine subject-based
Sections (Coordination and Review, Criminal, Disability Rights, Education, Employment
Litigation, Housing and Civil Enforcement, the Office of Special Counsel, Special Litigation,
and Voting), an Appellate Section, and a Front Office that functions as a policy and coordination
office. Our enforcement efforts are thus organized by statute, not by protected group. Though
we recognize that Native Americans are often both a racial and a political group, for purposes of
the civil rights laws enforced by the Division, they are protected as members of a racial minority
group. While each racial or ethnic group brings unique issues to the task of civil rights
enforcement, we have found our current structure to be the most effective way to organize our
work.

However, in order to enhance coordination among the Division’s lawyers who work on
civil rights issues related to Native Americans, we established an Indian Litigation Working
Group. The Working Group -- which is made up of representatives from each of the Sections —
provides a forum for discussion of shared issues or concerns. The Division also consults
frequently with OTJ to ensure appropriate coordination on civil rights issues that impact Native
Americans and has actively participated in the Native American Indian Subcommittee of the.
Attorney General’s Advisory Committee (AGAC).

In recent years, the Division has been very active in conducting investigations and
bringing cases that involve Native Americans. For example, the Employment Litigation Section
is currently investigating several government employers in the Southwest to determine whether
they are engaged in a pattern or practice of discrimination against Native Americans; the
Housing and Civil Enforcement Section has worked on lending discrimination and redlining
matters involving Native Americans; and the Voting Section has several active cases involving
allegations of Native American vote dilution through the use of at-large voting systems and/or
racial gerrymandering -- two of these cases (in Roosevelt County, Montana, and Benson County,
North Dakota) have recently been resolved by consent decree.

In addition, in 1998 the Division published a brochure entitled Protecting the Civil Rights
of American Indians and Alaska Natives. This brochure — which has been widely distributed by
our lawyers and mailed to numerous tribal representatives and groups -- outlines the non-
discrimination laws enforced by the Division and how those laws apply to Native Americans.
We are constantly looking for new avenues and methods for outreach to the Native American
community regarding civil rights enforcement.

Finally, we agree that it is important that the Division do better in making sure that the
results of our criminal and other civil rights investigations be disclosed in a timely fashion. The
concern about timely disclosure of findings is one that impacts all of our work, not just where we
have Native American victims. In recent months, we have begun to explore ways to streamline
our processes to ensure that once our decisions are made, there is minimal delay in getting
appropriate information to the public.

-10-
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most likely to attract American Indian lawyers and law students: the Rocky Mountain/
Public Interest Career Fair and the Federal Bar Association’s Indian Law Conference.
OAPM has for many years been an active participant in the annual career fair at the
Federal Bar Association’s Indian Law Conference. (In addition to the nationally
recognized leaders in the field of Federal Indian Law who attend the Conference, the
Native American Bar Association and the Native American Law Student Association each
hold their annual meeting at the Conference.) This forum provides OAPM with a unique
opportunity to discuss Department employment opportunities with many American Indian
law students and experienced attormneys.

. Preparation and extensive dissemination of customized recruitment materials to
encourage different minority students (including American Indians) to apply to these
programs.

. Mailing of applications and recruitment materials to law student minority

associations and legal minority associations, more than 45 of which are American Indian
organizations and contacts.

. Sending each attorney vacancy announcement to additional sources we select from
our database of more than 2,400 national, state, and local legal resources (including law
schools, minority and disability organizations, specialty bars, judges and academics).
OAPM’s database allows us to undertake a customized supplemental outreach effort to
sources most likely to produce the best (and most diverse) group of candidates for the

particular vacancy. OAPM’s database includes approximately 425 diversity sources, more &
than 30 of which are American Indian sources. These sources include individual network %
leaders within the American Indian community and such organizations as: the Association ~

of American Law Schools (Native American Rights Section); Commission on Indian

_ Affairs; Federal Bar Association (Indian Law Section); Indian Bar Association of New
Mexico; Indian Country Today; Indian L.aw Resource Center; National American Indian
Housing Council; Native American Rights Fund; Navajo Nation Bar. Association; Senate
Select Committee on Indian Affairs; State Bar of Montana (Indian Law Section); Texas
Indian Bar Association; and the University of Colorado College of Law’s Indian Law
Clinic.

Our outreach to American Indian law students is necessarily directed to a very small
group: American Indians comprise less than 1 percent of the law student population. So when we
measure the success of our efforts statistically, we are dealing with very small numbers where
variances may not be meaningful. Subject to that caveat, we believe it worth noting that for the
1999-2000 Honor Program, American Indian candidates were hired at a rate that is more than
twice as favorable as the overall hiring rate. For last year and for our Summer Law Intern

Program for the past 2 years, the rate was equivalent or slightly more favorable than the overall
hiring rate.

-12-
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In February 1999, BIS published American Indians and Crime, which is discussed in the
Advisory Committee’s Report (pages 7-8). This report, primarily based on BJS’s National Crime
Victimization Survey, indicates that Native Americans are the victims of violent crime at nearly
twice the national average. By contrast to non-Native Americans, the victimization rate is higher
across age groups, housing location, income groups, and gender.

Currently, BJS is working on several other projects that are relevant, at least in part, to
some of the concerns and recommendations contained in the Report.

First, as part of its ongoing statistical programs describing defendants convicted and
sentenced in federal and state courts, BJS currently reports on sentences imposed on defendants in
both federal and state courts. These statistics are reported annually for federal offenses in the BIS
publication Compendium of Federal Justice Statistics and bi-annually for state offenses in the
publication Felony Sentences in State Courts. Currently, statistics describing sentences imposed
on Native Americans are not reported in either the federal or state publications. Publications
describing federal defendants can be modified in the future to report on the processing of Native
Americans in the federal criminal justice system. However, due to sampling issues regarding'the
state-level data, BJS is unable to report reliable statistics describing Native American sentences
for felony offenses in state courts.

Second, BJS is planning to prepare a Special Report on changes in federal sentencing
practices that resulted from the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984 and subsequent legislation. While
this report will primarily focus on trends in aggregate sentencing practices, it will include a
section on sentences imposed across racial groups — including Native Americans — and describe
the extent to which any differences in sentences imposed may have resulted from federal

legislation. This would address some of the concerns reflected in the sixth recommendation of the
Advisory Committee’s Report.

BIJS is also planning on preparing a Special Report describing Native Americans
processed in the federal criminal justice system. This report would describe the number of Native
Americans arrested on federal charges, prosecutorial decisions made by U.S. Attorneys, the
outcome of criminal cases, and sentences imposed in U.S. district courts.

BJS has recently obtained data from the Bureau of Indian Affairs describing crime
incidents and arrests made by law enforcement in approximately 12 tribal jurisdictions. Once
these data are appropriately structured, BJS plans to prepare a statistical report describing crime in

these jurisdictions. To the extent practicable, data describing U.S. Attorney activity in these 12
jurisdictions will also be included.

Finally, BIS plans to release a report on jails in Indian country in July 2000. Based on the
1998 and 1999 survey of jails in Indian country, the report captures the number of inmates housed
in confinement facilities, detention centers, jails and other correctional facilities located on Indian
land. Data on the number of offenders under community supervision, and offender characteristics

-14-
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understanding and as teachers to train state, local, and tribal officials to resolve conflicts and
disputes on their own. With sufficient resources, CRS will be prepared to undertake both tasks
wholeheartedly.

Working to Fight Hate Crimes

The State Advisory Committee recommends strengthening hate crimes legislation at the
federal level to respond to egregious crimes involving racial bigotry. Although the Commission
did not request a response from us to this recommendation, we wish to note that strengthening the
existing federal hate crimes legislation is a major priority for DOJ. The Administration supports a
current proposal that would address some of the limitations of the current law. First, the proposal
would eliminate the law’s requirement that the govemnment be required to prove that the defendant
committed an offense not only because of the victim’s race, color, religion, or national origin, but
also because of the victim’s participation in one of six narrowly defined "federally protected
activities." Second, the proposal would amend the current statute to provide coverage for violent
hate crimes committed because of the victim’s sexual orientation, gender, or disability.

Also, DOJF’s Civil Rights Division has dedicated significant resources in recent years to
investigating and prosecuting hate crimes, including hate crimes committed against Native
Americans. The Division sought and obtained significant increases in funding for FY 1999 and
FY 2000 that will allow us to bring more cases, including those hate crimes. During FY 1999, the
Division filed 31 racial violence cases, charging 46 defendants in connection with crimes such as
cross-burnings, arson, vandalism, shootings, and assault.

Conclusion

_ We appreciate the interest of the State Advisory Committee and the Commission in
improving the lives of Native Americans both in South Dakota and in the Nation as a whole. We
hope that you will not overlook the many fine people in the various offices, bureaus, and
components of DOJ - including the FBI, the Civil Rights Division, the U.S. Attorneys’ Offices,
CRS, OJP, and OTJ -- who have dedicated a substantial part of their lives to public service
devoted to Native Americans. Because of their hard work, we are making a difference in Native
American communities. We realize that we have a long way to go, and we hope that the State
Advisory Committee and the Commission will support us in those efforts. By moving forward in
a cooperative and collaborative way, we can make significant progress.

Attachments (2)
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Rosebud Sioux Tribe:
(d) VAWO-Rural 25,000 25,000
(d)VAWO-Arrest 270,965 280,396 551,361
(d)VAWO-STOP 75,000 9,000 200,000 240,000 524,000
()BJA-LLEBG 383,757 494,764 405,579 394,708 ) 1,678,808
(d)BJA-TSAV 120,000 90,000 ' 105,000 315,000
(d)BJA-Indigent Defense . 14,484 14,484
(d)CPO-Tribal 6,100,770 6,100,770
(d) DCPO 30,000 30,000
(f) JJ-subgrant 8,745 8.745
Subtotal 9,248,168

Sisseton Wahpeton Sioux
Tribe/Tribe’s Women’s Circle:

(d)DCPO 30,000 68,838 98,838

s (HBJA-LLEBG 48,186 46,894 95,080
& (f) JJ-Subgrant 9,180 58,000 67,180
(d) VAWO - Arrest 163,868 163,868

(d) VAWO-STOP 84,000 64,000 148,000

(d) OVC-VAIC 9,000 10,000 19,000

Subtotal 591,966

Yankton Sioux Tribe/YST-Court of
Indian Offenses:

(d)DCPO 30,000 69,994 99,994

(d)VAWO-Sex Offender.Mgmt.Proj. 50,000 50,000

(d) BJA-Sex Offender Intervention ) ; 29,034 29,034

Proj.

(d) CPO-Tribal 151,093 151.093
Subtotal 330,121

Northern Plains Judicial Institute:
(d) VAWO-STOP 83,958 83,958
Subtotal . 83,958
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July, 2000

National Institute of Justice

The National Institute of Justice (NIJ) is the research and development agency of DOJ. It

was established by Congress to prevent and reduce crime and to improve the criminal justice
system by sponsoring research projects and development programs, developing new technologies
to fight crime, evaluating the effectiveness of criminal justice programs, and identifying and
recommending programs that have been successful or are promising. NIJ publishes materials that
allow criminal justice research professionals, policy makers, and researchers to stay abreast of the
latest NIJ research and the results of program evaluations.

Partnership Initiatives:

Policing on American Indian Reservations. This 18-month discretionary grant program
provides an opportunity for Indian tribes to examine and assess the effectiveness of
policing strategies and determine how tribes and private and public agencies concerned
with the welfare of American Indian communities might apply the findings. In FY 1995,
NIJ awarded $334,010 for this project. The final report completed for this project is
currently under review.

Understanding Partner Violence in Native Americar Women. Though data on violence

against Native American women are scant, some reports suggest that rates of partner

violence are 13 times the national average. This project will survey women of several ",
Plains Indian tribes to determine the prevalence of partner violence. The study will

address cultural beliefs and the possible contribution of substance abuse to domestic

violence. The study fills a need to address major concerns affecting the well-being of

American Indians, who are not well represented in violence research, and is of particular

interest to the National Institute for Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) and the

Office of Research on Minority Health. NTAAA awarded $144,967 for this project, which

NIJ will monitor. The expected completion date is September, 2000.

Impact Evaluation of STOP Grant Programs for Reducing Violence Against Women
Among Indian Tribes. The purpose of this 24-month project is to evaluate the impact of
the STOP Violence Against Indian Women Discretionary Grant Program. The study is
intended to develop a basic understanding of the cultural and legal context of reducing
violence against women among Indian tribes, evaluate the impact of tribal programs aimed
at reducing violence against women in terms of effectiveness and identify program
elements that require adjustment or modification, and make recommendations for
improving existing programs and developing effective new programs for tribes to reduce
violence against women. In FY 1996, a total of $144,666 was awarded to the University

of Arizona for this project. The final report completed for this evaluation is currently
under review.
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measure the efficacy of the Peacemaker Court. 'This study sought to answer such
questions as: Does the work of the Peacemaker Division contribute to greater social
harmony? What is the actual recidivism rate among Division participants and how does
this compare with rates for comparable crimes as handled by the Nation's courts? Do
Peacemaker participants perceive the Division as having helped communities deal with
violence and disorder? How do Peacemaker Division results compare in standard
measures of justice effectiveness with the western justice model? The longer term
~neillary goal was to assist the Navajo Judicial Office in the development of a
comprehensive computerized information system to organize data measuring Court
performance, and enable administrators to monitor and evaluate the effectiveness and
impact of Court operations. In FY 1997, N1J awarded a grant to Temple University to
conduct this research. The study is complete and is available from NCJRS.

An Assessment of Suicide Ideation Among Indians in County Jails. The purpose of this 12
month project is to examine cultural/social factors affecting suicidal thoughts and behavior
among incarcerated Northern Plains Indians (nine Indian nations, including the Blackfeet,
Cheyenne, Chippewa, Crow, Delaware, and Omaha). Specific objectives are to (1) assess
rates of suicide ideation among Indian and non-Indian detainees; (2) develop measures of
culture-specific symptoms/syndromes of suicide ideation and incorporate them into a
screening protocol; and (3) recommend more culturally-sensitive intervention and
treatment policy and procedures. In FY 1999, NIJ awarded $49,120 to the University of
Kansas Center for Research, Inc. to conduct the research, which will be completed in
2000. :

A Pilot Study Regarding the Interrelationships of Alcohol and Drugs on Crime Among
Adult American Indians - A Prevalence and Methodical Study. The purpose of this study
is to fully investigate the nexus between alcohol and/or other drugs and crime in Indian
Country. This study will employ a rigorous scientific study of a large sample (N=~1,000)

“at the Oglala Sioux Tribal Reservation (SD) and the Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa

Indians reservation (ND). It will be the first systematic empirical study of alcohol and drug
involvement in crime in the two Indian communities. This eighteen-month effort will also
explore commonalities and differences among men and women who are arrested for
alcohol and drug related crimes. In FY 1999, NIJ awarded $201,621 to the University of
New Mexico’s Center on Alcoholism, Substance Abuse, and Additions.

Turnover Among Alaska Village Public Safety Officers (VPSOs): An Examination of the
Factors Associated with Attrition. The demands of the physical geography and a lack of
economies of scale have made it a challenge to provide policing services to rural Alaska
Native villages across the state. Different policing programs developed to meet that
challenge using specially appointed native police officers have all been plagued with the
problem of officer attrition. The Village Public Safety Officer (VPSO) Program, which
currently provides police and other public safety services to 85 Alaska Native villages, is
no exception to that rule. This research done by the University of Alaska at Anchorage
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determine which scales account for overall differences and which types of communities
differ on which scales. Analyses using CONCORD and ANTHROPAC 4.0 will allow
content analysis, domain and thematic evaluation, multidimensional analysis, and cluster
analysis. The project is scheduled for completion in September, 2001.

Partner Drug and Alcohol Use, Mediating Factors , and Violence Against Women. This
18-month study will examine the effects of women’s and men’s illegal drug use, alcohol
use, and binge and problem drinking on IPV (Intimate Partner Violence) against women.
Specific types of drugs, multiple drug use, and drug/alcohol intoxication at the time of
violent incidents will be examined in relation to severe assaults, minor assaults, injuries,
and frequencies of assaults. The study will identify factors that mediate the effects of
drugs and alcohol use on IPV, including age of victim and partner, marital status,
individual and neighborhood level socioeconomic factors, power control issues, and
witnessing domestic violence as a child. The study will involve primary data collection
from the Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring (ADAM) participants in Oklahoma City. All
male and female ADAM participants who are married, cohabiting or dating a steady
partner, or who were divorced or separated within the past year will be eligible to
participate. An IPV addendum will be administered to 575 women and 950 men. Drug
and alcohol and IPV data will be based on self report. IPV questions will be adapted from
the Conflict Tactic Scale and will include questions on emotional, physical, and sexual
abuse, as well as resulting injuries during the past year. NIJ awarded this $186,752.
project in FY2000. The principal investigator is Lorraine Malcoe, Ph.D., University of
New Mexico.

Other Partnership Initiatives:

Restorative Justice Symposium. In January 1996, a Restorative Justice Symposium was

- sponsored by N1J and the Office for Victims of Crime, in cooperation with BJA and the

Office of Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention. The symposium brought together a
diverse, interdisciplinary group of over 120 individuals from the Unitéd States and Canada
to discuss the emerging concept of restorative justice and its potential for addressing
criminal justice issues. Several American Indians, Alaska Natives, and Native Hawaiians
participated as either key speakers, panelists, conference planning committee members, or
attendees.

Strategic Planning Meeting on Crime and Justice Research in Indian Country. In
October, 1998, NIJ in partnership with the Office of American Indians and Alaska
Natives, OJIDP and other OJP offices sponsored this strategic planning meeting. Twelve
papers were commissioned to provide a background for the discussion of approximately
50 researchers and practitioners experienced in this area. These papers are now being
revised for publication as a book. The meeting also resulted in a summary proceedings.
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Allegation:

-AIM member killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs
‘["Guardians of the Oglala Nation"].
. Investigation "ongoing."

Finding:

On 01/05/75, Leon L., Swift Bird was killed near Pine Ridge, SD, by
Dorothy Iris Poor Bear. Poor Bear stabbed Swift Bird to death with a knife.
On 09/15/75, Dorothy Iris Poor Bear appeared in U.S. District Court, Rapid
City, South Dakota, and entered a guilty plea to an indictment which charged
her with Voluntary Manslaughter in violation of Title 18, U.S. Code, Sections
1153 and 1112. On the same date, Poor Bear was sentenced to the custody of
the Attomey General for a period of three years. Execution of the prison
sentence was suspended, and Poor Bear was placed on probation.

o1

& Lydla Cut Grass

Allegation;

AIM member killed at Wounded Knee by GOONSs,
No investigation. o .

Finding:

On 01/05/76, Lydla Cut Grass died at a residence in Wounded Knee,
SD. Initial information suggested that Cut Grass may have died as a result of
a beating that took place three weeks prior to her death. An autopsy determined
hgrl death was not linked to the prior beating, but was a result of over consumption
of liquor.
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Allegation:

AIM member found dead in Pine Ridge alley, beaten.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 01/07/74, Edward Means, Jr. was found dead in an alley behind the
Wesleyan Laketa Mission, Pine Ridge, South Dakota. The autopsy determined
the cause of death to be hypothermia related to acute alcoholic intoxication.

i+ Byron DeSersa @

Allegation:

OSCRO organizer and AIM supporter assassinated by GOONs in
Wanblee, Amests by local authorities resulted in two GOONs - Dale Janis and
Charlie Winters, serving two years of five year sentences for "manslaughter.”
Charges dropped against two GOON leaders, Manny Wilson and Chuck
Richards, on the basis of "self-defense" despite DeSersa having been unarmed
when shot to death.

Finding:

Byron De Sersa was shot and killed 01/31/76 while driving his motor
vehicle on the outskirts of Wanblee, SD. The defendants were acquitted by a
jury on 03/2/77. Codefendant Charles David Winters pleaded guilty to being
an accessory after the fact to second degree murder and was sentenced to 5
years in prison, A juvenile defendant was tried on second degree murder charges
and found guilty by a federal jury and was sentenced 05/16/77, under the
Federal Youth Comrections Act, 18 U.S.C. 4219,

T






o [ s N s O s T s O s S i N s Y G ) G O S S By GHD [y S

L91

© Hobart Horse @

Allegation:

AIM member beaten, shot and repeatedly run over with automobile at
Sharp's Comers. No Investigation.

Finding:
Hobart Kenneth Horse died on 03/27/77 from multiple gunshot wounds.

Roger James Cline was charged with the death on 03/28/77, and found guilty
of voluntary manslaughter on 09/08/77: Cline was sentenced to 10 years,

<< >p

O Stacy Cotter @

Allegation:

Shot to death in an ambush at Manderson.
No investigation,

Finding:

Stacy Cotter, true name Stacy G. Cortier, aka Stacy G. Cottier, was
found 03/21/75 in Manderson, SD with humerous bullet wounds. Cortier was
shot sometime during the evening or early moming of 03/20-21/75. Investigation
revealed that after apparent arguments and a car being shot up, Jerry Bear Shield
may have been shot in the neck by Cortier and Bear Shield in tum killed Cortier.
Jerry Bear Shield was convicted 10/23/75 upon a plea of guilty in U.S. District
Court, Rapid City, SD to an information charging violation of 18 USC, Section
1153 and 1112, Voluntary Manslaughter. Bear Shield was sentenced to one
year in custody.

@ Edith Eagle Hawk &
(and her two children)

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed in an automobile accident after being run off the
road by a white vigilante, Albert Coomes. Coomes was also killed in the
accident, GOON Mark Clifford identified as having also been in the Coomes
car, escaped. Investigation closed without questioning Clifford.

Finding:

Edith Eagle Hawk died 03/22/75. She died as a result of a two-car
automobile accident four miles north of Scenic, South Dakota, in Pennington
County, outside the exterior boundaries of the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation.
Her injuries described on her death certificate indicate the immediate cause of
death was a crushed chest.

This matter was not investigated by the FBI because it occurred off the
reservation, outside of federal jurisdiction.

<< >

@ Cleveland Reddest &

Allegation:

AIM member killed at Kyle by "person or persons unknown."
No investigation.

Finding:

Cleveland Reddest died 3/26976, as a result of a hit and run accident
18 miles east of Kyle, South Dakota. Evidence points to Reddest lying in the
road before the accident. Two suspects were identified. One of the individuals
acknowledged driving the car. The case was not prosecuted because there was
insufficient evidence of criminal conduct.
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& Priscilla White Plume

Allegation:

Aim supporter killed at Manderson by GOONs.
No investigation.

Finding:

Priscilla White Plume was found dead 07/14/73. She was believed to
have been struck and killed in a hit and run accident, near Manderson, South
Dakota, by a vehicle. On 09/28/76, the South Dakota U.S. Attorney's Office
declined prosecution in this matter because there was insufficient evidence to
establish a Federal crime, Further, there was inadequate information to identify
g petl;pel!:rBatlor. In view of the declination, no further investigation was conducted

y the FBL
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© Frank Clearwater &

Allegation:

AIM member killed by heavy machine gun round at Wounded Knee.
No investigation.

Finding:

Frank Clearwater, true name Frank J. Clear, was shot at a road block
in Wounded Knee, South Dakota, in April 1973 during a gunfight which started
when Federal agents were fired upon. They returned fire. Clearwater died in
a hospital on 04/25/73. The facts gathered indicated Clearwater's death was
the result of gunfire received from Federal law enforcement officials after 6-
8 individuals began firing at Deputy U.S. Marshals at a road block on 4/13/73,

A
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© Roxeine Roark &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Porcupine by "unknown assailants.”
Investigation open, still "pending."

Finding:

Roxeine Roark, a teacher at the Porcupine Day-School, was shot in
stomach with a .357 magnum pistol at her residence in Porcupine, South Dakota.
Investigation revealed that Roark and a friend were handling the weapon when
it discharged accidentally. Roxeine died enroute to the hospital. No prosecution
was undertaken due to the lack of sufficient evidence of a crime.

® Buddy Lamont &
(true name Lawrence Dean Lamont)

Allegation:

AIM member hit by M16 fire at Wounded Knee and bled to death while
pinned down by fire. No investigation.

Finding:

Buddy Lamont, aka Lawrence Dean Lamont (TN), was s_hot and killed
04/27/73 during a gunfight with Federal officers at a roadblock in Wounded
Knee. The facts of the matter, along with the autopsy report, were reviewed
by the U.S. Attomney. No charges were filed.




0LT

O Betty Jo Dubray &

Allegation:

AIM supporter beaten to death at Martin, South Dakota.
No investigation.

Finding:

Betty Jo Dubray dicd 04/28/76, approximately three miles north of
Longvalley, South Dakota, on Highway 73, in Washabaugh County, as a result
of a brain injury in an automobile/truck accident.

Her death was the result of an automobile/truck accident, and no
investigation was conducted by the FBI.

<« »>p

& Marvin Two Two ©

Allegation:

AIM supporter shot to death at Pine Ridge.
No investigation. ’

Finding:

Marvin Two Two died in Portland, Oregon on 01/02/93. David Martin
Two Two died 05/06/76. A review of death certificates in all surrounding
counties in South Dakota and Nebraska reflect no record of his death.

The FBI had 27 Agents assigned to Pine Ridge during that time and
would have addressed this case if Two Two had been murdered on Pine Ridge.

® Julia Pretty Hips &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by "unknown assailants."
No investigation.

Finding:

Julia Pretty Hips was found 05/09/76, near the public school at Pine
Ridge. An autopsy was performed. The cause of death was attributed to carbon
tetrachloide poisoning which led to pneumonia. No signs of trauma were
observed on her body. Since there was no evidence of a crime, no charges were
filed.

@ Ben Sitting Up &

Allegation:

AIM member killed at Wanblee by "unknown assailants.”
No investigation.

Finding:

Ben Sitting Up was killed in May, 1975, by an individual using an axe,
A suspect was identified but was not prosecuted because of impairment caused
by a mental condition.
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& Sam Afraid of Bear @ @ Kevin Hill &

(true name Kenneth Mansfield Hill)

Allegation:

AIM supporter shot to death at Pine Ridge. Allegation:

Investigation "ongoing."
AIM supporter killed at Oglala by "party or parties unknown."
Investigation "still open.”

Finding:

Sam Afraid of Bear was discovered on the Pine Ridge Reservation on Finding:
05/20/76. He had been beaten to death, Two subjects were identified. Rudolph
Running Shield pled guilty in 07/77. Luke Black EIk, Jr. was found guilty in Kenneth Mansfield Hill, a resident of Los Angeles, was hitchhiking in
U.S. District Court ofg 2nd Degree Murder and sentenced to serve 15 years on Oelrich, SD when picked up by four individuals. He was stabbed 19 times,
02/09/78. presumably for his money, by a 17 year-old Indian youth. The juvenile was

convicted of second degree murder on 10/12/76 in U.S. District Court. He was
sentenced on 01/03/77, to 15 years in prison.

<4 >
<< >p
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= © Kenneth Little §
© Leah Spotted Elk &
Allegation: "
AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs. Allegation:
Investigation still "pending."
AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs.
No investigation.
Finding:
Kenneth Lee Little died on 06/01/75, in Pine Ridge after being struck J Finding:
with a tire iron by Antoine William Bluebird during a quarrel. Bluebird was
found guilty in U.S. District Court, Rapid City on 10/14/75, and sentenced on Leah Spotted Elk was murdered near Wolf Creek, SD on 06/15/75.

10/14/75, to 7 years; 6 months probation. . Her husband, Kenneth John Returns From Scout, was charged. Subject pled
. guilty on 10/13/75, to shooting his wife while the two were drinking. He was
sentenced to 2 years with 5 months probation.
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O Clarence Cross &

Allegation:

AIM supporter shot to death in ambush by GOONs. Although assailants
were identified by eyewitnesses, brother Vemal Cross, wounded in ambush,
was briefly charged with crime. No further investigation,

Finding:

This was a color of law-law enforcement brutality case involving two
BIA police officers who allegedly shot victims during an arrest on 07/11/73,
near Batesland, SD. Clarence Cross died and another family member was
wounded. The victim's car was stopped by the subject officers and when victims
resisted arrest they were shot by the officers. Vernal Cross was treated at Gordon,
NE hospital and released. Clarence Cross was shot in the stomach and right
thigh and ultimately died of complications at Fitzsimons Army Medical Center,
Aurora, CO. An autopsy was performed and cause of death was linked to the
gun shot wound to the abdomen. The U.S. Attomey's Office advised that there
was insufficient evidence to charge the officers with a crime.

<<« >
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® Joseph Stuntz Killsright &
(true name Joseph Bedell Stuntz)

Allegation:

AIM member killed by FBI sniper during Oglala firefight.
No investigation.

Finding:

Joseph Stuntz Killsright, aka Joseph Bedell Stuntz (TN), was shot and
killed 06/26/75, during the RESMURS investigation. Stuntz was seen shooting
at FBI SA's Williams and Coler at Jumping Bull Community and his body was
subsequently found alongside the Green house near the edge of the cliff. Stuntz
was apparently shot by a law enforcement officer at the scene. When the body
of Stuntz was found, he was wearing a SWAT fatigue jacket with "F.B.L." on
the back, belonging to SA Coler, that had apparently been taken from the trunk
of SA Coler's vehicle after SA Coler was murdered.
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QO Betty Means &

Allegation:

AIM member killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 07/03/76, Betty Lou Means was found dead along Highway 18
several miles east of Pine Ridge, South Dakota. She was apparently hit by
vehicle. Investigation reflected that an individual was driving a vehicle which
struck the victim. Investigation also reflected that the passenger, Arlene Good
Voice, grabbed and jerked the steering wheel which caused vehicle to hit Ms.
Means. On 12/02/76, the U.S. Attorney's Office, Sioux Falls, South Dakota,
declined prosecution of the driver. Although he left the scene of an accident,
his actions were not a violation of Federal law. On 07/08/77, Arlene Good
Voice pled guilty to Assault, a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections
1153 and 113(d). She received a sentence of 18 months probation on 08/22/77,
in United States District Court, Rapid City, South Dakota.

& James Briggs Yellow O

Allegation:

Heart attack caused by FBI air assault on his home.
No investigation,

Finding:

James Briggs Yellow, true name James Brings Yellow, was in the Pine
Ridge Hospital at least one day prior to his death and may have been in for five
days prior to his death, A review of his death certificate showed that he died
of thiree causes., The three causes were ascending cholangitis, gram negative
sepsis and resulting shock. Other significant conditions included pneumonia
and lung shock.
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¢ Andrew Paul Stewart &

Allegation:

Nephew of AIM spiritual leader Leonard Crow Dog, killed by GOONs
on Pine Ridge. No investigation.

Finding:

On 07/26/75, a Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) Officer, Rosebud Indian
Reservation, South Dakota advised that Andrew Stewart was dead on arrival
at the Rosebud Public Health Service Hospital. Stewart was shot in the head.
On 02/05/76, an Assistant U, S. Attorney at Sioux Falls, South Dakota declined
prosecution, The autopsy report revealed the cause of death was probably a
self-inflicted gunshot wound. No credible information was developed suggesting
that any specific person caused the death. -

2 © Julius Bad Heart Bull ©

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Oglala by "person or persons unknown."
No investigation.

Finding:

Julius Bad Heart Bull was the victim of an assault occurring near

Oglala, South Dakota, on 07/30/73. Witnesses to the incident said Bartholomew
Joseph Long knocked the victim to the ground with his fist, pickedupa2x 4
board, approximately three feet long containing several protruding nails, and
hit victim in the head several times. Victim died at Rapid City, South Dakota
on 07/31/73. Long was arrested on 08/03/73, and charged with Second Degree
Murder. On 01/11/74, he appeared in United States District Court, Rapid City,
South Dakota and was sentenced to the custody of the Attomey General. On
04/19/74, Long was committed to the custody of the Attomey General for 10
years, :
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© Sandra Wounded Foot & -

Allegation;

AIM supporter killed at Sharp's-Corners by "unknown assailants."
No investigation.

Finding:

On 08/16/76, Sandra Ellen Wounded Foot, age 15, was found shot in
the head in a remote area of the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation. Suspect Paul
Duane Herman, Jr., who was a Bureau of Indian Affairs Investigator, was
believed responsible for the murder. The victim was last séen alive with Herman
in the early moming of 08/14/76. On 08/16/78, a Federal Grand Jury for the
District of South Dakota, Sioux Falls, South Dakota, returned a true bill charging
Paul Duane Herman, Jr., with violation of Title 18, U.S. Code, Sections 1153
and 1111, Herman was arrested on 08/24/78, at Fort McDowell, Arizona. On
12/19/78, Herman pled guilty in U.S. District Court, Rapid City, South Dakota,
to a superseding information charging him with violation of Title 18, U.S. Code,
Sections 1153 and 1112, Voluntary Manslaughter. On 02/09/79, he was sentenced
to ten years in the custody of the Attorney General,

<< , >

® Randy Hunter &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Kyle by "party or parties unknown."
Investigation still "ongoing."

Finding:

On the evening of 08/25-26/75, Randy Hunter was shot to death in
Kyle, South Dakota. Vern Carlin Top Bear was identified through witnesses
as threatening victim with a rifle and subsequently shooting the rifle which
resulted in Hunter's death. On 10/13/75, Vem Carlin Top Bear was found not
guilty by a jury in United States District Court, Rapid City. The indictment had
charged him with Second Degree Murder in violation of United States Code,
Title 18, Sections 1153 and 1111.
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@ Dennis LeCompte &

Allegation:

AIM member killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 09/07/74, the Pine Ridge, South Dakota, Police Department officers
responded to a fight at the Glenn Three Stars residence, Pine Ridge, South
Dakota. Upon arrival, police found children in living room and Dennis LeCompte
dead in the northwest bedroom. Tliree Stars admitted shooting Dennis LeCompte
during a struggle after LeCompte stabbed Three Stars' son with a knife. On
06/23775 Three Stars was indicted by a Federal Grand Jury, Sioux Falls, South
Dakota. On 10/15/75, his trial commenced in U.S. District Court, Deadwood,
South Dakota. On 10/17/75, Three Stars was acquitted of the charge Voluntary
Manslaughter.

<« >

3 & Howard Blue Bird &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 09/04/75, the Pine Ridge, South Dakota Police Department rec:_:ived
a telephone call from an unknown female who.reported a fight and stabbing
at the Le Roy Apple residence in Rine Ridge, South Dakota. Pine Ridge Bureau
of Indian Affairs (BIA) police officers found the victim, Howard Blue Bird,
lying in the kitchen. Op 09/05/75, a Federal Grand Jury, Rapid City, South
Dakota returned a true bill charging Le Roy Apple with violation of Title 18,
USC, Sections 1153 and 1112. On 09/10/75, Apple was interviewed and
admitted stabbing Blue Bird. On 10/15/75, Apple appeared in U.S, District
Court, Deadwood, South Dakota, and pled guilty to violation Title 18, U.sS.
Code, Section 113(c), Assault with a Deadly Weapon to Comrmit Bodily Injury.
He was sentenced to one year in the custody of the Attomey General.

€ James Little &

Allegation:

AIM supporter stomped to death by GOONs in Oglala.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 09/10/75, James Little was kicked and beaten to death at
Oglala, South Dakota. Tom Chief Eagle, Cecil Bear Robe, Fred Marrowbone
and a juvenile were identified by witnesses as having participated in the beating
death of Mr. Little. The suspects were arrested by Bureau of Indian Affairs
(BIA) Officers on 09/11/75. On 10/20/75, a Federal jury sitting in trial at Rapid
City, South Dakota found subjects Thomas Chief Eagle, Fred Marrowbone and
the juvenile guilty of Voluntary Manslaughter, Title 18, U.S. Code, Section
1112(a). Cecil Bear Robe was acquitted. On 12/05/75, Thomas Chief Eagle
was sentenced to the custody of the U.S. Attomey for a period of six years, the
juvenile was sentenced to the custody of the U.S. Attorney General for a period
of four years pursuant to the Federal Youth Corrections Act and Fred Marrowbone
was sentenced to the custody. of the U.S. Attorney General for a period of six
years.

<« >

® Jackson Washington Cutt &

Allegation:

AIM member killed at Parmalee by "unknown individuals.”
Investigation still "ongoing."

Finding:

On 9/11/73, Jackson Washington Cutt was found dead in front of a
residerice in Parmelee, South Dakota. Information from witnesses indicated
the victim was involved in fight earlier in the moming. An eyewitness observed
a suspect hit the victim over head with hatchet, The suspect was arrested on
12/27/73 in Parmelee, South Dakota by the Rosebud Police Department, On
01/29/75 a witness was re-interviewed and advised that he did not actually see
the suspect strike the victim with-a hatchet. On 01/29/75 the suspect was re-
interviewed. He admitted being near the scene but denied involvement and
denied knowledge of who perpetrated the crime. An Assistant U.S. Attorney,
Sioux Falls, South Dakota, advised that a motion and order to dismiss the
indictment in the above captioned matter was filed on 03/13/75. There was
insufficient evidence to achieve a conviction.
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O Robert Reddy &

Allegation:

AIM member killed at Kyle by gunshot.
No investigation.

Finding:

Robert Reddy was found dead on 12/16/1974, near Kyle, SD, on the
Pine Ridge Reservation, An autopsy revealed Reddy died of two stab wounds
through the heart. Although a suspect was identified, there was insufficient
evidence to charge and convict the suspect.

& Melvin Spider &

GLT

Allegation:

AIM member killed in Porcupine, South Dakota.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 09/22/73, a BIA officer requested FBI assistance with regard to
Melvin Spider, who was found dead on the road between Porcupine and Sharp's
Corner on the Pine Ridge Reservation. Initial investigation suggested Spider
was either a victim of a vehicular hit and run or a severe blow to the head.
Interviews revealed Spider was drunk prior to his death. An autopsy on 09/22/73
revealed Spider died on 09/21/73, of extensive cerebral lacerations of the brain,
which were traumatic in nature, the cause of which was not obvious. Although
a suspect was developed, there was insufficient evidence to charge that person
with the death.

~
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& Philip Black Elk &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed when his house exploded.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 06/30/73, the private residence of Phillip Black Elk was completely
destroyed by a propane gas explosion. Investigation determined that the
explosion was caused by a leakage of propane gas within the residence. A
thiorough neighborhood investigation was conducted which revealed there had
been a previous problem with propane gas leakage in the neighborhood over
the previous two weeks. Immediately after the explosion, Black Elk advised
he entered the residence and attempted to light the pilot on the hot water heater
when the explosion occurred. Black Elk suffered severe burns and was
immediately taken to the Pine Ridge Community Hospital, where he was listed
in serious condition. Shortly thereafter, Black Elk was flown to Fitzsimmons
General Hospital, Denver, Colorado, where he died. Since the injury was
accidental and caused by actions of the victim, no further criminal investigation
was conducted.

<« P

& Aloysius Long Soldier &
Allegation:

AIM member killed at Kyle, South Dakota, by GOONS.
No investigation,

Finding:

On 02/09/77, South Dakota DCI advised the FBI of investigation into
the death of Aloysius Long Soldier. He died on 10/07/74. On 02/16/77, a family
member requested a review of the death investigation. The BIA investigative
file into the death was reviewed. It was the conclusion of the BIA that there
was no evidence that the death of Aloysius was anything other than a suicide.
The-BIA case was closed. In view of the BIA investigative results, and since
the family member was unable to offer any factual evidence suggesting that
the death was a homicide, no further investigation was conducted.
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© Phillip Little Crow ©

Allegation:

AIM supporter beaten to death by GOONS at Pine Ridge.
No investigation.

Finding:

On 11/14/73, on the Pine Ridge Reservation, Irtby Leroy Hand killed
Phillip Emery Little Crow by striking him with his fists, Hand signeda
confession. Autopsy results revealed Little Crow died of a skull fracture. On
08/28/74, Hand was sentenced to five years custody of the Attorney General.

<« : ot

© Pedro Bissonette &

Allegation:

Oglala Sioux Civil Rights Organization (OSCRO) organizer and AIM
supporter assassinated by BIA Police/lGOONs. Body removed from Pine Ridge
jurisdiction prior to autopsy by government contract coroner. No investigation.

Finding:

Pedro Bissonette was killed on a highway four miles north of Pine
Ridge. BIA officers tried to arrest Bissonette on two fugitive warrants, one
stemming from his Wounded Knee activities. When Bissonette advanced on
the officers with a raised 30.06, he was shot. Five hours prior to the time he
was shot, Bissonette had eluded two other BIA police officers. Autopsy results
revealed Bissonette was killed by a single shotgun blast in the chest fired by
a police officer. ) .

24

& Olivia Binas &
(true name Olivia Bianas)

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed in Porcupine by "person or persons unknown.".
Investigation still "open."

Finding:

. On 10/26/75, BIA police contacted the FBI to advise that Olivia Bianas
was found dead at her home. An autopsy revealed Olivia died of a cerebral
hemorrhage caused by a severe beating, Witnesses observed Norman Bianas
beat his wife on the day she died. On 10/27/75, Norman Bianas was arrested.
On 11/13f75, he made an admission of his role in the death. On 01/23/76,
Bianas pled not guilty to voluntary manslaughter. He subsequently withdrew
the plea on 03/08/76. On 07/09/76, he was sentenced to eight years custody of
the Attorney General. The U.S. Federal Appeals Court upheld his conviction.

<« - >

& Janice Black Bear &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Manderson by GOONs.
No investigation,

Finding:

Janice Joyce Black Bear died on 10/26/75, An autopsy revealed the
cause of Black Bear's death was cerebral contusions. Contributing death factors
were acute alcoholism and phenobarb/qualude intoxication. A suspect, George
Michael Twiss, admitted to spending the evening with the victim. Twiss recalled
that he woke up at home and had blood on his arms, shirt and pant leg. Twiss
was arrested by the BIA when they arrived at his home and he was washing his
hands. On 07/06/76, Twiss pled guilty to Involuntary Manslaughter. On 09/03/76,
Twiss was sentenced to three years custody of the Attorney General.




© Michelle Tobacco &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by "unknown persons."
No investigation,

A

Finding:

. Michelle Linda Tobacco, age 9 months, died on 10/27/75, A relative of
the victim advised that she consumed liquor, tripped and fell with the baby.
When the relative awoke, Michelle was dead. Autopsy revealed victim died on
10/27/75, of acute pneumonitis and hemorrhage to her adrenal gland. The U.S.
Attorney's Office declined to prosecute the relative.

<« >p

5 ® Delphine Crow Dog &

Allegation;

Sister of AIM spiritual leader Leonard Crow Dog. Beaten by BIA police
and left lying in a field. Died from "exposure.” No investigation.

Finding:

Delphine (Crow Dog) Eagle Deer died 12/06/72. The cause of death
listed on her death certificate was-exposure and sub-zero weather. Other
significant conditions included acute alcoholism. More specifically, the death
certificate indicated that the injury occurred as the result of "accidental freezing
to death," in an open field approximately 2.3 miles southwest of St. Francis,
South Dakota, within the exterior boundaries of the Rosebud Reservation. An
autopsy was conducted and the findings of the autopsy determined the above-
listed causes of death.
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O Elaine Wagner &
Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by "person or persons unknown."
No investigation.

Finding:

On 11/30/74, the body of Elaine Wagner was found in a creek bottom
in Pine Ridge, South Dakota. Autopsy showed Wagner died of exposure.
Interviews revealed that at about 4:00 p.m, on 11/29/74, Wagner joined two car
loads of persons and drank with several individuals on the evening of 11/29/74.
After drinking for several hours, Wagner went to a neatby home. At approximately
10:00 p.m. on 11/29/74, Wagner left the house. Her body was found on the
afternoon’of 11/30/74 approximately 100 yards from the house. No subject has
been developed and all available investigative leads were exhausted. From all
the evidence, this matter appeared to be a non-felonious death. The U.S.
Attomney advised that there was insufficient evidence to charge any person.

<« >

& Allison Fast Horse &

Allegation:

AIM supporter shot to death near Pine Ridge by "unknown assailants."
No investigation.

Finding:

Allison Fast Horse, aka Allison Little Spotted Horse, Jr. (TN), was
found shot to death on Chadron Road approximately one mile south of Oglala,
SD on the moming of 11/23/73, He had been shot in the chest with a .22 caliber
bullet. An autopsy indicated death was attributed to the bullet wound.
Examination of physical evidence failed to provide any indication as to the

identity of any possible suspects.
N
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Allegation:

20 year old Penobscot from Maine, AIM supporter stabbed to death in
Lincoln, Nebraska. With stab wounds through the neck and face, and with
other cuts and bruises, death was ruled a "suicide." Eight years later, the
“suicide" ruling was changed, but no further ‘nvestigation,

Finding:

On 12/02/74 Lincoln, Nebraska, Police Department executed a search
warrant for the barracks housing the Wounded Knee Defense Offense Legal
Committee. The warrant was based on the armed robbery of local residents by
four Indian males. Three individuals, Laurence V. Red Shirt, Ganrett E. Wounded
Head and Larry J. Martinez, were arrested in connection with the robbery. John
S. Moore, the fourth suspect in the robbery, was found dead in the barracks.
He was fatally stabbed through the neck and the right side of his face. The
autopsy report indicated death was caused by suicide. This matter was not
investigated by the FBI.

<« >

©® Carl Plenty Arrows Sr; &

Allegation:

AIM supporter shot to death near Pine Ridge by "person or persons
unknown,"
No investigation.

Finding:

At 6:30 p.m. on 12/05/75, Glen Thomas Janis shot Carl Plenty Ammows,
Sr. and Frank Claude LaPointe at Pine Ridge, South Dakota. Carl Plenty
Arrows, Sr. was pronounced dead-at the scene. Frank LaPointe subsequently
died at Gordon Hospital, Gordon, Nebraska, on 12/05/75. Janis voluntarily
turned himself in to Pine Ridge authorities on 12/05/75. During an interview
with FBI Agents on 12/06/75, Janis admitted shooting Carl Plenty Arrows, Sr.
Janis was also identified by witnesses as the person who shot both victims. On
03/29/76, Glen Janis pled guilty to second degree murder and voluntary . -
manslaughter (Title 18, USC, Sections 1153, 1111, and 1112). On 06/15/76,
Janis was sentenced to 20 years on count II and 10 years on count I, sentences
to run concurrently.

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs.
No investigation.

Finding:

At 6:30 p.m. on 12/05/75, Glen Thomas Janis shot Carl Plenty Arrows,
Sr. and Frank Claude LaPointe at Pine Ridge, South Dakota, Carl Plenty
Atrows, Sr., was pronounced dead at the scene. Frank LaPointe subsequently
died at Gordon Hospital, Gordon, Nebraska, on 12/05/75. Janis voluntarily
turned himself in to Pine Ridge authorities on 12/05/75. During an interview
with FBI Agents on 12/06/75, Janis admitted shooting Carl Plenty Arrows, Sr.
Janis was also identified by witnesses as having shot both victims. On 03/29/76
Glen Janis pled guilty to second degree murder and voluntary manslaughter
(Title 18, USC, Sections 1153, 1111, and 1112). On 06/15/76 Janis was sentenced
to 20 years on count II and 10 years on count I, sentences to run concurrently.

< Lt

O Floyd S. Binals &

Allegation:

AIM supporter killed at Pine Ridge by GOONs.
No investigation.

Finding: .

On 12/25/74 Floyd Sherman Bianas, age16 months, was killed at the
residence of Marion High Bull, High Bull stated he fell with Bianas. No one
else was present. The body of Yvette Lomraine Lone Hill, age 7, was discovered
on 12128} )74. Lone Hill had scars and bruises all over her body and had obviously
been beaten. A witness advised he observed Marion High Bull hit Yvette Lone
Hill. On 12/30/74, Marion High Bull was arrested by FBI Agents. Marion
Allen High Bull was tried by a jury and on 10/08/75 High Bull was found guilty
of one count of voluntary manslaughter (Title 18, USC, Section 1112) and one
count of second degree murder (Title 18, USC, Section 1111). On the same
date he was sentenced to 10 years count 1 and 20 years count 2, sentences to
run concurrently.
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© Yvette Loraine Lone Hill &

Allegation:

AIM supporter kilied at Kyle b'y “unknown party or iaanies.“
No investigation.

Finding:

On 12725774, Floyd Sherman Bianas, age16 months, was killed at the
residence of Marion High Bull. High Bull stated he fell with Bianas. No one
else was present. The body of Yvette Lorraine Lone Hill,-age 7, was discovered
on 12/28/74. Lone Hill had scars and bruises all over her body and had obviously
been beaten. A witness advised he observed Marion High Bull hit Yvette Lone
Hill. On 12/30/74, Marion High Bull was arrested by FBI Agents.. Marion
Allen High Bull was tried by a jury and on 10/08/75 High Bull was found guilty
of one count of voluntary manslaughter (Title 18, USC, Section 1112) and one
count of second degree murder (Title 18, USC, Section 1111). On the same
date he was sentenced to 10 years count 1 and 20 years count 2, sentences to
Tun concurrently.
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Appendix G
WINNER POLICE DEPARTMENT
217 E. 3™, Street PO BOX 691
. Winner, South Dakota 57580-0691
605-842-3324 FAX 605-842-0415
April 03, 2000

United States Commission on Civil Rights
Regional Programs Coordination Unit
Washington, DC 20425

RE: Transcript of Ms. Pearl Redfish:
Dear Ms. Hurley,

Thank you for sending the transcript of Ms. Redfish’s testimony. Iam glad to be made aware of the
incident. As I read thru the transcript that you provided me conceming the alleged incident that happened
in Winner, South Dakota, I do see several discrepancies. Ms. Redfish states that she was talked to by the
City of Winner Police Department. In essence it was a deputy from the Tripp County Sheriff’s Office
with whom she had the conversation. Ms. Redfish also states that she called the Department of Defense
concerning this incident, she called the office of the Governor of South Dakota, but at no point in time did I
receive a phone call, letter or any correspondence from Ms. Redfish concerning this incident. Had Ms.
Redfish called the Winner Police Department or had made contact with any officials of the City of Winner
this incident would have been explained to her.

The National Guard Armory in Winner, South Dakota sets in the Winner High School complex.

The entrance to the National Guard Armory where the basketball game was conducted faces the North.
The front of the building is a no parking zone except for handicap, law enforcement and emergency
vehicles. The front of the building needs to be kept clear of congestion and one of the ways this is done is
by making a designated smoking area. This designated smoking area is located behind the National Guard
Armory, or the South entrance of the National Guard Armory. This area is well lit and is away from the
congestion and those that want to smoke can go outside and smoke.

The designated smoking area is purposeiy set in the South entrance of the building to try and keep tne
young people from being exposed to those smokers who are, by law, over the age of 18. This also helps
with security and vandalism that sometimes occurs at these kind of events. With the smokers who are more
mature and being over 18 years old at one entrance and the younger people going out the North entrance or
the main entrance of the Armory, it keeps those people from intermingling thus creating lesser numbers or
groups in the area at one time. If people are going to just go outside, this separation means that fewer

people are needed to be kept track of, going in and out of the doors, seeing whether those people have paid
admuission or not.

z
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Page 2 of 2

Please find enclosed a copy of a letter from the Tripp County Sheriff’s Office concerning their involvement
in the alleged incident and a letter from the principal of the Winner High School conceming their policies.

Again, I would like to thank you for sending me the transcript. I am somewhat in awe of your cover letter
where it states that witnesses have defamed, degraded or incriminated the Winner Police Department. [ am
also awed that Ms. Redfish could call all these individuals, drive to Rapid City, South Dakota to appear in
front of your committee with these allegations concerning us and not at any time have we been notified

concerning this incident. The Winner Police Department has made great strides in trying to treat all
individuals the same.

Sincerely,

ol I Aot

" Paul J. Schueth

Chief of Police
Winner, South Dakota %
Enclosures:

letter from Deputy Connot, Tripp County Sheriff’s Office
letter froin Dean Keith, Principal Winner High School
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TRIPP COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE
P.0. BOX 531
WINNER, SOUTH DAKOTA 57580
(605) 842-3600

March 27, 2000

To Whom It May Concern,

My name Robert J. Connot, and I am a Deputy Sheriff m Tripp County, South Dakota. I
have held this position since September of 1994. I was the officer that was working at the
high school girl's basketball game between Winner and Todd County High Schools on
October 19, 1999, I recall the events of that evening concerning the allegations set forth
in the letter sent to Winner Chief of Police Paul Schueth.

First of all, it should noted that the Winner Police Department was not involved in the
conversation that occurred between myself and any other parties. I do not recall if I had
my uniform shirt with patches clearly identifying myself as a Deputy Sheriff or if I had my
light jacket on which has "Sheriff's Office” applied to the back on a large screen, but either
way, I was clearly identified as an officer of the Sheriff's Office that evening.

‘When I arrived at the game shortly before the beginning of the varsity game, I parked in
front of the Armory, and got out my car. I approached three boys that I did not recognize
and told them that they needed to go back into the building. The boys appeared to be of
high school age and Native American. One of the boys told me that they did not have to,
and I told them that if they did not want to go back in, they would be asked to leave or
may be charged admission again. They said that it was hot in the building and that they
just came out to get some air. I told them that it was a school policy and that they could
either go inside or leave. One of the boys said that his Mom worked for the school in
Mission and he didn't think I could do this. I said that it is a school policy, and that if they
came to watch the game they needed to stay inside. One of the boys made some kind of
remark in a sarchastic tone and I asked him for some identifiaction, which he failed to
show me, as they then went back inside.

The boy did then go get his mother, who said that she was a secretary at the Todd County
School and did not think what I did was right, and that she did not know of any laws
against smoking or going outside the building and that I could not make these laws. I told
the woman that this was not a law or one that I had made, that the school had put the
policy in place as a means to deter vandalism and thefts, which was quite a problem at
games a couple of years ago. Another woman who had joined speaking to me said that
she would call Congressman John Thune about this as this was a federal building which
the schools could not make decisions like that. The woman went on to later talk indirectly
to me about how this was pretty easy to see what this is about and that this would not
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happen with any other school, which I believe was an inference to discrimination, but I
made no response to this.

Shortly thereafier High School Principal Dean Keith came out to where I was and
repaeted what I had told the people, and that was followed by the Athletic Director
Harvey Naasz getting on the public address system to tell people that the smoking area or
fresh air area was at the the south end of the building and that this is where people needed
to go if they wanted to do either.

This designated smoking area is set forth in South Dakota Law by 22-36-2, which clearly
states "this section does not prohibit the smoking of tobacco or tobacco products in the
places named in this section,” which does include elementary or secondary schools, and
continues, "if the smoking is confined to areas designated as smoking areas.” The area

that the Winner School Board designated for these purposes is the area outside the south
door.

The kids that were later referred to in the statement which I read concerning that evening
to my best recollection were band students or danceline students that had reason to go in
and out. Also, the inference that I would let some kids smoke is absurd, as I am a law
enforcement officer and serve as D.A.R.E. officer and would not let anyone that I knew to
be under 18 smoke, no less at a school sanctioned event.

I showed no favortism to anyone that evening acting in my official capacity. My actions
that evening were acting as a law enforcement officer and were in response to a standing
school policy.

Respectfully Submitted,

Deputy SherifRobert J. Connot
Tripp County Sheriff's Office
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BOARD OF EDUCATION:

ROCKY BLARE, Choirperson
DAN VIEDT. Vice Charperson
JM DAY, Mermber

DOUG LONG. Mermber
STEVE MEYER, Mermber
WAYNE MEYER, Member
CLUNT VANNEMAN, Member

March 29, 2000

To Whom It May Concemn:

ADMINISTRATION:
DAVID NICHOLAS, Superintandient.
Midche School Principal
DEAN KETH, Senior High Princioal
MARY FISHER, Clty Elernentary Principal
JUDY AUDISS, Spacial Education Director,
Rural

PHIL HUSHER, Business
NADENE McCREADY, Asst. Bux. Manoger,
Superntencent Secrakary

In order to keep the front of the armory open and clear of vehicles and patrons the Winner School
District has a policy that only handicapped or emergency vehicles may park in front of the
building during activities. Since we are a drug free school, we prohibit smoking in front of the
ammory. In order to accommodate those adults who have to smoke during activities, we ask that
they use the exit door in the back and smoke outside in the designated area. To assist us with this
policy, the school has asked the police department and/or sheriff department to help monitor this
situation. The biggest problem occurred between games and during half time with students
and/or adults who exited the front door congesting this area. The smoking and congestion
problem then occurred. By not allowing students to leave and by having the smokers in the back
of the building have greatly reduced this congestion.

Sincerely,

Ao of A

Dean S. Keith
WHS Principal

DSK/bl

~WINNER SCHOOL DISTRICT 59-2 « 142 W 4TH ST « WINNER SD 57580-1711
TELEPHONE: 605-842-0626 « FAX: 605-842-0276
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Appendix H

5'0% DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

CENTRAL OFFICE
’ 3200 East Highway 34
c/o 580 East Capitol Avenuse
Pierre, SD 57501-5070

- Phone: (605) 773-3478
GREAT FACES CREATPLACES. _ Fax: (605) 773-3194

April 10, 2000

U.S. Commission on Civil Rights
Regional Programs Coordination Unit
Washington, DC 20425

To Whom It May Concemn:

This letter shall serve as a response to the cormments directed at the South Dakota
Department of Corrections (DOC) during a December 6, 1999 community forum held by
the South Dakota Advisory Committee. The individual making these comments has a
child that has been placed in the custody of the Department of Corrections by the circuit
court.

The Department of Corrections has no control over the decision to commit a child to our
custody. That decision is made solely by a circuit court judge. Only after that
commitment is made by the judge is the DOC responsible for placement of juveniles in
our custody. These placement decisions are based on very detailed process of intake,
assessment and classification. Once a child is placed in a program determined to best
meet their needs it is up to the child to earn their way out of the program. Under South
Dakota law the DOC may keep a child under its jurisdiction until that child reaches the
age of 21 or until discharged by the Secretary of Corrections. This provision has been in
the law for many years.

The DOC is required by law to provide to youth in custody is medical services. Under
state law parents are required to pay for medical services provided to their childr=n while
they are in placement. This provision can only be waived by a circuit judge that
determines on the record that the parents should not be held responsible for these costs.
The law also requires that parents pay support for their children while in custody. These
costs are also determined by the court and are to be in accordance with the established
child support guidelines. The DOC does not have authority to modify an order by the
court and is responsible to enforce these orders, including collection of parental support
and medical costs. The DOC attempts to get eligible youth services at an Indian Health
Services program when reasonable, however this is not always possible due to failure by
the parents to provide adequate information or the access to services is impractical. Itis
simply not possible in every situation to transport a youth to an Indian Health Services
Program located 40 miles from the facility.
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Youth in the custody of the DOC are not denied access to religious services. Each week
youth have time allotted to observe religious beliefs. Under the DOC visitation policy
religious leaders are included as approved visitors and are certainly welcome to visit
youth wishing to express religious beliefs. Religious leaders from many different faiths
currently come on campus and provide opportunities for youth to express their religious
beliefs and youth are not denied access to these individuals. The DOC is not aware of
any situation where racism has been allowed to exist opeiny un campus and will not
tolerate such conduct. Should anyone be able to provide specific instances of such
conduct they should immediately report them to the DOC so action may be taken.

The Department of Corrections is just what is says it is, a correctional department. Youth
that are committed to the DOC are in many cases violent, assaultive and dangerous to
themselves or others. In order to protect juveniles and staff the DOC has a very strict
policy that allows the use of force and restraints. Any abuses of this policy are
immediately reported to the proper authorities. The DOC policy in this area is in
compliance with the standards of the American Corrections Association. These standards
are nationally recognized and accepted as proper practices within a correctional program.

I hope this response has shed some light on the issues raised within the Department of -
Corrections. It is certainly understandable that some individuals will not be sitisfied with
the actions of the DOC. The fact that a parent has had their child removed from their
homes can cause hard feelings. We also understand that there may be times when an
employee’s conduct may be unacceptable and we are committed to a full and fair
investigation of such conduct. We are committed to dealing with any.allegation of
misconduct quickly and fairly and individuals with specific allegations are encouraged to
contact the DOC so that we might respond accordingly.

Sincerely,

eff Bloomberg, Secretary
South Dakota Department of Corrections
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Appendix |

ToeATFAces GReaTPLACEs.

February 2, 2000

John F. Dulles, Regional Director

Rocky Mountain Regional Office

United States Commission on Civil Rights
1700 Broadway, Suite 710

Denver, CO 80290

Dear Mr. Dulles:

Thank you for your letter requesting assistance from this agency. We are.pleased & havé an
opportunity to provide information to the chairperson of the United States Commission ofs
Civil Rights, Dr. Mary Frances Berry, as well as members of the commission and its Scuth’
Dakota Advisory Committee.

This agency's mission includes not only K-12 public education but also a responsibility for life-
long learning opportunities for all citizens of South Dakota. It is within this broader context
that the responses to questions are framed. Below you will find this agency’s response to the
questions that are posed in your letter.

1. Are there requirements in state educational laws, cedes, regulations or policies
governing the inclusion of Native American history, culture, language and
contributions to American and/or South Dakota history or contemporary society? If
50, please describe and include appropriate references.

State Laws

The fundamentals of public policy regarding the inclusior and recognition of Native American
history, culture, language and contributions are set forth in three noteworthy sections of
codified law, described below.

* In 1995, the South Dakota Legislature established the Office of Tribal Government
Relations within the executive branch of state government (SDCL 1-4-1) and
directed all state agencies (including the Department of Education & Cultural
Affairs) to render “...advice and assistance...” to the office as “...deemed
necessary... .” Thus, a formal relationship is established across the executive
branch of state government for matters concerning Indian people, including but not

Office of the Secretary, 700 Govesaars Drive, Plerre, SD 57501-2291
Office - (685) 773-3134 Fax - (605) 773613

187

Department of Education and Cultural Affairs



John F. Dulles
February 2, 2000

Page 2

limited to those that fall within the responsibilities of DECA, i.e. education and
cultural affairs.

In 1990, the South Dakota Legislature established a statewide legal holiday, known
as Native Americans’ Day, on the second Monday in October. The holiday is
marked with celebrations throughout the state, and with special events and units of
study in public schools. As stated in statute (SDCL 1-5-1.2), Native Americans’
Day is “...dedicated to the remembrance of the great Native American leaders who

conmbuted so much to the history of our state.”

The Legislature has also-established two working holidays- that commemorate -
significant events in South Dakota history and bring them to the attention of all
citizens for reflection and recognition on an annual basis. -They are:

s Little Big Horn Recognition Day (SDCL 1-5—8),

* Wounded Knee Day (SDCL 1-5-9). :

In 1997, the South Dakota Legislature enacted a law requiring that character
development instruction be given in all public and nonpublic elementary and
secondary schools in the state (SDCL 13-33-6.1). The statute specifies that the
instruction should “...impress upon the minds of the students...respect for the
contributions of minority and ethnic groups to the heritage of South Dakota... .”
The curriculum for the required instruction is locally determined (see further
discussion of local control below).

K-12 Public Education
Unlike the laws of many states, current educational law and code in South Dakota reserves the

determination of academic curriculum in local K-12 schools for the locally-elected board of
education. There are no state requirements set forth in law for academic curriculum for each

grade.

A recent development is the establishment of state standards in four core content areas and the
requirement that local school districts implement them by creating and adopting local course

guidelines. The four content areas are language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies.

The state standards are adopted by official action of the South Dakota Board of Education and
hence are official state documents.
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SDCL 13-3-48 requires each local school district to adopt and implement the content standards
via the use of locally-developed and approved “course guidelines.” The schedule for this local
activity is:

Language arts and mathematics course guidelines must be adopted by the local
board of education by July 1, 1999;

Science and social studies course guidelines must be adopted by the local board of
education by July 1, 2000.

The social studies content standards that were adopted by the South Dakota Board of Education
include several references to inclusion of Nanvc Amenmn history and culture in the required -
content, mcludmg

“Kindergarten History Standards (p.1l Souzh Dakota Social Studies Content
~Standards): “Students will: 1. Describe examples of past events in legends and
" historical accounts, such as stories of ... Squanto...; ...3. Connect people and

events honored in commemorative holidays, including Native American Day...

First Grade History Standards (p. 13 ibid.): “Students will: ...2. Compare the hvcs
of people and events associated with major holidays, mcludmg Native American
Day....”

Second Grade History Standards (p. 15 ibid.): “Students will: ...2. Study various
community structures and the roles of men, woman, and children within the
community with emphasis on ...Native Americans (Sioux); and
reservation...communities of the present.”

Fourth Grade History Standards (p. 19 ibid.): “Students will: ...2. Explain the
impact of people and geographic location on the growth and expansion of South
Dakota, emphasizing Mandan, Arikara, Sioux, and other historic tribes;...: ...3.
Trace the history of South Dakota with emphasis on notable South Dakotans such as
Red Cloud, Sitting Bull...; ...4. Analyze issues of concern in South Dakota,
including...Indian and non-Indian relationships; ... .”

Fifth Grade History Standards (p. 21, ibid.): “Students will: 1. Describe life in
America before the 17 century by identifying and describing the arrival,
settlement, and culture of the First Americans, including Indians of the Northwest,
Southwest, Plains, Eastern Woodlands, and Middle America; and inferring how
climate and geography influenced the way various Indian tribes lived ™

Eighth Grade History Standards (p. 27, ibid.): “Students will: ...13. Examine how
the following conflicts during the early to mid 1800s led to acquisition and
settlement of land, including...Indian Conflict...; ...17. Explain how, following the -
Civil War, massive immigration combined with the rise of big
business...transformed American life with emphasis on: ...changing federal policy
regarding Indians... .”
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s 9-12 Civics Standards (p. 31 ibid.): “Students will: ...2. Compare the state, local,
and tribal governments with emphasis on their structures, functions, and powers; ...

Life-long Learning

State laws (SDCL 13-57-3.2 and 13-59-2.1) recognize two Indlan Studies Centers located
on the campuses of Black Hills State University, Spearfish, SD, and the University of
South Dakota, Vermillion, SD. The purposes of the centers as set forth in codified law
are: “..:to provide persons of Indian descent with educational opportunities both on and off

the campus...and to provide to all persons the opportunity to research and study the history, .

culture, and language of the Indians of North American and South Dakota.”

Govermnance of public universities in South Dakota is gmnted to the South Dakota Board of
Regents (SDCL 13-49-1). .

An additional state commitment to opportunities for life-long Iearning resides within the
functions of the Department of Education and Cultural Affairs, Office of History (SDCL 1-
18-2). The law states in part: “...publish and otherwise diffuse information relating to the
history of the region to schools and communities; and in general encourage and develop
within the state the study of history.”

Therefore, a significant portion of our agency’s mission to provide life-long learning
opportunities is fulfilled through the programs of the Office of History and the South
Dakota State Historical Society. The mission of the Office of History states in part:

History provides tools for defining our diverse cultural identities and understanding our
past. The South Dakota State Historical Society shall promote, nurture and sustain the
historical and cultural heritage of South Dakota by collecting, preserving, researching
and interpreting evidence of the state’s irreplaceable past and making it available for
the life-long educational enrichment of present and future generations.

The statutory and regulatory authority of the Office of History and the South Dakota State
Historical Society as set forth in code and law (SDCL §§ 1-18, 1-18C, 1-19, 1-194, 1-19B, 1-
20, 34-37 et al) as well as in administrative rule (ARSD 24:52) is inclusive, not exclusive.
Operations of the agency reflect the commitment to define history to encompass all peoples.
Inclusion of Native American history, culture, language and contributions is evident in the
opportunities for life-long learning programs offered by this agency, including:
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Publications -
Exhibits
Collections
Archives

School Programs.

Highlights from the detailed report attached to this response inchude:

The department publishes both the 41-volume biennial series South Dakota Historical
Collections, 1902-1982, and the award-winning quarterly journal South Dakota Histvry
Both have published primary documents such as trmnes, ledger drawings,
archaeological finds, and oral histories. :

Over the past 30 years, since its inception in 1970, the quarterly journal has published
award-winning historical essays on American Indian history, especially Lakota, Dakota,

Nakota Indian history, but also Arikara, Mandan, Hidatsa, and tribes of carlier eras.

The journal reaches 1,450 subscribers plus coumless other readers .in 165 libraries that 5
offer the journal within their collections. o
The published essay “Indian Heirship Lands: The Lake Traverse Experience,” by
Michael Lawson (South Dakota History, vol. 12, pp. 213-231) won a national award

. (the 1984 Ray A. Billington Award from the Western History Association) for

outstanding publishing in the field of Western History.

The publishing of Great Plains history is a growing field; in the past five years, fully

one-quarter of the articles published in this department’s Sowth Dakota History journal

have been devoted to American Indian history.

The most recent issue of Sourh Dakota History includes three articles:

e “Reservation Akicitas: The Pine Ridge Indian Police, 1870-1885" by Mark R.
Ellis;

¢ “Cowboys on the Reservation: The Growth of Rodeo as a Lakota National
Pastime™ by Allison Fuss;

» “Spontaneous Combustion: Prelude to Wounded Knee 1973” by Akim D. Rinhardt.

The department administers the state’s Cultural Heritage Center, a building constructed

in the 1980s in commemoration of the state’s Centennial. It is located in Pierre and is

open to the public as a center of historical collections, exhibits and special events. The

newest permanent exhibit in the state’s Cultural Heritage Center is called Gyare

Tawicoh’an: The Ways of the People. 1t is a 1,500 sq. ft. exhibit featuring historical

objects, contemporary traditional arts, ancient pictographs, and audio of modemn

Lakota, Dakota, Nakota speakers and musicians presenting Sioux culture on a

continuum from past to present. An average of 22,500 people visit the center each year.
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» The collections stored in the climate-controlled museum facilities of the Cultural
Heritage Center include an extensive section of American Indian artifacts. Scholars and
artisans studying American Indian art have access to the collections to research
traditional Native American art as well as historical artifacts. A highlight in the
collection is the world-renowned Sioux Horse Effigy c. 1875, a masterpiece of Sioux
horse sculpture that has become the symbol of the state’s Office of History.

s At the urging of South Dakota’s Governor, a special and extensive collection of all
known federal records relating to the nioe South Dakota Indian reservations has been
established, creating access to documents previously available only in Washington,
D.C. .

In addition, arrangements have been made to microfilm reservation newspapers on an
ongoing basis and to add them to the permanent collections. This includes Indian
Country Today and Sicangu Sun Times (by special arrangement with Sinte Gleska
University on the Rosebud reservation). The archives are open to researchers on a
daily basis. : ) .

» Through the Office of History's Historic Preservation Program, many American Indian
archaeological sites and properties throughout the state have been identified and listed
in the National Register of Historic Places or designated as National Historic

Landmarks. The status of the designations underscores their importance and brings
them to the attention of researchers, travelers, school groups, cultural organizations,
and residents.

» The department administers an annual matching-grant program set forth in statute as the
“Deadwood Fund” (SDCL 42-7B-48 and SDCL 1-19A-13.1). An established priority
within the program is funding of projects in which “....the property is associated with
minority or ethnic groups, particularly American Indians.”

». The agency is also a contributing exhibitor at the Journey Museum, a major tourist
attraction and school-tour highlight in Rapid City, SD. The Office of History has built
archaeological exhibits that focus on American Indian prehistory and history in the
facility (opened in 1997); the displays are seen by more than 71,000 visitors annually.

Participation by Native American experts or tribal representatives in the department’s
programs occurs in a much broader context than textbook selection as was referred to in the
January 10, 2000, letter from your office. Therefore, it is addressed here in the discussion of
inclusion policies rather than in the textbook response below. Highlights of participation
include:
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Appointment of tribal members and.'or educators from schools educating large
numbers of Native American students to seats on several boards and committees,

-including but not limited to the South Dakota Board of Education, the South Dakota

Title I Committee of Practitioners, the content standards review parels, Title I

. performance standards workgroups, Healthy Children/Healthy Future Network, Be
" Proud/Be Responsible curriculum committee, HIV/AIDS-education community

planning group, HIV/AIDS-education materials review panel, Lakota Women
poster series advisory group, Title I statewide school support team, suicide
prevention teams, rape prevention and violence teams;

It is standard practice to include educators from schools educating Native American
students in announcements/invitations to conferences, workshops, seminars, -
meetings and hearings sponsored by the department, and on the department’s
mailing lists, and in directories and reports issued by the department.

The highly popular annual summer health education conference sponsored by the

"' department includes a segment devoted to Native American perspecuvs on health
and spirituality.

. Since 1990, the department bxenmally conducts'a survey ot' adolescent risk
" behaviors throughout public, private, and BIA schools in South Dakota. In 1994,

the Bureau of Indian Affairs contacted the department with a request to conduct the
same survey exclusively in schools having significant numbers of Native American
students. Through collaboration with Bureau of Indian Affairs staff, tribal officers,
and school officials, the department began to conduct a highly successful set of '
surveys of risk behaviors among Native American middle school students and
Native American high school students. It is now conducted periodically based on
recommendations from Iocal BIA line officers as a part of continued collaboration.
The activity has received the support of the Centers for Disease Control and
Prevention. Copies of the report are included in the attachments.

BIA and tribal officials impress upon department officials the importance of health
education for Native American students; through their advocacy and cooperation,
BIA schools were included in studies of health education done in middle/junior high
schools and senior high schools throughout the state. Within the public school
system, a random sample of schools was used. However, within the BIA schools,
every school was surveyed at the urging of BIA and tribal officials. Copies of the
reports are included in the attachments.

Tribal colleges in South Dakota contributed to the work of the department to re-
draft administrative rules governing teacher education program approval and teacher
certification.

Tribal colleges seek approval of their teacher-training programs from the state
Board of Education. This requires on-going participation in department processes
as well as on-site review procedures.

193



John F. Dulles
February 2, 2000
Page 8 :

-

o The design of the department’s Oyate Tawicoh'an: The Ways of the People exhibit
in the Cultural Heritage Center was informed by an Indian Advisory Committee and
a Sioux scholar. The experiences of the department in working with the Indian
community were chronicled in the article “Advisors to Partners: Bridging the
Cultural Gap” published in History News, Autumn 1995.

e An archivist for a tribal government or from a tribal college serves on the South
Dakota Historical Records Advisory Board.

» LaVera Rose, a Office of History staff member and a Rosebud tribal member,
serves on the Minority Scholarship Committee of the Midwest Archives

" ‘Conference, the Buechel Museum advisory board of the St. Francis Indian Mission,

and the advisory board of the Cultural Center of Sinte Gleska University.

2. How are textbooks approved for use in the state’s public schools? Does this process
include participation by Native American educational experts or tribal
representatives? Does your department play a role in assuring adequate curricula in
the schools on diversity and multiculturalism? Please describe and explain.

In education circles, South Dakota is known as a “local control state.” In general terms,
this means that governance of public schools in South Dakota is largely in the hands of
elected local boards of education. State government, in both policy and practice, does not
exert a heavy influence on the operation of public schools via mandates and regulations. In
response to the commission’s specific interest in textbooks, it should be noted that in South
Dakota, textbooks for use in the public schools are selected and adopted by the local board
of education. There is no state approval process. )

Regarding curriculum on diversity and multiculturalism, as noted in the response to
Question 1, the 1997 South Dakota Legislature enacted a law requiring that character
development instruction be given in all public and nonpublic elementary and secondary
schools in the state (SDCL 13-33-6.1). The statute specifies that the instruction should
“...impress upon the minds of the students...respect for the contributions of minority and
ethnic groups to the heritage of South Dakota... .” Curricula taught in fulfillment of this
requirement are locally determined by each school district.

Any role the department had in monitoring schools’ curriculum on any subject was taken
away when the 1995 South Dakota Legislature repealed more than 500 statutes and
administrative rules governing K-12 education, including rules that had previously defined
subjects to be taught, and number of minutes-per-week to be allocated to each subject.
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During the r;:peal. the South Dakota Board of Education’s administrative rule, ARSD
24:03:06:06.01, that sets forth South Dakota high school graduation requirements was left
intact. A copy is included in the attachments.

3. Are certified teaching personnel in South Dakota required to complete courses or
-master curricula designed to assure knowledge of Native American people, history,
culture, language and contributions? Are there continuing education requirements for
teachers which provide this? Please explain.

e All persons seeking certification as an educator in South Dakota are required to complete 3
. semester credits of college coursework in Indian.Studies. The requirement is set forth in
ARSD 24:02:03:05 for K-8 elementary teachers, and in ARSD 24:02:03:07 for 7-12
secondary teachers.

Fu:rther., ‘certification in South Dakéta requires completion of threc credits of coursework in
- human relations. The requirement is set forth in ARSD 24:02:03:05 for K-8 elementary
teackers, and in ARSD 24:02:03:07 for 7-12 secondary teachers.

* All persons renewing a certificate that was issued prior to the establishment of the three-
credit human relations requirement outlined above are required to complete a one-credit
course in human relations in order to renew their certificate.

e The Indian Studies and human relations requirements have also been extended to persons
who have completed a teacher education program in another state if they apply for a South
Dakota teacher certificate. The requirement for out-of-state applicants is set forth in ARSD
24:02:02:01.06.

» Effective September 1, 2000, it is possible to earn a “specialty™ certificate in South Dakota
as a certified Indian Studies teacher. Completion of the specialized program as outlined in
ARSD 24:16:08:43 will allow the teacher to conduct Indian Studies classes K-12. A copy
of the administrative rule is included in the attachments.

e In addition to the requirements established for all holders of certificates in South Dakota,
the South Dakota Board of Education has also seen fit to establish a “specialty™ certificate
endorsement for teachers of Native American languages. This includes a provision that
allows this agency to issue a certificate in recognition of special expertise in Native

American languages, history and culture, even if the person has not graduated from college * -

with a bachelor’s degree. This provision is set forth in ARSD 24:02:01:09, a copy of
which is included in the attachments.
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4. Does your department contain Indian education specialization? If so, please describe
and advise if this includes collaboration with tribal colleges and/or other educational
interests representing Native American students.

¢ The structure of the K-12 education staff in the department does not support specialists of
any kind. The Division of Education Services and Resources, Office of Technical
Assistance, is the main arm of the department that works with schools regarding best
practices in curriculum, instruction, technology, and management. It is staffed by
education generalists who are cross-trained across disciplines and federal programs. All
requests for assistance, including those from schools-having significant numbers of Native
American students, are handled in this manner. The small size of the staff requires staff to
adopt inclusionary practices and to serve as resource brokers in meeting the necds of all
school districts. .

The model described above results in integrated service delivery and dissemination; the
department’s expanding use of technology further heightens accessibility of information and
resources. Staff from tribal colleges and K-12 schools serving Native American students,
as well as tribal school boards and Bureau of Indian Affairs representatives, are in the mix
of audiences served daily by the department.

s * The department's Teacher Education Approval Program assures that approved teacher
training programs in South Dakota meet standards established for the preparation of K-12
educators. Rules adopted by the South Dakota Board of Education establish standards that
educators must meet to be recommended for certification; those rules also provxdc the
standards for higher education preparation programs.

* Any institution seeking to-recommend ‘candidates for certification must have its programs

* approved by the South Dakota Board of Education. On a five-year cycle, the department
reviews the courses and experiences an institution requires candidates to complete and
recommends approval to the state board. As part of the collaborative process, the
department works with and has approved teacher preparation programs at two tribal
institutions in South Dakota, Oglala Lakota College at Kyle and Sinte Gleska University,
Mission.

5. Please describe your own views and policies governing inclusion of Native American
materials in public school curricula.

I am not sure what is meant by “Native American materials in public school curricula.”
However, I will assume it means materials that are available in school to all students in
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South Dakoia. For the record, it is my view that the Native Indian culture is umportant to
our South Dakota heritage. All students need to understand our state’s history and the
contribution of the Native American culture.

Thank you for contacting us about the K-12 and lifelong learning policies and responsibilities
of this department. I hope the information I have provided is useful in your deliberations.

Sincerely,

oy (=5
Ra stensen . .
Secretary

Enclosures
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Appendix J

STATEMENT OF MARK BARNETT
SOUTH DAKOTA ATTORNEY GENERAL

BEFORE THE
SOUTH DAKOTA ADVISORY COMMITTEE
UNITED STATES COMMISSION ON CIVIL RIGHTS
RUSHMORE PLAZA HOLIDAY INN
DECEMBER 6, 1999

I'm happy to have the opportunity to address the South
Dakota Advisory Committee via a written statement.

Unfortunately, a long-standing pricr commitment prevents me from
appearing personally. Your invitation asked several gquestions.
I will try to generally comment on each topic area.

. £+ } ) ~riminal J i S .

The responsibility for investigation and prosecution of
crime in South Dakota rests with the State, the fedezral
government, or one of nine different tribal governments. Certain
illegal conduct in South Dakota may simultanecusly be a violaticn
of béﬁh state and federal law or federal and tribal law. On the
other hand, some conduct may violate the law of only one
jurisdiction.

At the state level, investigation of crime is the
resﬁonsibility of two local law enforcement units; namely, the
city police department and the county sheriff's office. Each of
South Dakota's-ss counties has a separately elected county
sheriff who has a statutory obligation to-keep the peace and
investigate crimes within his county. The sheriff is assisted by

the city police force for investigation of crimes within the

towns in his county.
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Each of South Dakota's 66 counties also has an elected

The state's attorney has responsibility for

In all

state's attorney.
prosecution of all crimes committed within his county.

but a handful of counties in South Dakota, the Office of State's

Attorney is part-time and is discharged by an attoiney who also

maintains a private practice. These 66 independently elected

prosecutors prosecute approximately 26,000 felonies and Class 1

misdemeanors which are filed each year in the South Dakota court

system.®
The role of the Attorney General's Office in the state

criminal justice system 1s to ;upplement and assist local law
enforcement. The Attorney General has an investigative arm; that
is, the South Dakota Division of ;riminal Investigation (DCI).
DCI has about 35 field agents stationed around the state who
assist local law enforcement with investigation of crime upon

request. Of those, 17 DCI agents are funded through federal drug

interdiction grants. Consequently, those agents, with rare

exceptions., can only be utilized for drug-related investigations.

DCI agents are law enforcement officers with the power of arrest

and execute search warrants, etc.

: In 1998, the South Dakota courts system also processed 139.432 Class 2
misdemeanors and petty offenses. The vast bulk of these cases are minor
traffie offenses which are handled through the clerk's office. These cases
do not ordinarily require any involvemsnt by the state's attorney.

Further, the State also has a Highway Patrol (SDHP). Even though SDHP
trocpers are law enforcement officers, they focus on traffie- and highway-
related offenses, which result largely (but not exclusively) in Class 2
nisdemeanor prosecutions.

Consegquently, I have not included Class 2 misdemeanor prosecutions in

my discussion.
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The Attorney General's Office also provides .assistance to
state's attorneys. The Attorney General's QOffice has 27 lawyers
when fully sFaffed. Of these, about ten handle appellate
practice, and another six are involved in natural resources and
similar specialized areas of law. An additional six federally
funded attorneys are dedicated to drug interdiction efforts and
investigation of federal medicaid fraud. Consequently, I have
four .(sometimes five) lawyers who are available to assist state's
attorneys in cases which are extremely complex, time consuming,
or require some unusual expertise which my Office can provide.
The larger offices such as in Hinnehaha‘and Pennington cougtieé
almost never request our prosecution assistance because tﬁey have
a large, full-time experienced staff.

The Attorney General's Office has conéurrent jurisdiction
with the various state's attorneys throughout the state. 1In
1398, South Dakota prosecutors-ccmmenced 20,220 Class 1
misdemeanor and 'S,703 felony cases in the South Dakota state
criminal court system.? 0Of that total, slightly over 250
criminal cases were actually commenced by the Attorney General's
Office; virtually all of these were drug-related proasecutions.
Comnsequently, the real service that the Attorney General provides
to state's attorneys is-advice and assistance as requested.
Although the Attorney General's Office enjoys the same

prosecution power as each state's attorney, practically, this

Office does not have the rescurces to investigate, oversee,

1 See "1598 Annual Report of the South Dakota Unified Judicial System,"
Table 14, page 39.
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second-guess, or the authority to manage Gshprosecutors handling
26,000 files.

You asked whether disparities exist in law enforcement
systems within ihe state. The short answer is, of course. Each
case presented to a state's attorney for prosecution has been
investigated by one of over 100 separate city police departments
or 66 different sheriff's offices. The personnel staffing these
agencies will vary widely based on age, training, education,
inteliigence. experience, and talent. The State of South Dakota
through the Standards and Training Commission requires an eight-
week afficer basic training course to reduce these natural
variations through high quality standardized training for every
city police officer and deputy sheriff in South Dakota.

Also, the decisions to prosecute are distributed among €6
independently elected state's attorneys. The decision whether
and ‘'what to charge also involves a considerable amount of
discretion and judgﬁent based upon the guality of the evidence,
experience, training, and talent of the prosecutor. Each locally
elected state's attorney makes his or her charging decision
independent of évery other state's attorney, and independent of
this Office. Experiencée among state's attorneys varies widely.
However, one thing is true; all prosecutors were brand new and
inexperienced at the beginning of their careers. My Office

annually provides training (usually a two-day workshop)
particularly targeted at newly elected state's attorneys. We

provide them with instruction from experienced prosecutors who

201



are willing to share their experiences and professicnalism. We
work hard at getting high participation at these functions. We
also work hard at securing experienced instructors who can give
high qualit; training. Further, my staff is in daily contact
with local prosecutors who have questions about a wide variety of
issues relating to prosecution. We give advice on evidentiary’
guestions, criminal procedure, trial strategy, tactics, and the
entire spectrum of day-to-day prosecution in the criminal courts.
My Office provides this advice and assistance to the extent that
we are asked.

The committee asked about policies, procedures, and protocol
in law enforcement and prosecutorial decision making ip South
Dakota law enforcement. Each state's attorney follows the Socuth
Dakota criminal code and follows the Socuth Dakota rules of
criminal procedure. Each defendant is guaranteed under state and
federal law the same constitutional and statutory rights.
Consequently, in that sense there is great uniformi;y.in the
state criminal justice system. On the other hand, as I have said
before, each state's attorney is the designated and fimal
decision maker for his county. There may be internal policies
and protococls written for some of those offices; however, no
statewide policies or protcoccols (other than statutory and
constitutional law) govern prosecutorial deciéion making.

Law Enforcement Operarions in Tndian Country.
Law enforcement responsibility within Indian country is

divided among federal, state, and tribal authorities. If the
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victim or the perpetrator is an American Indian, ordinarily the
prosecution responsibility will rest with the United States
Attorney for serious crimes and the tribal authorities for minor
offenses. Génerally, state prosecutions of crimes within Indian
country are limited to those situations where both the
perpetrator and the victim are non-Indians or the non-Indian
commits a victimless crime (drunk driving or drug possession, for
example). The above statement is very generalized and is subject
to several exceptions and distinctions. You will hear from

Ted McBride, U.S. Attorney from South Dakota, and other
individuals who have greater expertise than I in the unique
challenges to effective federal law enforcement within Indian .

country. I suggest you focus your more detailed questions at

them.

Special Teguyes Relzting to Border Taown Law Enforcement. . 3

I understand from Mr. Dulles that the committee is primarily
interested in discussing four incidents. One is the death of two
Indian males whose bodies were found on the Pine Ridge Indian
Reservation just north of White Clay, Nebraska. The secend
involves the death of Robert Many Horses who was found dead in a
trash can in Mobridge, South Dakota. Third is the death of
Justin Redday who was apparently hit by a motor vehicle while he
was lying unconscious on a Roberts County highway. Finally, the
committee will address the deaths of six American Indian and two
white adulr males who have been found deceased in or near Rapid

Creek in Rapid City, South Dakota, within the last two years.
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In regard to those incidents, let me make a couple of
observations. First, any successful resolution of the
investigation of the deaths near White Clay will likely require
the coordinated effort of the federal authorities, the Nebraska
law enforcement aﬁthorities, and perhaps South Dakota law
enforcement; but, not every investigation of a crime results in a
successful prosecution. Second, with regard to the Mobridge and
the Sisseton cases, you will have the opportunity to discuss both
of those cases with the state's attorneys who handled thgm- As
is often the case, I believe the complete story in each case has
not been reported in the media. Please withhold judgment until’
afrer you have heard their explanations. Purther, some have
suggested that I should simply take these two cases from the
state’'s attorneys and start over. Simply put, it cannot be done.
In Mobridge, the charges were dismissed by the magistrate. I do
not have the power to overrule the court. Those who are
dissatisfied may wish to visit with the magistrate. In Sisseton,
a binding plea agreement.has been made and implemented by the
duly elected érosecutor. The defendant has been sentenced. I do
not have the powsr to reopen a completed prosecution.

* Next, the déaths of the six Indian and two white men aleng
Rapid Creek is extremely unfortunate. Having saiq that, I will
add that local law enforcement is properly investigating these
incidents. As I'm sSure you will‘hear from local testimony,
substantial law enforcement investigative resources from the
Rapid City Police Department, the Pennington.cOunty Sheriff's

Office, the Division of Criminal Investigation, and the FBI
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Behavioral Science Team have been allocated to those
investigations. Again, I suggest you withhold judgment until you
have heard from the Pennington County and Rapid City authorities.
In conclusion, the South Dakota criminal justice system is
decentralized by'design. Prosecution decisions are made locally
and daily by city policemen, county sheriffs, and state's
attorneys. Each sheriff and state's attorney is responsible to
their electorate for the decisions which they make. Advice from
my Office to sheriffs and state's attorneys is often sought and
freely given; however, decisions made and implemented cannot be

reversed by me or anyone else.

AL B

ark Barnett
Attorney General
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